# ASSESSMENT OF ROAD SIDE TREES IN KATHMANDU VALLEY FOR THEIR AIR POLLUTION TOLERANCE INDEX AND HEAVY METAL BIOMONITORING ABILITY



## A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE CENTRAL DEPARTMENT OF BOTANY INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY TRIBHUVAN UNIVERSITY NEPAL

## FOR THE AWARD OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN BOTANY

BY

JAYA PRAKASH HAMAL

**JULY 2023** 

# ASSESSMENT OF ROAD SIDE TREES IN KATHMANDU VALLEY FOR THEIR AIR POLLUTION TOLERANCE INDEX AND HEAVY METAL BIOMONITORING ABILITY



## A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE CENTRAL DEPARTMENT OF BOTANY INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY TRIBHUVAN UNIVERSITY NEPAL

## FOR THE AWARD OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN BOTANY

BY

JAYA PRAKASH HAMAL

## **JULY 2023**



## TRIBHUVAN UNIVERSITY Institute of Science and Technology DEAN'S OFFICE

Kirtipur, Kathmandu, Nepal

Reference No .:

# EXTERNAL EXAMINERS

**The Title of Ph.D. Thesis:** "Assessment of Road Side Trees in Kathmandu Valley for their Air Pollution Tolerance Index and Heavy Metal Biomonitoring Ability "

Name of Candidate: Jaya Prakash Hamal

## **External Examiners:**

- (1) Prof. Emeritus Dr. Pramod Kumar Jha Tribhuvan University Kathmandu, NEPAL
- (2) Prof. Dr. Rakesh Chandra Verma Vikram University Ujjain, INDIA
- (3) Prof. Dr. Thomas Sawidis University of Thessaloniki Thessaloniki, GREECE

December 10, 2023

(Dr. Surendra Kumar Gautam) Asst. Dean

## **DECLARATION**

Thesis entitled "Assessment of Road-side Trees in Kathmandu Valley for Their Air Pollution Tolerance Index and Heavy Metal Biomonitoring Ability" which is being submitted to the Central Department of Botany, Institute of Science and Technology (IoST), Tribhuvan University, Nepal for the award of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.), is a research work carried out by me under the supervision of Prof. Dr. Mukesh Kumar Chettri of Department of Botany, Amrit Campus, Tribhuvan University.

This research is original and has not been submitted earlier in part or full in this or any other form to any university or institute, here or elsewhere, for the award of any degree.

1

non 

Jaya Prakash Hamal

## RECOMMENDATION

This is to recommend that Jaya Prakash Hamal has carried out research entitled "Assessment of Road-side Trees in Kathmandu Valley for Their Air Pollution Tolerance Index and Heavy Metal Biomonitoring Ability" for the award of Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.) in Botany under my supervision. To my knowledge, this work has not been submitted for any other degree.

He has fulfilled all the requirements laid down by the Institute of Science and Technology (IOST), Tribhuvan University, Kirtipur for the submission of the thesis for the award of Ph.D. degree.

. . . . . . . . . .

Dr. Mukesh Kumar Chettri Supervisor (Professor) Department of Botany, Amrit Campus Tribhuvan University Kirtipur, Kathmandu, Nepal

July 2023

# TRIBHUVAN UNIVERSITY

# INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

Ref No:

Fal Departme Kirtipur, Kathm

Kirtipur, Kathmandu NEPAL

## LETTER OF APPROVAL

On the recommendation of Prof. Dr.Mukesh Kumar Chettri this, Ph.D.thesis submitted by Jaya Prakash Hamal entitled "Assessment of Road-side Trees in Kathmandu Valley for Their Air Pollution Tolerance Index and Heavy Metal Biomonitoring Ability" is forwarded by Central Department Research Committee (CDRC) to the Dean, IOST, T.U.

Prof. Sangeeta Rajbhandary PhD. Head Central Department of Botany Tribhuvan University Kirtipur, Kathmandu Nepal

Date: De cember 27, 2023

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I would like to express deepest gratitude to my respected supervisor Prof. Dr. Mukesh Kumar Chettri, Department of Botany, Amrit Campus for his guidance, encouragement and gracious support throughout the course of my work.

I am grateful to the Head of the Central Department of Botany, Prof. Dr. Sangeeta Rajbhandary, former heads Prof. Emeritus Dr. Pramod kumar Jha, Prof. Dr. Mohan Shiwakoti and Prof. Dr. Ram Kailash Prasad Yadav and all teaching and administrative staff of Central Department of Botany, Kirtipur, Tribhuvan University, for their cooperation.

My sincere gratitude goes to Prof. Dr. Kumidini Shakya and Dr. Sujan Balami for their valuable support during the time of laboratory work and field work.

I would like to thank, Dr. Shila Singh, Head of Department of Botany and former Head of Botany Departmet, Prof. Dr. Kanta Poudyal, Amrit Campus, Tribhuvan University, for their support during laboratory work at Amrit Campus. I also extend my acknowledgement to all the staff members of Botany Department, Amrit Campus for their support during laboratory work.

I would like to thanks to University Grants Commission (UGC) for providing partial finance support in this research work and also to the Central Department of Botany for conducting research orientation classes for research students.

Last but not the least my deepest gratitude also goes to my wife Ms. Sharmila Hamal and son Saujanya and Samridhha for their constant support, help and encouragement throughout my thesis work.

> Jaya Prakash Hamal July, 2023

## ABSTRACT

Rapid urbanization, industrialization, poor maintenance of road and vehicles decline the air quality in Kathmandu valley. Topography of Kathmandu valley is bowlshaped, hence restricts air movement and promotes thermal inversion, which in turn accelerates air pollution. Air pollution has been identified as a major cause of silent killer for different chronic and infectious ailments. In this context, to minimize the problem of air pollution, tolerant tree species, having good ability to accumulate heavy metals, possibly can play a major role to reduce pollution. The main objectives of this study was to screen some suitable road side trees that can tolerate air pollution stresses as well as accumulate comparatively more heavy metals. For this the work was focused to identify such suitable roadside trees with high air pollution index and good accumulator of heavy metal as well. For this leaves of common roadside trees like Thuja orientiales, Cedrus deodara, Pinus roxburghii and Araucaria arucana from gymnosperm and Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus religiosa, Grevillea robusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia and Populus euramericana from angiosperm were collected from about 3m height above the ground surface during the winter season from polluted sites (Airport, Balaju, Banasthali, Basundhara, Dhumbarahi, Gongbu, Jawalakhel, Ratnapark, Shankpark) and less polluted site, Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha) of Kathmandu valley. Macro and micro morphological parameters (like leaf area, specific leaf area, thickness of cuticle and epidermis from adaxial surface, density of stomata, length and breadth of stomata from abaxial surface) were measured by lasting impression technique. Photographs of anatomical slides were taken and the measurements were taken using Image J computer program. Air pollution tolerances Index (APTI) of different studied plants were calculated and their tolerance levels were categorized. Heavy metals (Zn, Cu and Pb) from the representative leaf samples were extracted using wet digestion method and analyzed using Atomic absorption spectrophotometer and ultimately Metal Accumulation Index (MAI) was calculated. The maximum leaf area was observed in Ficus reliogiosa  $(202.42\pm 84.61 \text{ cm}^2)$  at polluted site while specific leaf area (SLA) in Purnus *cersoides* (212.00 $\pm$ 8.31 cm<sup>2</sup>/g) at less polluted site. Stomata density was found to be increased at polluted sites than less polluted site and maximum stomata density was observed in *Eucalyptus globules* (231.98±1.84 cm<sup>2</sup>). Length and width of stomata were found to be reduced at polluted sites. Maximum length of stomata was observed in *Ficus reliogiosa* (26.82±0.22  $\mu$ m) and width in *Eucalyptus globules* (15.08±0.39  $\mu$ m) at less polluted site. Thickness of epidermis and cuticle were found to be reduced at polluted sites. The maximum thickness of cuticle and epidermis were observed in *Callistemon lanceolatus* (11.22±1.66  $\mu$ m) and *Ficus reliogiosa* (28.98±0.69  $\mu$ m), respectively, at polluted sites.

Among the studied angiosperm plants, the highest Air Pollution Tolerance Index (APTI) value was observed in Populus euramericana (15.67) in Dhumbarahi, while among gymnosperm maximum Air Pollution Tolerance Index (APTI) value was observed in Pinus roxburghi (8.94) at Dhumbarahi, indicating their tolerance to air pollution. Among the investigated angiosperms, maximum Zn accumulation was found in *Populus euramericana* (132.38±3.71 mg/kg) at Banasthali, Cu accumulation was in Jacaranda mimosifoli (20.27±0.64 mg/kg) at Balaju and Pb in Callistemon lanceolatus (40.33±1.84 mg/kg) at Airport. The maximum MAI was recorded in Populus euramericana (40.69) at Airport. Similarly, among investigated gymnosperms, maximum Zn accumulation was recorded in Cedrus deodara (54.52±1.20 mg/kg) at Dhumbarahi, Cu in Thuja orientalis (20.16±0.48 mg/kg) at Airport and Pb in Pinus roxburgii (8.85±2.65 mg/kg) at Ratnapark. The highest (MAI) was recorded in Thuja orientalis (75.78). Based on maximum metal accumulation index (MAI) and APTI (Air Pollution Tolerance Index) value, the plants like Populus euramericana, Jacaranda mimoisifolia, and Callistemon lanceolatus with high APTI (Air Pollution Tolerance Index) and MAI value are recommended for plantation along the roadside among angiosperms. Similarly, among studied gymnosperms Cedrus deodara and Thuja orientalis with high MAI and also tolerant to moderately tolerant value are suggested for plantation along the roadside. Evergreen trees such as Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Pinus roxburghii, Cedrus deodar and Thuja orientalis are recommended for plantation on roadside along with deciduous trees especially to mitigate pollution during winter season. So these plants were considered as better tolerant plants than others against air pollution. Hence, to mitigate air pollution problem, these tolerant plants were recommended for plantation in Kathmandu valley.

**Keywords:** Ascorbic acid, Metal Accumulation Index, Micro morphology, Relativewater content, Specific leaf area, Total chlorophyll, Urbanization

### शोधसार

काठमाडौं उपत्यकामा भएका सडक छेउका रूखहरूको वायु प्रदूषण सहिष्णुता सूचकांक (APTI) र तिनीहरुमा भएको भारी धातुहरू (Heavy Metal) को जैविक अनुगमन (Bio monitoring) क्षमताको मुल्याङ्कन

तिब्र सहरीकरण, औद्योगीकरण, सडक र सवारीसाधनको कमजोर मर्मतसंभारले काठमाडौं उपत्यकाको हावाको गुणस्तरमा हास आएको छ । काठमाडौँ उपत्यकाको स्थलाकृति कचौराको आकारको छ, त्यसैले हावाको आवागमनमा प्रतिबन्ध लगाउँछ र थर्मल इन्भर्सनलाई बढावा दिन्छ, जसले गर्दा वाय् प्रदुषण बढ्छ। वाय् प्रदुषण विभिन्न दीर्घकालीन र संक्रामक रोगहरूको लागि मौन हत्याराको प्रमुख कारणको रूपमा पहिचान गरिएको छ। यस सन्दर्भमा, वाय् प्रदूषणको समस्यालाई न्यूनीकरण गर्न, सहनशील रूख प्रजातिहरू, भारी धातुहरू जम्मा गर्ने राम्रो क्षमता भएकाले प्रदूषण कम गर्न सम्भवत: महत्वपूर्ण भूमिका खेल्न सक्छा यस अध्ययनको मुख्य उद्देश्य केही उपयक्त सडक छेउका रूखहरू स्किन गर्न थियो जसले वाय प्रदुषणको तनावलाई सहन सक्छ र तुलनात्मक रूपमा धेरै भारी धातुहरू जम्मा गर्दछ। यसका लागि उच्च वाय् प्रदूषण सूचकांक र भारी धात्को राम्रो सञ्चयकर्ता भएका सडक छेउका उपयक्त रूखहरू पहिचान गर्ने काममा केन्द्रित थियो। यसका लागि Thuja orientalis, Cedrus deodara Pinus roxburghii, Aruacaria araucana जिम्नोस्पर्मबाट र एंजियोस्पर्मबाट Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus religiosa, Grevillea robusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia ,Populus euramericana का पातहरू प्रदूषित साइटहरू (विमानस्थल, बालाजु, बनस्थली, बसुन्धरा, धुम्बाराही, ,गोंगब, जावलाखेल, रत्नपार्क, शङ्कपार्क) बाट हिउँदको मौसममा जमिनको सतहबाट करिब ३ मिटर उचाइबाट संकलन गरिएको थियो र कम प्रदूषित साइट, नारायणथान (बुढानिलकण्ठ) बाट पनि संकलन गरियो । म्याको र माइको मोर्फोला' जिकल मापदण्डहरू जस्तै पातको क्षेत्र (Leaf Area) विशिष्ट पात क्षेत्र (SLA) क्युटिकल र एपिडर्मिसको मोटाई एडाक्सियल(माथिल्लो)सतहबाट मापन लिइयो । यसैगरी एबाक्सियल(तल्लो) सतहबाट स्टोमाटाको घनत्व, लम्बाइ र चौडाइलीइ स्थायी छाप प्रविधिद्वारा (Lasting Impression Technique) द्वारा मापन गरियो। एनाटोमिकल स्लाइडहरूको फोटोहरू लिइयो र छविहरू Image J कम्प्युटर प्रोग्राम प्रयोग गरेर मापन लिइयो। विभिन्न अध्ययन गरिएका वनस्पतिहरूको वायु प्रदूषण सहिष्णुता सूचकांक (APTI) गणना गरियो र तिनीहरूको सहनशीलता स्तरहरू वर्गीकृत गरियो। प्रतिनिधि पात नमूनाहरू (Representative Leaf Samples) बाट भारी धातुहरू (Heavy Metals) Zn, Cu र Pb Wet digestion method प्रयोग गरेर निकालिएको थियो र परमाणु अवशोषण स्पेक्ट्रोफोटोमिटर (Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer) प्रयोग गरेर विश्लेषण गरियो र अन्ततः Metal Accumulation Index (MAI) निर्धारण गरियो। प्रदूषित साइटमा Ficus religiosa मा अधिकतम पात क्षेत्र (Leaf Area) ( $202.42 \pm 84.61 \text{ cm}^2$ ) देखियो भने कम प्रदूषित साइटमा Prunus cersoides मा विशिष्ट पात क्षेत्र (SLA) ( $212.00\pm8.31 \text{ cm}^2/\text{g}$ ) देखियो। कम प्रदूषित साइटहरू भन्दा प्रदुषित साइटहरूमा स्टोमाटा घनत्व बढेको पाइयो र अधिकतम स्टोमाटा घनत्व ( $231.98\pm1.84$   $/{
m cm}^2$ ) Eucalyptus globules मा देखियो। प्रदूषित ठाउँहरूमा स्टोमाटाको लम्बाइ र चौडाइ कम भएको पाइयो। स्टोमाटाको अधिकतम लम्बाइ ( $26.82 \pm 0.22 \ \mu m$ ) Ficus reliagiosa मा र चौडाइ ( $15.08 \pm 0.39 \ \mu m$ ) कम प्रदुषित साइटको Eucalyptus globules मा देखियो। प्रदुषित स्थानहरूमा एपिडर्मिस र क्युटिकलको बाक्लोपन

घटेको पाइयो। क्युटिकल ( $11.22\pm1.66$   $\mu$ m) र एपिडर्मिसको अधिकतम मोटाई ( $28.98\pm0.69$   $\mu$ m) Callistemon lanceolatus र Ficus reliogiosa कमश: प्रदूषित साइटहरूमा देखियो। अध्ययन गरिएका एन्जियोस्पर्म बिरुवाहरूमध्ये धुम्बाराहीको Populus euramericana मा सबैभन्दा बढी APTI (15.67) देखियो भने जिम्नोस्पर्मबाट धुम्बाराहीकै Pinus roxburghii मा APTI (8.94) सबैभन्दा बढी देखियो जसले वायु प्रदूषणप्रति उनीहरूको सहिष्ण्ता (Tolerance) देखाउँछ। अनुसन्धान गरिएका एन्जियोस्पर्महरू मध्ये, बनस्थलीमा Populous euramericana मा अधिकतम Zn (132.38±3.71 mg / kg) सङ्कलन भएको भेटियो, Cu (20.27±0.64mg /kg) बालाज्को Jacaranda mimosifoli मा र अधिकतम Pb(40.33±1.84 mg/kg) चाहि एयरपोर्टको Callistemon lanceolatuts मा भेटियो। अधिकतम MAI (40.96) एयरपोर्टमा भएको Populus euramericana मा भेटिएको थियो। त्यसैगरी, अनुसन्धान गरिएका जिम्नोस्पर्महरूमध्ये, अधिकतम Zn (54.52±1.20 mg/kg) धुम्बाराहीको Cedrus deodara मा भेटियो यसैगरी अधिकतम Cu (20.16±0.48 mg/kg) एयरपोर्टको Thuja orientalis मा र अधिकतम Pb ( $8.85\pm2.65$  mg/kg) चाहि रत्नपार्कको Pinus roxburghii मा पाइयो । उच्चतम MAI (75.78) Thuja orientalis मा रेकर्ड गरिएको थियो। अधिकतम MAI र APTI को आधारमा, एंजियोस्पर्म बाट Populus euramericana, Jacaranda mimoisifolia, र Callistemon lanceolatus र त्यसैगरी, अध्ययन गरिएका जिम्नोस्पर्महरू मध्ये Cedrus deodara र Thuja orientalis बिरुवाहरू सडकको छेउमा रोप्न सुफाव दिइन्छ। सदाबहार रूखहरू जस्तै Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Pinus roxburghii, Cedrus deodara र Thuja orientalis लाई विशेष गरी जाडो मौसममा प्रदुषण कम गर्न पतफड बिरुवाहरूसंगै सडकको छेउमा रोप्न उपयक्त देखिन्छ तसर्थ, वाय् प्रदूषणको समस्यालाई कम गर्न यी सहनशील बिरुवाहरू काठमाडौं उपत्यकामा वृक्षारोपण गर्न उपयुक्त देखिन्छ।

मुख्य शब्दहरू: एस्कार्बिक एसिड, धातु संचय सूचकांक (APTI),माइक्रोमोर्फोलजी, सापेक्ष पानी (Relative Water), विशिष्ट पात क्षेत्र (SLA), कुल क्लोरोफिल (Total Chlorophyll), शहरीकरण

## LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

AA	: Ascorbic Acid
AAS	: Atomic Absorption Spectrometer
ADP	: Adenosine Diphosphate
ALRTI	: Acute Lower Respiratory Tract Infection
APTI	: Air Pollution Tolerance Index
ATP	: Adenosine Triphosphate
COPD	: Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
CPCB	: Central Pollution Control Board
DMSO	: Dimethyl Sulfoxide
DOH	: Department of Health
DOTM	: Department of Transport Management
EDTA	: Ethylenediamine Tetraacetic Acid
HEI	: Health Effects Institute
IHD	: Ischemic Heart Disease
JICA	: Japan International Cooperation Agency
MAI	: Metal Accumulation Index
MoPIT	: Ministry of Physical Infrastructure and Transport
NCD	: Non-communicable Diseases
OECD	: The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PFT	: Pulmonary function test
PM	: Particulate Matter
ROS	: Reactive Oxygen Species
RWC	: Relative Water Content
SLA	: Specific Leaf Area
VOCs	: Volatile Organic Compounds

## LIST OF SYMBOLS

- & : And
- % : Percentage

## LIST OF TABLES

	Pa	age No.
Table 1:	Name of collected plant species collected from different sites	39
Table 2:	Description of study sites	40
Table 3:	Leaf area of different trees species at polluted sites and less polluted sites and t-values obtained from % decrease in leaf area characters	47
Table 4:	SLA (Cm <sup>2</sup> g- <sup>1</sup> ) and% decreased in SLA of different tree species growing along the road side in various polluted (P) and less polluted sites (LP) in Kathmandu	48
Table 5:	Percentage increase in number of stomata per cm <sup>2</sup> in different trees species at polluted sites and t-values obtained from one sample t-test	50
Table 6:	Length of stomata in different tree species at polluted and less polluted sites along with t-values obtained from % decreased data using one sample t-test	51
Table 7:	Breadth of stomata in different tree species at polluted and less polluted sites along with t-values obtained from % decreased data using one sample t-test	51
Table 8:	Percentage reduction in cuticle thickness of different trees at polluted areas and t- values obtained from one-sample t-test	52
Table 9:	Percentage decrease in epidermis thickness $(\mu m)$ of different trees species at polluted sites and t-values obtained from one sample t-test	53
Table 10:	Physiological parameters (mean±sd, n=25-30) to determine Air pollution tolerance index (APTI) in some common road side angiosperm trees collected from different sites of Kathmandu and their APTI categories	58

Table 11:	Physiological parameters (Mean±sd, n=25-30) to determine Air
	pollution tolerance index in some common road side
	gymnosperm trees collected from different sites of Kathmandu
	and their APTI categories
Table 12:	Metal content in the leaves (mean±sd, n=21) and the Metal
	Accumulation Index (MAI) in different plants at different sites
	(Angiosperm)63
Table 13:	Metal content in the leaves (mean $\pm$ sd, n=15) and the Metal
	Accumulation Index (MAI) in different plants at different sites
	(Gymnosperm)
Table 14:	Correlations between percentage decreased SLA and heavy
	metal content (Zn Cu and Ph) in leaves of some angiosperms
	troos
	11ees
Table 15:	Pearson correlation of metals with RWC, AA, pH, Tch and
	APTI (Angiosperm)
Table 16:	Pearson correlation of metals with RWC, AA, pH, Tch and
	APTI (Gymnosperm)72

## **LIST OF FIGURES**

### Page No.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

## Page No.

Declaration	ii
Recommendation	iii
Letter of Approval	iv
Acknowledgements	v
Abstract	vi
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations	х
List of Symbols	xi
List of Tables	xii
List of Figures	xiv

## **CHAPTER 1**

1.	INT	TRODUCTION1			
	1.1	Background1			
	1.2	Air pollution in Kathmandu valley2			
	1.3	Impacts on human health			
	1.4	Air pollution and plants4			
	1.5	Air pollution and macro morphology of leaf6			
		1.5.1 Leaf surface area			
		1.5.2 Specific leaf area (SLA)7			
	1.6	Air pollution and micro morphology of leaf7			
	1.7	Air pollution and leaf anatomy			
	1.8	Air pollution and biochemical parameters9			
		1.8.1 Ascorbic acid			
		1.8.2 Relative water content			
		1.8.3 Chlorophyll10			
		1.8.4 pH11			

1.9	Air pollution tolerance index (APTI)	11
1.10	Heavy metals and plants	12
1.11	Rationale of the study	12
1.12	Hypothesis	14
1.13	Objectives	14
1.14	Limitations	15

2.	LIT	ERATU	URE REVIEW16
	2.1	Plants	and air pollution16
	2.2	Macro	morphology of leaf
	2.3	Micro	morphology of leaf
	2.4	Bioch	emical parameters for APTI20
		2.4.1	Ascorbic acid content (AA)20
		2.4.2	Total chlorophyll content (Tchl)21
		2.4.3	Leaf extractpH22
		2.4.4	Relative water content (RWC)23
		2.4.5	Air pollution tolerance index (APTI)23
	2.5	Air po	ollution tolerance index (APTI) studies in Nepal26
	2.6	Metal	content in plants27
		2.6.1	Heavy metals and their physiological role in plants29
		2.6.2	Response of plants with different heavy metals
			2.6.2.1 Zinc (Zn)
			2.6.2.2 Lead (Pb)
			2.6.2.3 Copper (Cu)
		2.7	Metal accumulation index (MAI)
		2.8	Research gap

3.	MATERIALS AND METHODS		
	3.1	Study area	37
	3.2	Sample collection	38
	3.3	Criteria for sample collection sites	40
	3.4	Leaf morphological character	41
		3.4.1 Macromorphological characters	41
		3.4.2 Micromorphological characters	41
	3.5	Biochemical parameters	42
		3.5.1 Total chlorophyll (Tch) content	42
		3.5.2 Leaf extract pH	43
		3.5.3 Ascorbic acid (AA)	43
		3.5.4 Estimation of relative water content (RWC)	43
		3.5.5 Air pollution tolerance index (APTI)	44
		3.5.6 Air pollution tolerance index (APTI) categories	44
	3.6	Metal analysis	45
		3.6.1 Sample preparation	45
		3.6.2 Metal analysis	45
		3.6.3 Metal accumulation index (MAI)	45
	3.7	Statistical analysis	45

## **CHAPTER 4**

4.	RES	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION4		
	4.1	Result	S	.47
		4.1.1	Leaf morphology	.47
			4.1.1.1 Macro morphological character	.47
			4.1.1.2 Micromorphological characters	.50

	4.1.2	Air pollution tolerance index (APTI)	53
		4.1.2.1 Total chlorophyll content (Tchl)	53
		4.1.2.2 Relative water content (RWC)	54
		4.1.2.3 Leaf extract pH	55
		4.1.2.4 Ascorbic acid (AA) content	56
		4.1.2.5 Air pollution tolerance index (APTI)	57
	4.1.3	Metal content	62
		4.1.3.1 Metal content in angiosperm	62
		4.1.3.2 Metal content in gymnosperms	65
	4.1.4	Correlation between metal content and SLA in leaves of angiosperm	67
	4.1.5	Correlations between metal content and APTI parameters	68
		4.1.5.1 Correlations in angiosperm	68
		4.1.5.2 Correlation in gymnosperm	70
4.2	Discus	ssion	72
	4.2.1	Leaf morphology	73
		4.2.1.1 Macro morphology	73
		4.2.1.2 Micro morphology	73
	4.2.2	Air pollution tolerance index (APTI)	76
		4.2.2.1 Total chlorophyll content (Tchl)	76
		4.2.2.2 Relative water content (RWC)	78
		4.2.2.3 Leaf extract pH	79
		4.2.2.4 Ascorbic acid content (AA)	80
		4.2.2.5 Air pollution tolerance index (APTI) in angiosperm	82
	4.2.3	Metal content	84
		4.2.3.1 Metal content in angiosperm leaves	84
		4.2.3.2 Metal content in gymnosperm leaves	87

4.2.4	Correlation between SLA and metal content in leaves	
	of angiosperm	89
4.2.5	Correlations between metal content and APTI parameters	90
	4.2.5.1 Correlations in angiosperm	90
	4.2.5.2 Correlation in gymnosperm	92

5.	CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS		
	5.1	Conclusion	.95
	5.2	Recommendations	.96

## **CHAPTER 6**

6.	SUMMARY	98
REF	ERENCES	

## APPENDICES

## Appendix 1: List of photos

- **Appendix 2:** List of publications
- Appendix 3: Certificate of international and national conference attended and paper presented

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Background

When substances are present in excess in the environment at a concentration above than its normal ambient levels is called air pollution. It produces measurable and undesirable effect on living beings and materials (Seinfeld and Pandias, 2006). The quality of air is determined with the concentration of pollutants in the atmosphere. About 6.5 million deaths through out the world are due to air pollution in every year. While premature deaths from household air pollution are projected to decline from 3.5 million today to 3 million by 2040 and it is expected to increase premature deaths from outdoor pollution from 3 million to 4.5 million during the same time period (The Lancet, 2016). Lelieveld et al. (2015) assumed that the premature mortality by 2050 could reach up to double due to contribution of outdoor air pollution. One of the leading environmental causes of early death might be air pollution (OECD, 2012). Air pollution impact on human health could range from typical to mild depending upon the exposure as a result increased morbidity and mortality (Gurjar et al., 2010). Cardiovascular sicknesses, lung and respiratory cancer are associated with the acute exposure to air pollutants like aerosols and gases (Shah et al., 2013; Beelen et al., 2014). Many recent European researchers have found notable positive associations between SO<sub>2</sub> and NO<sub>2</sub> concentrations that lead to cardiovascular mortality, and respiratory health in metropolitan areas (Cesaroni et al., 2013; Bentayeb et al., 2015). Longterm exposure to tropospheric ozone  $(O_3)$  and particulate matter increases the risk of mortality from cardiopulmonary disorders (Jerrett et al., 2009). Ozone could be alone responsible for about 17,400 premature deaths in European Union (Malkin et al., 2016). Vedrenne et al. (2015) stated that degradation of air quality invite many diseases and also reduce life expectancy as a result it increases expenditure in health sector of a citizen. Environment is being threatened by air pollution which affects a wide range of ecosystem through various processes such as eutrophication and acidification. This may results in the loss of environmental services and biodiversity (Lovett et al., 2009; De Vries et al., 2014). Felzer et al. (2007) stated that trees like Poplar and Pine exposed to acute high O<sub>3</sub> concentration could lead to reduction in photosynthesis, damage to reproductive process, lower transportation of carbon in

roots as well as physiological effects on leaf. High ambient gaseous concentrations of SO<sub>2</sub>, NO<sub>2</sub>, and O<sub>3</sub> affects agricultural production in numerous crops like beetroot, mung beans, and wheat, especially in suburban areas (Agrawal et al., 2003). Van Dingenen et al. (2009) reported that high concentrations of ozone in Europe particularly in summer cause great damage to crops and pastures that showed great economic impact. By 2050, it is predicted that high O<sub>3</sub> concentrations would have damaged crops up to 20% globally, which will have an impact on the world's food output (Chuwah et al., 2015). Acidifying air pollutants exposed in the atmosphere cause damage to materials like glass, bricks, metals, limestone etc. by the effect of weathering, and corrosion (Kucera and Fitz, 1995; Chen et al., 2005). Nord et al. (2001) noticed significant damages of building structures and cultural assets (stonework facades, bronze monuments etc.) in Spain as a result of air pollution Furthermore, rubber cracking is produced by oxidative degradation of synthetic and natural rubbers as a result of ozonolysis of rubber chains, which is accelerated by air pollution, resulting in a loss of the physical and mechanical properties of rubbers, like rubber seals and tires (Li and Koenig, 2005). High concentration of air pollutants affect the solar energy by reducing the sunlight radiation reaching on solar cells by which decrease efficiency in electric generation (Chaturvedi and Shashank, 2015). Particulate debris such as sand, dust, and ashes accumulated on the solar panel needs cleaning, which raises the maintenance expenses (Mani and Pillai, 2010). Atmospheric pollution during smog haze affects visibility of light which ultimately affects the movements of vehicles, marine vessels and aircrafts (Watson, 2002; Hyslop and White, 2008).

#### **1.2** Air pollution in Kathmandu valley

Kathmandu valley, Nepal's capital is located in Bagmati Province at an altitude of 1200 to 1400 meters above sea level, with subtropical vegetation. Air pollutants, such as particulate matter (PM), ozone (O<sub>3</sub>), carbon monoxide (CO), and volatile organic compounds (VOCs), are expected to have adverse effects on 3.5 million people's health residing in the valley (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2018) and cause serious health consequences (Gurung *et al.*, 2017). Due to an increase in the number of automobiles, a high level of population density, and its unique bowl-shaped geography, that stops particulate matter from freely escaping into the atmosphere, human health has been adversely affected in Kathmandu valley (Kanwar *et al.*, 2016). In 2020, on the basis

of Environmental Performance Index, the air quality of Nepal was ranked at 145<sup>th</sup> out of 180 countries (Wendling *et al.*, 2020; Shrestha *et al.*, 2021). Kathmandu valley has been designated as one of the world's worst cities for air quality (Subedi, 2021). In the past 15 years, the number of vehicles in Kathmandu valley has increased significantly. According to data, the number of registered vehicles was 24,003 in 2000/01 and increased to 7, 79,822 in 2015/16 (DOTM, 2017). Among registered automobiles in Bagmati zone, 92% were private vehicles. Out of which 80% were motorbike. For the past ten years, the yearly average growth rate of all registered vehicles in the Bagmati zone was 12%, while the growth rate of motorcycles was approximately 14% alone. Vehicle registrations have increased by almost three times in the past 10 years, causing massive congestion on Kathmandu's streets (MoPIT/JICA, 2012). Emissions from vehicles in metropolitan areas are commonly thought to be harmful to plants (Honour *et al.*, 2009).

#### **1.3** Impacts on human health

Research on the effects of air pollution on human were well documented in Europe and North America (Cohen et al., 2005) while in Nepal on this regard is still very poor (HEI, 2010). Gurung et al. (2017) reported that Kathmandu valley is facing a potentially significant human health burden due to exposure of high level of air pollution. Air pollution is going to be major cause of silent killer for different chronic and infectious ailments. An unhealthy environment is solely responsible for 7 million deaths annually and 12.6 million deaths worldwide (WHO, 2017). The improvement in air quality in high-income nations between 1990 and 2015 resulted decrease in the global rates of death from exposure of PM 2.5 (Cohen et al., 2017) but it was predicted that total global mortality due to PM 2.5 might reach up to 76%. The impact on human health in Nepal is still serious. Nearly 24,000 premature deaths have been expected due to outdoor pollution in Nepal each year by 2030 (Shindell et al., 2012). In Nepal, common diseases (like allergies, eye infection, and respiratory illness,) as well as chronic diseases such as ischemic heart disease (IHD), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), lung cancer, and stroke are on the rise. Noncommunicable diseases (NCDs), which account for 60% of mortality, have also been identified as the main cause of human demise and are the leading cause of death worldwide. The top four leading non-communicable diseases of death are due to cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases (44%), cancer (22%), chronic respiratory

diseases (9%), and diabetes mellitus (4%) (WHO, 2016). In Nepal, death from ambient air pollution was alarmingly high in 2012, with 33.4% of deaths from IHD, followed by stroke (32%), COPD (17.8%), acute lower respiratory tract infection (ALRTI, 7.4%) and lung cancer (9.3%) (WHO, 2017). Besides this in each ailment, the number of female mortality rate in Nepal was found to be greater than the number of male death in each disease (WHO, 2017). Reports from the Department of Health (DOH) services in Nepal between 2013 and 2014 indicated that COPD was the leading cause of death among patients, with respiratory tract disorders being one of the leading reasons for outpatients (DOH Services, 2014). Study based on the hospitalized patients from different hospitals of Kathmandu valley reveals a significant high frequency of respiratory disorders where COPD was shown to be prominent among the other disorders. According to the gender wise 48.7% of all in patients were female and 51.3% were male. A district wise study in valley reported that the Kathmandu showed the highest number, i.e., 44.4% of patients followed by 10.3% in Lalitpur and 10.2% in Bhaktpur. The average morbidity rate was 44.4%, with COPD, becoming the leading cause of mortality (Karki et al., 2015). Besides Kathmandu valley, 48.4% of patients had COPD for more than five years in Chitwan. Nepal had 14% preterm births, which is quite high percentage as suggested by KC et al. (2015). Even though there are no obvious causes for this high preterm birth rate, Subba and Subba (2015) suggest it might be due to influence of air pollution. Due to increase in air pollution hazards in Kathmandu and other cities, traffic police are constantly exposed to dusty roads (Aryal et al., 2015), and as a result, pulmonary functions among traffic police particularly those working in Kathmandu valley have been significantly worsened (Shrestha et al., 2015). Brick kiln employees and sand grocery workers in Kathmandu are both impeded by airborne hazards and their health has been seriously affected (Sanjel et al., 2016). Air pollution has been regarded as one of the leading cause of mortality throughout world leaving behind metabolic hazards, dietary risks, and tobacco smoking. It is also estimated that air pollution will be responsible for one out of every ten deaths (The World Bank, 2017).

#### **1.4** Air pollution and plants

Neat and clean air is essential for entire growth and development of living beings. Now-a-days due to industrialization, urbanization and vehicular emission, air has become highly polluted. Living beings and environment are adversely affected by the introduction of particulate, chemical and biological matter in to the atmosphere. The overuse of fossil fuels in the industrial and transportation sectors increases the amount of gaseous pollutants in the atmosphere (Kulkarni and Ingawale, 2014). Likewise SO<sub>2</sub>, NO<sub>2</sub>, CO, soot particles, small amount of toxic metals, organic molecules and radioactive isotopes are released by combustion (Agbaire and Esiefarienrhe, 2009; Bhattacharya et al., 2013). The ever-increasing numbers of vehicles, over population pressure, and over-exploitation of open areas have worsened the pollution problem (Sharma and Roy, 1999). So, air pollution is the main cause for decrease or increase in physiological and biochemical responses of various crops and, plants especially growing at the contaminated areas (Chauhan and Joshi, 2008). Plants could play a vital role in all ecosystems as they are stationary in nature and have abundant leaves. They serve as primary receptors for large number of air pollutants (Lohe et al., 2015) and also considered as bio filters as they absorb a huge amount of particles from their surroundings (CPCB, 2007). Plants absorb gaseous pollutants from the air through their leaf stomata and adsorb particles through leaf interception (Kapoor, 2014). Because plants are the primary acceptors of air pollution and serve as scavengers (Mahecha et al., 2013) and plant species with higher performance tolerance can serve as air pollution sinks (Miria and Khan, 2013) as they absorb or adsorb and metabolize pollutants. Leaves play a vital role to sequester carbondioxide from the atmosphere through the process of photosynthesis. Plant species, pollutants type and its concentrations, as well as a number of environmental factors, have an effect on plant's growth (Wuytack et al., 2011). Roadside plant leaves act as sink, as they are constantly exposed to air contaminants and hence have also been considered for bio monitoring potential (Sawidis et al., 2012). High traffic areas are one of the most significant sources for emission of heavy metals and thought to be toxic to living organisms, whereas some heavy metals in traces are considered to be essential for life. Excessive level of toxic metals can damage to biochemical process. In urban environment, heavy metals such as Zn, Pb and Cd can originate from different sources like rubber tire wear, motor oil, auto workshops, electroplating industries and gasoline

combustion etc. Though, leaded gasoline has been prohibited, yet much residual lead remains in the soil and heavy metals are transferred to the biosphere constituents as airborne particles. In comparasion to other heavy metals, Cu and Zn are important micronutrients for plants as they participate in a variety of metabolic activities, including protein and enzyme production. These heavy metals, however, can cause a number of toxic symptoms in plants at high concentrations, like inhibited growth, reduction in enzyme activity, reduction in photosynthesis, water imbalance, upset mineral absorption, and alteration in membrane (Sharma and Dubey, 2005; Pandey *et al.*, 2009). Heavy metal resistance in a plant is accomplished through either an avoidance or tolerance mechanism.

#### **1.5** Air pollution and macro morphology of leaf

#### 1.5.1 Leaf surface area

Potential of photosynthesis in leaves is mainly regulated by leaf surface area. The rapid urbanization and industrialization has triggered a lot of researches to combat against urban environmental pollution (Zhang et al., 2017). The particulate matter (PM) is mainly emitted directly by power plants, vehicle exhaust, cement plants, and industrial processors and these particles undergo reactions to produce secondary pollutants in the atmosphere by forming sulfur dioxide (SO<sub>2</sub>), nitrogen oxides (NOx), ammonia, and volatile organic compounds (VOCs) (Bosco et al., 2005). Green plants can absorb pollutants from the atmosphere and improve air quality (Gawronski et al., 2017). One study in the city centre of Beijing, China, estimated that trees removed 7,72, 000 kg of PM 10 from air during one year (Yang et al., 2005). PM accumulates on the surfaces of leaves and bark. PM deposition on leaves is increased by air turbulence in tree crowns. Trees accumulate more pollutants like coarse and fine particulate matter (PM), than smaller plants (Fowler et al., 1989). Plants with trichomes and/or rough leaf surfaces are thought to be more effective PM accumulators (Burkhardt, 2010). PM accumulates more effectively in broad-leaved species with rough leaf surfaces than in those with smooth surfaces (Beckett *et al.*, 2000). Coniferous tree with needles capture PM more effectively than broadleaf species due to their unique microstructure and thicker epicuticular wax layer (Beckett et al., 1998). The variation in leaf surface texture and leaf area are important factors to determine air pollutant adsorption ability. Lu et al. (2018) studied six species of landscape plants (*Pinus tabuliformis, Pinus bungeana, Salix babylonica, Acer elegantulum, Populus* and *Ginkgo biloba*) that grew in diverse levels of pollution in Beijing Xishan National Forest Park (with light pollution, the annual mean PM 2.5 mass concentrations was  $80.64\pm7.13 \ \mu g \ m^{-3}$ ) and Daxing Nanhaizi Park (heavy pollution, the annual mean PM 2.5 mass concentrations was  $97.95\pm12.57 \ \mu g \ m^{-3}$ ) and measured their adsorption and then compared with the the water-soluble ion content and leaf morphology. The findings revealed a positive relationship between pollution level and plant leaf surface PM 2.5 adsorption capacity.

#### 1.5.2 Specific leaf area (SLA)

Specific leaf area (SLA) is the amount of leaf area per unit leaf dry mass (Pierce et al., 1994). It shows the strong relationship with light intensity and declines when intensity of light increases (Kellomaki and Oker-Blom, 1981; Evans and Poorter, 2001). The position of the leaf in the crown determines the rate of SLA, and it is also regarded as one of the key leaf features which is used to measure the growth of plants (Lambers and Poorter, 1992; Wright et al., 2004; Falster et al., 2018). Specific leaf area is an important indicator for plant's adaptation strategies (Grime, 2006). SLA of the most of the terrestrial species ranges between 30 and 330 cm<sup>2</sup> g<sup>-1</sup> (Poorter *et al.*, 2009), which shows a significant degree of diversity with high variability in SLA. Fast-growing species produce greater leaf area per unit leaf biomass, leading to a higher growth rate (Poorter and Vander Werf, 1998). Low SLA is present in desert, shrub land, and forest species because development is hampered by either dehydration, nutrient limitation, or both (Poorter et al., 2009). Air pollution can also lead to a high variability in SLA for, e.g., Ligustrum lucidumand and Leontodon helveticus increased SLA due to sulphur dioxide (SO<sub>2</sub>) and O<sub>3</sub> pollution, respectively, for compensating the inhibition of photosynthesis (Bassin et al., 2009). However Tiwari et al. (2006) reported that SLA of carrot plants decreased due to a decreased leaf production rate, caused by air pollution. In general, elevated carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) concentrations resulted in decreased SLA (Poorter *et al.*, 2009).

#### **1.6** Air pollution and micro morphology of leaf

Air pollution directly affects the plants either through leaves or indirectly via soil acidification. Many plants experience physiological changes when they are exposed to

air borne pollutants before showing visible damage in their leaves (Liu and Ding, 2008). SO<sub>2</sub> in the atmosphere has a negative impact on a variety of physiological and morphological traits of plants. The impacts of vehicular exhaust pollution on the micro morphology of ornamental plants was studied by Saadabi (2011) taking into account the micro morphological features like number of stomata per unit area, the number of epidermal cells per unit area, and the length and width of stomata. In contaminated areas, leaves shortened with lower length, breadth, and low stomatal index per leaf area (Saadabi, 2011). SO<sub>2</sub> is aggravated by high relative humidity and high soil moisture that causes injury in plants (Tankha and Gupta, 1992). In sensitive plant species, pollutants can cause premature senescence, leaf injury, stomata damage, decrease in photosynthetic activity, disturbance in membrane permeability and reduce yielding capacity (Tiwari et al., 2006). Biochemicals (like ascorbic acid, enzymes, pigments, proteins) and physiology (such as relative water content and pH) in plants have been reported to be altered by air pollutants (Karmakar et al., 2016; Kaur and Nagpal, 2017). Air pollution stress leads to stomatal closure, which reduces CO<sub>2</sub> availability in leaves and inhibits carbon fixation (Robinson et al., 1998). Plants can only absorb the pollutants only when pollutants are discharged in to atmosphere (Rai and Panda, 2014). Plants play a crucial role in maintaining an ecological balance by actively involving in the cycling of nutrients and gases (photosynthesis and respiration). Plants with large leaf surface collect and absorb various contaminants from environment (Khanoranga, 2019).

### **1.7** Air pollution and leaf anatomy

Using tree leaves in bio monitoring of air pollution is of incredible environmental significance (Bargagli, 1998; Willekens *et al.*, 1994). The leaves act as a receptor of air pollutants, which also biologically absorbs and filters the pollutants (Free-Smith *et al.*, 2004 and Wagh *et al.*, 2006). Morphological and anatomical characteristics of plants operate as indicators of how the quality of the urban environment is altering, despite their low priority (Balasooriya *et al.*, 2009). Morpho- anatomical adjustments are important measures to gauge the air quality of the urban habitat (EL-Khatib *et al.*, 2011). Studies have revealed that physiological changes in plants take place as a result of a wide variety of environmental causes Kabata-Pendias (2010). Trace elements in soils and plants. Air pollution causes auxiliary changes in the stomata and epidermis,

thickening of cell walls, modification of the epicuticular wax layer, and chlorosis in leaves (Rao and Dubey, 1991; Setia, et al., 1994). Foliar epidermis is also considered by few authors as a bio indicator of environmental quality (Masuch et al., 1992; Agrawal and Tiwari, 1997; Balasooriya et al., 2009). As a result of air pollution, the histo-anatomical structure of the leaves of different Fabaceae species showed reduced stomatal size, increased leaf thickness, dark phenolic deposits in palisade, and light parenchyma (Govindaraju et al., 2012). Saadabi (2011) stated that length, breadth and calculated area of stomata showed different percentages of inhibition whereas number of stomata, epidermal cells, and stomatal index exhibited stimulation in Aristolochia elegans and Nerium oleander growing on the auto-exhaust-polluted roadside at Khartoum city. Due to stomatal closure and clogging in Boerhaavia, Amaranthus, *Cephlandra*, and *Nerium*, help in preventing the entry of toxic gases (Mandal, 2006). Rangkuti (2003) reported that plants that are exposed to air pollution may have different morphological characteristics, such as larger epidermal cells and more trichomes to cope with air pollution. Industrial emissions changed the morphological and anatomical features of normal birch *Betula pendula* leaves, and the noticeably negative changes were reduction in cuticle thickness and epidermal cell width (Neverova et al., 2013). Densities of stomata, trichomes, epidermal cells and length of the trichomes increased while the size of the epidermal cells reduced at polluted areas as comparison to control sites (Aggarwal, 2000).

#### **1.8** Air pollution and biochemical parameters

Relative water content, pH of leaf extract, total chlorophyll, and ascorbic acid content are the four important biochemical parameters by which air pollution tolerance index (APTI) is measured (Singh and Rao, 1983; Thambavani and Kamala, 2010; Thawale *et al.*, 2011; Lohe *et al.*, 2015; Gholami *et al.*, 2016).

#### 1.8.1 Ascorbic acid

The amount of ascorbic acid (AA) content in a plant's leaf plays an important role in pollution tolerance (Seyyednejad *and* Koochak, 2011). Ascorbic acid content increases in response to pollution load in all plant species (Liu and Ding, 2008; Chouhan *et al.*, 2012). This increase in AA might be due to the faster rate of reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation in the course of the photo- oxidation of SO<sub>2</sub> to SO<sub>3</sub>,

where sulfites are formed from absorbed SO<sub>2</sub>. Plants when exposed to the pollutants with high NO<sub>2</sub> and SO<sub>2</sub> are very sensitivity and shut their stomata fast (Srivastava, 1999). The reducing activity of ascorbic acid is dependent on the level of pH, increases at higher pH and decreases at lower pH (Chandawat *et al.*, 2011; Randhi and Reddy, 2012). The conversion of hexose sugar to ascorbic acid may be a result of a high pH. In plants, there is a significant relationship between pollution tolerance and ascorbic acid concentration. Tolerant plants contain a higher concentration of ascorbic acid than sensitive plants (Randhi and Reddy, 2012; Swami and Chauhan, 2015). Such plants that retain high ascorbic acid levels despite growing in polluted environments are thought to be air pollution resistant (Kuddus *et al.*, 2011).

#### **1.8.2 Relative water content**

Relative water content (RWC) is a ratio of the amount of water present in the leaf tissue at the time of sampling to that present when fully turgid (Bora and Joshi, 2014), i.e., the state of full saturation. By knowing the amount of water content in plant, the stressed or unstressed condition of a plant could be determined. The high water content of a plant body allows it to maintain physiological equilibrium even during pollution stressed conditions (Tsega and Deviprasad, 2014; Ogunkunle *et al.*, 2015). Plants with a higher RWC are more resistant to drought (Chouhan *et al.*, 2012). Due to air pollution, transpiration rate of leaf decreases, and the plant can not live well in such environment because it loses its motor to pull water and minerals up from the roots to leaves for photosynthesis or other biosynthesis processes as well as hampers cooling effect in leaves (Liu and Ding, 2008).

#### **1.8.3 Chlorophyll**

Chlorophyll is the primary photoreceptor in photosynthesis, the light-driven process that converts carbon dioxide into carbohydrates and oxygen. Leaf chlorophyll and carotenoids can provide vital information about a plant's physiological status. A reduction in chlorophyll instantly reduces plant productivity. Plants that retain chlorophyll even in polluted environments are said to be tolerant species (Singh and Verma, 2007). Chlorophyll pigments exist in a highly structured form, and when stressed, they may undergo photochemical processes such reduction oxidation and reversible bleaching; as a result, any change in chlorophyll might impact the plant's

physiological, morphological, and biochemical behavior (Giri *et al.*, 2013). Kapoor (2014) observed decreas in Chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, total chlorophyll content, carotenoid, total sugar, protein, dust catching limit, and leaf size in such plants species growing near to the automobile exhaust and industrial pollutants sites. The chlorophyll content of plant varies from species to species with the age of leaf, pollution level and other biotic and abiotic conditions (Krishnaveni *et al.*, 2012). The chlorophyll concentration decreases with increasing pollution level and also varies with the tolerance and sensitivity of the plant species, i.e., the more sensitive the plant species, the lower the chlorophyll content (Jyothi and Jaya, 2010).

#### 1.8.4 pH

pH being an important biochemical parameter which acts as an indicator of sensitivity of air pollution, and any alteration in leaf extract pH due to air pollution may affect stomatal sensitivity (Chouhan *et al.*, 2012). Plants with low pH are more vulnerable to air pollution, than those of plants with pH about 7 (Srivastava, 1999). Plant having a higher leaf extract pH makes plants more tolerant to pollution (Swami and Chauhan, 2015). It has been observed that when acidic pollutants such as SO<sub>2</sub> and NOx are present in the air, the pH of the leaves drops greatly in the sensitive plants than those of tolerant plants (Scholz and Reck, 1977; Singh and Verma, 2007). Hence, increased pH can enhance plant resistance to contaminants (Agarwal, 1988; Joshi *et al.*, 2016). Higher pH increases reducing activities of ascorbic acid while low pH reduces the efficiency of conversion of hexose sugar to ascorbic acid. So in the presence of acidic pollutants, leaf extract pH decreases and the decrease rate is more in sensitive plants as compared to tolerant plants (Tiwari and Tiwari, 2006; Gholami *et al.*, 2016).

#### **1.9** Air pollution tolerance index (APTI)

Plants show an inherent ability to encounter stress arising from pollution. By assessing the physiological and biochemical response of plants to contaminants, the sensitivity and tolerance of plants can be ascertained (Lakshmi *et al.*, 2009). The susceptibility and sensitivity of plants have been measured by using four biochemical parameters such as relative water content, total chlorophyll content, leaf extract pH and ascorbic acid for Air pollution tolerance index APTI (Singh and Rao, 1983; Rawal *et al.*, 2001; Thawale *et al.*, 2011; Lohe *et al.*, 2015; Kanwar *et al.*, 2016;

Chaudhry and Panwar, 2016; Gholami *et al.*, 2016). The APTI determination provides the plants reaction to air pollution and their ability to fight against air pollution. Hence APTI is regarded as a well-established approach for screening a large number of plants for their susceptibility to pollutants in the air (Tripathi *et al.*, 2009). Singh *et al.* (1991) investigated 69 plant species (herbs, shrubs and trees) for their ability to withstand air pollution and based on their air pollution tolerance index value they categorized them into tolerant, moderately tolerant, intermediate, and sensitive plants. Plants with higher index values are more resistant to air pollutants and can be used as sinks to reduce pollutants, whereas plants with lower index values exhibit less resistance (Singh and Rao, 1983; Shannigrahi *et al.*, 2004; Chandawat *et al.*, 2011). Based on identification of plants into sensitive and tolerant groups, tolerant plants act as sinks for reducing air pollution in urban and industrial regions, while sensitive plants function as markers or indicator (Singh *et al.*, 1991).

#### 1.10 Heavy metals and plants

Generally plants possess physiological mechanisms which make them able to resist with elevated heavy metal concentration in their substrate (Antonovics et al., 1971; Baker, 1981, Woolhouse, 1983). Plants do not always show visible symptoms externally when exposed to pollutants but may have internal injury or changes in metabolic pathways (Barman et al., 1999). Plants when grown on contaminated soils with toxic metals, show different types of responses in anatomical structure (Henry, 2000; Prasad, 2008). High concentrations of Zn and Cu in soil were phytotoxic and had adverse effects on crops, livestock and man (Kiekens, 1995). The phytotoxic effects with high concentrations of Co, Cu and Cr were the reduction in biomass, and that of Fe concentrations was on chlorophyll-a and chlorophyll-b content, and also on activity of catalase in leaves of cauliflower (Chatterjee and Chatterjee, 2000). Degradation of chlorophyll-a with high concentrations of Cu has also been reported in lichens (Chettri et al., 1998) and mosses (Shakya et al., 2008). Excess heavy metals cause internal water deficit in soil as well as in the plant body via reduced conductivity of stems and poor root system development (Lamoreaux and Chaney, 1977) which ultimately reduces nutritional quality and biomass production (Cottenie et al., 1976).

#### **1.11** Rationale of the study

In Nepal, there is an increasing trend of urbanization. According to the National Population and Housing Census (NPHC, 2021) the total population of Nepal, is 29,164,578, comparasion to other districts, Kathmandu has highest population density (5,169 per square Kilometer) with population of 2,041,587. The main cause of air quality degradation in Kathmandu is uncontrolled infrastructure development, vehicular emission, improper solid waste management, and industrialization. According to the Kathmandu Valley Traffic Police offie, the number of vehicles that ply on the valley road at present is 1.75 million. Just a year ago Traffic police data showed 1.4 million (Ojha, 2022). With the rapid increase in vehicle registration, population density, as well as road conditions, the air pollution in Kathmandu valley is higher than other cities of Nepal. Furthermore, waste burning in hospitals and other sectors, as well as coal burning and open burning of products such as tires and tubes, plastics, and papers, are additional sources of air pollution. Kathmandu, the bowlshaped valley that encompasses three districts (Kathmandu, the capital city, Lalitpur, and Bhaktapur) has extremely high levels of particulate ambient air pollution, with levels five times higher than acceptable guidelines (Shrestha, 2018). The worsening of air quality of Kathmandu has been blamed for an increasing number of vehicles and construction activities (like buildings, roads, excavations). The main sources of elemental carbon (black carbon) in Kathmandu have also been identified from brick klins (40%), motor vehicles (37%) and biomass burning (22%) (Kim et al., 2015). In Kathmandu the pulmonary function test (PFT) among the traffic police was found to be decreasing with the number of years involved in vehicular traffic duty (Shrestha et al., 2015) and this clearly indicated that the continuous exposure in the urban areas of Nepal would pose serious respiratory problems. More efforts and investments are required to combat with this air pollution problem in Kathmandu. But this air pollution issue can be minimized by identifying the 'natural sinks', i.e., the suitable plants that can absorb and/or adsorb and detoxify contaminants from the air as well as could play a significant role in lessening air pollution and improving air quality by absorbing gases, and bio-accumulating heavy metals. In Kathmandu valley, from previous study of APTI, plants like Cinnamum camphora, Jacaranda mimosifolia,

Grevillea robusta, Pinus roxburgii, Thuja orientalis and other different plants were described as moderately tolerant in one study (Rawal et al., 2001; Rajbansi and Pradhanagar, 2017; Ter et al., 2020) but sensitive in another (Kanwar et al., 2016). In this context, some plants may be sensitive or tolerant to air pollution (Horaginamani and Ravichandran, 2010), but the contradictory results from different studies made it difficult to ascertain if a plant is tolerant or sensitive. Only understanding tolerant and/or sensitive plant species is not enough, as plants have different survival strategy especially in heavy metal contaminated environment. Some plants accumulate more heavy metals in root portion and allow small amount to reach the shoot portion (Hall, 2002) and thus reduces the toxic effect in their physiology but in some others metals are equally available in all parts (Rascio, 1977). Hence it is very important to understand the underlying mechanism in them. For this it is very important to assess if the plants are good accumulator or avoiders of toxic heavy metals. Some tree species may survive without accumulating heavy metals even when it is present in their environment (avoiders) and some can accumulate and withstand its toxicity to some extent (accumulator). Therefore, it is very important to know the relationship between APTI parameters and metal accumulation in different plant species specially to understand if a plant is an accumulator or an excluder/avoider. Heavy metal accumulator will act as a sink and will help in reducing concentration of heavy metals in ambient air. So the outcome of current study will assist to select the tolerant road side trees, which can accumulate heavy metals and grow in contaminated environment, and will act as natural sink to reduce the air pollutants.

#### 1.12 Hypothesis

Based on above facts it is hypothesized that trees with large leaf surface area, thin cuticle and large stomatal pore, will absorb and accumulate heavy metals in leaves. It is also hypothesized that due to differences in metal accumulation in the leaf, same plant species exposed at different pollution level will have different APTI value.

## 1.13 Objectives

The general objective of this study is to identify the most suitable tree species which can absorb large quantity of air pollutants and helps in mitigating heavy metal
pollution problem. To achieve this main objective, the following specific objectives have been set for the study.

- 1. To study the macro and micro morphology of road side trees leaf surface.
- 2. To evaluate biochemical parameters and Air Pollution Tolerance Index (APTI) of different road side trees.
- 3. To measure the absorption of heavy metal concentrations (Zn, Cu and Pb) in tree leaves growing along the road side.
- 4. To evaluate correlation among morphological characters (macro and micro) biochemical parameters and metal content.
- 5. To investigate the relation between metals and biochemical parameters.

# 1.14 Limitations

- 1. All the plants were not found in all the study sites hence could not include.
- 2. Only road side plants were included.
- 3. Samples were only collected in winter season.

## **CHAPTER 2**

## 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

In developing countries, air pollution is a major threat to urban areas. The chief factors for air pollution are industrialization and urbanization (Bilal *et al.*, 2019; Lelieveld, 2020). Fast urbanization, uncontrolled industrialization, lack of strict environmental laws and poor emission control lead to the serious problems in the environment which severely affect both human and environmental health (Sanchez-Chardi, 2016). Metals circulate in the environment via both natural and human activities. Mobilization of pollutants from volcanic eruptions, rock, ocean evaporation, forest fires, and soil formation are natural sources (Ugulu *et al.*, 2012; Masindi and Muedi, 2018) while rubber tire wear, auto workshops, motor oil, gasoline combustion, electroplating industries etc. are urban sources of metal pollutants (Ugolini *et al.*, 2013).

## 2.1 Plants and air pollution

Plants have long been used in the detoxification of the air. Although trees help to reduce air pollution, pollutants have an adverse effect on them (Ghorbanli et al., 2009). This injury appears in the form of morphological, anatomical, deformations and physiological changes in plants (Tiwari et al., 2006; Liu and Ding, 2008). Plant leaves covered with dust receive less light, reducing photosynthetic efficiency and productivity (Šuškalo et al., 2018). Wang et al. (2019) stated that dust and particulate matter are the commenst types of environmental air pollutants which are responsible for severe problems in plants. Trees are the most efficient in trapping and absorbing for various particles which play an important role and act as pollutant absorbers. Age, density, size, plant height, canopy and leaf area all influence dust capturing capacity. Particulate matters deposited on the epidermis of leaf disturb gaseous exchange and repiration as well as reduce photosynthesis too (Préndez et al., 2019). The leaf area was greatly covered by dust particles in an urban area due to which the leaf size and stomatal density were found to be lower, and also observed thin cuticle and stomata closed than in a rural area (Pourkhabbaz et al., 2010). Significant increase in trichome density on the leaf lower surface, and also increase in trichome length on both the upper and lower surfaces in Robinia pseudoacacia and Ailanthus altissima trees

growing near the Iranian Aluminium Company (northeast of Arak province) have been speculated due to air pollution (Amini et al., 2016). Decrease in leaf surface area, leaf lengths, and maximum width under air pollution conditions was obserd in Acer negundo, an ornamental tree in an urban forest (Babapour et al., 2014). Molashahi and Feizi (2014) conducted a study on the capacity to absorb pollutants in Pinus eldarica, Fraxinus rotundifilia and Morus alba, and observed that Morus alba was the most capable of trapping pollutants due to its larger leaf surface area than the other two. The investigation of epidermal characters in the leaves of Fraxinus pennsylvanica and Ficus benjamina showed significantly variation with their stomata length and width between urban and rural areas, and width being higher in rural areas (Arriaga et al., 2014). Squires (2016) observed that air pollution decreased stomatal conductance in light conditions while increasesed in dark conditions. Pollutant particles also inhibited photosynthesis by masking the leaves. Plant morphology plays a significant role in determining plant tolerance to air pollution. As a result, certain parameters like dimensions of stomatal aperture, thickness of cuticle, density of epidermal cells, and their cell wall properties, play important role for reducing air pollution and preventing pollutants from entering the plant. Those plants which are sensitive to air pollutants, they change in their anatomy, morphology, physiology, and biochemistry and it was supported by many researchers (Rai, 2016). Celik et al. (2005) reported that plants like Robinia pseudoacacia accurately reflected environmental changes and served as an effective biomonitoring tool for environmental quality. Manning and Feder (1985) suggested that the bio monitoring approach is a reliable as well as cost-effective alternative monitoring techniques for detecting the presence of pollutants in the environment. Plants act as natural bioindicators and help in monitoring of air quality through lessening the adverse impacts of toxicity of metals (Ugulu et al., 2015). Plants are well known for accumulating and absorbing of potentially toxic substances (Piczak et al., 2003) and they transfer trace elements from abiotic to biotic environment (Hu et al., 2014; Martnez-López et al., 2014). Heavy metal concentrations in air are strongly correlated with heavy metal concentrations in plants (Ugulu et al., 2012). Root uptake and soil acidification govern heavy metal concentration in plants that is related to the bioavailability of trace element either in soil, or dry and wet deposition on the outer surfaces of leaf (Socha et al., 2017). Plant leaves have a large surface area for soaking up, impingement, and accumulating air pollutants, so they serve as an environmental

sink (Balasubramanian *et al.*, 2018). Many researchers have suggested that while developing green belts, tolerant tree species should be planted to improve air quality in town areas (Hu *et al.*, 2014). Different types of plants have been used in bio monitoring studies since long time (Baslar *et al.*, 2009; Sánchez-Chardi, 2016). Plants act as bio monitors and thought to be the most helpful and eco friendly method for monitoring as well as reducing of urban air pollution (Rossini *et al.*, 2007). Green plants particularly in industrial sectors or along the streets can provide an eco friendly and cost-effective way to reduce air pollution by which they help in beautifying to the environment (Bharti *et al.*, 2018). Air Pollution Tolerance Index (APTI) is thought to be a useful tool to evaluate whether a plant species is tolerant or susceptible to air pollution (Shrestha *et al.*, 2021).

## 2.2 Macro morphology of leaf

Leaf area is a trait that can be used to study environmental factors (like light interception, irrigation response, and evapotranspiration) as well as ecological factors (such as plant growth and photosynthetic efficiency) in urban green spaces (Tian et al., 2019). Leaf area in tree species is directly related to particulate matter concentrations (Rodríguez-Santamaría et al., 2022) because tree species retain more particulate matter at higher leaf area (Zha et al., 2018). Earlier study has revealed that these leaf characteristics (stomatal density and trichomes) can be used to assess air quality in the context of urban tree species. No doubt, leaf traits have become a tool that can assist for the study in the management of urban tree air quality and ecosystem benefit (Rodrguez et al., 2022). In comparison to all other plant parts, the leaf is the most sensitive to air pollutants. Numerous studies have found that when exposed to pollution, leaf area and petiole length reduce (Dineva, 2004; Tiwari et al., 2006). According to Abdulmoniem (2011), polluted sites resulted in smaller leaves with reduced length, width, and stomatal index per leaf area. According to Saadullah and Mudassir (2013), all plant species studied showed a significant reduction in leaf area at polluted sites when compared to the same plant species at non-polluted sites. Meerabai et al. (2012) found a slight decrease in leaf area, size of stomata, density of stomata, stomata frequency, and stomata index in pigeon pea as a result of pollution.Specific leaf area (SLA), that measures leaf surface area per unit mass, is a key factor in plant's development. SLA indicates the plant's photosynthetic capacities and adaptation to the environment. SLA is a major element in several ecological researches on photosynthesis, biomass, resource use, respiration, and growth strategies of different species of plants (Reich et al., 1991; Wilson et al., 1999; Yulin et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2018). Environmental factors such as light regime, water supply, nutrient intake and plant's status (like leaf and plant age) may all have an impact on the SLA of an individual plant. Several studies have been conducted to determine the impact of plant and leaf age in regulating leaf characteristics particularly SLA. These studies were mostly focused on agricultural plants and evergreens plants particularly in *Eucalyptus* (Biemond *et al.*, 1995; Bertin and Gary, 1998; Li et al., 1999; Day et al., 2001; England and Attiwill, 2006; Jullien et al., 2009). Previous studies have shown that SLA decreased with increasing leaf age (Reich et al., 1991; Luo et al., 2005; White and Scott, 2006; Milla et al., 2008), however, no change in SLA was observed in red spruce with plant age (Day et al., 2001). SLA generally decreases from the bottom to the top of the canopy in evergreen species (Hollinger, 1989), but little information is available for seasonal deciduous trees or semi deciduous forest (Fotis and Curtis, 2017). Abbasi et al. (2018) conducted a study in Ulmus sps. at polluted sites of Azadi and Gisha Bridge and observed a reduction in specific leaf area, which has been suggested to be a strategy to improve stress tolerance (Xu et al., 2009).

## 2.3 Micro morphology of leaf

The leaves of plants are the most exposed part and affected by air pollution (Treshow, 1984). As a result leaf area and petiole length were reduced due to stress of air pollution (Dineva, 2004; Tiwari *et al.*, 2006). Different plant species growing in polluted regions have shown negative impacts of air pollutants on stomatal density and opening (Verma *et al.*, 2006). Air pollution stress causes stomatal closure (Woo *et al.*, 2007). With the stomatal closure, CO<sub>2</sub> availability in leaves is limited, which hinders carbon fixation. In severely polluted areas, Gostin (2009) observed that pollution stress affected the structure of *Plantago lanceolata* leaves, the stomata of plants found to be decreased in size but increased in number. Nevertheless, this species is much resistant to the effects of air pollutants, and despite the changes observed, it continues to grow and mature (flowering stage). Pollutants absorbed by plants from the air have negative impact on photosynthesis, respiration, leaf conductance, and leaf life span (Tripathi *et al.*, 2009). All of these parameters in trees

have a negative impact on canopy carbon fixation and net chlorophyll content. Ogunkunle et al. (2013) studied the impact of cement industry dust pollution on the anatomical features of the leaves of two plants, Pennisetum purpureum and Sida acuta, and observed significant reduction in stomatal size and increased stomatal index, which might be the strategy for anatomical adaptations in a polluted environment. Similarly, Lantana camara and Calotropis procera exposed in cement dust pollution has also been found to change the anatomical features and noticed modification in epidermal and stomatal characteristics in both species (Tiwari and Pandey, 2017). Amulya et al. (2015) reported a higher stomatal index, reduction in stomatal width, pores and length in *Tabernaemontana divaricata* and *Hamelia patens* growing at a very high traffic density (at K.R. Circle and Chikkahalli, Mysore city) than that of plants growing in the control areas. Leaf size was also reduced in polluted areas as compared to the control site. The cement dust pollutants also showed hidden damage in apricot tree such as gradual loss in photosynthetic activity, closing of stomata, and ultimately affected growth and production (Rafiq and Kumawat, 2016). Air pollutants also showed impacts on stomatal opening and number in the leaves of roadside plants (Zeb et al., 2017).

# 2.4 Biochemical parameters for APTI

## 2.4.1 Ascorbic acid content (AA)

Ascorbic acid (AA) is a powerful reducing agent that activates several physiological processes like photosynthetic carbon fixation and defensive mechanisms and its reduction power is dependent on its concentration (Raza and Murthy, 1988; Thakar and Mishra, 2010; Yannawar and Bhosle, 2013). Pollution causes a rise in the ascorbic acid content of plant species, which may be related to an increase in the rate of formation of reactive oxygen species during the photo oxidation process (Chandawat *et al.*, 2011). Increased ascorbic acid concentration may be an effective method for preventing thylakoid membranes from oxidative damage during water stress conditions (Tambussi *et al.*, 2000). Ascorbic acid (AA) plays an important role in cell division, defense mechanism and synthesis of the cell wall in plants (Conklin, 2001). Ascorbic acid is a stress-reducing chemical found in higher amounts in stress-tolerant plant species (Rai *et al.*, 2013). The defense mechanism of plant responds by

increasing the concentration of ascorbic acid, which enhances its ability to tolerate pollutants (Keller and Schwager, 1997). It is believed that plant species with high ascorbic acid content in polluted areas may withstand the stress of air pollution (Swami and Chauhan, 2015). Ascorbic acid levels in the leaves are an indicator of plants tolerance towards pollution (Subramani and Devanandan, 2015). Mishra and Pandey (2011) reported low ascorbic acid in plants like Ficus religiosa, Ficus glomerata, Phyllanthus embilca and Eucalyptus globus from polluted Tiruchirappalli city. Krishnaveni et al. (2012) evaluated the biochemical changes in the leaf of plants collected in and around Salem city and found high ascorbic acid content for Albizia lebbeck, and Albiziz amara; moderate amount of ascorbate with Tridax procumbens, Syzygium cumini, Morinda pubescens, Delonix elata, Annona squamosa, Strychnos nux-vomica, Alangium salviifolium, Holarrhena antidysenterica; and very low levels of ascorbate in Aegle marmelos. Tak and Kakdea (2017) observed that ascorbic acid decreased significantly in the plant leaves of Alstonia scholaris, Azadirachta indica, Azadirachta indica, Tamarindus indica, Tectona grandis, Annona squamosa and Acacia nilotica growing on the roadside with exposed to vehicular air pollution. Ascorbic acid acts as an antioxidant and develops the mechanism in a plant to resist against the adverse atmospheric conditions (Keller and Schwager, 1997).

### 2.4.2 Total chlorophyll content (Tchl)

Chlorophyll act as a bioindicator for air pollution levels (Darrall and Jager, 1984). Impact of air pollution on plants can be known by measuring the chlorophyll concentration of leaves of that plant. Plants with more chlorophyll may be more resistant to pollutants (Joshi and Swami, 2009). Photosynthetic pigments are degraded due to air pollution (Bansal, 1988; Singh *et al.*, 1990; Sandelius *et al.*, 1995). Air pollutants, particularly particulate matter, make their entrance into the tissues through the stomata and cause partial denaturation of the chloroplast and decrease pigment contents in the cells of polluted leaves. Swami *et al.* (2004) found a significant decrease in chlorophyll content, carotenoid content, ascorbic acid content, pH, and moisture content in the leaves of two tree species, *Shorea robusta* and *Mallotus philippinensis*, growing along the automobile polluted road side. Decrease in the concentration of chlorophyll in polluted area is caused by the shading effects with deposition of suspended particulate matter on the leaf surface which might clog the

stomata and interfere with the gaseous exchange which ultimately hinder chlorophyll synthesis (Prajapati and Tripathi, 2008). Seyyednejad and Koochak (2011) observed highest chlorophyll content in the leaves of *Eucalptus camaldulensis* from polluted site as compared to the control. Plants growing in polluted environments showed lower level of chlorophyll'a', chlorophyll'b', and total chlorophyll (Raina and Sharma, 2006) but Tripathi and Gautam (2007) reported chlorophyll content in the leaves of *Mangifera indica* found to be increased in response to air pollution.

## 2.4.3 Leaf extract pH

In the presence of an acidic pollutant, the leaf pH is reduced and the reducing rate is more in sensitive plants compare to that in tolerant plant species (Scholz and Reck, 1977). pH of plant acts as a biochemical parameter and indicates sensitivity of plants in context with air pollution. Plants with pH about 7 are more tolerant while with low pH are more susceptible and less tolerant (Singh and Verma, 2007; Kumar and Nandini, 2013). Photosynthetic efficiency decreases with the decrease in pH (Escobedo et al., 2008). Variations in the pH of leaf extract due to air pollution may have an impact on stomatal sensitivity (Chouhan et al., 2012). Declining rate of pH in the presence of an acidic pollutant (such as SO<sub>2</sub> and NOx) in the ambient air is more in sensitive plants compare to tolerant plants (Singh and Verma, 2007; Paulsamy et al., 2000; Scholz and Reck, 1977). Photosynthetic efficiency depends on pH of leaf and soil in that location which indicates the condition of the plant (Subramani and Devaanandan, 2015). Higher pH can provide resistance to the plant against the pollutants (Joshi and Bist, 2016). Kumar and Nandini (2013) found leaf extract pH moderately acidic in the species like Ficus religiosa, Ficus benghalensis, Delonix regia, Albizia saman, Spathodea campanulata and Michelia champaca collected from urban Bangalore, whereas of other species were slightly acidic collected from the same area. Nwadinigwe (2014) observed variable results of leaf extract pH in plants growing at polluted and control area and found more acidic at polluted site as compared to control site in plants (like Delonix regia, Bougainvillea spectabilis, and Durantaerecta Ixora) and low pH leaf extract (in Ixora coccinea and Anacardium ocidentale). Plants with high pH may increase the efficiency of conversion from

hexose sugar to ascorbic acid (Escobedo *et al.*, 2008), whereas plants with low leaf extract pH show the good correlation of sensitivity towards air pollution (Yan-Ju and Hui, 2008). Rai *et al.* (2013) reported that plants growing at the industrial area showed acidic range while the plants growing at the non-industrial site showed neutral to slightly alkaline range.

#### 2.4.4 Relative water content (RWC)

Water is vital precondition for plant's life (Swami et al., 2004). RWC of a leaf is the amount water present in it relative to its full turgidity condition (Bora and Joshi, 2014). Relative water content is associated with protoplasmic permeability in cells, resulting in the loss of water and dissolved nutrition and early leaf senescence (Agrawal and Tiwari, 1997; Tsega and Deviprasad, 2014; Ogunkunle et al., 2015). Several studies reported that high temperature and drought stress greatly infulence physiology and plant growth (Ro et al., 2021; Chen et al., 2022). High water content within a plant body helps to maintain its physiological balance under stressful conditions, such as exposure to air pollution (Agarwal and Tiwari, 1997; Innes and Haron, 2000).Under air polluted conditions, transpiration rates are frequently high, which may lead to desiccation. Therefore, the maintenance of RWC by the plant may determine its relative tolerance to pollution (Verma, 2003). Increased RWC in a particular species improves its drought tolerance. High RWCs in most of the plants growing in an industrial sites and polluted areas might be responsible for maintaining the normal physiological function (Rai et al., 2013) Tree species may be more resistant to pollutants due to greater relative water content at polluted areas (Kumar et al., 2019).

## 2.4.5 Air pollution tolerance index (APTI)

Air pollution tolerance index (APTI) has been widley used to calculate the response of plants towards air pollution (Singh and Rao, 1983; Lakshmi *et al.*, 2009). Plants with higher APTI value are designated as more tolerant towards air pollution and assist to reduce air pollution, whereas plants with a lower APTI value are less tolerant and indicate sensitivity towars air pollutants. Agbaire and Esiefarienrhe (2009) studied the plants that were continuously exposed to pollution, which absorbed, stored, and accumulated pollutants into their systems. These plants which were exposed to pollutants exhibited visible modifications along with changes in biochemical processes and accumulation of specific metabolites. Change in biochemical parameters in leaves is utilized as an early stress indicator or as a marker for physiological damage before visible injury symptoms appear. Joshi and Bora (2011) evaluated the APTI of plants growing alongside a highway in northern India, including, Psidium guajava, Eucalyptus spp., Ficus benghalensis, Saraca indica, Cassia fistula, Azadirachta indica, Bougainvillea glabra and Ficus religiosa and found that Ficus religiosa had a high APTI value. Some road side plants of Ahmadabad city, India, were evaluated for APTI by Chandawat et al. (2011) and of APTI value found that the sequence as Ficus *religiosa*>*Ficus* glomerata>Azadiracta indica>Polyalthia longifolia. Chouhan et al. (2012) investigated APTI in Dalbergia sissoo, Euginia jambolana, Azadirachta indica, Mangifera indica Nerium indicum, and Calotropis gigantean, growing in Pithampur industrial area, Madhya Pradesh, India and found that *Calotropis gigantea* had the highest APTI and Azadirachta indica had the lowest. They recommended that Calotropis gigantea, Dalbergia sissoo as efficient tree species in developing green belts and help in reducing air pollution. Similarly some tree species were evaluated for APTI (Kumar and Nandini, 2013) growing in Bangalore, India, and reported that Pongamia pinnata, Michelia champaca, Millingtonia hortensis, Polyalthia longifolia, Albizia saman, Azadiracta indica and Tamarindus indica showed tolerance to air pollutants and were suggested for use in bio monitoring of air pollution in comparable places. In another study, APTI of trees such as Ficus palmata, Populus deltoides, and Pistacia integerrima growing at several locations in Himachal Pradesh, India, was investigated by (Sharma, 2014) and found an APTI trend in the order of F. palmata>P. deltoides>Pistacia integerrima. Furthermore, study reported that at the rainy season had the greatest APTI value, followed by winter, and the summer season had the lowest. APTI of six different trees was studied by Bora and Joshi (2014), and reported that Saraca indica>Azadirachta indica>Shorea robusta>Eucalyptus sp.>Ficus religiosa>Tectona grandis had the highest APTI. Similarly APTI of three prominent tree species (Dalbergia sissoo, Delonix regiai, and Cassia siamea,) growing along road sides of Harda (Madhya Pradesh, India), was evaluated by Jain and Kutty (2014) and observed that APTI of Cassia siamea was greater in polluted sites (i.e., road side) than at residential area considered as controlled site. Rai and Panda (2014) studied the APTI of five plants growing along a road in Aizawl India and found that Artocarpus heterophyllus had the highest APTI and Lagerstroemia speciosa had the lowest. Lohe et al. (2015) calculated APTI in several plant species growing in different cities in northern India and observed that *Eucalyptus globus* had the highest APTI, then followed by Ficus religiosa>Mangifera indica>Polyalthia longifolia>Phyllanthus emblica>Citrus limon>Lantana camara. The APTI of tree species such as Polyalthia longifolia, Psidium guajava, Ficus religiosa, Azadirachta indica, Mangifera indica, and Syzygium cumini growing in various cities of northern India was evaluated by Madan and Chauhan (2015) and found that Mangifera indica showed the highest APTI and Polyalthia longifolia had the lowest. Similarly Swami and Chauhan (2015) investigated APTI in diverse tree species in Eucalyptus citridora, Shorea robusta, Tectona grandis, and Mangifera indica, and found that Shorea robusta had the highest APTI and Eucalyptus citridora had the lowest. Similar APTI study of four plant species (Pongamia pinnata, Azadirachta indica, Tamarindus indicus, and Neerium oleander), growing at different sources of air pollutants such as vehicles and industry in southern India, showed highest APTI in Neerium oleanderand also indicated a pollution status in different sites (Akilan and Nandhakumar, 2016). APTI of three trees from India (Tectona grandis, Polyalthia longifolia, and Ficus religiosa) was measured by Pradhan et al. (2016) and reported highest APTI of *Tectona grandis*. Similarly in another industrial area of Tarapur, Maharashtra, Joshi et al. (2016) evaluated the APTI of 30 plants and found order of tolerant species as Putranjiva roxburghii> Mangifera indica> Ficus racemosa> Ficus hispida>Morinda citrifolia and the order of sensitive species as Nyctanthes arbor-tristis> Bauhinia purpurea> Peltophorum pterocarpum> Psidiu guajava> Morinda pubescens. APTI of plants growing near a gas flare station in Nigeria was studied by Tanee and Albert (2013) and observed APTI in the order of Psidium guajava> Puerenia phaseoloides> Mallotus oppositifolia> Musa paradisiaca> Telfairia occidentalis> Cymbopogon citratus> Talinum triangulare> Vernonia amygdalina> Manihot esculenta. Nwadinigwe (2014) investigated the APTI in plants like Bougainvillea spectabilis, Ixora coccinea, Anacardium occidentale, Mangifera indica, Delonix regia and Duranta erecta that grew near industrial locations across Nigeria. Delonix regia had the greatest APTI, followed by Bougainvillea spectabilis and Duranta erecta, while Anacardium occidentale had the lowest. Irerhievwie et al. (2014) evaluated APTI of seven plant species growing in a Nigerian metropolitan city and revealed APTI in the order of Ceiba pentandra>Dendro calamus

calostachyus>Irvingia gabonesis>Hevea brasiliensis>Vernonia amygdalina>Citrus sinensis>Chrysophyllum albidum.

### 2.5 Air pollution tolerance index (APTI) studies in Nepal

Rawal et al. (2001) studied APTI of different tree species namely Cinnamomum camphora, Grevillea robusta, Callistemon citrinus and Jacaranda mimosifolia from Kathmandu valley and found high APTI value in Cinnamomum camphora followed by Jacaranda mimosifolia, Callistemon citrinus and Grevillea robusta. The study suggested Cinnamomum camphora as appropriate plant for plantation on roadside areas. Kanwar et al. (2016) studied tree species such as Prunus persica, Populus deltoids and Grevillea robusta from Kathmandu and found high APTI in these plant species whereas plants like Pyrus pyrifolia, Celtis australis and Punica granatum were reported as sensitive. Rajbanshi and Pradhananga (2017) studied on APTI of tree species from heavy traffic roadside of Kathmandu and reported high APTI value in lianas Bougainvillea glabra followed by Albizia saman>Ficus benjamina>Psidium guajava>Grevillea robusta. Dhyani et al. (2019) studied APTI of Duranta repens, Bougainvillea glabra, Ricinus communis, Lantana camara and Sambucus hookeri along the roadsides in Kathmandu valley and found high APTI in polluted site as compared to less polluted site. Bougainvillea glabra and Duranta repens were found to be the most tolerant species with high APTI values and recommended that these plants can be used in green belt development. They also recommend Lantana camera and *Ricinus communis* as useful plant for bio monitoring because of low APTI. Ter et al. (2020) compared the APTI of some common tree species like Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus elastica, Ficus religiosa, Ficus benghalensis, Grevillea robusta from Pashupati area of Kathmandu Metropolitan City and compared them with the plants from clean Shivapuri area. Their results showed high APTI in Cinnamonum camphora, Ficus elastica, Ficus religiosa, Ficus benghalensis and Grevillea robusta, whereas Phyllanthus emblica and Schima wallichii were found to be sensitive tree species. Sapkota and Devkota (2021) studied APTI of Ficus religiosa, Tecoma stans, Buddleja asiatica, Lecosceptrum canum and Nyctanthes arbortristis from different places of Lalitpur metropolitan city and found high APTI in Ficus religiosa and Tecoma stans. Buddleja asiatica showed lowest APTI. Shrestha et al. (2021) studied air pollution tolerance index of nine different plant species (Albizia julibrissin, Cinnamomum camphora, Dypsis lutescens, Ficus benjamina, Ficus sp., Nerium

oleander, Psidium guajava, Schefflera pueckleri and Thuja sp.) in the Kathmandu valley and reported Cinnamomum camphora with the highest air pollution tolerance index where as Schefflera pueckleri, Psidium guajava and Ficus benjamina as sensitive species. Likewise Ficus sp., Nerium oleander, Thuja sp., Dypsis lutescens and Albizia julibrissin reported as moderate level of tolerance to air pollution. Timilsina et al. (2022) studied Mangifera indica, Thuja occidentalis, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus elastica, Callistemon lanceolatus, Pinus roxburghii, Grevillea robusta, Prunus persica, Salix babylonica, Sambucus canadensis, Buddleia asiatica, Cryptomeria japonica, and Celtis australis from different areas of Kathmandu city and found high APTI value in Mangifera indica and the lowest for Buddleia asiatica.

#### 2.6 Metal content in plants

Heavy metals are the elements with grater than 5 g cm<sup>-3</sup> densities (Adriano, 2001). In our environment both essential and non-essential heavy metals are present. Among these heavy metals, the metals like, Fe, Mg, Mn Mo, Ni, Se, Co, Cu Zn., and Cr are essential and required in very small amounts for the growth and development of plants (Alloway, 2013). These essential heavy metals play an important biochemical and physiological role in plants, especially in constituent of various cellular enzymes and take active part in numerous oxidation-reduction reactions (Emamverdian et al., 2015). These heavy metals elements are high reactivity and have a direct influence on senescence, plant's development, energy-producing activities, and other physiological processes. Heavy metal concentration in soil over permissible limits are hazardous to plants, causing oxidative stress through free radicals or deteriorating enzyme activities by replacing necessary metals and minerals (Henry, 2000; Prasad, 2008; Sharma and Chettri, 2012). Heavy metals alter cell metabolism and decrease plant development. However, the toxicity of metals varies depending on the stage of their development (Skórzyska and Baszynski, 1997). Cadmium (Cd) is one of the most dangerous pollutants due to its high toxicity and water solubility (Pinto et al., 2004). Cd interacts with the absorption of metals (like Zn, Cu, Mn, and Fe) in some plant species. Cd enhanced production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in plants besides inducing a process of peroxidation and breakdown of chlorophyll (Hegedüs et al., 2004). Heavy metals have an impact on the biological and physiological processes of plants and due to their metallic features that are extremely harmful to plants. Heavy metal accumulation in plants causes decrease in biomass, chlorophyll-a, carotenoid, seed production, and root deformity (Sharma and Chettri, 2012). Phytoremediation is a natural biological process in which plants detoxify or immobilize heavy metals from the environment.

Heavy metals can be taken up and accumulated by plants through their root and leaf surfaces (Sawidis et al., 2001). Trees may absorb and hold a lot of heavy metals because they have a large canopy area and extensive shoot and root system, that are useful as biological indicators of pollutants when assessing air pollution (Moreno et al., 2003; Kardel et al., 2010). Furthermore, a number of plant species have already been used as bioindicators (Aksoy et al., 2000; Celik et al., 2005; Baycu et al., 2006; Mingorance and Oliva, 2006). For example, Acerpseudo platanus has been utilized as a bioindicator for measuring air pollution in urban ecosystems in Europe (André et al., 2006), while Quercus ilex has been employed as a bio accumulator for heavy metals in urban environments (Ugolini et al., 2013). However, most of the studies only focused at a single tree species (Aksoy et al., 2000; Mingorance and Oliva, 2006; Al-Alawi and Mandiwana, 2007), and just a few studies have done at various types of plants at the same time (Piczak et al., 2003), particularly evergreen and deciduous species (Hu et al., 2014). The structure and chemical features of leaves have been shown to influence on the accumulation of airborne particles and/or the retention of particles on leaf surfaces, influencing heavy metal accumulation in plants (Gratani et al., 2008). Furthermore, understanding the efficiency of heavy metal accumulation by various plant species is essential for developing planting strategies that improve urban air quality (Dzieranowski et al., 2011). Metal accumulation in foliage are influenced by number of factors (such as atmospheric dust, direct atmospheric wet deposition, soil pH, soil texture, local flora, land use type, local soil contamination, bioavailability of metal in soil, bioaccumulation potential, and metal transfer) within the plant (Tomasevic et al., 2004; Norouzi et al., 2015). measured atmospheric heavy metal pollution in leaves of two tree species (Tilia sp. and Aesculus hippocastanum) from Belgrade, Serbia, for their bioaccumulation potential and found the accumulation of metals were higher in majority of the leaf samples, with, Cd (4.9 mg/g DW), Pb (20.3 mg/g DW) and Cu (110.2 mg/g DW) than the "reference plant" values. It has been widely used to compare with different plant species (Markert,

1992). Heavy metal accumulation was significantly higher at the mature stage than that of beginning of the vegetative stage (Tomasevic et al., 2004). Even plants exposed to similar sources of heavy metals under similar environmental circumstances do not have same accumulation pattern because an individual plant species characteristic also determines accumulation patterns. Cicek and Koparal (2004) studied the plants such as in Robinia pseudoacacia, Quercus infectoria, Salix alba, Pinus nigra and Populus tremula., within a 10 km radius of a thermal power plant in Kütahya Province and observed significant accumulations of Cd, Cr, Cu, and Pb in the leaves showing a progressive reduction in accumulation as distance increased from the power station. Celik et al. (2005) investigated heavy metal contamination in the leaves of Robiniapseudo acaciain Denizli City, Turkey and found that samples taken nearer to the industrial areas showed higher accumulations of Zn, Mn, Pb, Cu, Fe, and Cd than samples taken from roadways. Similarly Santos-Jallath et al. (2012) found notable accumulation of As in Tecoma stans (9.22 mg/kg) and Nicotiana glauca (91.94 mg/kg) leaves, but levels were lower in Casuarina sp. (3.95 mg/kg) and Prosopis sp. (6.94 mg/kg) grown adjoining tailings dams in Queretaro, Mexico. Sawidis et al. (2011) evaluated the bioaccumulation of Cu, Fe, Cr, and Pb in the leaf samples of *Pinus nigra* and *Platanus orientalis* from three European cities (Salzburg, Belgrade, and Thessaloniki) and reported that bioaccumulation of all metals were higher in plants grown in polluted areas compared to control and showed a significant correlation between soil surface metal and metal accumulation in leaves.

## 2.6.1 Heavy metals and their physiological role in plants

Essential heavy metals like Zn, Cu, Mn, Fe, Ni, and Mo shows an important role in physiology and biochemistry of plants (Zhuang *et al.*, 2009). Metals like Zn, Cu and Mo are essential metals for plant's growth and development because they drive as an enzyme reaction cofactor or activator of a catalytic element in metalloproteinase. These essential heavy metals take part in electron transport, redox reactions, and basic activities in metabolisms of the nucleic acid (Nagajyoti *et al.*, 2010). They have direct involvement in various enzymes. Nagajyoti *et al.* (2010) reported that the presence of these essential metals in growth media at a specified concentration is essential; however their excess concentration results in several toxic effects. Industrialization, synthetic chemicals, fungicides and pesticides are expanding sources of harmful metal contaminations especially probably in farming soil and water bodies (Khanna *et al.*, *et al.*,

2018). Besides Zn and Cu other metals like Pb, Ni, Ag and Hg are supposed to be non- essential trace elements, and are extremely hazardous in nature. Plants are stationary in a terrestrial system and their roots serve as the primary contact sites for trace metal ions while in aquatic condition the whole plant body is exposed and metal ions are directly absorbed from the water through leaf surface (Kibria, 2014). Heavy metals have negative impact on the development and activity of soil microorganisms and also have an indirect impact on plant growth (Kumar et al., 2019). Physiological processes like root nutrient absorption, plant water balance, metabolism, photosynthesis, respiration, germination, and reproduction are influenced through the interference with ionic homeostasis and enzyme activity. Chlorosis, senescence, necrosis, and stunted growth wilting, poor biomass output, reduced seed counts, and ultimately mortality are visible indications of heavy metal poisoning. Plants growing under heavy stress of metal must spend more energy for survival, which would otherwise this energy could be accessible for other processes. This insufficient quantity of energy leads in a decline in total plant development in such a difficult metal-stressed environment (Kumar and Aery, 2016).

#### 2.6.2 Response of plants with different heavy metals

Toxic heavy metals remaining for prolonged in the soil ecosystem are become major concern in living beings and plants together. Essential and non-essential metals contain in the growing medium but in excess, it becomes toxic, inhibiting the growth and development of plant and even cause death. Plants develop some effective and precise ways to survive against metal stress. These include immobilization, absorption and transport limitation, exclusion of metals, plasma membranes exclusion, chelation and sequestration (Kumar et al., 2019). Induction of stress proteins and synthesis of specific heavy metal transporters are performed through specific ligands (Clemens, 2001; Adrees et al., 2015). There are two basic strategies for heavy metal tolerance in plants, either avoiding toxic metal from entering through the plasma membrane or by binding them with protein. It is possible to do this by either pumping metal out of the cell using active efflux pumps or enhancing metal ion binding to the cell wall. Tong et al. (2004) also revealed that plant detoxifies toxic metal ions either through deactivating them by chelation or converting the toxic metal ion concentration to low toxic concentration. Plants have strong capacity of absorbing and solubilizing of different kinds of soil nutrients by helping in the production of chelating agents and

the modification of pH and redox processes. Plants also have incredibly precise systems for translocating and accumulating certain nutrients or metals. Number of factors such as life cycle of plant, plant's structure, pH of soil, vigority of plants, carbohydrate level, depth of root system, temperature, respiration rate, partial oxygen pressure, nutrient interface, and microbial presence impact metal accumulation in plants (Chen et al., 2006). Plants may precipitate heavy metals either by excreting anions such as PO<sub>3</sub> or by modifying the pH of the rhizosphere (Chen et al., 2006). During the adsorption process, the root surface can bind a variety of heavy metals. Heavy metals such as Ni, Pb, Cd, and Sr accumulate fast in plant root tissues (Kumar et al., 2019). Plants have been categorized into three types depending on their method of action for survival under stress conditions: accumulators, excluders, and indicators (Hossain et al., 2012). Plants which accumulate metals between 0.1-1% of their dry weight are called hyper accumulator species (Baker and Brooks, 1989). Hyper accumulator plants can deposit and resist large amount of metal pollutants. Several plant species may grow in heavy metal contaminated soil. They collect large amount of metals through leaf surface containing in soil indicating as an ecological adaptation (Lombi et al., 2002).

## 2.6.2.1 Zinc (Zn)

Zinc is an essential and basic mineral for plant's growth and normal cell metabolism at an optimal level (Dhankhar *et al.*, 2012). Zn functions as a cofactor in several physiological processes including (multiple biomolecule metabolism, enzyme activation, gene expression and control, protein synthesis, and reproductive development). Zn, however, alters physiological processes and inhibits development in plants at greater concentrations (> 300 g/dry weight) (Cakmak, 2000). Multiple metabolic processes in plants are inhibited by high zinc exposure in the growing media, which results in senescence and reduced development. Zn toxicity restricts the growth of shoot and root (Fontes and Cox, 1998). Marschner and Cakmak (1986) noted that the chlorosis might develop partially by an induced deficiency of iron (Fe) as hydrated of Fe<sup>2+</sup> and Zn<sup>2+</sup> ions. Zinc toxicity inhibited the development of root and shoot in plants (Choi *et al.*, 1996) and induced chlorosis on both young and old leaves that were exposed to Zn for an extended period of time (Ebbs and Kochian, 1997). Excess amount of Zn cause deficiency in essential elements like Cu and Mn in shoots and that also limits the transport of essential micronutrients from root to shoot (Sharma and Chettri, 2012). The possible cause of interference of translocation of this micronutrient is due to the manganese and iron concentrations in a plant being higher in the root than in the shoot growing on zinc-rich medium in a plant (Ebbs and Kochian, 1997). Zn and Cadium also altered enzyme catalytic performance in Phaseolus vulgaris (Van Assche et al., 1988). Zn levels were found to be higher in polluted soil than that of requirement which may lead to phytoyoxicity. High concentration of Zn in soil reduced metabolic processes in many plants, showing decrease in development and causing senescence. Plants with Mn and Fe concentrations when grown in Zn-rich medium, Mn and Fe concentrations found to be higher in root than shoot (Ebbs and Kochian, 1997). Zn toxicity also causes typical effect with appearance of purple red color in leaves due to lack of phosphorous (Lee et al., 1996). Studies of Zn binding hyper accumulator (Salt et al., 1999) indicated that histidine plays an important role in the roots, whereas organic acids which are commonly found in plant vacuoles are involved in xylem transport and Zn storage in shoots. Yang et al. (2014) studied 12 Willow clones (Salix spp.) to observe the tolerance and accumulation of Zn and Cu and found that the majority of Willow clones (Salix spp.) were good accumulators of Zn and Cu.

## 2.6.2.2 Lead (Pb)

Lead is naturally present in all soils. It generally occurs in the range of 15 to 40 milligrams lead per kilogram of soil (mg/kg) (James, 1988). Primary and secondary leads are found in terrestrial environment. Primary Pb is integrated into minerals at the time of their formation and is geogenic in origin while secondary Pb is radiogenic and originated from the uranium and thorium (Weis, 2016). Lead are mostly used in the the manufacture of lead acid batteries and in alloys, wires, and chemicals. One of the most common and harmful non-essential elements in soil is lead. Although roots of plants have a greater capacity to absorb Pb, but aerial parts is quite limited (Niazi and Burton, 2016). Amount of lead accumulation in plants are dependent on the soil characteristics such as size of particle, pH, and capacity for cation exchange. Other parameters like root surface area, root exudation, mycorrhization also determine the amount of lead. Rate of transpiration is also important for availability of Pb. Plant roots absorb Pb via apoplastic route or  $Ca^{2+}$  permeable channels andaccumulates largely in root cells following take-up due to the Casparian strips' blocking of the endodermis (Pourrut *et al.*, 2011). Cell wall of the roots trap lead with negative charge

(Seregin and Ivanov, 2001) and lead accumulation has various adverse effects on plant physiological, morphological, and biochemical processes, either directly or indirectly. Pb toxicity occurs in cells through changing the cell membrane's permeability and then interacts with active metabolic enzyme groups, substituting essential ions, and forming complexes with the ADP or ATP phosphate group. Water imbalance, enzyme inhibition, disrupted mineral nutrition, hormonal disruption, lipid peroxidation, DNA damage due to over production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), suppression of ATP synthesis, and variations in membrane permeability, are disturbed by lead toxicity Pourrut et al. (2011). Germination of seed in Pinus helipensis and Spartiana alterniflora were inhibited due to lead (Morzeck and Funicelli, 1982). Lead may interfere with important enzymes, which might prevent seed germination. Besides this lead inhibited the growth of roots, stems, and leaves in Raphanus sativa, barley, and species of Allium (Juwarkar and Shende, 1986). Root elongation is hindered due to varying degrees in the pH medium, lead content, and ionic makeup (Goldbold and Hutterman, 1986). Root growth was found to be increased in Sesamum *indicum* but excessive lead levels in soil accelerated reduction in morphology of many plant species, such as lignification of cortical parenchyma, unevenradial cell walls of the endodermis and thickenings of roots in pea (Kumar et al., 1993). Proliferation was induced by the Pb that effects in the restoration process of vascular plants (Kaji et al., 1995).

# 2.6.2.3 Copper (Cu)

Copper is an essential metal for normal plant growth and development. Copper is considered as a micronutrient for plants and plays an important role in  $CO_2$  assimilation and ATP synthesis (Pichhode and Nikhil, 2015). Demirevska-Kepova *et al.* (2004) reported that Cu is an essential component of various proteins like plastocyanin of photosynthetic system and cytochrome oxidase of respiratory electron transport chain. Cu pollution in the soil is incorporated from various human sources like smelting and mining of Cu containing ores. Mining activities yield a large amount of waste rocks and tailing, which is deposited on the surface. High concentration of Cu in the soil is cytotoxicity causing stress and harm to plants, as well as leaf chlorosis and plant growth retardation (Katare *et al.*, 2015). Similarly Cu being as a redoxactive metal, promotes the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) through the Fenton-Haber-Weiss reactions (Stohs and Bagchi, 1995). Overproduction of

reactive oxygen species (ROS) can cause severe damage to membrane lipids, protein synthesis, and DNA (Lequeux *et al.*, 2010). Excessive copper levels can also cause a number of physiological and morphological problems. Furthermore, excess copper can reduce germination rate, shoot enlargement, plant biomass, and water content (Ahsan *et al.*, 2007). Cu toxicity can also cause reduction in mitotic index, cell division inhibition as well as induce chromosomal aberrations, and structural changes of the cell wall (Liu *et al.*, 2009; Bouazizi *et al.*, 2010).

## 2.7 Metal accumulation index (MAI)

Plants accumulate different types of metals from contaminated environment. Metal Acuumulation Index (MAI) is a useful approach to assess the metal accumulation ability of plants growing in polluted regions. Khanoranga (2019) studied wild plant and cultivated species from three districts of Balochistan, Pakistan (Mastung, Pishin, and Quetta). Nine plants (*Convolvulus arvensis, Elaeagnus angustifolia, Vitis vinifera, Chenopodium album, Triticum aestivum, Medicago sativa, Lepidium sativum, Prunus armeniaca* and *Punica granatum*) were collected in Quetta while five plants (*Lepidium sativum, Morus alba,Malcolmia Africana, Triticum aestivum* and *Peganum harmala*) were collected from Pishin and Mastung.

MAI of various plants arround brick kilns sites of Balochistan, Pakistan showed that *Lepidum sativum* with maxmimum value of MAI and *Malcolmia africana* with lowest. Plants showing with higher MAI value can be used as a barrier between polluted and unpolluted environment. Plants with higher MAI value are thought to be greater accumulation capacity of metals and considered as more tolerant (Hu *et al.*, 2014; Nadgorska Socha *et al.*, 2017). Thus plants with higher MAI value are recommended for plantation in heavy metalloid polluted sites and better to consider indigenous plants with high MAI values as a natural pollution control in contaminated areas. Plants with higher MAI are thought to be resistant and can serve as a sink for heavy metalloid contamination (Nadgorska-Socha *et al.*, 2017). Plants with higher MAI values have more accumulation capacity of metals so considered to be tolerant species (Hu *et al.*, 2014) and also have been suggested to be influenced by a number of factors such as local atmospheric condition, weather, sample height of trees, time of sampling, and features of plants (Hu *et al.*, 2014).

### 2.8 Research gap

In our country, few studies have been carried out about physiological response of plants to air pollution. From previous studies high APTI was recorded among Prunus persia, Populus deltoids, Thuja sp. and Grevillea robusta (Kanwar et al., 2016) but the other study reported Cinnamomum camphora with high air pollution tolerance index and Grevellia robusta with the lowest APTI (Rajbanshi and Pradhananga, 2017; Rawal et al., 2001). So in the case of Grevillea robusta, it was regarded as the most tolerant in one study (Kanwar et al., 2016) but sensitive in another (Rawal et al., 2001; Rajbanshi and Pradhananga, 2017). The results of APTI obtained are contradictory and confusing. It is important to know if a plant species is tolerant (i.e., with high APTI value) or sensitive (with low APTI value) especially to plant them near the road side. Planting tolerant plant species with a high APTI and metal accumulation index value can help to solve the problem of poor air quality in general. The tolerant tree species, serve a vital role near polluted areas, as they not only act as an efficient sink but also as a filter for pollutants. Understanding only tolerant and/or sensitive plant species is not sufficient since plants have different survival strategies under pollution stress and identifying the underlying mechanism in them is important. It is essential to determine if the plants are good accumulators or avoiders of toxic heavy metals. Some tree species can thrive in their surroundings without accumulating heavy metals (avoiders), while others may accumulate and withstand its toxicity to certain extend (accumulator). So it is essential to understand the relationship between APTI parameters, and metal accumulation in different plants, particularly to identify if a plant is an accumulator or an excluder/avoider. In Kathmandu valley, most of the studies have been conducted with physiological response of plants towards air pollution (Kanwar et al., 2016, Rajbanshi and Pradhananga, 2017). But the studies with relation among biochemical parameters, macro and micro morphological study and heavy metals accumulation in them are missing. It is very important to understand the underlying mechanism for their survival in adverse environment. It is not known if the plants growing along the road side of Kathmandu valley are either good accumulator or avoiders of toxic heavy

metals. Do all the plants along the road side of Kathmandu valley show the same tolerance to air pollution or not? What could be relation among biochemical parameters, macro and micro morphological characters and heavy metals accumulation? Can these sensitive or tolerant tree species be used as bioindicator of air quality in Kathmandu valley?

### **CHAPTER 3**

## **3 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 3.1 Study area

Kathmandu valley lies in between latitude 27°27′ - 27°49′ E and longitude 85°10′ N - 85°32′ N and its altitude varies from 1200 to 1400 meters above sea level in subtropical zone. The hills around the valley are Phulchowki (2782 meters) in the south west, Shivapuri (2713 meters), in the north, Nagarjun (2100 meters) in the north-west and Champa Devi (2400 meters) in the west, and are the prominent boundary of the valley. Bowl-shaped geography makes Kathmandu valley more prone to air pollution (Shrestha, 2001; Pradhan *et al.*, 2012). In summer an average temperature lies between 19°C to 35°C and in winter it lies between 2°C to 12°C. Valley is characterized by typical monsoon climate with dry winter and wet summer. An average annual rainfall in the valley is 1343 mm with 97 rainy days per year having more than 0.1 mm rainfall.



Figure 1: Map of Kathmandu valley showing study site: 1-Airport, 2-Balaju 3-Basundhara, 4-Chabhil, 5-Dhumbarahi, 6-Gongbu, 7-Jawalakhel, 8-Lainchaur, 9-Narayanthan, 10-Ratnapark, 11-Samakhusi, 12-Shankpark, 13- Swayambhu, and 14-Tinkune

The study was mainly focused along the ring roads of Kathmandu valley which were dusty with heavy traffic areas like Airport, Balaju, Gongbu, Samakhusi Basundhara, Chabhil, Dhumbarahi, Sankhapark, Swayambhu, and Tinkune. Besides this the areas inside the ring road with high traffic (like Jawalakhel, Lainchaur, Ratnapark) and a comparatively less polluted site with less traffic like Narayanthan (also called Budhanilkantha) (Shakya *et al.*, 2012;Chauhan *et al.*, 2021) were also considered for the study (Fig. 1).

### **3.2 Sample collection**

Plants were selected on the basis of common occurrence, easy accessibility and abundance at selected sites of the study (Table 1). At each site three individuals of same species were selected and about 10 to 15 matured leaves were collected from all sides of each tree. Leaves of commonly available gymnosperm trees along the roadside like Pinus roxburghii, Cedrus deodara, Thuja orientalis and Araucaria araucana were collected from polluted area (Jawalakhel, Airport, Sankhapark, Dhumbarahi, and Ratnapark) and comparatively less polluted site Narayanthan, i.e., also called Budhanilkantha. Similarly commonly available angiosperm trees along the road side like Populus euramericana, Ficus religiosa, Jacaranda mimosifolia, Grevillea robusta, Callistemon lanceolatus and Cinnamomum camphora were also collected from selected site. Leaves from lower surface but above 3 m height from the ground surface were collected for the study. Leaves were collected from all sites during winter months (December and January) in the morning 9-10 AM and study conducted in 2015-2016. Among collected samples, leaves of gymnosperm trees were used only for biochemical parameters (pH, total chlorophyll, relative water content, and ascorbic acid and heavy metal analysis while macro and micro morphological characters were not considered because of their small leaf area. Among the collected leaf samples of angiosperm, all the biochemical parameters, heavy metal content, as well as micro and macro morphological characters were measured due to their large leaf area. All the biochemical parameters were performed at laboratory of Amrit campus, Tribhuvan University, on the same day of collection, whereas micro and macro morphological characters were measured on the next day keeping the collected samples at low temperature in the refrigerator.

Table 1. Nar	ne of plant	species	collected	from	different	sites
--------------	-------------	---------	-----------	------	-----------	-------

Botanical name (Common name)	Family	Sites of collection
Angiosperm		
Callistemon lanceolatus (Sw.) DC (Bottle brush)	Myrtaceae	Airport, Balaju, Banasthali, Basundhara, Gongbu Dhumbarahi, Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha)
Celtis australis L. (European nettle tree)	Cannabaceae	Airport, Balaju, Basundhara, Dhumbarahi
<i>Cinnamomum camphora</i> (L.) J. Presl. (Camphor tree)	Lauraceae	Airport, Balaju, Basundhara, Dhumbarahi,
		Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha)
Eucalyptus globulus Labill. (Gum trees)	Myrtaceae	Airport, Balaju, Dhumbarahi, Swayambhu, Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha)
<i>Ficus elastica</i> Roxb. ex Hornem. (Rubber plant)	Moraceae	Airport, Chabhil, Samakhusi, Tinkune, Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha)
Ficus religiosa L. (Peepal tree)	Moraceae	Airport, Balaju, Basundhara, Dhumbarahi, Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha)
Grevillea robusta A. Cunn. ex R. Br. (Silky oak)	Proteaceae	Airport, Balaju, Basundhara, Dhumbarahi, Lainchaur, Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha)
Jacaranda mimosifolia D. Don (Kikuyu)	Bignoniaceae	Airport, Basundhara, Dhumbarahi, Lainchaur, Swayambhu, Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha)
Populus euramericana L. (Poplar tree)	Salicaceae	Airport, Basundhara, Chabhil, Dhumbarahi, Samakhusi, Tinkune,
Prunus cerasoides D. Don (Sour cherry)	Rosaceae	Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha) Airport, Balaju, Basundhara, Dhumbarahi, Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha)
Gymnosperm		
Araucaria araucana (Molina) K. Koch (Monkey puzzle tree)	Araucariaceae	Airport, Dhumbarahi, Jawalakhel, Ratnapark, Shankhapark, Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha)
Cedrus deodara D. Don (Deodar)	Pinaceae	Airport, Dhumbarahi, Jawalakhel, Ratnapark, Shankhapark, Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha)
Pinus roxburghii Sarg. (Chir pine)	Pinaceae	Airport, Dhumbarahi, Jawalakhel, Ratnapark, Shankhapark, Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha)
Thuja orientalis L. (Black Juniper)	Cupressaceae	Airport, Dhumbarahi, Jawalakhel, Ratnapark, Shankhapark, Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha)

## **3.3** Criteria for sample collection sites

Samples were collected at polluted and less polluted sites (Table 2). Polluted sites were selected on the basis of heavy metal concentrations, number of vehicles plying on the route (Shakya *et al.*, 2012; Chauhan *et al.*, 2021), commercial and undisturbed area where as less polluted site was selected on the basis of less contamination of heavy metals (Shakya *et al.*, 2012) and low traffic zone (Chauhan *et al.* 2021).

Studied sites	Location	Description of sites	Categorized
Along the ring road	Airport	Heavy traffic load, densely populated, commercial area linked with air field	Polluted
	Balaju	Heavy traffic load, densely populated, commercial area and linked with Balaju industrial area	Polluted
	Basundhara	Heavy traffic load, densely populated, commercial area	Polluted
	Chabhil	Heavy traffic load, densely populated with commercial area and linked to Shaku	Polluted
	Dhumbarahi	Heavy traffic load, densely, populated, commercial area and linked to the Narayan Gopal Chowk	Polluted
	Gongbu	heavy traffic load with main bus terminal linking major cities, densely populated with commercial areas	Polluted
	Samakhusi	Heavy traffic load, densely populated, commercial area	Polluted
	Sankhapark	A public park, but with heavy traffic load, densely populated and commercial area	Polluted
	Swayambhu	A holy place included in world heritage site, but with heavy traffic load at ring road, densely populated and commercial area	Polluted
	Tinkune	Heavy traffic load, densely populated, commercial area and links the Bhaktapur with ring road	Polluted
Inside ring road (with in the city)	Jawalakhel	Situated at Lalitpur district, heavy traffic load; densely populated, commercial area with central zoo nearby	Polluted
	Lainchaur	Heavy traffic load, densely populated and commercial area and inner to the ring road	Polluted
	Ratnapark	Heavy traffic, central substation of buses linking most of the places in the valley, densely populated and commercial area	Polluted
Outside the ring road (control)	Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha)	Low traffic, sparse residential and undisturbed area. Out of ring road and adjacent to Shivpuri- Nagarjun National Park	Less Polluted

Table 2. Description	n of study sites
----------------------	------------------

### 3.4 Leaf morphological character

The leaf characters under study were divided into macro morphological characters and micro morphological characters. Leaf area and specific leaf area were included under macro morphology whereas stomata density, stomata size (length and breadth), thickness of cuticle and thickness of epidermis were included under micro morphological characters.

#### 3.4.1 Macro morphological characters

Three largest leaves of each species at each site were collected for this study. Dusts on the leaf samples were cleaned and rinsed with soft wet cloth and then photos were taken along with scales. The photographs were managed in a folder on computer and were used for measuring two macro morphological characters (leaf area and specific leaf area). Leaf area was measured using Image J program version 1.31 (Kovacic and Nikolic, 2005) from the photos taken. For Specific leaf area (SLA), the same leaf sample which were used for leaf area were dried in hot air oven at 60°C for 24 hrs and then weight of the dried leaves were measured with the help of three digital electronic balance. Ultimately SLA (cm<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup>) of each leaf was measured using the leaf area and it's corresponding dry weight (Chaturvedi *et al.*, 2013).

SLA = Leaf area/dry weight (cm<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup>)

## 3.4.2 Micro morphological characters

For the study of micro morphological study all the samples of tree leaves were collected from study sites. Largest leaf sample was considered for all the micro morphological study. For the measurements of stomatal density, length and breadth of guard cells, the peelings of abaxial leaf surface were carefully taken with extra care and slides were made by the method of lasting impression technique (Eisele *et al.*, 2016; Jayakody *et al.*, 2017). In this method nearly one square centimeter of the lower leaf surface was painted with a transparent nail polish. The nail polish was then allowed to dry and then nail polish was peeled out. The leaf impression was taped on slide and was examined under  $15x \times 45x$  magnification using compound microscope (BM-3) and 3 microscopic fields from 3 different leaf samples were studied. Number of stomata per microscopic field was recorded for stomatal density. To measure

stomatal size, the length and breadth of stomata were measured ocular division that was fitted in the eye piece. The ocular division was calibrated with the stage micrometer under the same magnification. To measure thickness of cuticle and epidermis of adaxial leaf surface, thin vertical sections of leaves were taken and then photographs were captured along with ocular division. The thickness of cuticle and epidermis were measurements from the photograph using Image J computer software program version 1.31 (Kovacic and Nikolic, 2005). Percantage increase or decrease in SLA, stomata density, length of stomata, breadth of stomata, thickness of epidermis and thickness of cuticle was calculated from the differences in data of respective parameters at polluted sites from that of less polluted sites.

### 3.5 **Biochemical parameters**

#### 3.5.1 Total Chlorophyll (Tchl) content

For total chlorophyll measurement, 0.05 g leaves were measured using digital electric balance (NLB, 2004). The measured leaves were then placed in a test tube containing 5 ml DMSO and incubated in a water bath (Memmert water bath) at 60-65°C for an hour until complete decolourisation of leaf tissues was seen. After that test tube containing leaf tissues and DMSO were cooled at room temperature for about 30 minutes. These filtrate solutions were made to centrifuge (R 4C) and then analyzed at a 665 nm and 648 nm using a Spectrophotometer (Model No. LT31). Measurement of absorption of blank DMSO was also measured with the help of a Spectrophotometer to calibrate the absorption (Barnes *et al.*, 1992). Lastly, total chlorophyll (Tchl) concentration (a, b, and total) was calculated by using the equations given by Barnes *et al.* (1992) and were expressed as mg/g fresh weight.

Chlorophyll a (mg/g F.W) = 
$$(14.85*A_{665}-5.14*A_{648})$$
 (1)

Chlorophyll b (mg/g F.W) = 
$$(25.48*A_{648}-7.36*A_{665})$$
 (2)

Total chlorophyll (mg/g F.W) = 
$$(7.49*A_{665} + 20.34*A_{648})$$
 (3)

Where A665 = absorption value at 665 nm and A648 = absorption value at 648 nm

## 3.5.2 Leaf extract pH

5 gram of leaf sample was crushed with a motor and pestle, then 50 ml deionized water was added and filtered. The resulting suspension was then measured using a digital pH meter (LT10) (Apriyantono *et al.*, 1989)

## 3.5.3 Ascorbic acid (AA)

Ascorbic acid content was determined according to the method of Bajaj and Kaur (1981). In this method 1 g of fresh leaf, was taken and then 4 ml of the oxalic acid EDTA extraction solution was added which was then mixed with 1 ml of orthophosphoric acid, 1 ml of 5% tetraoxosulphate acid, 2 ml of ammonium molybdate, and 3 ml of water. The resultant solution was allowed to remain still for 15 minutes and then absorbance at 760 nm with a spectrophotometer (Model No. LT 31). Ascorbic acid concentrations (mg/g) in the sample were then calculated using the absorbance of a standard ascorbic acid curve.

## **3.5.4 Estimation of relative water content (RWC)**

Relative water content (RWC) is the total water content in a given leaf relative to its fully turgid or hydrated state (Bora and Joshi, 2014). For this the fresh weight of a composite sample of leaf was measured and then the measured sample leaves were floated in water for up to 24 hours and again their weight was measured. Then these leaves was dried in oven to a consistent weight at around 85°C for 24 hours and reweighted. Relative Water Content (RWC) was determined by using the following formulae given by (Barrs and Weatherly, 1962)

Relative water content (%) = {(F-D) / (T-D)}  $\times 100$ 

F = Fresh weight of leaves (g)

D = Dry weight of leaves (g)

T = Turgid weight of leaves (g)

# 3.5.5 Air pollution tolerance index (APTI)

APTI was calculated according to Singh and Rao (1983). APTI = [A (T+P) + R]/10

Where A = Ascorbic acid content (mg/g), T = total chlorophyll (mg/g), P = pH of leaf extract and R = relative water content of leaf.

## 3.5.6 Air pollution tolerance index (APTI) categories

APTI value of tree species were grouped into different categories on the basis of their tolerance level according to Thakar and Mishra (2010) and Padmavathi *et al.* (2013). Based on APTI mean value of all species and their standard deviation, Thakar and Mishra (2010) Categorized APTI into the following four types.

- a) Tree species APTI higher than mean APTI + SD = Tolerant
- b) Tree species APTI value between mean APTI and mean APTI + SD = Moderatel tolerant
- c) Tree species APTI value between mean APTI-SD and mean APTI = Intermediate
- d) Tree species APTI lower than the mean APTI SD = Sensitive

Padmavathi *et al.* (2013) approached only APTI values of tree species and categorized as below.

- a) APTI value above 17 = Tolerant
- b) APTI between 12 and 16 = Intermediate
- c) Less than 12 = Sensitive

## 3.6 Metal analysis

## 3.6.1 Sample preparation

The collected leaf samples were cleaned in dry condition using fine brush, and then the leaves were washed with running tap water; rinsed with double deionized water and then dried at room temperature (20°C) about 24-48 hours, and then again dried at 60°C for 48 hours. The oven dried leaf samples were then crushed using motor and pestle and ultimately a representative sample of each species for each site was obtained (Chapman and Pratt, 1961).

#### 3.6.2 Metal analysis

For metal analysis, representative sample (0.5 g) was taken and wet digested using 10 ml of diacid (HCl: HNO<sub>3</sub>) mixture. The specimen and the 5 ml mixture of diacid was added and heated gentle to  $95\pm5^{\circ}$ C without allowing to boil at covered condition initially and then 5 ml dicarboxylic acid was added and further heated at 180°C for 2-3 hours until white effervescence appeared. The digested aliquot was then cooled and filtered through Whatman filter paper no. 41 in a 100 ml volumetric flask and ultimately volume of 100 ml was adjusted by adding distilled water up to the mark. The heavy metal concentration in an aliquot was determined using an atomic absorption spectrophotometer. For quality control, the blank without plant materials was run in parallel following the same procedure (U.S. EPA, 1996). The metal analysis following this procedure was conducted at the laboratory of Nepal Environmental and Scientific Services at Thapathali, Kathmandu.

### 3.6.3 Metal accumulation index (MAI)

Metal accumulation index (MAI) of the each plant species was calculated by the formula given by Liu *et al.* (2007).

 $MAI = (1 \ N) \sum N \ j = 1Ij$ 

where N is the total number of metals analyzed.

 $Ij = x \, \delta x$  is the sub-index for variable j, obtained by dividing the mean value (x) of each metal by its standard deviation.

## 3.7 Statistical analysis

To evaluate the significant differences in SLA between polluted and control sites one sample t-test was conducted using SPSS program version 25. The data obtained from micro morphological study between polluted and control sites were compared, and increase or decrease percentages of the investigated parameters at polluted sites were analyzed statistically using one sample t-test. To understand the significant

differences of various biochemical parameters (for the APTI) and heavy metals (Zn, Cu, and Pb) concentrations among the study sites of the same species, the data obtained were analyzed statistically using one-way ANOVA followed by Duncan's multiple range test. Data obtained from the biochemical measurements (for APTI) and of different heavy metals concentration (Zn, Cu and Pb) were further subjected to Pearson's correlations test to access the relationship between biochemical parameters and heavy metal content in leaves; the% decrease in SLA and metal content in leaves; and percentage (%)decrease in SLA and and biochemical parameters of APTI.

# **CHAPTER 4**

# 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

## 4.1 Results

# 4.1.1 Leaf morphology

### 4.1.1.1 Macro morphological character

# 4.1.1.1. a Leaf area

Leaf area was found to be reduced in all the studied tree leaves at polluted sites in comparison to less polluted sites (Table 3). Leaf area ranged from  $4.60 \text{ cm}^2$  to  $202.42 \text{ cm}^2$  at less polluted site and ranged from  $3.83 \text{ cm}^2$  to  $137.19 \text{ cm}^2$  at polluted sites. Maximum decrease in leaf area was observed at polluted sites in *Celtis australis* (18.75%) and minimum decreased was recorded in *Ficus elastica* (2.16%). Based on one sample t-test, significant decrease in leaf area at polluted sites was observed in all studied trees except *Celtis australis*.

Plant species	Polluted site (P) Mean±Sd cm <sup>2</sup>	Less polluted site (LP) Mean±Sd cm <sup>2</sup>	% Decrease Mean±Sd	t-value
Callistemon lanceolatus	3.83±0.42	4.60±0.34	16.73±1.33	7.79*
Celtis australis	27.96±0.88	32.46±0.57	18.75±10.25	3.16
Cinnamomum camphora	22.34±3.47	29.45±2.08	24.14±2.34	5.71*
Eucalyptus globulus	31.25±1.37	32.65±1.43	4.54±1.25	6.99*
Ficus elastica	90.31±15.46	107.33±9.58	12.16±3.49	5.85*
Ficus reliogisa	137.19±5.47	202.42±84.61	34.87±0.44	19.19**
Grevillea robusta	10.21±0.91	13.10±1.50	21.67±2.46	6.81*
Jacaranda mimosifolia	7.98±3.76	10.14±6.22	21.17±6.97	2.61
Populus euramericana	58.97±8.02	105.33±4.92	44.66±0.94	8.63*
Prunus cerasoides	44.17±3.46	57.28±4.92	26.11±0.89	11.91**

 Table 3: Leaf area of different trees species at polluted sites and less polluted sites and t-values

 obtained from % decrease in leaf area characters

t value marked by \*indicates p < 0.05 and \*\* indicates p < 0.01 obtained from one sample t-test (for % decreased leaf area data for each tree species with N value ranging from 15 to 21)

### 4.1.1.1.b Specific leaf area (SLA)

Specific leaf area was found to be decreased in all the studied tree leaves at polluted areas in comparison to less polluted areas (Table 4). SLA values in the tree leaves in this study varied from 24.48 to 188 cm<sup>2</sup> g<sup>-1</sup>. SLA decreased from 3.27 (in *Ficus elastica* at Chabhil) to 78.18% at polluted sites (in *Callistemon lanceolatus* at Dhumbarahi). Although all tree species showed a reduction in SLA at polluted sites, but even found significant at some polluted sites. For instance, *Grevillea robusta* at Lainchaur and Basundhara; *Jacaranda mimosifolia* at Basundhara, Lainchaur, and Swayambhu; *Celtis australis* was significantly reduced at Dhumbarahi and Airport; *Eucalyptus globulus* at Airport and Balaju; *Ficus religiosa* at Airport, Basundhara, Dhumbarahi, and Balaju, and *Ficus elastica* at Tinkune and Samakhusi. The leaves of *Callistemon lanceolatus* showed significant % decrease in SLA at all polluted sites.

**Table 4:** SLA  $(cm^2g^{-1})$  and % decrease in SLA of different tree species growing along the road side in various polluted (P) and less polluted sites (LP) in Kathmandu

Plants	Polluted (P) and less polluted site (LP)	SLA (Cm <sup>2</sup> g <sup>-1</sup> ) Mean±Sd	% Decrease in SLA mean± Sd	t-value
Callistemon lanceolatus (SW.) DC	Airport (P)	61.79±22.33	40.84±30.55	4.793*
	Balaju (P)	35.60±13.45	31.37±7.47	4.584*
	Dhumbarahi (P)	24.48±0.87	78.18±4.47	48.605**
	Swayambhu (P)	69.31±5.66	21.05±9.11	21.211**
	Narayanthan (LP)	116.1±28.74		
Celtis australis L.	Airport (P)	139.69±22.33	11.94±0.36	56.79***
	Balaju (P)	140.37±10.68	11.54±5.93	3.37
	Basundhara (P)	132.94±12.97	16.18±8.22	3.41
	Dhumbarahi (P)	$141.82 \pm 2.82$	10.57±2.83	6.46*
	Narayanthan	$158.63 \pm 2.90$		
<i>Cinnamomum camphora</i> (L.) J. Presl	Airport (P)	104.54±25.05	32.94±22.68	2.514
	Balaju (P)	99.74±0.08	16.90±7.52	3.891
	Basundhara (P)	88.74±9.58	32.72±22.63	2.504
	Dhumbarahi (P)	91.11±14.18	$10.90 \pm 10.83$	1.743
	Naraynthan (LP)	139.44±37.04		
Eucalyptus globulus Labill.	Airport (P)	130.59±7.10	14.69±3.19	7.97**
	Balaju (P)	131.54±7.68	14.07±3.53	6.90*
	Dhumbarahi (P)	127.76±25.39	16.80±13.83	2.10
	Swyambhu (P)	132.00+6.62	13.76+2.93	8.12

	Narayanthan (LP)	153.06±5.16		
<i>Ficus elastica</i> Roxb. ex Hornem	Airport (P)	40.96±0.35	4.10±1.94	3.65
	Chabhil (P)	41.30±0.38	3.27±3.15	1.80
	Samakhusi (P)	40.75±0.82	4.60±1.71	4.65*
	Tinkune (P)	39.86±11.8	6.71±1.11	10.44**
	Narayanthan	42.73±1.18		
Ficus religiosa L.	Airport (P)	61.12±6.81	53.87±7.59	12.289**
	Balaju (P)	69.31±9.00	47.31±1.79	45.790**
	Basundhara (P)	81.85±6.35	$34.02{\pm}14.07$	4.189*
	Dhumbarahi (P)	99.13±17.38	25.21±2.90	15.069**
	Narayanthan (LP)	132.70±23.55		
<i>Grevillea robusta</i> A cum ex R. Br.	Airport (P)	80.08±25.83	28.98±19.05	2.634
	Balaju (P)	61.55±31.94	48.20±26.83	3.111
	Basundhara (P)	101.28±6.94	13.38±1.70	13.638**
	Dhumbarahi (P)	72.12±6.03	27.48±13.71	3.471
	Lainchaur (P)	84.12±17.64	25.69±10.48	4.245
	Narayanthan (LP)	114.58±29.75		
Jacaranda mimosifolia D. Don	Airport (P)	128.52±4.74	23.77±14.07	2.925
	Basundhara (P)	74.22±17.06	41.83±14.73	4.91*
	Dhumbarahi (P)	112.47±86.85	40.94±44.98	1.576
	Lainchaur (P)	164.08±36.56	13.00±5.66	3.974*
	Swyambhu (P)	41.77±8.67	73.57±1.26	101.335**
	Narayanthan (LP)	188.08±35.12		
Populous euramericana L.	Airport (P)	112.73±20.60	20.69±7.68	4.668*
	Basundhara (P)	114.90±34.87	9.32±4.80	3.363
	Chabhil (P)	93.50±31.32	27.93±16.78	2.883
	Dhumbarahi (P)	61.03±12.33	50.67±10.11	8.685*
	samakhusi (P)	89.92±37.40	34.80±21.99	2.740
	Tinkune (P)	78.48±19.66	38.99±13.47	5.015*
	Narayanthan (LP)	131.07±32.21		
Prunus cerasoides D. Don	Airport (P)	173.25±6.31	$18.40{\pm}10.48$	3.04
	Balaju (P)	175.26±24.62	17.13±13.10	2.27
	Basundhara (P)	178.17±24.75	16.14±9.05	3.09
	Dhumbarahi (P)	187.70±20.62	11.45±9.06	2.19
	Narayanthan (LP)	212.00±8.31		

t value marked by indicates p<0.05, p<0.01, p<0.001 obtained from one sample t-test (for % decreased specific leaf area data for each tree species with N value ranging from 15 to 21)

## 4.1.1.2 Micro morphological characters

#### 4.1.1.2.a Stomata density

Stomata density was found to increased in all the studied tree leaves in polluted areas when compared to less polluted sites and ranged from 122.19 per cm<sup>2</sup> (in *Grevillea robusta*) to 231.98 per cm<sup>2</sup> (in *Eucalyptus globulus*). Stomata density ranged from 110.74 to 219.01 per cm<sup>2</sup> at the less polluted site in them. Increase in stomata density at polluted sites ranged from 2.5% (in *Grevillea robusta*) to 31.31% (in *Celtis australis*). At polluted sites, all the studied tree species showed an increase in stomata density and was found to be significant (p<0.05) in all tree species except *Eucalyptus globulus*. (Table 5).

**Table 5:** Percentage increase in number of stomata per  $cm^2$  in different trees species at polluted sitesand t-values obtained from one sample t-test

Plant species	Polluted site (P) Mean±Sd (µm)	Less polluted site (LP) Mean±Sd (µm)	% Increase Mean±Sd	t-value
Callistemon lanceolatus	137.2±1.8	124.40±2.82	9.56±0.73	6.31*
Celtis australis	126.91±1.45	113.20±4.59	31.31±2.87	16.53*
Cinnamomum camphora	155.04±3.95	124.36±5.99	$18.04 \pm 1.33$	12.6**
Eucalyptus globulus	$231.98{\pm}1.84$	219.01±3.20	8.51±5.42	3.85
Ficus elastica	$154.72 \pm 4.14$	124.31±3.28	$25.94{\pm}1.07$	8.85*
Ficus reliogisa	$154.02 \pm 2.62$	120.36±9.79	14.43±4.26	8.16*
Grevillea robusta	122.19±1.29	$110.74 \pm 5.80$	$2.5 \pm 1.72$	14.72**
Populus euramericana	223.97±8.29	$181.87 \pm 2.96$	$24.98 \pm 1.85$	8.74*
Prunus cerasoides	188.34±6.67	$159.84 \pm 8.14$	16.01±1.53	20.0**

t value marked by indicates \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001 obtained from one sample t-test (for % increased stomatal density data for each tree species with N value ranging from 15 to 21)

## 4.1.1.2. b Size of stomata

Length and width of stomata were reduced at polluted areas than at less polluted sites. Length of stomata ranged from 14.17 (in *Callistemon lanceolatus*) to 26.82  $\mu$ m (in *Ficus reliogisa*) in less pollute site and it ranged from 11.45 (in *Callistemon lanceolatus*) to 25.44  $\mu$ m (in *Ficus religiosa*) at polluted sites. The length of stomata reduced from 5.10 (in *Ficus religiosa*) to 23.79% (*Populus euramericana*) at polluted sites (Table 4). Similarly, breadth of stomata ranged from 9.79 (in *Cinnamomum camphora*) to 15.08  $\mu$ m (in *Eucalyptus globulus*) in less polluted site and it ranged
from 7.95 (in *Cinnamomum camphora*) to 13.23  $\mu$ m (in *Ficus religiosa*). The breadth of stomata reduced from 8.46 (in *Ficus religiosa*) to 29.43% (in *Prunus cerasoides*) at polluted sites (Table 5). Minimum reduction in length (5.10%) and breadth (8.46%) of stomata was observed in *Ficus religiosa*. Maximum reduction in length (26.79%) was observed in *Celtis australis* and maximum reduction in breadth (29.43%) was observed in *Prunus cerasoides*. Both length and breadth of stomata reduced significantly in most of the species studied (Tables 6 and 7).

Plant species	Polluted site (P) Mean±Sd (µm)	Less polluted site (LP) Mean±Sd (µm)	% Decrease Mean±Sd	t-value
Callistemon lanceolatus	$11.45 \pm 0.80$	14.17±1.03	$16.88 \pm 5.36$	5.45*
Celtis australis	17.16±0.44	23.15±1.35	26.79±0.91	50.83***
Cinnamomum camphora	$14.31 \pm 3.79$	23.31±2.97	$10.66 \pm 2.27$	8.13*
Eucalyptus globulus	20.29±1.36	24.17±0.75	$14.71 \pm 1.34$	18.97**
Ficus elastica	17.33±0.66	19.81±0.44	13.66±2.62	9.03*
Ficus reliogisa	$25.44 \pm 0.66$	26.82±0.22	$5.10\pm0.88$	10.04*
Grevillea robusta	$22.95 \pm 1.44$	24.57±1.26	$7.65 \pm 2.62$	5.05*
Populus euramericana	$14.03 \pm 1.47$	18.70±1.76	23.79±1.64	25.00**
Prunus cerasoides	$14.96 \pm 0.27$	18.51±0.58	$20.63 \pm 1.90$	18.73**

**Table 6:** Length of stomata in different tree species at polluted and less polluted sites along with

 t-values obtained from % decreased data using one sample t-test

t value marked by indicates p<0.05, p<0.01, p<0.001 obtained from one sample t-test (for % decreased length of stomata data for each tree species with N value ranging from 15 to 21)

Table 7: Breadth of stoffata in different tree species at political and less political sites along w	viin
t-values obtained from % decreased data using one sample t-test	

11 . . . . . .

.1....

5.1

Plant species	Polluted site (p) Mean±Sd (μm)	Less polluted site (LP) Mean±Sd (µm)	% Decrease Mean±Sd	t-value
Callistemon lanceolatus	8.51±0.77	11.02±0.59	21.30±1.27	29.06**
Celtis australis	8.47±0.47	9.94±0.06	$14.68 \pm 1.82$	13.98*
Cinnamomum camphora	7.95±0.76	9.79±0.25	$14.89 \pm 5.22$	4.94*
Eucalyptus globulus	11.85±0.55	15.08±0.39	$20.43 \pm 0.92$	38.31**
Ficus elastica	8.95.21	11.15±0.34	$19.48 \pm 1.20$	28.07**
Ficus reliogisa	13.23±0.68	$14.02\pm0.72$	8.46±5.15	2.85
Grevillea robusta	10.98±0.25	14.10±0.31	$23.64 \pm 2.82$	14.51*
Populus euramericana	8.73±0.17	12.06±0.57	$26.92{\pm}1.91$	24.46*
Prunus cerasoides	8.57±0.51	12.41±0.41	29.43±1.98	25.71*

t value marked by indicates \*p < 0.05 and \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001 obtained from one sample t-test (for % decreased in breadth of stomata data for each tree species with N value ranging from 15 to 21

### 4.1.1.2. c Thickness of cuticle

Among the studied tree leaves, highest cuticle thickness was observed in *Callistemon lanceolatus* (11.22 µm) and lowest was observed in *Prunus cerasoides* (6.23 µm) at less polluted site. The cuticle thickness was found to be highly reduced at polluted sites and ranged from 4.24 µm in *Cinnamomum camphora* to 7.83 µm in *Eucalyptus globulus*. Maximum decrease in cuticle thickness (36.07%) at polluted sites was observed in *Callistemon lanceolatus* and minimum (7.30%) in *Populus euramericana*. Cuticle thickness reduced significantly (p<0.05) in all the studied tree species at polluted sites (Table 8).

 Table 8: Percentage reduction in cuticle thickness of different trees at polluted areas and t-values

 obtained from one-sample t-test

Plant species	Pollute site (P) Mean±Sd (µm)	Less polluted site (LP) Mean±Sd (µm)	% Decrease Mean±Sd	t-value
Callistemon lanceolatus	6.94±1.74	11.22±1.66	36.07±1.83	1.84**
Celtis australis	4.79±0.56	6.86±0.34	27.23±3.51	3.51**
Cinnamomum camphora	4.24±0.86	6.39±1.05	30.50±6.90	6.91*
Eucalyptus globulus	7.83±0.39	10.72±0.52	27.51±0.51	0.51***
Ficus elastica	7.05±0.22	9.78±0.38	28.85±1.40	1.40**
Ficus reliogisa	5.72±1.44	6.78±1.53	16.34±2.32	2.32**
Grevillea robusta	5.77±0.34	7.11±0.87	18.98±3.23	3.24*
Populus euramericana	5.45±0.42	7.21±0.38	24.41±2.53	2.54**
Prunus cerasoides	4.82±0.42	6.23±0.58	21.97±1.47	1.47**

t value marked by indicates p<0.05, p<0.01, p<0.01, p<0.001 obtained from one sample t-test (for % decreased in cuticle thickness for each tree species with N value ranging from 15 to 21)

## 4.1.1.2. d Thickness of epidermis

Thickness of epidermis ranged from 13.06  $\mu$ m in *Celtis australis* to 28.98  $\mu$ m in *Ficus religiosa* at less polluted site. Thickness of epidermis was found to be reduced in all the tree species at the polluted sites and ranged from 10.84  $\mu$ m in *Celtis australis* to 26.96  $\mu$ m in *Ficus religiosa*. Maximum decrease in epidermis (18.98%) at polluted sites was observed in *Grevillea robusta* and minimum decreased in *Ficus religisa* (7.79%). One sample t-test showed significant decrease in epidermis at polluted sites in the tree species (Table 9).

Plant species	Polluted site (P) Mean±Sd (µm)	Lesspolluted site (LP) Mean±Sd (µm)	% Decrease Mean±Sd	t-value
Callistemon lanceolatus	18.15±2.78	22.34±1.92	15.41±4.18	6.38*
Celtis australis	$10.84 \pm 0.44$	$13.06 \pm 0.65$	$17.47 \pm 0.78$	38.44**
Cinnamomum camphora	16.54±0.55	$19.17 \pm 0.89$	$12.86 \pm 1.92$	11.55**
Eucalyptus globulus	15.16±0.53	$17.48 \pm 0.78$	$14.08 \pm 0.78$	31.05**
Ficus elastica	16.71±0.41	$19.92 \pm 0.67$	16.49±0.68	41.87**
Ficus reliogisa	26.96±0.55	28.98±0.69	7.79±1.74	7.73*
Grevillea robusta	15.14±1.79	$18.82 \pm 1.21$	$18.98 \pm 2.76$	11.89**
Populus euramericana	19.77±0.42	23.77±0.43	16.18±1.27	22.04**
Prunus cerasoides	19.93±1.18	22.96±0.94	13.85±1.42	16.80**

**Table 9:** Percentage decrease in epidermis thickness  $(\mu m)$  of different trees species at polluted sites and t-values obtained from one sample t-test

t value marked by indicates p<0.05 and p<0.01 obtained from one sample t-test (for % decreased in thickness of epidermis for each tree species with N value ranging from 15 to 21)

# 4.1.2 Air pollution tolerance index (APTI)

# 4.1.2.1 Total chlorophyll content (Tchl)

# 4.1.2.1. a Total chlorophyll in angiosperm

Among the studied angiosperm tree species total chlorophyll (Tchl) ranged from 0.11 to 1.65 mg/g (Table 10). In Callistemon lanceolatus, total chlorophyll content ranged from 0.14 to 0.74 mg/g (at Airport and Gongbu, respectively), in *Cinnamonum camphora* from 0.11 to 0.72 mg/g (at Airport and Basundhara, respectively) and in Ficus religiosa from 0.2 to 1.17 mg/g (at Airport and Narayanthan, respectively). Similarly, in *Grevillea robusta* it ranged from 0.42 to 1.14 mg/g (at Balaju and Basundhara, respectively), in Jacaranda mimosifolia from 0.31 to 1.25 mg/g (at Airport and Basundhara, respectively) and in Populus euramericana from 0.58 to 1.4 mg/g (at Airport and Basundhara, respectively). Except for Ficus religiosa, total chlorophyll (Tch) content was found to be significantly higher in all studied tree species in some polluted areas compared to less polluted sites. in all tree species studied. Total chlorophyll content (Tch) in all the studied plants, except Grevillea robusta, was lowest in Airport. Highest total chlorophyll content (Tchl) content in Cinnamomum camphora, Grevillea robusta and Populus euramericana was recorded in Basundhara, a polluted site. Similarly, highest total chlorophyll content (Tch) content in Callistemon lanceolatus and Jacaranda mimosifolia was also recorded in polluted sites, Gongobu and Balaju, respectively.

## 4.1.2.1.b Total chlorophyll in gymnosperm

Total chlorophyll content (Tchl) content among the studied gymnosperms plant species ranged from 0.59 to 3.73 mg/g (Table 11). In Pinus roxburghii total chlorophyll content ranged from 0.62 to 3.73 mg/g (at Ratnapark and Dhumbarahi, respectively), in Thuja orientalis from 0.59 to 3.66 mg/g (at Shankhpark and Jawalakhel, respectively) and in Cedrus deodara from 0.67 to 3.47 mg/g (at Ratnapark and Shankhpark, respectively). Similarly in Araucaria araucana it ranged from 0.59 to 3.59 mg/g (at Ratnapark and Narayanthan, respectively). In all the studied common gymnosperms tree species, Total chlorophyll content was observed mostly higher in polluted sites, but at some polluted sites it was found to be reduced Pinus roxburghii, Thuja orientalis, Cedrus deodara, and Araucaria araucana. Tch level in *Pinus roxburghii* at Ratnapark and Shankhapark decreased significantly (p=0.05). Similarly, Tch concentration in *Thuja orientalis* was significantly reduced (p=0.05) at Shankhpark and Airport. In Cedurus deodara it was found to be significantly lower (p=0.05) at Ratnapark, and Jawalakhel while in Araucana araucana it was found to be lower at all sites than at a less polluted Narayanthan, a reference site.

# 4.1.2.2 Relative water content (RWC)

### 4.1.2.2. a RWC in angiosperm

RWC among the studied plants ranged from 36.93 to 96.33% (Table 10). In *Callistemon lanceolatus*, RWC ranged from 57.63 at Balaju to 93.33% at Dhumbarahi, in *Cinnamomum camphora* from 60.77 at Airport to 92.37% at Dhumbarahi, and in *Ficus religiosa* from 56.21 at Airport to 96.33% at Balaju. Similarly in *Grevillea robusta* it ranged from 36.93 at Gongbu to 72.71% at Narayanthan, in *Jacaranda mimosifolia* from 40.44 at Narayanthan to 86.09% at Banasthali, and in *Populus euramericana it ranged* from 60.03 at Gongbu to 89.65% at Dhumbarahi. Almost all studied plants, except *Grevillea robusta*, recorded more than 80% RWC at some polluted sites. In *Jacaranda mimosifolia*, RWC was significantly higher in all polluted sites as comparasion to less polluted site, but in other species this trend was not observed and RWC was found to be reduced at some polluted sites only.

## 4.1.2.2.b RWC in gymnosperm

Relative water content (RWC) among the studied gymnosperms ranged from 52.89 to 88.29% (Table 11). In *Pinus roxburghii* RWC ranged from 61.36 to 85.71% (at Narayanthan and Dhumbarahi, respectively), in *Thuja orientalis* it ranged from 60.20 to 81.79% (at Narayanthan and Airport, respectively) and in *Cedrus deodara* from 66.40 to 85.43% (at Narayanthan and Ratnapark, respectively). Likewise, *in Araucaria araucana* it varied from 52.89 to 88.29% at Narayanthan and Ratnapark, respectively. RWC was found significantly higher (p=0.05) in all polluted sites as compared to less polluted site, Narayanthan. Dhumbarahi and Airport had the maximum RWC for *Pinus roxburghii* and *Thuja orientalis*, respectively. However, the highest RWC for both *Cedrus deodara* and *Araucaria araucana* was recorded at Ratnapark.

### 4.1.2.3 Leaf extract pH

# 4.1.2.3.a Leaf extract pH in angiosperm

The leaf extract pH among the studied angiosperm tree species ranged from 3.53 to 6.82 (Table 10). In Callistemon lanceolatus, pH ranged from 3.58 to 6.45 at Airport and Dhumbarahi, in Cinnamomum camphora from 4.66 to 6.82 at Gongbu and Narayanthan and in Ficus reliogisa from 5.04 to 6.82 at Banasthali and Balaju, respectively. Similarly in Grevillea robusta it ranged from 5.78 to 6.76 (at Bashundhara and Narayanthan, respectively), in Jacaranda mimosifolia from 3.53 to 6.48 (at Airport and Bashundhara, respectively) and in Populus euramericana from 5.18 to 6.68 (at Gongbu and Narayanthan, respectively). The leaf extract pH of Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus reliogisa, Grevillea robusta and Populus euramericana reduced significantly (p=0.05) significantly in most of the polluted sites as comparasion to less polluted site, Narayanthan. In *Callistemon lanceolatus* the highest leaf extract pH was found in Dhumbarahi (6.45) and lowest in Airport (3.53). In Jacaranda mimosifolia the highest leaf extract pH was recorded in Basundhara (6.48) and lowest in Airport (3.53). pH range in Callistemon lanceolatus and Jacaranda mimosifolia at polluted and less polluted site were wide ranging from 3.53 to 6.48 in leaf extract, but in *Cinnamomum camphora* it was comparatively moderate and ranged from 4.66 to 6.82. pH range in Ficus reliogisa, Grevillea robusta and Populus euramericana were comparatively narrow and ranged from 5.04 to 6.82

among polluted and less polluted sites. This indicated that the species like *Ficus religiosa*, *Grevillea robusta* and *Populus euramericana* are less susceptible to air pollutants.

## 4.1.2.3.b Leaf extract pH in gymnosperm

pH of leaf extract among the studied gymnosperms ranged from 4.10 to 6.56 (Table 11). In *Pinus roxburghii* pH ranged from 4.29 to 6.21 (at Narayanthan and Airport, respectively), in *Thuja orientalis* from 5.30 to 6.56 (at Dhumbarahi and Ratnapark, respectively) and in *Cedrus deodara* from 4.10 to 5.76 (at Airport and Ratnapark, respectively). Similarly, in *Araucaria araucana* it ranged from 5.77 at Jawalakhel to 6.35 at Airport. The pH of leaf extract in *Pinus roxburghii* was observed considerably higher (*p*=0.05) at all polluted sites and that of *Cedrus deodara* leaf was higher at some polluted sites (Ratnapark and Jawalakhel) only. Whereas pH leaf *extract* decreased significantly at some polluted sites, for instance in *Thuja orientalis* at Dhumbarahi and in *Araucaria araucana* at Jawalakhel.

## 4.1.2.4 Ascorbic acid (AA) content

# 4.1.2.4.a Ascorbic acid in angiosperm

Ascorbic acid (AA) content in the studied plants ranged from 2.96 to 8.86 mg/g (Table 10). In *Callistemon lanceolatus*, AA ranged from 3.78 at Basundhara to 7.62 mg/g at Narayanthan, in *Cinnamomum camphora* from 2.96 at Gongobu to 8.6 mg/g at Airport and in *Ficus religiosa* from 3.06 mg/g at Balaju to 8.38 mg/g at Narayanthan. Similarly in *Grevillea robusta* it ranged from 4.2 mg/g to 8.52 mg/g (at Balaju and Bashundhara, respectively), in *Jacaranda mimosifolia* from 3.78 mg/g to 8.64 mg/g (at Gongbu and Narayanthan, respectively), and in *Populus euramericana* from 6.74 mg/g to 8.86 mg/g (at Basundhara and Dhumbarahi, respectively). Among six tree species, two species (*Cinnamum camphora* and *Grevillea robusta*) had highest AA content at polluted sites Airport site and Basundhara whereas in other four species (*Callistemon lanceolatus, Ficus religiosa, Jacaranda mimosifolia* and *Populus euramericana*) the highest ascorbic acid content was found at a less polluted site Narayanthan. All other polluted sites (Balaju, Banasthali, Basundhara, Gongbu and Dhumbarahi) mostly had less amount of AA content than at less polluted site.

## 4.1.2.4.b Ascorbic acid in gymnosperm

Ascorbic acid content (AA) in the studied gymnosperns ranged from 0.24 mg/g to 0.88 mg/g (Table 11). In *Pinus roxburghii* AA ranged from 0.44 mg/g at Dhumbarahi to 0.84 mg/g at Jawalakhel, in *Thuja orientalis* from 0.30 mg/g at Narayanthan to 0.84 mg/g at Shankhpark and in *Cedrus deodara* from 0.38 mg/g (at Airport and Narayanthan), to 0.88 mg/g (at Dhumbarahi). Similarly in *Araucaria araucana* it ranged from 0.24 mg/g at Narayanthan to 0.71 mg/g at Ratnapark. The concentration of ascorbic acid in all species was higher in most polluted areas than at Narayanthan, a considerably less polluted site. Ascorbic acid concentrations in *Thuja orientalis* at all polluted sites increased significantly (p=0.05) as compared to Narayanthan, a less polluted site. Ascorbic acid concentration also increased significantly in *Pinus roxburghii* at Jawalakhal, Ratnapark and Shankhapark.

### 4.1.2.5 Air pollution tolerance index (APTI)

# 4.1.2.5.a APTI of angiosperm

APTI values obtained for different species at different sites ranged from 7.09 to 15.67 (Table 10). In Callistemon lanceolatus, APTI ranged from 8.66 at Banasthali to 12.55 at Dhumbarahi, in Cinnamomum camphora from 8.03 at Gongbu to 12.51 at Dhumbarahi and in *Ficus religiosa* from 8.1 at Banasthali to 13.97 at Narayanthan. Similarly, in Grevillea robusta it ranged from 7.09 at Gongbu to 13.08 at Airport, in Jacaranda mimosifolia from 8.21 at Airport to 14.61 at Dhumbarahi, and in Populus euramericana from 10.94 at Gongbu to 15.67 at Dhumbarahi. Roadside trees showed different APTI categories at different sites of Kathmandu valley. Based on the maximum APTI values in each species recorded, the tree species from lowest to highest were in the order Cinnamomum camphora>Callistemon lanceolatus> Grevillea robusta>Ficus religiosa>Jacaranda mimosifolia>Populus euramericana and their respective highest APTI values were 12.51>12.55>13.08>13.97>14.61> 15.67. The APTI value obtained for each site was categorized according to Thakar and Mishra (2010) (Table 9). Among the studied road side trees highest APTI categories, i.e., tolerant (T) were observed at only one site in Callistemon lanceolatus (at Dhumbarahi), Cinnamomum camphora (at Dhumbarahi), Ficus religiosa (at Narayanthan), Grevillea robusta (at Airport), and Jacaranda mimosifolia (at

Dhumbarahi), whereas in *Populus euramericana* tolerant category was recorded at five sites (at Airport, Balaju, Bansthali, Dhumbarahi and Narayanthan).

**Table 10:** Physiological parameters (mean±sd, n=25-30) to determine Air pollution tolerance index (APTI) in some common road side angiosperm trees collected from different sites of Kathmandu and their APTI categories

Plants	Sites	Tchl±Sd (mg/g)	RWC (%)	рН	AA (mg/g)	APTI	APTI categories (Thakar and Mishra, 2010)	APTI categories (Padmavath i <i>et al.</i> , 2013)
Calliste	emon lanceolat	tus						
	Airport	0.14±0.02 A	70.83±10.89 BC	3.58±0.02 A	7.54±0.79 C	9.89±1.15 B	Intermediate tolerant	Sensitive
	Balaju	0.48±0.05 B	57.63±8.52 A	5.79±0.01 C	5.42±2.12 AB	9.17±1.19 AB	Sensitive	Sensitive
	Banasthali	0.61±0.10 C	62.92±11.07 AB	4.57±0.50 B	4.38±2.25 AB	8.66±2.40 AB	Sensitive	Sensitive
	Basundhara	0.61±0.10 C	62.17±10.18 AB	6.25±0.03 D	3.78±0.37 A	12.08±0.19 C	Moderately tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Dhumbarahi	0.61±0.08 C	93.33±4.01 E	6.45±0.21 D	4.58±1.19 AB	12.55±0.78 C	Tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Gongbu	0.74±0.04 D	86.65±3.82 DE	6.14±0.03 D	4.28±0.27 AB	11.61±0.50 C	Moderately Tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Mean APTI (P	olluted sites)				10.66		
	Narayanthan	0.68±0.04 CD	75.4±8.31 C	5.57±0.34 C	7.62±1.69 C	12.26±0.66 C	Moderately tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
Cinnan	nomum campho	ora						
	Airport	0.11±0.04 A	60.77±4.64 A	5.71±0.0 2 B	8.6±0.53 D	11.09±0.60 BC	Moderately tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Balaju	0.54±0.06 B	80.85±6.6 B	5.98±0.0 3 CD	3.04±0.32 A	10.07±0.83 B	Intermediat e tolerant	Sensitive
	Banasthali	0.66±0.02 CD	70.45±4.59 A	5.9±0.02 C	5.28±0.63 C	10.51±0.84 B	Intermediat e tolerant	Sensitive
	Basundhara	0.72±0.11 D	83.15±13.60 BC	6.62±0.0 8 E	3.78±0.96 AB	10.87±1.35 BC	Intermediat e tolerant	Sensitive
	Dhumbarahi	0.57±0.14 BC	92.37±2.65 C	6.62±0.0 8 E	4.56±1.04 BC	12.51±0.74 D	Tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Gongbu	0.2±0.05 A	66±4.66 A	4.66±0.0 3 A	2.96±0.11 A	8.03±0.41 A	Sensitive	Sensitive
	Mean APTI (	Polluted sites)				10.51		
	Narayanthan	0.67±0.07 CD	86.08±9.32 BC	6.82±0.1 3 F	4.56±0.84 BC	12.03±1.20 CD	Moderately tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
Ficus r	eligiosa							
	Airport	0.2±0.09 A	56.21±6.70 A	5.94±0.0 1 D	8.38±0.34 C	10.77±0.65 BC	Intermediat e tolerant	Sensitive
	Balaju	0.79±0.37 B	96.33±2.13 D	6.82±0.0 2 F	3.06±0.23 A	11.96±0.35 C	Moderately tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Banasthali	0.4±0.09A	62.92±23.7 AB	5.04±0.0 3 B	3.32±0.35 A	8.1±2.35 A	Sensitive	Sensitive
	Basundhara	0.81±0.32 B	75.8±18.13	6.37±0.0	3.96±0.65	10.43±1.35	Intermediat	Sensitive

			В	5 B	А	А	e tolerant	
	Dhumbarahi	0.71±0.02 B	94.35±0.77 C D	6.63±0.0 3 E	3.7±0.80 A	12.15±0.62 C	Moderately tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Gongbu	0.8±0.01 B	69.13±9.53 AB	5.63±0.0 6 C	5.22±0.74 B	10.27±1.26 B	Intermediat e tolerant	Sensitive
	Mean APTI (	Polluted sites)				10.61		
	Narayanthan	1.17±0.11 C	73.08±6.47 BC	6.78±0.0 9 F	8.38±0.65 C	13.97±0.54 D	Tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
Greville	ea robusta							
	Airport	1.12±0.01 E	69.21±7.08 C	6.24±0.0 3 C	7.28±0.73 C	13.08±0.61 C	Tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Balaju	0.42±0.01 A	43.95±2.53 AB	6.02±0.0 3 B	4.2±1.60 AB	7.1±1.15 A	Sensitive	Sensitive
	Banasthali	1.13±0.02 E	69.21±7.08 CD	6.56±0.0 4 D	5.34±2.21 B	11.03±2.07 B	Moderately tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Basundhara	1.14±0.02 E	47.78±3.17 B	5.78±0.0 5 A	8.52±00.40 C	10.67±0.33 B	Intermediat e tolerant	Sensitive
	Dhumbarahi	0.6±0.05 B	75.19±4.06 D	6.08±0.0 2 B	5.04±0.74 B	10.88±0.73 B	Intermediat e tolerant	Sensitive
	Gongbu	0.79±0.03 C	36.93±10.47 A	6.08±0.0 1 B	4.94±0.34 AB	7.09±1.02 A	Sensitive	Sensitive
	Mean APTI (	Polluted sites)				9.97		
	Narayanthan	1.03±0.05 D	72.71±13.26 CD	6.76±0.1 2 E	5.54±0.32B	11.59±1.23 BC	Moderately tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
Jacaran	ıda mimosifoli	а						
	Airport	0.31±0.08 A	57.25±2.72 B	3.53±0.0 3 A	6.28±2.06 BC	8.21±0.82 A	Sensitive	Sensitive
	Balaju	1.65±0.00 E	58.59±14.11 B	5.34±0.1 3 D	6.52±1.68 BC	12.32±1.74 BC	Moderately tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Banasthali	0.93±0.35 BC	86.09±1.52 C	4.9±0.25 B	4.95±1.74 AB	8.65±2.57 A	Sensitive	Sensitive
	Basundhara	1.25±0.21 D	58.96±13.09 B	6.48±0.0 5 F	7.86±0.20 CDE	12.01±1.20 BC	Moderately tolerant	Sensitive
	Dhumbarahi	0.93±0.11 BC	85.76±5.50 C	6.15±0.0 3 E	8.36±0.58 DE	14.61±0.30 D	Tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Gongbu	1.12±0.059 B	85.843±3.45 C	4.76±0.0 3 B	3.78±0.38 A	10.79±0.52 B	Intermediat e tolerant	Sensitive
	Mean APTI (	Polluted sites)					11.09	
	Narayanthan	0.79±0.07 A	40.44±2.77 A	5.14±0.0 1 C	8.64±0.35 E	9.02±0.24 A	Sensitive	Sensitive
Populus	s euramericano	a						
	Airport	0.58±0.07 A	73.9±5.46 BC	6.24±0.0 3 B	8.35±0.51 B	13.09±0.77 BC	Tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Balaju	0.71±0.02 AB	74.03±3.05 BC	6.32±0.1 8 BC	8.32±0.3 B	13.26±0.56 BC	Tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Banasthali	0.71±0.02A B	71.6±17.43 ABC	6.42±0.0 5 BC	8.6±0.60 B	13.54±0.61 C	Tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Basundhara	1.4±0.08 D	66.32±6.25 AB	6.59±0.3 8 BC	6.74±2.01 A	11.97±1.49 AB	Moderately tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Dhumbarahi	0.92±0.04 C	89.65±7.04 D	6.64±0.1 5 C	8.86±0.38 B	15.67±0.75 D	Tolerant	Intermediate tolerant
	Gongbu	0.69±0.30 AB	60.03±9.81 A	5.18±0.6 3 A	8.35±0.67 B	10.94±1.09 A	Moderately tolerant	Sensitive
	Mean APTI (	Polluted sites)					13.07	

Narayanthan	$0.7 \pm 0.11$	73.39±11.68	$6.68 \pm 0.1$	$8.15 \pm 0.76$	13.36±0.97	Tolerant	Intermediate
	AB	BC	0 C	В	BC		tolerant
			Mea	n APTI±SD	of all species =	= 10.90±1.56	

Same letter followed after mean $\pm$ sd in a column for a particular species denote no significant difference at *p*=0.05 by Duncan's multiple range test followed after one way ANOVA

# 4.1.2.5.b APTI of gymnosperm

Air pollution Tolerance Index (APTI) in the studied gymnosperm species ranged from 5.40 to 8.96 (Table 11). In *Pinus roxburghii* APTI ranged from 6.89 at Jawalakhel to 8.94 at Dhumbaraahi, in *Thuja orientalis* from 6.34 at Narayanthan to 8.44 at Airport, and in *Cedrus deodara* from 6.66 at Airport to 8.90 at Jawalakhel. Similarly, in *Araucaria araucana* it ranged from 5.40 at Jawalakhel to 8.96 at Shankpark. APTI values were found to be greater at all polluted sites than at a less polluted site, Narayanthan. The APTI value obtained for each site was categorized according to Thakar and Mishra (2010) (Table 9). Among the studied road side trees, the plant with highest APTI considered as tolerant (T) category was observed in *Araucaria araucana* at three study sites (Airport, Ratnapark and Shanpark), in *Pinus roxburghii* at two study sites (Airport and Dhumbarahi), and in *Cedrus deodara* at one site (Jwalakhel) only. *Thuja orientalis* scored only upto moderately tolerant APTI category.

**Table 11:** Physiological parameters (Mean±sd, n=25-30) to determine Air pollution tolerance index in some common road side gymnosperm trees collected from different sites of Kathmandu and their APTI categories

Plants Sites	Tchl (mg/g)	RWC (%)	рН	AA (mg/g)	APTI	APTI Categories (Thakar and Mishra, 2010)	APTI categories (Padmavathi <i>et al.</i> , 2013
Araucari araucana							
Airport	0.81±0.13 A	86.29±4.23 C	6.35±0.14 B	0.64±0.13 B	8.86±0.69 C	Tolerant	Sensitive
Dhumbarahi	2.75±0.35 B	85.49±5.46 C	6.26±.00 B	0.64±0.13 B	7.02±1.41 B	Intermediate Tolerant	Sensitive
Jawalakhel	0.80±0.04 A	72.70±7.33 B	5.77±0.25 A	0.30±0.06 A	5.40±0.58 A	Sensitive	Sensitive
Ratnapark	0.59±0.20 A	88.29±4.23 C	6.24±0.02 B	0.71±0.05 B	8.64±0.80 C	Tolerant	Sensitive
Shankhapark	a 0.65±0.19 A	86.89±2.99 C	6.24±002 B	0.64±0.13 B	8.96±0.77 C	Tolerant	Sensitive
Mean APTI (J	Polluted sites)				7.77		

	Narayanthan	3.59±0.61 C	52.89±2.38 A	6.33±0.18 B	0.24±0.50 A	) 5.57±0.51 A	Sensitive	Sensitive
Cedrus	s deodara							
	Airport	3.12±0.46 C	72.13±3.36 AB	4.10±0.05 A	0.38±0.04 A	6.67±1.07 A	Intermediate tolerant	Sensitive
	Dhumbarahi	3.23±041 C	79.16±6.98 CD	4.12±0.07 A	0.88±0.04 C	AB 7.85±1.29	Moderately tolerant	Sensitive
	Jawalakhel	1.08±0.13 A	84.82±4.97 CD	5.66±0.37 C	0.80±0.06 B	5 8.90±0.80 B	Tolerant	Sensitive
	Ratnapark	0.67±0.05 A	85.43±4.12 D	5.76±0.14 C	0.81±0.04 B	8.70±0.41 B	Moderately tolerant	Sensitive
	Shankhapark	3.47±0.24 C	78.16±6.98 BC	4.12±0.07 A	0.88±0.04 C	7.87±1.28 AB	Moderant tolerant	Sensitive
	Mean APTI (Po	olluted sites)				7.99		
	Narayanthan	2.16±0.96 B	66.40±2.00 A	4.480±0.26 B	0.38±0.04 A	7.09±0.55 A	Intermediate tolerant	Sensitive
Pinus i	roxburghii							
	Airport	3.53±0.21 B	83.47±8.90 CD	6.21±0.19 C	0.46±0.05 A	8.80±0.94 B	Tolerant	Sensitive
	Dhumbarahi	3.73±0.61 B	85.71±5.95 D	4.63±0.12 B	0.44±0.05 A	8.94±0.57 B	Tolerant	Sensitive
	Jawalakhel	3.64±0.11 B	72.71±4.743 B	6.16±0.08 C	0.84±0.08 B	6.89±0.32 A	Intermediate tolerant	Sensitive
	Ratnapark	0.62±0.28 A	77.16±4.83 BC	6.16±0.08 C	0.72±0.01 B	7.50±0.80 A	Moderately tolerant	Sensitive
	Shankhapark	0.68±0.47 A	77.57±5.51 BC	6.16±0.08 C	0.83±0.06 B	7.82±0.94 A	Moderately tolerant	Sensitive
	Mean APTI (Po	olluted sites)				9.49		
	Narayanthan	3.55±0.58 B	61.36±5.42 A	4.29±0.16 A	0.48±0.16 A	7.53±0.37 A	Moderately tolerant	Sensitive
Thuja	orientalis							
	Airport	2.37±0.12 AB	81.79±5.52 C	6.320±0.18 B	0.47±0.06 B	8.45±0.64 C	Moderately tolerant	Sensitive
	Dhumbarahi	3.56±0.58 C	76.82±4.16 BC	5.30±0.28 A	0.42±0.85 B	8.09±0.46BC	Moderately tolerant	Sensitive
	Jawalakhel	3.66±0.18 BC	72.39±5.18 B	6.46±0.25 B	0.71±0.14 C	8.14±0.57 BC	Moderately tolerant	Sensitive
	Ratnapark	3.37±0.17 C	72.39±5.28 B	6.56±0.03 B	0.69±0.06 C	7.59±0.64ABC	Intermediate tolerant	Sensitive
	Shankhapark	0.59±0.23 A	73.82±6.45 B	6.51±0.04 B	0.84±0.05 D	6.94±2.11 AB	Intermediate tolerant	Sensitive
	Mean APTI (Po	olluted sites)				7.84		
	Narayanthan	3.29±0.58 BC	60.20±1.96 A	6.52±0.05 B	0.30±0.09 A	6.34±0.54 A	Sensitive	Sensitive
				Mean APTI	±SD of all s	pecies = $7.69 \pm 1$	.039	

Same letter followed after mean $\pm$ sd in a column for a particular species denote no significant difference at *p*=0.05 by Duncan's multiple range test followed after one way ANOVA

# 4.1.3 Metal content

## 4.1.3.1 Metal content in angiosperm

Heavy metal (Zn, Cu and Pb) content in the leaves of common road side angiosperm trees like *Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus reliogisa, Grevillea robusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia* and *Populus euramericana* were measured from different sites in the present study and the results obtained are given in (Table 12).

# 4.1.3.1.a Zinc (Zn)

Zinc is an essential element for plant growth and its mean concentrations in the studied tree leaves collected from different sites ranged from 1.27 mg/kg (in *Cinnamomum camphora*) to 132.38 mg/kg (in *Populus euramericana*). Zinc accumulation ranged from 4.22 to 43.76 mg/kg in *Callistemon lanceolatus*, 1.27 to 23.23 mg/kg in *Cinnamomum camphora*, 1.54 to 22.37 mg/kg in *Ficus reliogisa*, 12.01 to 22.093 mg/kg in *Grevillea robusta*, 9.6 to 34.98 mg/kg in *Jacaranda mimosifolia*, and 14.46 to 132.38 mg/kg in *Populus euramericana*. On the basis of maximum Zn accumulation value *Populus euramericana* and *Callistemon lanceolatus* have been found to be good accumulator of Zn. Zn accumulation in most of the plants were significantly higher in most of the polluted sites than at a less polluted site Narayanthan (Table 12).

### 4.1.3.1.b Copper (Cu)

Copper is an essential element for plant growth and it's mean accumulation in the studied road side tree leaves ranged from 0.89 m/kg *in Populous euramericana* to 20.27 mg/kg *in Jacaranda mimosifolia*. similarly Cu accumulation varied from 0.93 to 7.56 mg/kg in *Callistemon lanceolatus*, 3.39 to 13.93 mg/kg in *Cinnamomum camphora*, 0.90 to 15.28 mg/kg in *Ficus reliogisa*, 2.96 to 9.29 mg/kg in *Grevillea robusta*, 2.45 to 20.27 mg/kg in *Jacaranda mimosifolia*, and in *Populus euramericana*, 0.89 to 11.93 mg/kg. On the basis of mean value *Jacaranda mimosifolia* has been found to be good accumulator of Cu. Cu accumulation in most of the plants were significantly higher (p=0.05) at most of the polluted sites except in *Ficus reliogisa* and *Cinnamomum camphora* (Table 12).

#### 4.1.3.1.c Lead (Pb)

Lead is a non-essential element for the plants and its mean accumulation in the studied road side tree leaves ranged from 0.50 to 40.33 mg/kg. Pb accumulation ranged from 0.61 to 40.33 mg/kg. in *Callistemon lanceolatus*, 0.83 to 32.06 mg/kg in *Cinnamomum camphora*, 0.50 to 39.61 mg/kg in *Ficus reliogisa*, 4.97 to 37.8 mg/kg in *Grevillea robusta*, 1.40 to 29.37 mg/kg in *Jacaranda mimosifolia*, and in *Populus euramericana*, 0.59 to 27.51 mg/kg. On the basis of mean value *Callistemon lanceolatus* and *Ficus reliogisa*, have been found to be good accumulator of Pb. Lead accumulation in most of the plants were found significantly higher (p=0.05) at the polluted sites than at a comparatively less polluted site Narayanthan (Table 12).

### 4.1.3.1.d Metal accumulation index (MAI)

Mean MAI value in the studied tree leaves ranged from 7.34 (in *Cinnamomum camphora*) to 20.44 (in *Populus euramericana*).MAI was observed mostly higher in all the studied tree species growing along the road side than that of less polluted site,Narayanthan. On the basis of MAI mean value the sequence of plant species from lower to higher are in the order- *Cinnamomum camphor*<*Ficus reliogisa*<*Grevillea robusta*<*Callistemon lanceolatus*<*Jacaranda mimosifolia*<*Populus euramericana*. Based on the highest MAI value scored by the tree species at different study sites, it can be said that the species like *Jacaranda mimosifolia* and *Populus euramericana* have more heavy metal accumulation ability than the other species among the angiosperms (Table 12).

Plants	Sites	Zn mg/kg	Cu mg/kg	Pb mg/kg	MAI
Callistemon lanceolatus	Airport	15.54±0.42 C	5.41±0.62 EF	40.33±1.84 E	20.09
	Balaju	38.46±0.91 F	5.87±0.30 F	32.41±0.93 C	32.09
	Banasthali	43.76±3.23 G	7.56±0.38 G	0.83±0.67A	11.65
	Bsundhara	12.15±0.68 B	3.63±0.25 CD	0.73±0.49 A	11.25
	Dhumbarahi	20.83±1.13 DE	2.39±0.53 B	17.10±1.04 B	13.09
	Gongbu	21.53±0.84 E	0.93±0.42 A	37.56±1.49 D	17.61
	Mean MAI (	Polluted sites)			17.63
	Narayanthan	4.22±1.51A	4.81±0.78 E	0.61±0.37 A	3.54
Cinnamomum camphora	Airport	23.23±2.85 D	$8.79 \pm 0.90$ CD	13.53±1.60B	8.78

**Table 12:** Metal content in the leaves (mean±sd, n=21) and the Metal Accumulation Index (MAI) in different plants at different sites (Angiosperm)

	Balaju	15.69±1.38 B	5.23±1.04 AB	32.06±2.16 D	10.42
	Banasthali	1.40±0.59 A	7.99±0.88 CD	0.83±0.58 A	4.29
	Basundhara	18.07± 2.25 BC	3.39±2.25 A	24.99±4.28 C	5.11
	Dhumbarahi	20.11± 2.13 C	9.29±1.54 D	2.86±1.62 A	5.74
	Gongbu	20.03±0.99 C	6.51±0.91 BC	21.87±1.85 C	13.05
	Mean MAI (	Polluted sites)			7.89
	Narayanthan	$1.27{\pm}~0.64~\mathrm{A}$	13.93±1.79 E	$0.84\pm0.38~A$	3.99
Ficus reliogisa	Airport	16.02±1.71 D	9.13±0.78 D	21.42±1.47 C	11.90
	Balaju	22.20±2.42 E	7.41±1.40 C	39.61±2.39 E	10.33
	Bansthali	22.37±2.27 E	11.09±1.67 E	36.65±2.73 D	9.98
	Basundhara	8.79±1.06 B	0.90±0.09 A	0.053±0.01 A	7.06
	Dhumbarahi	12.71±1.12 C	7.91±0.96 CD	3.82±0.76 B	8.17
	Gongbu	13.13± 1.62 C	3.93±0.23B	35.83±2.06 D	14.18
	Mean MAI (	Polluted sites)			10.27
	Narayanthan	1.54±0.51 A	15.28±1.49 F	0.50±0.10 A	5.95
Grevillea robusta	Airport	22.09±2.86 C	9.29±1.01 D	19.83±1.51 D	10.03
	Balaju	15.06±3.42 AB	6.20±0.72 BC	37.8±1.56F	12.40
	Banasthali	13.49±0.90 AB	7.58±1.39 CD	16.92±1.41 C	10.80
	Basundhara	14.03±0.91 AB	$2.96{\pm}0.50~A$	12.84± 2.12 B	9.11
	Dhumbarahi	15.2±2.43 AB	5.14±0.69 B	24.34±2.99 E	7.28
	Gongbu	12.01±2.59 A	2.97±0.89 A	36.67±1.15 F	13.23
	Mean MAI (	Polluted sites)			10.47
	Narayanthan	12.45±2.21 A	8.16±1.61 CD	4.97± 2.25 A	4.31
Jacaranda mimosifolia	Airport	34.98±1.56 E	19.93±1.68 E	25.06±1.38 E	17.47
	Balaju	31.18±1.28 D	20.27±0.64 E	3.70±1.37 A	19.52
	Banasthali	22.68±1.33 B	$5.72 \pm 0.43$ B	29.37±1.67F	15.97
	Basundhara	23.34±2.00 BC	13.83±1.35 D	19.42±0.64 D	17.37
	Dhumbarahi	25.54±0,84 C	11.72±0.71 C	11.58±1.21 B	18.78
	Gongbu	22.54±0.84 B	11.61±1.12 C	15.52±1.04 C	17.44
	Mean MAI (	Polluted sites)			17.75
	Naravanthan	9.60± 0.45 A	2.45±0.47 A	1.40±0.56 A	3.28
Populus euramericana	Airport	104.27±1.02 E	11.31±0.63 D	0.93±0.59 A	40.69
	Balaju	69.06±3.32 D	8.38±0.53 C	27.51±1.74B	17.37
	Banasthali	132.38±3.71 F	11.93±0.60 D	0.83±0.58A	18.96

Basu	indhara 57.89± BC	1.01 0.89±0	0.10A 1.66±1.5	52 A 25.71
Dhu	mbarahi 57.09± BC	2.71 1.86±1.0	06 AB 1.54±0.9	99 A 8.14
Gon	gbu 65.61± CI	1.30 1.26±1.0	07 AB 2.32±0.8	34 A 18.12
Me	an MAI (Polluted	sites)		21.49
Nara	ayanthan 14.46±0	0.47 A 2.41± C	0.86 B 0.59±0.0	06A 14.13

Same letter followed after mean $\pm$ sd in a column for a particular species denote no significant difference at *p*=0.05 by Duncan's multiple range test followed after one way ANOVA

## 4.1.3.2 Metal content in gymnosperms

Heavy metal (Zn, Cu and Pb) content in the leaves of road side gymnosperms like and *Pinus roxburghii, Thuja orientalis, Cedrus deodara* and *Araucaria araucana* were measured in the present study and the results obtained are given in (Table 13).

# 4.1.3.2.a Zinc (Zn)

Zinc is an essential element for plant growth and it's mean concentrations in the collected leaves from different sites ranged from 12.28 mg/kg (in *Araucaria araucana*) to 54.52 mg/kg (in *Cedrus deodara*). Zinc accumulation ranged from 12.28 to 54.52 mg/kg in *Araucaria araucana*, 18.25 to 54.52 mg/kg in *Cedrus deodara*, 13.89 to 34.32 mg/kg in *Pinus roxburghii*, and 14.23 to 39.49 in *Thuja orientalis*. On the basis of maximum Zn accumulation, *Cedrus deodara* (54.52 mg/kg) and *Thuja orientalis* (34.94 mg/kg) can be considered as good accumulator of Zn. Zn accumulation in most of the plants were significantly higher (p=0.05) at most of the polluted sites than at comparatively a less polluted site, Narayanthan (Table 13).

## 4.1.3.2.b Copper (Cu)

Copper is an essential elements for the plant growth and its mean accumulation value of all studied sites in the tree leaves ranged from 1.48 (in *Araucaria araucana*) to 20.16 mg/kg (in *Thuja orientalis*). In *Araucaria araucana* copper accumulation ranged ranged from 1.48 to 9.92 mg/kg, in *Cedrus deodara* from 1.96 to 11.85 mg/kg, in *Pinus roxburghii* from 1.94 to 8.79 mg/kg, and in *Thuja orientalis* from 2.86 to 20.16 mg/kg. On the basis of maximum Cu accumulation values, *Thuja orientalis* and *Cedrus deodara* were found to be good accumulator of Cu (Table 13). Copper

accumulation in the gymnosperm leaves were significantly (p=0.05) higher at most of the polluted sites.

## 4.1.3.2.c Lead (Pb)

Lead is a non-essential element for plants and it's accumulation in the studied gymnosperm leaves along the road side ranged from 0.88 (in *Araucaria araucana* to 8.85 mg/kg (in *Pinus euramericana*). In *Araucaria araucana* lead accumulation ranged from 0.88 to 3.62 mg/kg, in *Cedrus deodara* from 0.96 to 8.58 mg/kg, in *Pinus euramericana* from 1.52 to 8.85 mg/kg, and in *Thuja orientalis* it ranged from 2.04 (at Narayanthan) to 4.84 mg/kg (at Ratnapark). On the basis of maximum accumulation value, *Pinus roxburghii* and *Cedrus deodara* were found to be good accumulator of Pb (Table 13). Lead accumulation in leaves of gymnosperms was significantly higher at most of the polluted sites.

### 4.1.3.2.d Metal accumulation index (MAI)

Mean MAI in the studied gymnosperm leaves ranged from 10.78 (*Pinus roxburghii*) to 31.27 (*Thuja orientalis*). MAI in the leaves of gymnosperms were mostly higher at polluted sites than at a less polluted sites (Narayanthan) (Table 11). On the basis of MAI mean value, the sequence of plant species from lower to higher are in the order-*Pinus roxburghii*<*Araucaria araucana*<*Cedrus deodara*<*Thuja orientalis*. Based on the highest mean value of MAI scored by the tree species at different study sites, it can be said that the species like *Thuja orientalis* and *Cedrus deodara* have more heavy metal accumulation ability than the other species among gymnosperms (Table 13).

Plants	Sites	Zn mg/kg	Cu mg/kg	Pb mg/kg	MAI
Araucari araucana	Airport	24.18±0.63 D	5.15±0.51 BC	3.62±0.56 C	18.37
	Dhumbarahi	18.24±2.51 C	9.92±1.06 D	1.37±0.57 A	19.03
	Jawalakhel	22.55±1.18 D	4.58±0.40 B	0.88±0.03 A	19.73
	Ratnapark	28.22±0.51 E	4.92±0.54 B	2.68±0.13 B	28.35
	Shankha park	16.02±1.96 B	1.48±0.57 A	1.72±0.47 A	14.42
	Mean MAI(Po	lluted sites)			19.98
	Narayanthan	12.28±0.51 A	6.62±1.19 C	1.49±0.24 A	11.90

 Table 13: Metal content in the leaves (mean±sd, n=15) and the Metal Accumulation Index (MAI) in

 different plants at different sites (Gymnosperm)

Cedrus deodara	Airport	26.79±0.95 BC	4.33±0.79 C	8.58±1.17 C	13.68
	Dhumbarahi	54.52±1.20 D	3.94±0.07 BC	3.42±0.17 B	40.77
	Jawalakhel	18.25±0.51 A	9.26±0.64 D	3.15±0.56 B	18.72
	Ratnapark	28.70±0.99 BC	11.85±1.06 E	2.70±0.56 B	44.99
	Shankha park	23.57±0.59 ABC	2.99±0.37 AB	1.98±0.02 AB	44.54
	Mean MAI (Po	olluted sites)			32.54
	Narayanthan	21.25±5.69 AB	1.96±0.06 A	0.96±0.08 A	16.75
Pinus roxburghii	Airport	18.27±0.59 A	5.36±0.65 A	3.21±0.58 A	14.86
	Dhumbarahi	34.32±0.94 D	8.79±0.87 C	1.52±0.30 A	17.31
	Jawalakhel	28.32±9.29B CD	6.66±1.15 BC	2.16±0.54 A	4.27
	Ratnapark	30.64±5.20 CD	7.20±1.52 BC	8.85±2.65 C	4.65
	Shankha park	20.41±1.24 ABC	2.80±0.09 A	4.31±5.11 AB	16.08
	Mean MAI(Polluted sites)				11.43
	Narayanthan	13.89±4.06 A	1.94±0.96 A	3.29±1.59 AB	7.51
Thuja orientalis	Airport	26.21±0.62D	20.16±0.48 D	3.29±0.13 A	36.39
	Dhumbarahi	18.75±1.01B	2.95±0.36 A	2.31±0.22 A	12.44
	Jawalakhel	39.49±0.55 E	8.44±0.61 C	3.31±0.51 A	30.53
	Ratnapark	37.95±0.52 E	5.92±0.04 B	4.84±0.61 B	75.78
	Shankha park	21.15±1.12 C	2.86±0.23 A	2.43±0.09 A	19.85
	Mean MAI (Po	olluted sites)			34.99
	Narayanthan	14.23±0.54A	5.25±0.60 B	2.04±0.80 AB	12.63

Same letter followed after mean $\pm$ sd in a column for a particular species denote no significant difference at *p*=0.05 by Duncan's multiple range test followed after one way ANOVA

## 4.1.4 Correlation between metal content and SLA in leaves of angiosperm

Correlations between heavy metal content (Zn, Cu, and Pb) and SLA decrease in the studied leaves of some common angiosperms trees along the road side are shown in Table 14. Coorelation of percentage decrease in SLA and Zn was mostly negative (p<0.005) and significant in most of the species, except *Ficus religiosa* and *Grevillea robusta*. The correlation between percentage decline in SLA and Cu content were mostly positive and significant, but in *Jacaranda mimosifolia* it was negatively significant. Similarly the coorelation of percatage decrese in SLA and Pb content was positive in all species. Decrease in SLA percatage showed a significant negative correlation with Zn content in *Populus euramericana*, while it showed a significant

positive correlation with Pb content. Percentage SLA decrease in *Ficus religiosa*, showed positive correlation with Pb and Cu but in *Jacaranda mimosifolia*, percentage decrease in SLA showed negative correlation with Zn and Cu. In, percentage decrease in SLA showed positive correlation with Pb in *Ficus religiosa*, *Populus euramericana* and *Grevillea robusta*. In *Cinnamomum camphora*, the percentage decrease in SLA was observed a positive correlation with Cu and negative correlation with Zn.

**Table 14:** Correlations between percentage decrease SLA and heavy metal content (Zn, Cu, and Pb) in leaves of some angiosperms trees

Plants	% decrease SLA-Zn	% decrease SLA-Cu	% decrease SLA-Cu
Callistemon lanceolatus	-0.72**	0.28	-0.50
Cinnamomum camphora	-0.76**	0.61*	-0.35
Ficus religiosa	-0.31	0.53*	0.59*
Grevillea robusta	-0.38	0.19	0.66**
Jacaranda mimosifolia	-0.65**	-0.76**	0.11
Populous euramericana	-0.46*	0.09	0.73**

Significant at \*p<0.05 and \*\*p<0.01

#### 4.1.5 Correlations between metal content and APTI parameters

#### 4.1.5.1 Correlations in angiosperm

The correlation between different metal (Zn, Cu and Pb) content and different biochemical parameters (RWC, AA, pH, Tchl) and APTI) of the studied six tree species of angiosperms are given in Table 15. Correlation between RWC and zinc content was mostly negative in all studied tree species and was significant (p=0.05) in *Callistemon lanceolatus*. Similarly, correlation of Cu content and RWC was positively significant (p=0.05) in *Grevillea robusta*, but negatively significant (p<0.01) with *Callistemon lanceolatus* and *Jacaranda mimosifolia*. In *Grevelliea robusta*, significant correlation was observed between Pb content in leaves and RWC. Cumulative effect of Pb+Cu+Zn accumulation was found to be negatively correlated with RWC in all plants and was significant (p<0.05) in *Grevillea robusta* and *Jacaranda mimosifolia*. The correlations between AA content and Zn accumulation in the studied tree leaves were mostly negative and was significant (p<0.05) in *Jacaranda mimosifolia*. Significant positive correlation was observed between Cu

accumulation and AA in *Ficus reliogisa*. Pb accumulation mostly negative correlation with AA and was significant in Cinnamomum camphora but in Jacaranda mimosifolia it was positively significant (p<0.01). Cumulative effect of Pb+Cu+Zn accumulation was found to be significantly (p < 0.05) negatively correlated with AA in Grevillea robusta. The correlation between leaf extract pH and Zn content were mostly negative, and was significant (p < 0.05) in Cinnamomum camphora and Jacaranda mimoisifolia. Mostly positive correlation was found between Cu content and leaf extract pH in most of the tree species and was significant (p < 0.01) in Cinnamomum camphora but significant negative correlation found in Callistemon lanceolatus and Jacaranda mimosifolia. Pb content in leaf showed negative correlation with pH in most trees and was significant (p<0.01) in Grevillea robusta, Cinnamomum camphora and Jacaranda mimoisifolia. Cumulative effect of Pb+Cu+Zn accumulation was found to be mostly negatively correlated with pH in most trees and was significant (p < 0.05) in Grevillea robusta and Cinnamomum camphora. Zinc accumulation in leaves showed negative correlation with total chlorophyll in most of the trees and was significant (p < 0.01) in Ficus reliogisa, Jacaranda mimosifolia and Populus euramericana. Cu content in leaves was significantly (p<0.01) negatively correlated with Tchl in Jacaranda mimosifolia. Similarly, Pb content in leaf showed significant (p < 0.05) negatively correlated with Tchl in Ficus reliogisa. Cumulative effect of Pb+Cu+Zn content in leaves showed negative correlation in most of the studied plants and was significant in Ficus reliogisa and Jacaranda mimosifolia. APTI was found to be negatively correlated with Zinc accumulation in most trees and was significant (p < 0.01) in Callistemon lanceolatus and Jacaranda mimosifolia. Cu content in leaves showed negative correlation with APTI in some studied tree species and was significant (p<0.05) in Ficus reliogisa, Callistemon lanceolatus and Jacaranda mimoisifolia but in Cinnamomum camphora it was significantly (p < 0.01) positive. Pb content showed negative correlation with APTI in most studied tree species and was significant (p<0.01) in Ficus reliogisa, Populus euramericana, Cinnamomum camphora and Grevillea robusta. Cumulative effect of Pb+Cu+Zn accumulation was found to be mostly significant negatively correlated in all studied plants and was significant

(p<0.05) in Grevillea robusta, Cinnamomum camphora, Callistemon lanceolatus and Jacaranda mimosifolia.

Parameters	Callistemon lanceolatus	Cinnamomum camphora	Ficus reliogisa	Grevillea robusta	Jacaranda mimosifolia	Populus euramericana
	(n=50)	(n=35)	(n=35)	(n=50)	(n=40)	(n=45)
RWC-Zn	-0.40**	-0.18	-0.30	-0.11	-0.15	-0.06
RWC-CU	-0.64**	0.16	-0.23	0.34*	05**	0.12
RWC-Pb	0.08	-0.12	-0.20	-0.38**	-0.15	-0.08
RWC- Zn+Cu+Pb	-0.20	-0.15	-0.29	-0.30*	-0.38*	-0.06
AA-Zn	-0.16	0.11	-0.30	-0.24	-0.36*	0.20
AA-Cu	0.19	0.27	0.50**	-0.03	-0.11	0.04
AA-Pb	-0.02	-0.37*	0.245	-0.26	0.47**	-0.21
AA- Zn+Cu+Pb	-0.08	-0.16	0.30	-0.33*	0.21	0.13
pH-Zn	-0.17	-0.41*	-0.15	0.04	-0.66**	-0.14
pH-Cu	-0.51**	0.53**	0.73	0.09	-0.58**	0.18
pH-Pb	-0.01	-0.49**	0.42	-0.40**	-0.45**	0.07
pH- Zn+Cu+Pb	-0.14	-0.48**	0.30	-0.33*	-0.08	-0.09
Tchl-Zn	0.07	-0.24	-0.75**	0.04	-0.78**	-0.33*
Tchl-Cu	-0.15	0.08	0.09	0.17	-0.82**	-0.03
Tchl-Pb	0.01	-0.01	-0.34*	-0.13	0.03	0.26
Tchl- Zn+Cu+Pb	0.02	-0.13	-0.34*	-0.06	-0.52**	-0.24
APTI-Zn	-0.43**	-0.14	0.32	-0.21	-0.53**	0.07
APTI-Cu	-0.51**	0.43**	-0.95*	0.24	-0.66**	-0.12
APTI-Pb	-0.01	-0.46**	-0.98**	-0.47**	0.06	-0.77**
APTI- Zn+Cu+Pb	-0.28*	-0.33*	-0.48	-0.45**	-0.36*	-0.13

Table 15: Pearson correlation of metals with RWC, AA, pH, Tch and APTI (Angiosperm)

Significant at \*p<0.05 and \*\*p<0.01

# 4.1.5.2 Correlation in gymnosperm

The correlations between different metals (Zn, Cu and Pb) content with different biochemical parameters (RWC, AA, pH, Tchl and APTI) of the various tree species

from different sites are given in Table 16. RWC and zinc content mostly showed positive correlation in all studied tree species and was significant (p=0.05) in *Pinus* roxburghii and Araucaria araucana. Similarly Cu was found to be significantly (p=0.05) positively correlated with RWC of *Pinus roxburghii*, *Thuja orientalis* and Cedrus deodara. Significant positive correlation was observed between Pb content in leaves and RWC in Araucariai araucana. Cumulative effect of Pb+Cu+Zn accumulation was found to be positively correlated with RWC in all plants and was significant (p<0.05) in Pinus roxburghii, Thuja orientalis and Araucaria araucana. Mostly positive correlation was observed between AA content and Zn accumulation in the studied tree leaves and was significant (p<0.05) in Thuja orientalis and Araucaria araucana. Significant positive correlation was observed between Cu accumulation and AA in Cedrus deodara. Correlation between Pb content and AA was positive and was significant in Araucaria araucana. Cumulative effect of Pb+Cu+Zn accumulation was found to be significantly (p < 0.05) positively correlated with AA and was significant in Cedrus deodara and Araucaria araucana. Mostly insignificant correlation was observed between leaf extract pH and Zn content in all studied tree leaves. Cu content in leaf was mostly found to be positive correlation with pH in most of the tree species and was significant (p < 0.01) in Cedrus deodara. Pb content in leaf showed positive correlation with pH in Araucaria araucana.Correlation between cumulative effect of Pb+Cu+Zn content and leaf extract pH were mostly positive but was insignificant. Total chlorophyll content in leaf showed no significant correlation with Zinc content but revealed positive significant (p<0.01) correlation with Cu content in Cedrus deodara and negative significant correlation with Pb content in Pinus roxburghii. Cumulative effect of Pb+Cu+Zn content in leaves showed positive correlation with Tchl but were insignificant.APTI was found to be positively correlated with Zinc accumulation in most trees and was significant (p < 0.01) in Araucaria araucana. Cu content in leaves showed positive correlation with APTI in some studied tree species and was significant (p < 0.05) in Cedrus deodara. A negative significant (p < 0.05) correlation was observed with APTI and metal content in Pinus roxburghii but in Araucaria araucana it was significantly (p < 0.05) positive. Cumulative effect of Pb+Cu+Zn

content in leaves with APTI was found to be positively correlated and was significant (p<0.05) in *Thuja orientalis*.

Parameters	Araucaria araucana	Cedrus deodara	Pinus roxburghii	Thuja orientalis
	(n=30)	(n=30)	(n=30)	(n=30)
RWC-Zn	0.57**	0.09	0.47**	0.25
RWC-Cu	-0.15	0.66**	0.53**	0.44*
RWC-Pb	0.43*	-0.02	-0.14	0.30
RWC-Zn+Cu+Pb	0.50**	0.27	0.43*	0.40*
AA-Zn	0.43*	0.34	0.21	0.53**
AA-Cu	-0.06	0.37*	-0.07	-0.19
AA-Pb	0.04**	-0.34	0.07	0.35
AA-Zn+Cu+Pb	0.42*	0.37*	0.15	0.32
pH-Zn	-0.15	-0.34	0.12	0.31
pH-Cu	0.14	0.88**	0.11	0.16
pH-Pb	0.49**	-0.23	0.26	0.32
pH-Zn+Cu+Pb	-0.01	-0.12	0.18	0.32
Tchl-Zn	0.14	0.04	0.12	0.26
Tchl-Cu	0.08	.69**	0.30	-0.08
Tchl-Pb	0.16	-0.10	-0.49**	0.22
Tchl-Zn+Cu+Pb	0.18	0.21	0.18	0.16
APTI-Zn	0.37*	-0.06	0.32	0.28
APTI-Cu	-0.36	0.56**	0.30	0.35
APTI-Pb	.61**	-0.21	-0.49**	0.28
APTI-Zn+Cu+Pb	0.27	0.05	0.18	0.39*

Table 16: Pearson correlation of metals with RWC, AA, pH, Tch and APTI (Gymnosperm)

Significant at \*p<0.05 and \*\*p<0.01

# 4.2 Discussion

Discussion is focused mainly on the above mentioned results, i.e., the first discussion is about macro and microphological of experimental leaves, second one is about Air Pollution Tolerance Index (APTI) of the experimental plants and third one is about their metal accumulation and correlations. These are described as below.

# 4.2.1 Leaf morphology

# 4.2.1.1 Macro morphology

## 4.2.1.1.a Leaf area

Leaf area  $(cm^2)$  of all the studied tree leaves except *Celtis australis* significantly reduced at polluted areas compared to less polluted sites. Tiwari *et al.* (2006) observed that pollutants can cause serious leaf injury, stornatal damage, premature senescence, decrease in photosynthetic activity, disturbance in membrane permability and reduce yelding efficiency in sensitive plant species. Reducton in leaf area may be due to decreased leaf production rate and enhanced senescence. The reduced leaf area result in reduced absorbed radiatons and subsequently in reduced photosynthetic rate (Tiwari *et al.*, 2006). Kayode and Otoide (2007) also observed reduction in leaf area in *Newbouldia laevis* and *Albizia lebbek*.

### 4.2.1.1.b Specific leaf area (SLA)

Specific leaf area (SLA) reduced at polluted sites compared to less polluted sites in all studied tree species and was significant (p<0.01) in *Callistemon lanceolatus, Celtis australis, Eucalyptus globulus, Ficus elastica, Ficus religiosa, Grevillea robusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia,* and *Populus euramericana* at some or all polluted sites. Decrease in SLA of *Ligustrum qulhoul* was also reported by Zhu *et al.* (2021). Song *et al.* (2019) found that species with higher SLA could be better adapted to the urbanization environment. Abbasi *et al.* (2018) detected a decrease in specific leaf area in the *elm* leaf at the polluted sites from Azadi and Gisha Bridge of Tehran. Balasooriya *et al.* (2009) and Carreras *et al.* (1996) also reported an increase in SLA of *Taraxacum officinale* and *Ligustrum* species, respectively, in more polluted areas. SLA reduction minimizes water loss and transpiration. This might be an adaptive approach of plants to enhance stress tolerance (Xu *et al.*, 2009).

## 4.2.1.2 Micro morphology

#### 4.2.1.2.a Stomata density

Stomatal density increased in polluted sites in all plants and was significant in Cinnamomum camphora, Callistemon lanceolatus, Celtis australis, Ficus reliogisa,

Ficus elastica, Grevillea robusta, Prunus cerasoides, and Populus euramericana. Stomatal density increases and stomata size decreases in stressed plants (Balasooriya et al., 2009; Kardel et al., 2010). Pal et al. (2002) reported two-fold increase in stomatal frequency and trichome length in plant samples taken from high-traffic sites in comparison to low-traffic sites. Alves et al. (2008) observed that stomatal density in Eugenia uniflora varied between specimens collected at locations with different degrees of air pollution. Their results indicated that individuals growing at sites with the highest level of pollution had the highest stomatal density. Gostin (2009) also reported increase in stomata density in the plants growing under air pollution. Under metal stress, stomatal closure is usually reduced. Pb stress has been shown to cause changes in the inner anticlinal walls of guard cells (Ahmad et al., 2005). Besides this the increase in stomatal density in polluted sites is possibly to fulfill the required gas exchange for physiological processes. Stomatal traits like stomatal density (Zhang et al., 2017) and stomatal size (Liang et al., 2016) have been recognized as important characters for capturing particulate matter from the polluted air. Stomatal uptake is concerned with the diffusion of gaseous pollutants from the air as a result of photosynthesis and water management processes in plants (Lawson and Blatt, 2014), although particles<2 µm can enter the stomatal cavity (Song et al., 2015). Opening and closing of stomata are regulated by environmental circumstances, and removal of air pollutants could be enhanced by the selection of plant species with long opening periods. According to Grote et al. (2016), anisohydric species (like Populus and some Quercus species, which have more variable leaf water potential and keep their stomata open and photosynthetic rates high for longer periods, even in the presence of decreasing leaf water potential) can trap particulate matter more than the isohydric plants (like *Pinus* and *Platanus* species, which shorten their stomatal opening period in response to drought).

# 4.2.1.2.b Size of stomata

The size of stomata (i.e., length and breadth) reduced in all the studied plants at the polluted sites as comparasion to less polluted sites. Both length and breadth of stomata reduced significantly in *Callistemon lanceolatus, Celtis australis,* 

*Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus elastica, Ficus reliogisa, Grevillea robusta, Prunus cerasoides,* and *Populus euramericana.* Saadabi (2011) also reported reduction in the length and width of the leaves of *Tabernaemontana divaricata* and *Hamelia patens* in polluted sites. Kulshrestha *et al.* (1994) reported significant decrease in stomata size of epidermal cells, and trichome per unit area in *Calotropis procera* and *Nerium indicum* growing at auto exhaust polluted busy roadside. The decrease of the stomatal size may be an avoidance mechanism against the inhibitory effect of a pollutant on physiological activities such as photosynthesis (Verma *et al.*, 2006).

## 4.2.1.2.c Thickness of cuticle

Thickness of cuticle of leaf adaxial surface decreased in all plants at polluted sites. Maximum decrease in cuticle thickness at polluted sites was observed in *Callistemon lanceolatus* and minimum decreased in *Populus euramericana*. Cuticle is the outermost layer of leaf which is exposed to pollutants and is also a barrier between the interior and outer environment. As it is outermost layer, remains in continuous contact with the air pollutants, and this may exert stress (Baker and Hunt, 1986), as a result cuticle becomes responsive to change in such environment. The pH of leaf extract at most of the studied polluted sites decreased, which possibly is mainly due to acidic nature of the pollutants. It is well established that low pH of fall out leaches the cuticle layer and this might be another reason for its reduction at polluted sites. According to Pourkhabbaz *et al.* (2010) the cuticle covering the outer epidermal layer at polluted sites contained less cutin and high accumulation of phenolics. The accumulation of more phenolics is possibly due to heavy metal and other pollutant stress.

### 4.2.1.2.d Thickness of epidermis

Epidermis is usually outermost layer in leaves, with transparent cells having no chloroplast, except guard cells, and is tightly connected with each other. In present study, thickness of epidermis reduced in all plants at polluted sites. Mitu *et al.* (2019) revealed that leaves of selected roadside plants had reduced cell size with black dot like substance deposited in the epidermis at polluted sites. These deposited pollutants possibly induce several physiological processes to combat the stress, as a result of which reduction in the epidermal cells might have occurred.

### 4.2.2 Air pollution tolerance index (APTI)

### 4.2.2.1 Total chlorophyll content (Tchl)

## 4.2.2.1.a Total chlorophyll in angiosperm

Total chlorophyll in the same species was lower in certain contaminated areas than in Narayanthan, a less polluted site. For example, in *Ficus religiosa*, it was significantly lower at all sites than at Narayanthan, in *Jacaranda mimosifolia* it was significantly increased at all polluted sites (except Airport) than at Narayanthan, in Callistemon lanceolatus it was significantly less at airport and Balaju; in Cinnamonum camphora it was less at Airport, Gongbu; in Grevillea robusta it was less at Balaju, Dhumbarahi and Gongbu. Many researchers have reported reduction in chlorophyll under air pollution with increasing heavy metal content (Allen et al., 1987; Chettri et al., 1998; Tiwari et al., 2006; Tripathi and Gautam 2007; Joshi and Swami, 2009). The total chlorophyll content in plant leaves has been reported to be also affected by gaseous pollutants (such as  $SO_2$ ), high temperatures, drought, salt stress, and daylight intensity, in addition to heavy metal air and soil pollution (Karmakar, et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2016). In Populous euramericana total chlorophyll content was more or less same in most sites in the present study and at some polluted sites like Basundhara and Dhumbarahi it was significantly high, indicating its resistance to air pollution, as is also evident with its high APTI values. The present study also supports the findings of Katiyar and Dubey (2001) and Chandawat et al. (2011) as suggested that the difference in the total chlorophyll content in the same species at different sites could be due to differences in pollution level as well as environmental factors. Besides this the total content is also influenced by tolerance or sensitivity of the species (Chandawat et al., 2011). Total chlorophyll concentration in the plant governs the biomass growth, development and photosynthetic activity. In the present study, Callistemon lanceolatus Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus religiosa and Populus euramerican in Airport, i.e., at polluted sites had high total chlorophyll. Total chlorophyll increased in the present study among some plants growing in polluted sites and the possible reason for this may be due to high concentration of carbon dioxide and high temperature. The enhanced growth of plants due to higher levels of CO<sub>2</sub> has been reported by Poorter (1993). Plants grow faster at higher temperature if

provided with adequate levels of CO<sub>2</sub>, water, sunlight and plant nutrients. Yet another reason could be the smoke released from the vehicles that enhance the chlorophyll production in the leaves (Geeta and Namrata, 2014). Increase in total chlorophyll in *Eucalyptus camaldulensis, Prosopis juliflora* and *Mangifera indica* leaves from polluted site was also reported when compared with less polluted site (Tripathi and Gautam, 2007; Seyyednejad and Koochak, 2011). In the present study the polluted sites were with high traffic areas to enhance chlorophyll content on one hand and the presence of comparatively moderate to high concentrations of Zn and Pb content in their leaves. The concentrations of Zn and Pb in them possibly also helped to protect the degradation of chlorophyll in them, which was observed by Chettri *et al.* (1998) in lichens. Higher chlorophyll content has been postulated as favorable conditions for plants to withstand polluted environment and that possibly connected with tolerance of a species in contaminated environments (Pathak *et al.*, 2011; Rai and Panda, 2014; Ogunkunle *et al.*, 2015).

## 4.2.2.1.b Total chlorophyll content (Tchl) in gymnosperm

The current study found that the chlorophyll content in gymnosperms were higher than those of angiosperms. Gymnosperms have ability to synthesixe chlorophyll both in darkness as well as in light (Schoefs and Bertrand, 1997), whereas angiosperms can synthsize chlorophyll in light only. The ability to synthesis in darkness is linked with the presence of three genes (chlL, chlN, and chlB) in the chloroplast genome that code for subunits of the light-independent Pchlide reductase (Armstrong, 1998). Amomng the chloroplast genome of angiosperms at least two of these genes are absent and hence are unable to synthesize in darkness (Suzuki and Bauer, 1992). Variable results of chlorophyll content in the leaves of gymnosperms were recorded. Chlorophyll content varied with plant's tolerance and sensitivity, i.e., the more sensitive the plant species (lower APTI), the higher the chlorophyll content in Araucaria araucana. But in *Pinus roxburghii* and *Thuja orientalis* high total chlorophyll content was recorded even at contaminated areas, which may be attributed to their tolerant nature (Beg et al., 1990; Jyothi and Jaya, 2010). From these two different results of chlorophyll in Gymnosperms it appears that chlorophyll content in plant alone is not responsible to determine a plant to be a tolerant or sensitive.

### **4.2.2.2 Relative water content (RWC)**

### 4.2.2.2.a RWC in angiosperm

RWC in all studied angiosperm plants were mostly higher at polluted sites than those in less polluted site. But at some place for instance Callistemon lanceolatus at Balaju, Cinnamomum camphora at Gongbu, Ficus reliogisa at Gongbu, Grevillea robusta at Gongbu, and Populus euramericana at Gongbu measured low RWC than at less polluted site, i.e., Narayanthan. RWC is perhaps the most suitable indicator for knowing the water status of a plant in terms of the physiological effects of cellular water deficit. It determines the present water content of the sampled leaf tissue in relation to the maximum water where it can hold at full turgidity.Based on the maximum amount of water it can hold at full turgidity. In plants, relative water content is related to protoplasmic permeability (Oleinikova, 1969) and tolerance against air pollutants in plants (Achakzai et al., 2017). RWC of a plant species might increase or decrease with increasing pollution load depending upon several factors like the climate of an area, season, type of plant species, type of pollutant and the tolerance level of plant species (Sharma et al., 2017). Relative water content (RWC) is a vital physiological feature which affects transpiration rate, stomatal resistance, plant water relations, and leaf water potential (Hartmann et al., 2013) and so it is considered as a marker of plant water status that regulates metabolic activity in tissues. RWC is formed as a result of water loss by transpiration and uptake by roots (Georgii et al., 2017). Leaf water potential is important for turgor pressure, plant survival and photosynthetic processes which is closely related to cell growth and stomatal closure (Alghabari et al., 2015) and maintaining tolerance from low to moderate water stress. More RWC in plants can dilute acidity inside the leaf cell sap and also resist the drought condition in plants (Kaur and Nagpal, 2017). High water content in plants ensures the maintenance of the physiological balance under stresses condition against air pollution (Deepalakshmi et al., 2013). In particular plant species, higher content of RWC supports against drought and provides tolerance capacity (Dedio, 1975). Hence, the plants with higher RWC even under polluted conditions have been suggested as tolerant species towards air pollutants (Dhankhar et al., 2015). In the present study a plants like *Callistemon lanceolatus*, *Cinnamomum camphora*, Ficus reliogisa, Jacaranda mimosifolia and Populus euramericana measured RWC more than 80% in some polluted sites and hence these species can be considered as

more tolerant to combat air pollutants. Water is an essential requirement for plant existence and drought tolerance in plants is favored by high RWC (Swami *et al.*, 2004).

## 4.2.2.2.b RWC in gymnosperm

Likewise, RWC increased significantly (p=0.05) in all the studied gymnosperms plants (*Araucaria araucana, Cedrus deodara, Thuja orientalis,* and *Pinus roxburghii*) at all polluted sites compared to Narayantan (a less polluted site). Similar results were also observed by Deepalakshmi *et al.* (2013) among the plants growing alongside busy roadways exhibited significant reduction in relative water content. In some species at polluted sites, relative water content was reduced than those at less polluted site. High water content in the studied gymnosperms possibly helped to maintain physiological balance under pollution stressed conditions, as in the drought tolerant plants (Swami *et al.*, 2004). Tolerant plant species may have high relative water content in leaves to resist pollution in polluted sites.

#### 4.2.2.3 Leaf extract pH

### 4.2.2.3.a pH in angiosperm

In the present study the leaf extract pH of *Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus religiosa, Grevillea robusta* and *Populus euramericana* was reduced significantly (p=0.05) at most of the polluted sites than at Narayanthan, comparatively a clean site. Scholz and Reck (1977) suggested that the cell system functions well at optimum pH but in some plants when they are exposed to acidic pollutants over a long period, reduces pH level and affects normal physiological activity in the cell (Saxena and Ghose, 2013). Leaf extract pH can help in determining the susceptibility of plants to the pollution exposure like NOx and SO<sub>2</sub> (Rahul and Jain, 2014). Leaf extract pH showed a varying trend in the studied leaves of different plants exposed to same sites. In *Callistemon lanceolatus, Jacaranda mimosifolia* and *Grevillea robusta*, the leaf extract pH ranged from 3.53 to 6.76; in *Cinnamomum camphora* it ranged from 4.66 to 6.82 and in *Ficus religiosa, Grevillea robusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia* and *Populus euramericana* it ranged from 5.04 to 6.82. Higher leaf extract pH of plants, have been reported to increase their tolerance level to acidic air pollutants, especially in polluted conditions (Singh *et al.*, 1991; Govindaraju *et al.*, 2012) On the

basis of leaf extract pH in the present study, *Callistemon lanceolatus*, and *Jacaranda mimosifolia* can be considered as sensitive, *Cinnamomum camphora* as modereately tolerant and *Ficus reliogisa*, *Grevillea robusta* and *Populus euramericana* can be suggested to be tolerant species to acidic air pollutants. These tolerant species (*Ficus reliogisa*, *Grevillea robusta* and *Populus euramericana*) scored higher pH value more than 6.5 at polluted sites. High pH may enhance the efficiency of converting hexose sugar to ascorbic acid, whereas low leaf extract pH correlated with susceptibility to air pollution (Escobedo *et al.*, 2008). In the presence of an acidic pollutant, the pH of the leaves decreases and the decline is greater in sensitive species than in tolerant species (Scholz and Reck, 1997). Any alteration in cell sap pH towards the acid side in the presence of an acidic pollutant may lower the efficiency of hexose sugar conversion to ascorbic acid and the reducing action of ascorbic acid is dependent on pH. Plants show more resistant towards pollution when their pH is high (Joshi and Bist, 2016).

#### 4.2.2.3.b pH in gymnosperm

*Pinus roxburgii* exhibited a significant increase in the leaf extract pH at polluted sites than that of other studied gymnosperms trees as compared to the less polluted site, Narayanthan while other plants showed small pH changes or reductions, indicating the presence of acidic contaminations in the environment. There are several factors that affect plant tolerance. Plants with low pH values are considered as sensitive, and those of between 7 and 8 pH values are more resistant (Bakiyaraj and Ayyappan, 2014). On the basis of this *Cedrus deodara* (pH ranges from 4.1 to 5.76) can be considered to be more vulnerable, while other Gymnosperms (having pH range from 4.29 to 6.56) can be considered to be more tolerant.

#### 4.2.2.4 Ascorbic acid content (AA)

### 4.2.2.4.a Ascorbic acid in angiosperm

Ascorbic acid is an antioxidant present in high concentrations in all growing plant parts that promotes resistance to a variety of stress conditions. Ascorbic acid provides tolerance to plants by quickly interacting with superoxide, singlet oxygen, ozone, and hydrogen peroxide, therefore participating in the elimination of reactive oxygen species (ROS) generated during aerobic metabolism and exposure to certain pollutants (Sharma *et al.*, 2012; Poljsak and Rok, 2014). Ascorbic acid plays an important role in

the development and growth of plants and it is associated to a variety of physiological responses (El-Hariri, 2010). Ascorbic acid is also a well- known anti-oxidant and cellular reductant with a close and complex role in the response of plants to  $O_3$ (Conklin and Barth, 2004). Thus, plant tolerance is determined by the amount of ascorbate present in plant cellular components, which confers resistance to plants against the negative effects of oxidative pollutants. Ascorbic acid content in the studied angiosperm plants was found to be higher. Higher ascorbic acid content may act as an antioxidant and enhance tolerance of plants to unfavourable environmental conditions such as air pollution (Keller and Schwager, 1977; Lima et al, 2002). In this study Populus euramericana, mostly had high ascorbic acid content (more than 8/mg/g) in most of the studied sites. Ascorbic acid (AA) is a powerful reducing agent that drives several defence mechanisms and physiological functions. Its reducing power is proportional to concentration (Raza and Murthy, 1988). Conklin (2001) stated that ascorbic acid being a strong reducing agent is essential for cell wall formation, defense, and cell division. In other species like *Cinnamomum camphora* at Gongobu and Ficus religiosa at Banasthali scored low ascorbic acid content with low leaf extract pH value. Tanee and Albert (2013) also reported reduction in the content of ascorbic acid in plant samples collected at polluted sites when compared to less polluted site. According to them, lower ascorbic acid contents were associated with lower pH of the leaves of plant samples. A shift in cell sap pH towards the acid zone in the presence of acidic pollutants might decrease the efficiency of conversion of hexose sugar to ascorbic acid (Agrawal, 1988). Ascorbic acid content in tree leaves of Ficus religiosa, Populus euramericana, Grevillea robusta and Jacaranda mimosifolia were more at some other polluted sites than in less polluted site. Plants with a high ascorbic acid content are more resistant to stress and can protect their physiological and molecular functions even when stressed. According to Chen and Gallie (2006), ascorbic acid is the most abundant antioxidant in plants and is a major contributor to the cell redox state.

# 4.2.2.4.b Ascorbic Acid in gymnosperm

The current findings revealed that ascorbic acid concentrations in polluted areas were higher than in less polluted sites in all the investigated gymnosperms (*Araucaria araucana, Thuja orientalis, Cedrus deodara*, and *Pinus roxburghii*). The increased rate of production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) during photo-oxidation of SO<sub>2</sub> to  $SO_3$  (Chaudhary and Rao, 1997) and other pollutants may contribute to an increase in ascorbic acid. These acids have the potential to bind harmful metals in high quantities and help in defence mechanisms (Yannawar and Bhosle, 2013). Thus, the plant with high ascorbic acid level might be interpreted as a measure of its resistance to contaminants.

### 4.2.2.5 Air pollution tolerance index (APTI)

## 4.2.2.5.a APTI in angiosperm

Air pollution tolerance index (APTI) is used for screening the susceptibility of the diverse plants group growing at the different or same pollutants level (Nadgorska-Socha et al., 2017). The plants with higher APTI value are considered as a tolerant species and have been suggested for plantation to mitigate air pollution, whereas plants with lower APTI are sensitive species and have been suggested to use for bioindicator (Singh and Rao, 1983). Depending on the APTI value, Padmavathi et al. (2013) grouped the plants as sensitive (with APTI value<11), intermediate (with APTI value 12 to16) and tolerant (with APTI value  $\geq$  17). Among the plants in the present study maximum APTI value of trees Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus reliogisa, Grevillea robusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia and Populus euramericana could score between 12 and 15 at some polluted sites, hence these species can be grouped under the intermediate categories of APTI to combat the stress. Thakar and Mishra (2010) also categorized the plants in to different groups as tolerant (T), intermediate tolerant (IT), moderately tolerant (MT), and sensitive (S) on the basis of mean APTI values and standard deviation scored by the plants occurring at the same study sites. Among studied plant species Populus euramericana scored APTI tolerant (T) categories at five study sites (at Airport, Balaju, Banasthali, Dhumbarahi and Narayanthan) indicating its high tolerance to air pollutants. The tree species like Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus religiosa Grevillea robusta and Jacaranda mimosifolia showed tolerant (T) categories at only one study sites, i.e., at Dhumbarahi, Dhumbarahi, Narayanthan, Airport and Dhumbarahi, respectively. This indicated that Callistemon lanceolatuts, Cinnamomum *camphora, Ficus religiosa, Grevillea robusta* and *Jacaranda mimosifolia* are comparatively less tolerant than *Populus euramericana*.

## 4.2.2.5.b APTI in gymnosperm

Though APTI value in most of gymnosperms was found to be higher at control site, but the plants like Pinus roxburghii, Thuja orientalis, Cedrus deodara, and Araucaria araucana could survive for years against air pollution along the polluted road side at different places in the city of Kathmandu. Among the studied gymnosperms, alteration in their physiology by increasing their RWC and ascorbic acid have been found to be the strategy to survive under air pollution stressed condition. The total chlorophyll content at some polluted sites was found to be reduced but at many other polluted sites were not reduced and showed inconsistent results. These inconsistent results of total chlorophyll at polluted sites could be due to their ability to synthesize chlorophyll both in dark as well as in light (Schoefs and Bertrand, 1997), which is different than in angiosperms. This could be the reason for scoring less APTI among gymnosperms. APTI tolerant (T) categories at three study sites (at Airport, Ratnapark, Shankhpark and Balaju) and Pinus roxburghii also scored APTI tolerant at two study sites at (Airport and Dhumbarah) whereas Cedrus deodara at one site (at Jawalakhel) and, Thuja orientalis with only moderant APTI categories. Hence Araucaria araucana and Pinus roxburghii are considered to have higher tolerance to air pollutants than Cedrus deodara and Thuja orientalis. According to Padmavathi et al. (2013) APTI value less than 11 were categorized as sensitive and in the present study all the gymnosperms scored less than 9, hence according to them all studied gymnosperms fall under sensitive category. But when APTI categories were calculated according to Thakar and Mishra (2010), Araucaria araucana, Cedrus deodara and Pinus roxburghii scored up to tolerant (T) APTI category at some sites. From this it is evident that simply following Padmavathi et al. (2013) for APTI categorization may mislead the research outcome. Padmavathi et al. (2013) calculated and categorized APTI among crop plants and it is not justified to categorize the same APTI value for road side trees, as the growing conditions provided for crops and road side trees are not same.

## 4.2.3 Metal content

Both essential and non-essential heavy metals are present in environment. Among these heavy metals, the metals like Co, Cu. Cr, Fe, Mg, Mn, Mo, Ni, Se, and Zn are essential and required in very small amounts for the growth and development of plants (Alloway, 2013). These essential heavy metals play important biochemical and physiological role in plants, especially as a constituent of many cellular enzymes and actively take part in numerous oxidation-reduction reactions (Emamverdian *et al.*, 2015). Results of the metal accumulation in road side angiosperm and gymnosperm tree leave in the present study are discussed below.

### 4.2.3.1 Metal content in angiosperm leaves

### 4.2.3.1.a Zinc (Zn)

Zn is required for several biochemical processes in plants, like auxin, chlorophyll, glucose, and protein synthesis (Broadley, 2007). Among the studied road site plants Populus euramericana accumulated the highest amount of Zn (132.38 mg/kg) and ranged from 14.46 at unpolluted sites to 132.38 mg/kg at polluted site (Banasthali). Similar results for Zinc accumulation in Populus euramericana was observed in Greece (Sawidis et al., 1995) and ranged from 26.1 mg/kg at unpolluted areas to 139 mg/kg at contaminated areas which showed that plants growing in urban areas accumulated more Zn than other metals. In plants, Zn concentrations commonly range from 10 to 150 mg/kg (Padmavathiamma and Li, 2007; Hu et al., 2014) but considered at toxic level when it's concentration ranges from 300 to 400 mg/kg and differs according to the plants species. Various species of Populus have also been reported as a good accumulator of Zn by other researchers. Hermle et al. (2007) reported higher Zn concentrations in *Populus tremula* leaves than in *Salix viminalis* leaves on the calcareous subsoil, when treated with heavy metal in the laboratory using open-top chambers (OTCs) at Switzerland. Tőzsér et al. (2023) observed significantly Zn accumulation in leaves, stems and roots in poplar plants and found higher zinc metal accumulation in leaves than roots and stems.plants. Todeschini et al. (2011) reported that the movement of zinc in poplar from the soil was observed with high degree into roots and then into the above ground parts asuch as leaf. But Benyó et al. (2016) reported with low movement of zinc from soil in to roots in Populus deltoides and Populus canadensis which might be due to accumulation and

restrained of most of the metals growing in Cu/Zn multi contaminated media. Renninger *et al.* (2013) observed significantly higher Zn concentration in leaves stems, and roots, of *Populus deltoides* from highly polluted soils as comparasion to moderately and slightly contaminated ones. Fernàndez *et al.* (2012) reported a constant positive relationship between soil and tissue concentrations of Zn while testing in two poplar clones. All these study suggest *Populus* to be a good accumulator of Zn.

# 4.2.3.1.b Copper (Cu)

Copper is a vital trace element for plants. Many enzymes are affected by deficiency and excess concentrations of Cu that takes part in catalyzing oxidation- reduction reactions (Celik *et al.*, 2005; Doganlar and Atmaca, 2011). Cu concentrations from 3 to 30 mg/kg in plants are a covential range (Kabata and Pendias, 2010) but it's phytotoxic concentration in plants ranges from 20 mg/kg to 100 mg/kg (Padmavathiamma and Li, 2007). In the studied plants, Cu concentration was found to be varied from 0.89 mg/kg to 20.27 in *Populus euramericana* and *Jacaranda mimosifolia*, respectively. Maximum concentration of Cu content was noted in *Jacaranda mimosifolia* at Balaju (20.27 mg/kg). Olowoyo *et al.* (2010) evaluated Cu accumulation in *Jacaranda mimosifolia*, a common tree from ten different locations during two sampling periods in Tshwane City of South Africa, and noted Cu concentrations ranging from 68.4 to 490  $\mu$ g/g, which were comparatively more than that in present study. The possibility of Cu accumulation in plants, have been suggested to be from automobile emission (Olowoyo *et al.*, 2010) From these study it is evident that *Jacaranda mimosifolia* can be regarded as a good accumulator of Cu.

# 4.2.3.1.c Lead (Pb)

The normal or permissible concentration of Pb in trees range between from 0.1 to 5 mg/kg while it's toxic concentrations varies from 10 to 100 mg/kg (Kabata and Pendias , 2010). Pb accumulation was found to be within normal limits in all of the studied tree leaves growing along the less polluted road side while it was observed higher at polluted sites. The maximum Pb content was noticied in *Callistemon lanceolatus* (40.33 mg/kg) at Airport in the current study, and was followed by *Ficus religiosa* at various places. Tañgan (2007) studied the lead and cadmium contents in the leaves of *Callistemon viminalis* and *Ficus benjamina* grown in the polluted and unpolluted areas of Baguio City in the Philippines and showed more accumulations of

Cd and Pb in their leaves compared to the other plant species. From this it is clear that *Callistemon lanceolatus* and *Ficus religiosa* can be regarded as good accumulator of Pb.

# 4.2.3.1.d Metal accumulation index (MAI)

Metal Accumulation Index (MAI) depends upon a variety of factors such as sample height (tree), sampling time, local atmospheric chemistry, weather, and plant features (Hu et al., 2014). Plants with higher MAI values have good accumulation capacities and also regarded as tolerant species (Hu et al., 2014). In the present study plants like Populus euramericana, Jacaranda mimosifolia and Callistemon lanceolatus, which also accumulated high amount of Zn, Cu and Pb, respectively, also showed high MAI value. Hu et al. (2014) reported that MAI values in shrubs (like Sabina chinensis and Juniperus formosana) showed higher than trees (like Salix matsudana var. matsudana) and Ailanthus altissima growing in Yan'an city, China and also suggested that the shrubs have better heavy metal accumulation properties than trees while growing in polluted environments near the ground. Due to high biomass and large canopy cover, trees have been thought to be the most efficient in plant group for removing and screening pollutants from polluted air (Serbula et al., 2012; Mok et al., 2013). Large amounts of pollutants like dry aerosol particles deposited on the leaf surfaces are quickly absorbed by the plant, and get accumulated in their tissue as a result the concentrations of heavy metals increase in plants (Kleckerová and Dočekalová, 2014). Based on different metal accumulation, metal accumulation index was calculated and was compared with the micro-morphological measurements to ascertain if the hypothesis one made, i.e., 'the trees with large leaf surface area, thin cuticle and large stomatal pore, will absorb and accumulate heavy metals in leaves' was accepted or rejected. Metal accumulation index was found less (9.65) even with largest mean leaf area (137.19 cm<sup>2</sup>) in *Ficus religiosa* whereas it was found just reverse in *Callistemon lanceolatus* with smallest leaf area  $(3.83 \text{ cm}^2)$  but had the high metal accumulation index (15.16). The cuticle thickness in Callistemon lanceolatus was high (6.94 µm) but scored less metal accumulation index (15.61) whereas Cinnamomum camphora with thin cuticle (4.20 µm) scored high metal accumulation index (7.34) (Table 13. Likewise largest stomatal pore size (length-25.44  $\mu$ m and breadth-13.23 µm) in Ficus reliogisa had less metal accumulation index (9.65) where as Callistemon lanceolatus with small stomatal pore (Length-11.45 µm and Breadth-
$8.51 \ \mu m$ ) scored high metal accumulation index (15.16). Thus from above it is evident that leaf area, cuticle thickness and size of stomatal pore did not play the role in metal accumulation so the first hypothesis stated was rejected from this study.

# 4.2.3.2 Metal content in gymnosperm leaves

### 4.2.3.2.a Zinc (Zn)

Zinc is considered as a vital plant micronutrient because it is crucial for normal cell metabolism and plant growth (Dhankhar *et al.*, 2012). The highest Zn accumulation was found in *Cedrus deodara* (54.52 mg/kg) at Dhumbarahi in the current study and was within the normal range. According to Onder and Dursun (2006), the highest Zn concentrations were detected in *Cedrus libani* needles in an industrial area (Konya city), Turkey. In the present study Zn accumulations in *Thuja orientalis* at Jawlakhel (39.49 mg kg<sup>-1)</sup> were followed next highest after *Cedrus deodara*. Esfandiari *et al.* (2020) reported the maximum Zn accumulation in *Thuja orientalis* leaves was 127.46 mgkg<sup>-1</sup>at 35 m away and the minimum concentration was 15.02 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> at 170 m away from Yazd Highway green belt, Iran.

# 4.2.3.2.b Copper (Cu)

The maximum increase in Cu content was noted in *Thuja orientalis* at Airport (20.16 mg/kg) in the present study. Though the mean value of Cu content (14.15 mg/kg) was within the normal range, but at some places the concentration of Cu was found to be at phytotoxic range (Above 20 mg/kg). Esfandiari *et al.* (2020) reported the highest amount of Cu (14.78 mg/kg), in the tree leaves of *Thuja orientalis* at 35 m away from the highway and its lowest value (1.05 mg/kg) was detected in the barks of the cypress tree at a distance of 170 m away from the Yazd Highway green belt, Iran.

# 4.2.3.2.c Lead (Pb)

In the current study, Pb concentration in all the studied plants and sampling points were found to be within normal limits and were found higher at polluted sites as compared to less polluted site. *Pinus roxburghii* at Ratnapark showed the highest accumulation of Pb (8.85 mg/kg). Kord and Kord (2011) measured Pb content in the leaves of *Pinus eldarica* from Tehran City and reported the highest Pb content at highway sites (87.22 ppm) and lowest at the control site (19.74 ppm). The chemical form of Pb within the plant has critical importance and acts as a factor in movements,

translocation, and the toxic effectiveness.At local scale Pb pollution is caused by emissions from motor vehicles (Viard *et al.* 2004; Yilmaz and Zengin 2004) while vehicles using leaded gasoline emit lower value of 3 ppm which is considered as normal or natural level for plants (Allen, 1989). The close relationship between traffic intensity and lead concentrations has been studied in detail by many authors (Gromov and Emelina, 1994; Wong and Li *et al.* 2004; Viard *et al.*, 2004).

### 4.2.3.2.d Metal accumulation index (MAI)

Mean MAI value in the studied tree leaves of common gymnosperm ranged from 10.78 to 31.27. Minimum MAI was observed in *Pinus roxburghii* (4.27) at Jawlakhel and maximmun MAI was recorded in *Thuja orientalis* (75.78) at Ratnapark. Mostly MAI values were higher at polluted sites than at Narayanthan, i.e., less polluted site. The sequence of MAI means value in plant species from lower to higher were in the order- Pinus roxburghii<Araucaria araucana<Cedrus deodara<Thuja orientalis. Based on the highest mean value of MAI scored by the tree species at different study sites, it can be said that the species like *Thuja orientalis* and *Cedrus deodara* showed high heavy metal accumulation ability than the others species among gymnosperm. Evergreen conifers like *Pinus* may not be useful for removing air pollution because most of these plants keep their needles for a long period of time, so no way for recycling of accumulated pollutants Beckett et al. (2000). Esfandiari et al. (2020) reported very high metal accumulation index of 1973.16 mg/kg in Thuja orientalis leaves from Yazd urban area and was also able to absorb different heavy metals simultaneously along with very high concentrations of Fe and Mn. Coniferous trees have been suggested to be more efficient than broad-leaved trees in accumulating particulate matter (PM), which could be due to the presence of resin (Beckett et al., 1998). Needle-shaped leaves like *Pine* species provide a relatively larger surface area, with the thick epicuticular wax on leaf surfaces, enhance the capturing capacity of PM during the winter season when pollutants are at high concentration (Kaupp et al., 2000; Jouraeva et al., 2002). Dzieranowski et al. (2011) mentioned that conifers are less tolerant towards high concentrations of traffic-related pollution so they are not usually recommended for roadside plantation. Based on the metal accumulation index (which is calculated from all studied metals measured) and APTI value in both angiosperms and gymnosperms, it was observed that the metal accumulation index and APTI value in the same species differed due to differences in metal accumulation

at different polluted and less polluted sites. From this the second hypothesis was accepted, which stated that the differences in metal accumulation in the leaf of same plant species exposed at different pollution level will have different APTI value.

# 4.2.4 Correlation between SLA and metal content in leaves of angiosperm

Among the studied angiosperm tree leaves from the polluted site, Cinnamonum camphora, Callistemon lanceolatus, Populus euramerican and Jacaranda mimosifolia showed a significant negative correlation between the percentage decrease in SLA and Zn accumulation. In these plants Zn accumulation was found to be lesser than it's phytotoxic level as recommended by Chaney (1993), and reduction percentage in SLA varied from 10 to 32% in Cinnamomum camphora, 9 to 50% in Populus euramericana, 13 to 73% in Jacaranda mimosifolia, and 21 to 78% in Callistemon lanceolatus. This reduction in SLA might be due to stress situation and lack of some other vital elements in plants by which concentrations of one toxic metal increased (Sharma and Chettri, 2012). Cinnamomum camphora and Ficus religiosa, had low Cu contents but observed a significant positive relationship between the percentage decrease in SLA and Cu accumulation. Cu is needed at low concentrations for a number of physiological processes such as electron transport, mitochondrial respiration, regulatory protein structure, and oxidative stress responses (Raven et al., 1999) The percentage decrease in SLA ranged from 10-32% in Cinnamonum camphora to 25-53% in Ficus religiosa and the positive correlation was observed between them which might be due to other factors that control SLA but no toxicity of Cu. Correlation between Cu accumulation and percentage reduction in SLA was found to be a significant negative in Jacaranda mimosifolia. The highest Cu accumulation was found in Jacaranda mimosifolia in the current study, and similar results were observed in Jacaranda mimosifolia by Banu et al. (2012). The negative relationship between SLA and Cu accumulation in Jacaranda mimosifolia might be due to Cu concentrations, reaching up to at phytotoxic level (20.60 mg/kg) at contaminated sites (Padmavathiamma and Li, 2007). The significant positive correlation was observed between Pb content and percentage reduction in SLA which might be due to toxicity of Pb. Toxic concentration of Pb in trees ranges from 10 to 100 mg/kg (Kabata and Pendias , 2010). In the studied tree leaves growing along the road side, Pb concentrations reached up to 39.61 mg/kg in *Ficus religiosa*, 37.8 mg/kg in *Grevillea robusta* and 27.51 mg/kg in *Populus euramericana*, in polluted areas and these concentrations were found to be at the phytotoxic level in these plants .Toxic concentration of Pb in trees ranges from 10 to 100 mg/kg (Kabata and Pendias, 2010). As a result, Pb toxicity could be the cause of the decrease in SLA with increasing Pb concentrations.

# 4.2.5 Correlations between metal content and APTI parameters

#### 4.2.5.1 Correlations in angiosperm

Mostly the significant negative correlations were observed between RWC and all metal accumulation in most of the species, except Grevillea robusta. The excess concentrations of the heavy metals possibly affected plant water status and this might have changed RWC in the plants. The most intensive effect on the RWC of plants was observed with Cd, less intensive by Cu and Zn and the least intensive by Pb in sunflower (Kastori et al., 1992). This might be the reason for showing insignificant relation of Pb accumulation in most of the trees except Grevillea robusta. Lead accumulation in Lupinus root has been shown to enhance the degree of vacuolization in meristem cells (Przymusinski and Wozny 1985) and cortical parenchyma (Gzyl et al., 1997), suggesting that the metal had no effect on the water status of these cells. Therefore, Pb induced vacuolization in *Lupinus luteus* was correlated with high values of RWC, suggesting that water might be deposited in the vacuoles in response to metal stress (Rucińska-Sobkowiak, 2016). The response of RWC in Grevillea robusta to Pb accumulation in the present study was significantly negative, which indicates that the Pb toxicity prevailed in the leaves. From this it can be suggested that the Pb localization in the cell and its toxicity might not be same in all plants. The correlation of RWC and Cu accumulation was found to be positively significant in Grevillea *robusta*. This might be due to low concentration of Cu (below 10 mg/kg), which is an essential element and mostly not toxic below 15-20 mg/kg (Pahlsson, 1989). Correlation between AA and Zn accumulation in Jacaranda mimosifolia was significantly negative. Smith et al. (1989) reported the decrease in ascorbic acid in roots and shoots of pigeon pea with increasing concentrations of Zn. Correlation of AA content with Cu accumulation in Ficus religiosa and Pb accumulation in Jacaranda mimosifolia were significantly positive. Copper is an essential element and its maximum accumulation in Ficus religiosa was 15.28 mg/kg in less polluted site,

indicating nontoxic level of Cu accumulation in most of the sites, which might have resulted in positive correlation. Though Pb is not an essential element, but plant absorbs Pb and mostly accumulates in the cell wall as granules (Chettri *et al.*, 2000). In the present study Pb accumulation in Jacaranda mimosifolia leaves reached up to 29.79 mg/kg, and showed positive correlation with ascorbic acid, which might be due to accumulation of Pb on cell wall and not interfering with the metabolic functions. But in Cinnamomum camphora Pb accumulation and AA showed negative correlation. Tolerance capacity of plants against various air pollutants at different sites vary due to the variation in ascorbic acid content, which might be one of the factors (Aghajanzadeh et al., 2016; Agular-Silva et al., 2016). In the present study ascorbic acid content mostly increased with increase in heavy metal content to combat their toxicity which also supports the findings of other researchers (Govindaraju et al., 2012; Rai and Panda, 2014). Correlations of pH with most of the metal content in leaf were found negatively significant, except Cu content in Cinnamomum camphora. This might be be due to decrease of leaf pH value in the presence of heavy metals and an acidic pollutant (Scholz and Reck, 1977), and also suggested that the reducing rate in sensitive plants is more as compared to tolerant plant species. The positive correlation of pH with Cu content in Cinnamomum camphora is mainly due to the fact that both Cu content and leaf pH in Narayanthan is significantly high in this site than in other studied sites. Besides, the Cu is an essential elements and its content in Cinnamonum *camphora* is below the toxic level as suggested by Pahlsson (1989). Correlations between total chlorophyll and heavy metal content were negatively significantly in most cases. Heavy metals such as (Hg, Cu, Cr, Cd, and Zn) have been shown to reduce chlorophyll concentration in several plants (Aggarwal et al., 2012). This decrease in photosynthetic pigments is most likely due to the inhibition of reductive steps in biosynthesis pathways due to synthetic pigments due to high redox potential of many heavy metals (Chettri et al., 1998; Aggarwal et al., 2012) Among the studied plants, Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora and Grevillea robusta showed insignificant correlation of total chlorophyll with all metals. In the case of Cinnamomum camphora and Grevillea robusta also showed insignificant relation which might be due to less metal content as indicated by mean metal accumulation index (MAI) in them. In the case of *Callistemon lanceolatus* though the MAI value is 15.61, the accumulation of Zn and Cu is within the threshold limit and below the toxic level. Besides this Pb accumulation in leaves are up to 40 mg/kg but negative

correlation with total chlorophyll was not observed, indicating no effect of Pb on chlorophyll content. The possible reasons for this may be their localization in the cell. Ultrastructural studies have revealed that Pb is deposited mainly in the intercellular space, cell wall and vacuoles (Wierzbicka and Antosiewicz, 1993; Chettri et al., 2000) and this possibly inhibit Pb to interfere with the cell physiology. A small deposit of Pb has also been reported to be seen in the ER, dictyosomes and dictyosome derived vesicles (Wierzbicka and Antosiewicz, 1993). Correlation between APTI and Zinc content in most of the studied tree leaves were found to be negative and were significant in Callistemon lanceolatus, and Populus euramericana. Correlation of Cu content with APTI showed significant negative relation in all studied trees except Cinnamomum camphora. Pb content was also found to be significant negative correlated with APTI of Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus reliogisa, Grevillea robusta and Populus euramericana. Similarly, cumulative effect of Pb+Cu+Zn accumulation also showed significant negative correlation in *Callistemon lanceolatus*, Cinnamomum camphora, Grevillea robusta and Jacaranda mimosifolia. From these results it is evident that significant correlations of APTI with all metal content were mostly negative in all cases except with Cu content in Cinnamomum camphora. APTI is predicted on the basis of four major biochemical properties of leaves that are ascorbic acid, relative water content, total chlorophyll and leaf pH (Singh and Rao, 1983). APTI varies with these parameters because all these parameters are influenced by the increase or decrease in metal content.

### 4.2.5.2 Correlation in gymnosperm

Correlation between RWC and Zn content were found significantly positive in *Araucaria araucana* and *Pinus roxburghii*. Similarly Cu content in leaves of *Cedrus deodara, Pinus roxburghii* and *Thuja orientalis* also showed positive significant with RWC. Similarly Pb content and RWC in *Araucaria araucana* were also found to be positively significant. Generally high RWCs in most of the plants growing at polluted sites in the present study and were also reported by Rai *et al.* (2013). The significant positive relation between the metal content and RWC in above cases could be due to greater relative water content with more metal accumulation at polluted areas (Kumar *et al.*, 2019). High RWC has been suggested to be responsible for maintaining the normal physiological function at polluted sites where intake of metal is high (Kumar *et al.*, 2019; Rai *et al.*, 2013). Correlation between AA and Zn accumulation in

Araucaria araucana and Thuja orientalis was significantly positive. Similarly, correlation of AA content with Cu accumulation in *Cedrus deodara* was significantly positive. Ascorbic acid acts as an antioxidant in plants and develops the mechanism to resist against the adverse atmospheric conditions (Keller and Schwager, 1997). The metal accumulation in plants at polluted sites might have accelerated Ascorbic acid synthesis to combat against the toxicity of accumulated heavy metals, resulted increase in AA at polluted sites. Increase of both AA and metal content in plants at polluted sites could be responsible for their positive correlation. Mostly the correlation of AA with Pb content were insignificant, but was significantly positive with Araucaria. Though Pb is not an essential element, but plants absorb Pb and mostly accumulate in the cell wall as granules (Chettri et al., 2000) and possibly not interfere with the metabolic functions. Aghajanzadeh et al. (2016) reported that variation in ascorbic acid content could vary the tolerance level of the plants against different air pollutants, growing at pollutd sites. In the present study, ascorbic acid content increased mostly with increasing heavy metal content, which is consistent with the results of Rai and Panda (2014) and Govindaraju et al. (2012). Correlations of pH with most of the metal content in leaf were mostly insignificant, but only in Cedrus deodara with Cu content, and Arucaria with Pb content were positively significant. Generally the presence of heavy metals and an acidic pollutant reduces leaf pH value (Scholz and Reck, 1977), and the reducing rate is more in sensitive plants compared to that in tolerant plant species. Correlations between total chlorophyll and heavy metal content in most cases were insignificant but were found positively significantly in Cedrus deodara (with Cu) and negatively significant in Pinus roxburghii (with Pb content). Generally heavy metals such as (Hg, Cu, Cr, Cd, and Zn) have been shown to reduce chlorophyll concentration in several plants (Aggarwal et al., 2012). The positive correlation in *Cedrus* with Cu content (11.85 mg/kg) is possibly due to their normal concentrations within the range of essential elements. The negative correlation of Pinus with Pb content could be due to reduction of chlorophyll with Pb accumulation at polluted sites. Mostly positive insignificant correlation was observed between APTI and metal content but was significant in Araucaria araucana with Zn content, in Cedrus deodara with Cu content and in Araucaria araucana with Pb content. In both Araucaria araucana and Cedrus deodara, the APTI and metal content increased at polluted sites, which led to positive correlation. Along with metal accumulation the RWC in the plants also increased at

polluted sites, which must have helped to combat the toxicity of metals at polluted sites (Kumar *et al.*, 2019; Rai *et al.*, 2013).

# **CHAPTER 5**

# 5 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

# 5.1 Conclusion

From the macro and micro morphological studies it can be concluded that there is reduction of thickness of the leaf cuticle and epidermis with air pollution. The stomatal density (i.e., thenumber of stomata per unit area) increased with air pollution but the length and breadth of individual stoma decreased. The comparison of APTI parameters in angiosperm plants between polluted sites (at Airport, Balaju, Banasthali, Basundhara, Dhumbarahi, Gongbu) and less polluted (Narayanthan) revealed that the relative water content was high at most of the polluted sites, but no trend was observed for Ascorbic acid at polluted sites. The leaf extract pH and total chlorophyll levels in leaves of angiosperm plants were inconsistent at polluted sites. The APTI value was found to be increased at polluted sites among both studied gymnosperms and angiosperms plants. Based on the maximum APTI value scored by each species, the evaluated common tree species with the lowest to highest APTI value were Cinnamomum camphora>Callistemon lanceolatus>Grevillea robusta> Ficus religiosa>Jacaranda mimosifolia>Populus euramericana. As the APTI levels of these angiosperm species ranged between 12 and 16, based on Padmavathi (2013), all were categorized as intermediate or moderately tolerant. Among gymnosperms, Pinus roxburghii, Thuja orientalis, Araucaria araucana, Cedrus deodara, and Thuja orientalis had APTI values less than 11 and hence based on APTI values according to Padmavathi et al. (2013), APTI categories all these gymnosperms falls under the APTI sensitive category. But according to Thakar and Mishra's APTI categories Populus euramericana scored tolerant (T) categories at 5 sites (Airport, Balaju, Banasthali, Dhumbarahi and Narayanthan), and other species scored tolerant category atleast at one site - Callistemon lanceolatus at Dhumbarahi, Ficus religiosa at Narayanthan, Grevillea robusta at Airport and Jacaranda mimosifolia at Dhumbarahi. Tree species Populus euramericana scored tolerant (T) APTI categories in most of the sites as comparasion to others showing more tolerance than other species. In gymnosperms, relative water content and Ascorbic acid were found to be greater at polluted sites than in less polluted sites. The leaf extract pH and total chlorophyll content decreased at some of the polluted sites only. The APTI tolerant (T) category was scored in *Araucaria araucana, Cedrus deodara* and *Pinus roxburghii* among the studied gymnosperms (calculated as per Thakar and Mishra, 2010), indicating that these three species had more tolerance to air pollutants than *Thuja orientalis*, which scored APTI up to moderately tolerant (MT) only.

Based on the mean concentrations of each metal accumulation, Populus euramericana and Jacaranda mimoisifolia are identified as good accumulators of Zn, Populus euramericana, Jacaranda mimoisifolia, and Grevelliea robusta are good accumulators of Cu; Populus euramericana, Jacaranda mimoisifolia, and Grevillea robusta are good accumulators of Pb. Among gymnosperm, Cedrus deodara and Thuja orientalis are good accumulator of Zn and Cu, and Pinus roxburghii and Cedrus deodara are good accumulator of Pb. Populus euramericana, Jacaranda mimoisifolia, and Callistemon lanceolatus have been suggested as ideal plants for the roadside plantation due to their high MAI value. Despite growing in the same polluted site as others, Cinnamomum camphora, Grevillea robusta, and Ficus reliogisa obtained low MAI values, indicating a metal avoidance mechanism in them. Similarly, among gymnosperm *Thuja orientalis* and *Cedrus deodara* scored high MAI values indicating their metal accumulation ability. Hypothesis one which stated that the trees with large leaf surface area, thin cuticle and large stomatal pore, will absorb and accumulate heavy metals in leaves was rejected as the metal accumulation index was found high with low leaf surface area, thick cuticle and small stomatal pore size. Second hypothesis which stated that the differences in metal accumulation in the leaf of same plant species exposed at different pollution level will have different APTI value was accepted, as the metal accumulation index and APTI value in the same species differed due to differences in metal accumulation at different polluted and less polluted sites.

# 5.2 **Recommendations**

- 1. Both APTI and MAI of plants should be considered while developing green belt to mitigate air pollution.
- 2. More than one APTI categories need to be tested to ascertain a plant as sensitive, moderately tolerant or tolerant. Simply one APTI Categories of Padmavathi *et al.* (2013) may not be enough to ascertain pollution tolerance of a plant species growing at different sites having different level of air pollution.

- 3. The study was mainly focused at Kathmandu valley so plants like *Populus euramericana, Jacaranda mimoisifolia,* and *Callistemon lanceolatus* with high APTI and MAI value are recommended for plantation along the roadside among angiosperms.
- 4. Similarly, among studied gymnosperms *Cedrus deodara* and *Thuja orientalis* with high MAI and also tolerant to moderately tolerant value are suggested for plantation along the roadside.
- 5. Evergreen trees such as *Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Pinus roxxburghii, Cedrus deodar* and *Thuja orientalis* are recommended for plantation on roadside along with deciduous trees especially to mitigate pollution during winter season.
- 6. Further research on impact of dust accumulation on physiology, growth and metal content of road side trees is required.

# **CHAPTER 6**

# 6. Summary

Due to rapid unplanned urbanization and various infrastructure development activities over the last few decades, air pollution in Kathmandu valley is increasing rapidly. Kathmandu valley is a bowl-like structure, surrounded by mountain ranges of Phulchowki (3132 m) in the south west, Shivapuri (2713 m) in the north, Champa Devi (2400 m) in the south west, and Nagarjun (2100 m) in the west. The pollutants are trapped in the valley and the air pollution problem is further aggravated by the "thermal inversion". The overall objectives of this work was to investigate the impact of air pollution on macro and micro morphology of leaves, their physiological parameters and metal accumulation abilities of both angiosperm and gymnosperm trees. Based on these parameters, tolerant and sensitive species were identified and ultimately the tolerant species were suggested for plantation while developing green belt areas.

To fulfill these objectives leaf samples of different trees were collected from different biotopes of Kathamndu valley (Airport, Balaju, basundhara, Chabhil, Dhumbarahi, Gangabu, Samakhusi, Sankhapark, Swyambhu, Tinkune, Ratnapark, Jawlakhel, and Lainchaur) as polluted sites, and Narayanthan (Budhanilkantha) a considerably less polluted site. Fully matured leaf samples were collected in the morning from above 3m height and immediately brought to the laboratory, where they were cleaned and then analyzed for micro morphology, APTI, and metal analyses. For the macro and micromorphological study, leaf Samples of tree leaves (Callistemon lanceolatus, Celtis australis, Cinnamomum camphora, Eucalyptus globulus, Ficus elastica, Ficus religiosa, Grevillea robusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia, Populus euramericana, Prunus cerasoides) were collected from Airport, Balaju, Dhumbarah (polluted site) and Narayanthan (Less polluted site). Macro and Micro morphological characteristics like specific leaf area, stomata density, length and breadth of guard cells were measured from abaxial leaf surface, and thickness of epidermis and cuticle were measured from adaxial leaf surface by lasting impression technique. Photographs of anatomical slides were taken and the measurements were taken using Image J computer program. To evaluate APTI, common roadside leaves of trees were collected from the Airport, Balaju, Banasthali, Basundhara, Dhumbarahi, Gongbu (polluted sites) and Narayanthan areas (Less polluted site). Six angiosperm tree species were collected from polluted and less polluted sites, while four gymnosperm tree species were selected from Airport, Dhumbarahi, Jawalakhel, Ratnapark, Shankpark, area (polluted sites), and Narayanthan (Less polluted site). Air pollution tolerance index (APTI) values of the trees were calculated considering the biochemical parameters, i.e., relative water content, total leaf chlorophyll, ascorbic acid and leaf extract pH by using standard method. The biochemical parameters like Chlorophyll content, ascorbic acid and leaf extract pH of fresh leaves were measured on the same day of sample collection. For relative water content, fresh leaf weight was taken immediately after cleaning the dust from the collected leaf samples and further steps were continued later. After the subsequent measurement of RWC, Tch, AA, and leaf extract pH, APTI values of plants were calculated by using the equation of Singh and Rao (1983). Leaves of common road side trees like Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus reliogisa, Grevillea robusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia, Populus euramericana Araucaria araucana, Cedrus deodara, Pinus roxburghii, and Thuja orientiales collected from different sites were used for the measurement of heavy metal content. Representative samples of each species at each site were prepared for metal analysis. Each of the representative leaf samples were wet digested and then metal content in the filtrate was measured according to US EPA (1996) using Perkin Elmer (2380) Atmospheric Absorption Spectrometer (AAS). To evaluate the overall metal accumulation performance of the plants, the metal accumulation index (MAI) of each species was calculated according to Liu et al. (2007). The data obtained from the macro and micro morphological study was statistically analyzed by using one sample T test. Similarly, data of various biochemical parameters were statistically analysed using one-way ANOVA followed by Duncan's multiple range test. Data from biochemical measurements (for APTI) and concentrations of different heavy metals (Zn, Cu, and Pb) were again subjected to Pearson's correlations test to determine the relationship between biochemical parameters and heavy metal content.

The results of macro and micro morphological study revealed that leaf area, specific leaf area, cuticle thickness, epidermal thickness, stomatal size (i.e., length and width of guard cells) decreased at polluted sites while stomatal density increased at all polluted sites. Maximum decrease in leaf area and specific leaf area was found in *Celtis australis* and *Ficus elastica*, respectively. Maximum decrease in cuticle

thickness at polluted sites was observed in *Callistemon lanceolatus* and minimum decrease in cuticle was in *Populus euramericana*. At polluted sites, thickness of epidermis was found to be reduced in all plants and was significant (p=0.05) in *Callistemon lanceolatus, Celtis australis, Cinnamomum camphora, Eucalyptus globulus, Ficus elastica, Ficus reliogisa, Gravelliea robusta, Populus euramericana Prunus cerasoides*. The deposited pollutants might have interrupted several physiological processes resulting in a reduction in epidermal cells. Stomatal density increased significantly (p=0.05) in *Callistemon lanceolatus, Celtis australis, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus elastica, Ficus elastica, Ficus reliogisa, Graveliea robusta, Populus euramericana camphora, Ficus elastica, Ficus reliogisa, Graveliea robusta, Celtis australis, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus elastica, Ficus reliogisa, Graveliea robusta, Populus euramericana and Prunus cerasoides* at polluted sites except *Eucalyptus globulus*. The decrease in stomatal size in all plants at polluted sites may be due to a pollutant's inhibitory effect on physiological activities such as photosynthesis (Verma *et al.,* 2006). Besides this the increase in stomatal density in polluted sites is possibly to fulfill the required gas exchange for physiological processes.

To calculate APTI, four physiological parameters like AA, Tchl, pH and RWC were measured. Ascorbic acid (AA) content in the majority of the studied sites, increased than 8mg/g) in Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus religoisa, Populus (more euramericana, and Jacaranda mimosifolia, but it was low in other species like Callistemon lanceolatus and Gravillea robusta. Ascorbic acid content of Ficus religiosa, Cinnamomum camphora, Gravillea robusta, and Jacaranda mimosifolia tree leaves was found to be higher in polluted sites than in less polluted site. Similarly, ascorbic acid content was found to be lower in the leaves of gymnosperms such as Thuja orientalis, Cedrus deodara, Araucaria araucina and Pinus roxburgii than in angiosperm tree species. Plants with a high ascorbic acid content are more resistant to stress and can protect their physiological and molecular functions even when stressed. Total chlorophyll (TChl) content in the same species were reduced in some polluted sites than in Narayanthan (a less polluted site). Total chlorophyll was found to be lower in *Ficus religiosa* and *Araucaria araucana* than in less polluted site. In addition to heavy metal the total chlorophyll content in the plant leaves has been reported to be affected by soil pollution, gaseous pollutants (such as SO<sub>2</sub>), high temperatures, drought, salt stress, and daylight intensity (Keller and Schwager, 1997; Zhang et al., 2016). In contrary to this, Cinnamomum camphora, Grevillea robusta, Jacaranda mimosofolia, Populus euramericana; Callistemon lanceolatus including the leaves of gymnosperm plants *like Pinus roxburghii*, *Thuja orientalis, Cedrus deodara* had high total chlorophyll at some polluted sites than the less polluted site. Most of these heavy traffic areas had greater  $CO_2$  to enhance chlorophyll content on the one hand, and also the presence of comparatively moderate to higher Zn and Pb content in their leaves possibly helped to protect chlorophyll degradation in them (Chettri *et al.*, 1998).

The pH of leaf extracts of *Cinnamomum camphora*, *Ficus reliogisa*, *Grevillea robusta*, and *Jacaranda mimosifolia* was significantly lower (*p*=0.05) in most of the polluted sites than in Narayanthan (Less polluted site). However, leaf extracts pH in gymnosperm like *Pinus roxburghii*, *Thuja orientalis*, *Cedrus deodara*, and *Araucaria arucana*, was found to be lower in less polluted site than at polluted sites. On the basis of pH of leaf extract, *Cinnamomum camphora*, *Ficus reliogisa*, *Grevillea robusta*, and *Jacaranda mimosifolia* can be regarded sensitive to acidic air pollutants, whereas *Callistemon lanceolatus* and *Populus euramericana* and *Thuja orientalis* were found to be sensitive, whereas *Pinus roxburgii* and *Cedrus deodara* were tolerant.

Most of the studied plants showed increased relative water content (RWC) at polluted sites, but in some species it was reduced at polluted sites than that of less polluted site. RWC is probably the most appropriate measure to know the status of water in plants in terms of the physiological consequence of cellular water deficit. In the present study at less polluted site plants like Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus reliogisa, Grevillea robusta, and Populus euramericana measured low RWC than at polluted site. Similarly in gymnosperms plants like in Pinus roxburghii, Thuja orientalis, Cedrus deodara, and Araucaria arucana measured low RWC at less polluted site compared to the polluted site. RWC of a plant species might increase or decrease with increasing pollution load depending upon several factors such as local climate of an area, season, plant species type, pollutant type, and the tolerance level of plant species (Sharma et al., 2017). More RWC in plants can dilute acidity inside the leaf cell sap and also resist the drought condition in plants (Kaur and Nagpal, 2017). High water content in plants ensures the maintenance of the physiological balance under stresses condition against air pollution (Deepalakshmi et al., 2013). Hence, plants with higher RWC under polluted conditions have been suggested as tolerant to air pollutants (Dhankhar et al., 2015). In the present study,

plants like *Callistemon lanceolatus*, *Cinnamomum camphora*, *Ficus reliogisa*, *Jacaranda mimosifolia*, *Pinus roxburghii*, *Cedrus deodara*, *Araucaria arucana*, and *Thuja orientalis* measured RWC more than 80% in some polluted areas, indicating more resistant to air pollutants.

Padmavathi et al. (2013) grouped the plants as sensitive (with an APTI value of <11), intermediate (with an APTI value of 12 to 16), and tolerant (with an APTI value  $\geq$ 17). In the present study trees like *Callistemon lanceolatus*, *Cinnamomum camphora*, and *Populus* Ficus reliogisa, Grevillea robusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia, euramericana scored APTI value between 12 and 15 at some polluted sites, so these species can be grouped under the intermediate categories of APTI. Thakar and Mishra (2010) categorized the plants as tolerant (T), moderately tolerant (MT), intermediately tolerant (IT), and sensitive (S) based on the mean APTI values of a species and standard deviation scored by the same species at the same study sites. Populus euramericana scored APTI tolerant (T) category at five study sites (Airport, Balaju, Banasthali, Dhumbarahi and Narayanthan), showing a high tolerance to air pollutants at more sites as compared to other tree species whereas Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus religiosa, Grevillea robusta and Jacaranda mimosifolia scored tolerant (T) category at only one study site, i.e., at Dhumbarahi, Dhumbarahi, Narayanthan, Airport, and Dhumbarahi, respectively. This indicated that Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus religiosa, Jacaranda mimosifolia and Grevillea robusta were less tolerant than Populus euramericana. Tree species like Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus religiosa, Jacaranda mimosifolia and Grevillea robusta scored mostly moderately tolerant APTI categories at many sites indicating that they are less tolerant to air pollutants than the *Populus euramericana*. Likewise in most of the gymnosperms, higher APTI values were observed than at the less polluted site which indicated that the studied plants (like Pinus roxburghii, Thuja orientiales, Cedrus deodara, and Araucaria araucana) could survive against air pollution along the roadside in Kathmandu valley. APTI tolerant (T) category was recorded in Araucaria araucana and Pinus roxburghii among the studied gymnosperm, indicating that these species had better tolerance to air pollution than Thuja orientialis and Cedrus deodara (which scored APTI up to moderately tolerant only). Padmavathi et al. (2013) stated that APTI values less than 11 were categorized as sensitive, and in the present study, all gymnosperms scored

less than 9, therefore they were grouped into the sensitive category. But when APTI categories were calculated according to Thakar and Mishra (2010), *Araucaria araucana* and *Pinus roxburghii* scored up to tolerant (T) APTI category at most of the sites. From this it is evident that simply following Padmavathi *et al.* (2013) for APTI categorization may mislead the research outcome. Padmavathi *et al.* (2013) calculated and categorized APTI among crop plants and it is not justified to use the same APTI value for road side trees, as the growing conditions provided for crops and road side trees are not same.

Heavy metals (Zn, Cu and Pb) accumulation were measured in the leaves of road side trees, Maximum Zn accumulation in leaves were observed in high traffic areas like Airport, Balaju, Banasthali, Basundhara, Dhumbarahi, Gongbu, Shank park, Jawalakhel, Ratnapark, in the present study, which might be due to tailpipe emissions, brake and tire wear. Zinc accumulation in the leaves of Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus religiosa, and Grevillea robusta was low (23.23 mg/kg) in comparison to Populus euramericana (132.38 mg/kg). Cedrus deodara had the highest Zn accumulation among studied gymnosperm plants whereas Araucaria arucana had the lowest. In comparison to angiosperms, Zn accumulation in gymnosperms was comparatively low, which possibly is due to their thick cuticle. Zn concentrations in the leaves in the present study were below the phytotoxic level hence toxicity among roadside trees was not expected. Roadside trees like Populus euramericana, Callisatemon lanceolatus, and Cedrus deodara showed good accumulations of Zn in leaves, hence are regarded as good accumulator of Zn among the studied trees. Cu accumulation in Jacaranda mimosifolia at Balaju (Cu 20.27 mg/kg) and Ficus religiosa at Narayanthan (Cu 15.28 mg/kg) was slightly high and showed phytotoxic effect like significant reduction in total chlorophyll content. High amount of Cu accumulation in polluted sites may be related to tailpipe emissions, brake and tire wear, but in the less polluted area (Narayanthan), it may be associated to the carpet and handycraft industries, which utilize different copper-rich woollen dyes and paints. Copper accumulation in the studied gymnosperms varied from 1.48 mg/kg (in Araucaria) to 20.16 mg/kg (in *Thuja orientalis*). The mean value of Cu accumulation in all studied sites was lowest in Araucaria araucana and highest in Thuja. Copper accumulation was significantly higher in Thuja orientalis at Airport, and Pinus roxburgii at Dhumbarahi and Ratnapark.Concentrations of Pb in tree leaves ranged from 0.61 to 40.33 mg/kg in *Callistemon laneolatus* 0.83 to 32.06 mg/kg in *Cinnamomum camphora* 0.05 to 39.61mg/kg in *Ficus religiosa*, 4.97 to 37.8 mg/kg in *Grevillea robusta* 1.40 to 29.37 mg/kg in *Jacaranda mimosifolia* and 0.59 to 27.51 mg/kg in *Populus euramericana*. Lead accumulation in the leaves of *Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus religiosa, Grevillea robusta, Jacarand mimosifolia* and *Populus euramericana* were mostly found higher at polluted sites. Similarly, lead accumulation in *Thuja orientalis* at Airport and *Pinus roxburgii* at Ratnapark, was significantly higher. Pb in *Pinus roxburgii* showed higher than at less polluted site, Narayanthan. Based on the present study, it is evident that the soil and/or air of our ambient environment are not free from lead, even the Government of Nepal is importing unleaded gasoline but the remaining of the lead still exist in our surroundings.

Plants with high MAI values have good accumulation capacities and also regarded as tolerant species (Hu *et al.*, 2014). On the basis of MAI value obtained it can be said that the species like *Callistemon lancolatus, Jacaranda mimosifolia* and *Populus euramericana* have more heavy metal accumulation ability than the others and the species like *Grevillea robusta, Ficus religiosa* and *Cinnamomum camphora* among the angiosperms, and both gymnosperms (*Pinus roxburgii* and *Araucaria araucana*) had the least.

Significant negative Correlation of APTI with all metal content in all cases (except with Cu content in *Cinnamomum camphora*) indicated that when the metal accumulation is high, APTI value decreases. As APTI is determined by four biochemical parameters and all these parameters are also influenced by the increase or decrease in metal content. Though APTI values of all studied angiosperms were within intermediate range, but because of high MAI value, *Populus euramericana, Jacaranda mimoisifolia* and *Callistemon lanceolatus* have been identified as the suitable species for the plantation near the road side.Despite growing in the same polluted environment as others, *Cinnamomum camphora, Grevillea robusta*, and *Ficus reliogisa* scored less MAI values, indicating a metal avoidance mechanism in them. Based on the findings, it can be stated that both APTI and MAI should be considered while selecting plants to mitigate air pollution problem in urban areas. Similarly, based on the mean value of each metal accumulation, *Populus euramericana, Jacaranda mimosifolia*, and *Callistemon lanceolatus*, showed good

accumulation of Zn whereas *Jacaranda mimosifolia* and *Ficus reliogisa* showed good accumulation of Cu, and plants like *Callistemon lanceolatus, Ficus reliogisa* and *Grevelliea robusta* showed good accumulation of Pb. In gymnosperms *Cedrus deodara, Thuja orientalis* and *Pinus roxburgii* showed good accumulation of Zn. Copper accumulation efficiency was observed in *Cedrus deodara* and *Thuja orientalis* while Pb accumulation efficiency was good in *Pinus roxburgii* and *Cedrus deodara*. On the basis of this study, to mitigate air pollution problem and reduce toxic heavy metals from the air, it is recommended to establish green belt having diversity of plant species (mixing both angiosperms and gymnosperms) with high metal accumulation ability, rather than to grow a single species. Thus near the road, monocultures of any one tree species or only deciduous trees should be avoided or supplemented by introducing other tolerant and good accumulator species.

#### REFERENCES

- Abbasi, S., Hosseini, S.M., Khorasani, N., & Karbassi, A. (2018). Response of the Morphological Traits of Elm (*Ulmus minor* 'Ubraculifera') Leaves to Air Pollution in Urban Areas. *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research*, 16(4): 4955-4968. doi:10.15666/aeer/1604 -49554968
- Abdulmoniem, M.A. (2011). Effects of Auto-exhaust Pollution on the Micro morphology and Leaf Epidermal Features of Ornamental Plants in Khartoum, Sudan. *Journal of Applied Sciences Research*, 7(3): 270-273.
- Achakzai, K., Khalid, S., Adrees, M., Bibi, A., Ali, S., Nawaz, R., & Rizwan, M. (2017). Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Plants around Brick Kilns in Rawalpindi, Pakistan. *Journal of Environmental Management*, **190**: 252-258. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2016.12.072
- Adrees, M., Ali, S., Rizwan, M., Ibrahim, M., Abbas, F., & Farid, M. (2015). The Effect of Excess Copper on Growth and Physiology of Important Food Crops: A review. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, **22**(11): 8148-8162. doi:10.1007/s11356-015-4496-5
- Adriano, D.C. (2001). Trace Elements Interrestrial Environments. *Biochemistry*, **40**(1): 1-2.
- Agbaire, P.O. & Esiefarienrhe, E. (2009). Air Pollution Tolerance Indices of Some Plants Around Otorogun Gas Plant in Delta State, Nigeria. *Journal of Applied Sciences and Environmental Management*, **13**(1): 11-14. doi:10.4314/jasem. v13i1.55251
- Aggarwal, A., Sharma, I., Tripati, B.N., Munjal, A.K., Baunthiyal, M., & Sharma, V. (2012). Metal Toxicity and Photosynthesis. In *Photosynthesis: Overviewson Recent Progress and Future Perspectives* (1<sup>st</sup> ed), pp. 229-236. New Delhi: IK International Publishing House Pvt. Ltd.
- Aggarwal, P. (2000). The Effect of Auto-exhaust Pollution on Leaf Surface of Cassia siamea (L.), a Road Side Tree. Acta Ecologica, 22(2): 101-106.
- Aghajanzadeh, T., Hawkesford, M.J., & De Kok, L.J. (2016). Atmospheric H<sub>2</sub>S and SO<sub>2</sub> as Sulfur Sources for *Brassica juncea* and *Brassica rapa*: Regulation of sulfur uptake and assimilation. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, **124**:1-10. doi:10.1016/j.envexpbot.2015.12.001

- Agrawal, A.L. (1988). Air Pollution Control Studies and Impact Assessment of Stack and Fugitive Emissions from CCI Akaltara Cement Factory (Project Report, project sponsored by M/S CCI Akaltara Cement Factory). Nagpur, India: NEERI.
- Agrawal, M., Singh, B., Rajput, M., Marshall, F., & Bell, J.N.B. (2003). Effect of Air Pollution on Periurban Agriculture: A case study. *Environmental Pollution*, 126(3): 323-329. doi:10.1016/S0269-7491(03) 00245-8
- Agrawal, S., & Tiwari, S.L. (1997). Susceptibility level of Few plants on the basis of Air Pollution Tolerance Index. *Indian Forester*, **123**: 319-322.
- Aguiar-Silva, C., Brandão, S.E., Domingos, M., & Bulbovas, P. (2016). Antioxidant Responses of Atlantic Forest Native Tree Species as Indicators of Increasing Tolerance to Oxidative Stress when they are exposed to Air pollutants and Seasonal Tropical Climate. *Ecological Indicators*, 63: 154-164.
- Ahmad, S.H., Reshi, Z., Ahmad, J., & Iqbal, M.Z. (2005). Morpho-anatomical Responses of *Trigonella foenum* Graecum Linn. to Induced Cadmium and Lead Stress. *Journal of Plant Biology*, 48(1), 64-84. doi:10.1007/BF03030566
- Ahsan, N., Lee, D.G., Lee, S.H., Kang, K.Y., Lee, J.J., Kim, P.J., & Lee, B.H. (2007).
  Excess Copper Induced Physiological and Proteomic Changes in Germinating Rice Seeds. *Chemosphere*, 67(6): 1182 - 1193. doi: 10.1016/j. chemosphere. 2006.10.075
- Akilan, M., & Nandhakumar, S. (2016). Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Selected Plants in Industrial and Urban Areas of Vellore District. Agricultureal. *Science Digest*, **36**(1): 66-68.
- Aksoy, A., Şahin, U., & Duman, F. (2000). Robinia pseudo-acacia L. As a Posssible Biomonitor of Heavy Metal Pollution in Kayseri. Turkish Journal of Botany, 24(5): 279-284.
- Al-Alawi, M.M., & Mandiwana, K.L. (2007). The Use of Aleppo Pine Needles as a Bio-monitor of Heavy Metals in the Atmosphere. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, **148**(1-2): 43-46. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.02.001
- Alghabari, F., Ihsan, M.Z., Hussain, S., Aishia, G., & Daur, I. (2015). Effect of Rht Alleles on Wheat Grain Yield and Quality Under High Temperature and Drought Stress during Booting and Anthesis. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.*, 22, 15506-15515.

- Allen, L.H., Boote, K.J., Jones, J.W., Jones, P.H., Valle, R.R., & Acock, B. (1987).
  Response of Vegetation to Rising Carbon Dioxide Photosynthesis, Biomass and Seed Yield of Soybeans. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 1(1): 1-14. doi:10.1029/GB001i001p00001
- Allen, S.E. (1989). Chemical Analysis of Ecological Materials (2<sup>nd</sup> ed). London: Blackwell Scientific Publications.
- Alloway, B.J. (2013). Heavy Metals and Metalloids as Micronutrients for Plants and Animals. In *Heavy Metals in Soils* (pp. 195-209). doi:10.1007/978-94-007-4470-7-7 (Whiteknights. Berlin: Springer).
- Alves, E.S., Tresmondi, F., & Longui, E.L. (2008). Leaf Anatomy of Eugenia uniflora L. (Myrtaceae) in Urban and Rural Environments, São Paulo State, Brazil. Acta Botânica Brasilica, 22(1): 241-248. doi:10.1590/S0102-33062008000100023
- Amini, F., Fattah, R.N., & Askary, M.M. (2016). Anatomical Study of the Air Pollution Effect on Robinia pseudoacacia and Ailanthus altisima Leaves Near to Iran Aluminum Co. (IRALCO).
- Amulya, L., Kumar, N.K.H., & Jagannath, S. (2015). Air Pollution Impact on Micromorphological and Biochemical Response of *Tabernaemontana divaricata* L. (Gentianales: Apocynaceae) and *Hamelia patens* Jacq. (Gentianales: Rubiaceae). *Brazilian Journal of Biological Sciences*, 2(4): 287-294.
- André, O., Vollenweider, P., & Günthardt-Goerg, M.S. (2006). 'Foliage Response to Heavy Metal Contamination in Sycamore Maple (*Acer pseudoplatanus* L.).' For. Snow Landsc. Res, 80(3): 275-288.
- Antonovics, J., Bradshaw, A.O., & Turner, R.O. (1971). Heavy Metal Tolerance in Plants. Ado. Ecol. res. International Journal of Advances in Engineering and Technology, 7. Retrieved from 1-85.ad side perennial trees of Indore city (M.P.), 1727-1734.
- Apriyantono, A., Fardiaz, D., Puspitasari, N.L., Sedarnawati, & Budiyanto, S. (1989). Analisis Pangan. PAU Pangan dan Gizi. IPB Press.
- Armstrong, G.A. (1998). Greening in the dark: Light-independent Chlorophyll Biosynthesis from Anoxygenic Photosynthetic Bacteria to Gymnosperms.

*Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B*, **43**(2): 87-100. doi:10.1016/S1011-1344(98) 00063-3

- Arriaga, M.O., Stampacchio, M.L., & Pepi, M.G.F. (2014). Use of Epidermal Characters as Bioindicators of Environmental Pollution. *Multequina*, 23: 41-53.
- Aryal Bhandari, A., Gautam, R., & Bhandari, S. (2015). Knowledge and Practice on Prevention of Respiratory Health Problems among Traffic Police in Kathmandu, Nepal. International scholarly research notices, 2015.
- Babapour, Z., Shafiebanaj, A., & Seyyedi, N. (2014). The Effect of Air Pollution on the Maximum Width and Leaf Area of Acer negundo. In The second national conference onforest science. Tehran: Forestry Students Association of Tehran University. 6 p. (in Persian).
- Bajaj, K.L., & Kaur, G. (1981). Spectrophotometric Determination of L. Ascorbic
  Acid in Vegetables and Fruits. *Analyst*, **106**(1258): 117-120.
  doi:10.1039/an9810 600117
- Baker, A.J., & Brooks, R. (1989). Terrestrial Higher Plants which Hyperaccumulate Metallic Elements: A Review of Their Distribution, Ecology and Phytochemistry. *Biorecovery*, 1(2): 81-126.
- Baker, A.J.M. (1981). Accumulators and Excluers-strategies in Response of Plants to Heavy Metals. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 3(1-4), 643-654. doi:10.1080/019041 68109362867
- Baker, E.A., & Hunt, G.M. (1986). Erosion of Waxes from Leaf Surfaces by Stimulated Acid Rain. New Phytologist, 102(1): 161-173. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.1986. tb00807.x
- Bakiyaraj, R., & Ayyappan, D. (2014). Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Some Terrestrial Plants around an Industrial Area. *International Journal of Modern Research and Reviews*, 2(1): 1-7.
- Balasooriya, B.L.W.K., Samson, R., Mbikwa, F., Vitharana, U.W.A., Boeckx, P., & Van Meirvenne, M. (2009). Biomonitoring of Urban Habitat Quality by Anatomical and Chemical Leaf characteristics. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 65(2-3): 386-394. doi:10.1016/j.envexpbot.2008.11.009

- Balasubramanian, A., Prasath, C.N., Gobalakrishnan, K., & Radhakrishnan, S. (2018).
  Air Pollution Tolerance Index (APTI) Assessment in Tree Species of Coimbatore Urban City, Tamil Nadu, India. *International Journal of Environment and Climate Change*, 8(1): 27-38.
- Banu Doganlar, Z., Doganlar, O., Erdogan, S., & Onal, Y. (2012). Heavy Metal Pollution and Physiological Changes in The Leaves of Some Shrub, Palm and Tree Species in Urban Areas of Adana, Turkey. Chemical Speciation & Bioavailability, 24(2), 65-78.
- Bansal, S. (1988). Studies on the Effect of Certain Atmospheric Pollutants on Fruit Diseases of Lycopersicon esculentum Mill. caused by Alternaria alternate, PhD Thesis, Bhopal, India: Bhopal University.
- Bargagli, R. (1998). Trace Elements in Terrestrial Plants: Anecophysiological Approach to Biomonitoring and Biorecovery. Berlin, Heidelberg, NY: Springer-Verlag.
- Barman, S.C., Kisku, G.C., & Bhargava, S.K. (1999). Accumulation of Heavy Metals in Vegetables, Pulse and Wheat grown in Fly Ash Amended Soil. *Journal of Environment Biology*, 20: 15-18.
- Barnes, J.D., Balaguer, L., Manrique, E., Elvira, S., & Davison, A.W. (1992). A Reappraisal of the use of DMSO for the Extraction and Determination of Chlorophylls a and b in Lichens and Higher Plants. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, **32**(2): 85-100. doi:10.1016/0098-8472(92) 90034-Y
- Barrs, H.D., & Weatherley, P.E. (1962). A Re-examination of the Relative Turgidity Technique for Estimating Water Deficits in Leaves. *Australian Journal of Biological Sciences*, **15**(3): 413-428. doi:10.1071/BI9620413
- Baslar, S., Kula, İ., Dogan, Y., Yildiz, D., & Ay, G. (2009). A Study of Trace Element Contents in Plants Growing at Honaz Dagi-Denizli, Turkey. *Ekoloji*, 18(72): 1-7. doi:10.5053/ekoloji.2009.721
- Bassin, S., Werner, R.A., Sörgel, K., Volk, M., Buchmann, N., & Fuhrer, J. (2009). Effects of Combined Ozone and Nitrogen Deposition on the *In situ* Properties of Eleven Key Plant Species of a Subalpine Pasture. *Oecologia*, **158**(4): 747-756. doi:10.1007/s00442-008-1191-y

- Baycu, G., Tolunay, D., Özden, H., & Günebakan, S. (2006). Ecophysiological and Seasonal Variation in Cd, Pb, Zn, and Ni Concentrations In The Leaves of Urban Deciduous Trees in Istanbul. *Environmental Pollution*, **143**(3): 545-554. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2005.10.050
- Beckett, K.P., Freer Smith, P.H., & Taylor, G. (2000). Effective Tree Species for Local Air Quality Management. Arboricultural Journal, 26(1): 12-19.
- Beckett, K.P., Freer-Smith, P.H., & Taylor, G. (1998). Urban Woodlands: Their Role in Reducing The Effects of Particulate Pollution. *Environmental Pollution*, 99(3): 347-360. doi:10.1016/s0269-7491(98) 00016-5
- Beelen, R., Raaschou-Nielsen, O., Stafoggia, M., Andersen, Z.J., Weinmayr, G., Hoffmann, B., & Hoek, G. (2014). Effects of Long-Term Exposure to Air Pollution on Natural-Cause Mortality: An analysis of 22 European cohorts within the multi-center Escape project. *Lancet*, **383**(9919): 785-795. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13) 62158-3
- Beg, M.U., Bhargava, S.K., Kidwai, M.M., & Lal, M.M. (1990). Performance of Trees Around a Thermal Power Station. *Environment and Ecology*, 8(3): 791-797.
- Bentayeb, M., Wagner, V., Stempfelet, M., Zins, M., Goldberg, M., Pascal, M., & Lefranc, A. (2015). Association between Long-term Exposure to Air Pollution and Mortality in France: A 25-year follow-up study. Environment international, 85, 5-14.
- Benyó, D., Horváth, E., Németh, E., Leviczky, T., Takács, K., Lehotai, N., & Gallé,
  Á. (2016). Physiological and Molecular Responses to Heavy Metal Stresses
  Suggest Different Detoxification Mechanism of *Populus deltoids* and *P. Canadensis. Journal of Plant Physiology*, 201: 62-70. doi:10.1016/j.jplph.
  2016.05.025
- Bertin, N., & Gary, C. (1998). Short and Long Term Fluctuations of The Leaf Mass Per Area of Tomato Plants Implications for Growth Models. *Annals of Botany*, 82(1): 71-81. doi:10.1006/anbo.1998.0647
- Bhardwaj, P., Naja, M., Rupakheti, M., Lupascu, A., Mues, A., & Panday, A.K. (2018). Variations in Surface Ozone and Carbon Monoxide in The Kathmandu

Valley and Surrounding Broader Regions During Suskat-ABC Field Campaign: Role of Local and Regional Sources. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, **18**(16): 11949-11971. doi:10.5194/acp-18-11949- 2018

- Bharti, S.K., Trivedi, A., & Kumar, N. (2018). Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Plants Growing Near an Industrial Site. Urban Climate, 24: 820-829. doi:10.1016/j.uclim.2017.10.007
- Bhattacharya, T., Kriplani, L., & Chakraborty, S. (2013). Seasonal Variation in Air Tolerance Index of Various Plant Species of Baroda City. Universal Journal of Environmental Research and Technology, 3(2): 199-208.
- Biemond, H., Vos, J., & Struik, P.C. (1995). Effects of Nitrogen on Development and Growth of The Leaves of Vegetables. 1. Appearance, Expansion Growth and Life Span of Leaves of Brussels Sprouts Plants. *Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science*, **43**(2): 217-232. doi:10.18174/njas.v43i2.578
- Bilal, M., Nichol, J.E., Nazeer, M., Shi, Y., Wang, L., Kumar, K.R., & Lolli, S. (2019). Characteristics of Fine Particulate Matter (PM2.5) Over Urban, Suburban, and Rural Areas of Hong Kong. *Atmosphere*, **10**(9): 496.
- Bora, M., & Joshi, N. (2014). A Study on Variation in Biochemical Aspects of Different Tree Species with Tolerance and Performance Index. *BioScan*, 9(1): 59-63.
- Bosco, M.L., Varrica, D., & Dongarrà, G. (2005). Case Study: Inorganic Pollutants Associated With Particulate Matter From An Area Near A Petrochemical Plant. *Environmental Research*, **99**(1): 18-30. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2004.09.011
- Bouazizi, H., Jouili, H., Geitmann, A., & El Ferjani, E. (2010). Copper Toxicity in Expanding Leaves of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L.: Antioxidant Enzyme Response and Nutrient Element Uptake. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, **73**(6): 1304-1308. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2010.05.014
- Broadley, M.R., White, P.J., Hammond, J.P., Zelko, I., & Lux, A. (2007). Zinc in Plants. *New Phytologist*, **173**(4): 677-702. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2007.01996. x

- Burkhardt, J. (2010). Hygroscopic Particles on Leaves: Nutrients or Desiccants?. *Ecological Monographs*, 80(3): 369-399. doi:10.1890/09-1988.1 Monogr.
- Cakmak, I. (2000). Tansley Review No. 111: Possible Roles of Zinc in Protecting Plant Cells from Damage by Reactive Oxygen Species. *New Phytologist*, 146(2): 185-205. doi:10.1046/j.1469-8137.2000.00630.x
- Carreras, H.A., Cañas, M.S., & Pignata, M.L. (1996). Differences in Responses To Urban Air Pollutants by Ligustrum Ait. *Environmental Pollution*, **93**(2): 211-218. doi:10.1016/0269-7491(96) 00014-0
- Celik, A., Kartal, A.A., Akdoğan, A., & Kaska, Y. (2005). Determining The Heavy Metal Pollution in Denizli (Turkey) by using *Robinio pseudo-acacia* L. *Environment International*, **31**(1): 105-112. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2004.07.004
- Cesaroni, G., Badaloni, C., Gariazzo, C., Stafoggia, M., Sozzi, R., Davoli, M., & Forastiere, F. (2013). Longterm Exposure to Urban Air Pollution and Mortality in a Cohort of More than a Million Adults in Rome. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, **121**(3): 324-331. doi:10.1289/ehp.1205862
- Chandawat, D.K., Verma, P.U., & Solanki, H.A. (2011). Air Pollution Tolerance Index (APTI) of Tree Species at Cross Road of Ahmedabad City. *Life Sciences Leaflets*, 20: 935-943.
- Chaney, R.Á. (1993). Zinc phytotoxicity. In Zinc in Soils and Plants: Proceedings of the International Symposium on 'Zinc in Soils and Plants' held at The University of Western Australia, 27–28 September, 1993 (pp. 135-150). Dordrecht: Springer, Netherlands.
- Chapman, H.D., & Pratt, P.F. (1961). *Methods of Analysis for Soils, Plants and Water*. Berkeley, CA: University California.
- Chatterjee, J., & Chatterjee, C. (2000). Phytotoxicity of Cobalt, Chromium and copper in Cauliflower. *Environmental Pollution*, **109**(1): 69-74. doi:10.1016/s0269-7491(99) 00238-9
- Chaturvedi, D.K., & Shashank, S. (2015). An Experimental Study and Verification of the Facts Related to Factors Affecting the Performance of Solar PV Systems.
   Proceedings of Fifth International Conference on Communication Systems and

Network Technologies. Gwalior (India), 4-6 April. pp. 1185-1188. DOI: 10.1109/CSNT.2015.186

- Chaturvedi, R.K., Prasad, S., Rana, S., Obaidullah, S.M., Pandey, V., & Singh, H. (2013). Effect of Dust Load on the Leaf Attributes of the Tree Species Growing Along the Roadside. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 185(1): 383-391. doi:10.1007/s10661-012-2560-x
- Chaudhary, C.S., & Rao, D.N. (1977). Study of Some Factors in Plants Controlling Their Susceptibility to Sulphur Dioxide Pollution. *Proceedings of the Ind. Natl Sci. Acad. Part* B., **46**: 236-241.
- Chaudhry, S. & Panwar, J. (2016). Evaluation of Air Pollution Status and Anticipated Performance Index of Some Tree Species for Green Belt Development in the Holy City of Kurukshetra, India. *International Journal for Innovative Research in Science & Technology*, 2(9): 269-277.
- Chauhan, A., & Joshi, P.C. (2008). Effect of Ambient Air Pollution on Photosynthetic Pigments on Some Selected Trees in Urban Area. *Ecology, Environment and Conservation*, 14(4): 23-27.
- Chauhan, R., Shrestha, A., & Khanal, D. (2021). Noise Pollution and Effectiveness of Policy Interventions for its Control in Kathmandu, Nepal. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, **28**(27): 35678-35689. doi:10.1007/s11356-021-13236-7
- Chen, B., Xu, Y.L., & Qu, W.L. (2005). Evaluation of Atmospheric Corrosion Damage to Steel Space Structures in Coastal Areas. *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, **42**(16-17): 4673-4694 DOI:10.1016/j.ijsolstr.2005.02.004
- Chen, Y., Wang, Y., Wu, W., Lin, Q., & Xue, S. (2006). Impacts of Chelate-assisted Phytoremediation on Microbial Community Composition in the Rhizosphere of A Copper Accumulator and Non-Accumulator. *Science of the Total Environment*, **356**(1-3): 247-255. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2005.04.028
- Chen, Y.L., Yao, Z.M., Sun, Y., Wang, E.Z., Tian, C.J., Sun, Y. (2022). Current Studies of the Effects of Drought Stress on Root Exudates snd Rhizosphere Microbiomes of Crop Plant Species. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 23(4): 11. doi:10.3390/ijms23042374

- Chen, Z., & Gallie, D.R. (2006). Dehydro Ascorbate Reductase Affects Leaf Growth, Development and Function. *Plant Physiology*, **142**(2): 775-787. doi:10.1104/ pp.106.085506
- Chettri, M.K., Cook, C.M., Vardaka, E., Sawidis, T., & Lanaras, T. (1998). The Effect of Cu, Zn and Pb on the Chlorophyll Content of the Lichens *Cladonia convoluta* and *Cladonia rangiformis*. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, **39**(1): 1-10. doi:10.1016/S0098-8472(97) 00024-5
- Chettri, M.K., Sawidis, T., & Chmielewka, E.W. (2000). Localization of Heavy Metals in *Lichen thalli*: An Ultrastructural Approach. Macedonia, (Greece) *Biosphere*, **5**: 61-75.
- Choi, J., Pak, C., & Lee, C.W. (1996). Micronutrient Toxicity in French Marigold. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, **19**(6): 901-916. doi:10.1080/01904169609365169
- Chouhan, A., Iqbal, S., Maheshwari, R.S., & Bafna, A. (2012). Study of Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Plants Growing in Pithampur Industrial Area Sector 1, 2 and 3. *Research Journal of Recent Sciences*, 1: 172-177.
- Chuwah, C., van Noije, T., van Vuuren, D.P., Stehfest, E., & Hazeleger, W. (2015).
  Global Impacts of Surface Ozone Changes on Crop Yields and Land Use. *Atmospheric Environment*, 106: 11-23. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2015.01.062
- Cicek, A., & Koparal, A.S. (2004). Accumulation of Sulfur and Heavy Metals in Soil and Tree Leaves Sampled from the Surroundings of Tuncbilek Thermal Power Plant. *Chemosphere*, **57**(8): 1031-1036. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2004.07.038
- Clemens, S. (2001). Molecular Mechanisms of Plant Metal Tolerance and Homeostasis. *Planta*, **212**(4): 475-486. doi:10.1007/s004250000458
- Cohen, A.J., Brauer, M., Burnett, R., Anderson, H.R., Frostad, J., Estep, K. (2017). Estimates and 25-year trends of the global burden of disease attributable to ambient air pollution: An analysis of data from the Global Burden of Diseases Study 2015. *Lancet*, 389(10082), 1907-1918. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17) 30505-6
- Cohen, A.J., Ross Anderson, H.R., Ostro, B., Pandey, K.D., Krzyzanowski, M., & Künzli, N. (2005). The Globalburden of Disease Due to Outdoor Air Pollution.

Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health. Part A, **68**(13-14): 1301-1307. doi:10.1080/15287390590936166

- Conklin, P.L. (2001). Recent Advances in the Role and Biosynthesis of Ascorbic Acid in Plants. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, **24**(4): 383-394. doi:10.1046/j.1365-3040.2001.00686.x
- Conklin, P.L., & Barth, C. (2004). Ascorbic Acid, A Familiar Small Molecule Intertwined in the Response of Plants to Ozone, Pathogens, and the on set of Senescence. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, **27**(8): 959-970.
- Cottenie, A., Dhase, A., & Camerlynck. (1976). Plant Quality Response to the Uptake of Polluting Elements. *Qualitas Plantarum*, **26**: 293-319.
- CPCB. (2007). Phytoremediation of Particulate Matter from Ambient Environment through Dust Capturing Plant Species. Delhi, India: Central Pollution Control Board.
- Darrall, N.M., & Jäger, H.J. (1984). Biochemical Diagnostic Tests for the Effect of Air Pollution on plants. In G. Air (Ed.), *Pollutants and Plant Metabolism* (pp. 333-349). London Boston, Durban, Singapore-Sydney-Toronto, Wellington: Butterworths.
- Day, M.E., Greenwood, M.S., & White, A.S. (2001). Age-Related Changes in Foliar Morphology and Physiology in Red Spruce and their Influence on Declining Photosynthetic Rates and Productivity with Tree Age. *Tree Physiology*, 21(16): 1195-1204. doi:10.1093/treephys/21.16.1195
- De Vries, W., Dobbertin, M.H., Solberg, S., Van Dobben, H.F., & Schaub, M. (2014). Impacts of Acid Deposition, Ozone Exposure and Weather Conditions on Forest Ecosystems in Europe: An Overview. *Plant and Soil*, **380**: 1-45.
- Dedio, W. (1975). Water Relations in Wheat Leaves as Screening Test for Drought Resistance. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, **55**(2): 369-378. doi:10.4141/cjps75-059
- Deepalakshmi, A.P.D., Ramakrishnaiah, H., Ramachandra, Y.L., & Radhika, R.N. (2013). Roadside Plants as Bio-Indicators of Urban Air Pollution. *IOSR Journal* of Environmental Science, Toxicology and Food Technology, 3(3): 10-14. doi:10.9790/2402-0331014

- Demirevska-Kepova, K., Simova-Stoilova, L., Stoyanova, Z., Hölzer, R., & Feller, U. (2004). Biochemical Changes in Barely Plants After Excessive Supply of copper and Manganese. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, **52**(3): 253266.doi:10.1016/j. envexpbot. 2004.02.004
- Dhankhar, R., Mor, V., Lilly, S., Chopra, K., & Khokhar, A. (2015). Evaluation of Anticipated Performance Index of Some Tree Species of Rohtak City, Haryana, India. *International Journal of Recent Scientific Research*, 6(3): 2890-2896.
- Dhankhar, R., Sainger, P.A., & Sainger, M. (2012). Phytoextraction of Zinc: Physiological and Molecular Mechanism. *Soil and Sediment Contamination*, 21(1): 115-133. doi:10.1080/15320383.2012.636983
- Dhyani, S., Devkota, A., Shrestha, S., Devi, S., & Jha, P.K. (2019). Biomonotoring of Dust Pollution of Road Side of Kathmandu Valley Using Air Pollution Tolerance Index (APTI) oct. *Environmental Research*, 7(1): 001009. Retrieved fromhttp: //www. Science being journal.com
- Dineva, S.B. (2004). Comparative Studies of the Leaf Morphology and Structure of White Ash *Fraxinus americana* L. and London plane tree *Platanus acerifolia* Willd. growing in polluted area. *Dendrobiology*, **52:** 3-8.
- Doğanlar, Z.B., & Atmaca, M. (2011). Influence of Airborne Pollution on Cd, Zn, Pb,
  Cu and Al Accumulation and Physiological Parameters af Plant Leaves in
  Antakya (Turkey). Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 214(1-4): 509-523.
  doi:10.1007/s11270-010-0442-9
- DOH service. (2014).Retrieved from http:// dohs. gov. np/ wp -content /uploads/2014/04/Annual Report 2070. Ministry of Health and Population.
  Department of Health Services, Annual Report 2070/71(2013/14). Kathmandu: Department of Health Services, 71.pdf. doi:10.1016/j.ijsolstr.2005.02.004
- DoTM. (2017). Vehicle Registered in Bagmati Zone in FiscalYear 072-73, available at: https://www.dotm.gov.np/en/vehicle-registration-record/ (lastaccess:15June 2019).
- Dzierżanowski, K., Popek, R., Gawrońska, H., Sæbø, A., & Gawroński, S. W. (2011). Deposition of Particulate Matter of Different Size Fractions on Leaf Surfaces

and In Waxes of Urban Forest Species. International journal of phytoremediation, **13**(10), 1037-1046.

- Ebbs, S.D., & Kochian, L.V. (1997). Toxicity of Zinc and Copper to Brassica Species: Implications for Phytoremediation. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 26(3): 776-781. doi:10.2134/jeq1997.00472425002600030026x
- Eisele, J.F., Fäßler, F., Bürgel, P.F., & Chaban, C. (2016). A Rapid and Simple Method for Microscopy Based Stomata Analyses. *PLOSONE*, **11**(10): 0164576.doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0164576
- El Hariri D.M., Sadak M.S.& El-Bassiouny H.M.S. (2010). Response of Flax Cultivars to Ascorbic Acid and A-Tocopherol Under Salinity Stress Conditions. International Journal of Academic Research 2(6): 101-109.
- El-Khatib, A., Al-Sayed, K.N., & Youssef, N. (2011). Bio-Monitoring of Airborne Dust Particles Pollutants by Morpho-Anatomical Reactions of Urban Tree Leaves Under Dry Climate. *Egyptian Journal of Botany*, **51**(1): 1-12.
- Emamverdian, A., Ding, Y., Mokhberdoran, F., & Xie, Y. (2015). Heavy Metal Stress and Some Mechanisms of Plant Defense Response. *The Scientific World Journal*. doi:10.1155/2015/756120
- England, J.R., & Attiwill, P.M. (2006). Changes in Leaf Morphology and Anatomy with Tree Age and Height in the Broadleaved Evergreen Species, Eucalyptus regnans F. Muell. *Trees*, **20**(1): 79-90. doi:10.1007/s00468-005-0015-5
- Escobedo, F.J., Wagner, J.E., Nowak, D.J., De la Maza, C.L., Rodriguez, M., & Crane, D.E. (2008). Analyzing the Cost Effectiveness of Santiago, Chile's Policy of Using Urban Forests to Improve Air Quality. *Journal of Environmental Management*, **86**(1): 148-157.
- Esfandiari, M., Sodaiezadeh, H., & Ardakani, H. (2020). Assessment of Heavy Metals in Cypress (*Thuja Orientalis* L.) In The Yazd Highway Green Belt. *Desert*, 25(1): 15-23.
- Evans, J., & Poorter, H.J.P.C. (2001). Photosynthetic Acclimation of Plants to Growth Irradiance: The Relative Importance of Specific Leaf Area and Nitrogen

Partitioning in Maximizing Carbon Gain. *Plant Cell & Environment*, **24**(8): 755-767.

- Falster, D.S., Duursma, R.A., & FitzJohn, R.G. (2018). How Functional Traits Influence Plant Growth and Shade Tolerance Across the Life Cycle. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **115**(29): E6789-E6798. doi:10.1073/pnas.1714044115
- Felzer, B.S., Cronin, T., Reilly, J.M., Melillo, J.M., & Wang, X. (2007). Impacts of Ozone on Trees and Crops. *Comptes Rendus Geoscience*, **339**(11-12): 784-798.
- Fernàndez, J., Zacchini, M., & Fleck, I. (2012). Photosynthetic and Growth Responses of Populus Clones Eridano and I-214 Submitted to Elevated Zn Concentrations. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, **123**: 77-86. doi.org/10. 1016/j.gexplo.2012.01.010
- Fontes, R.L.F., & Cox, F.R. (1998). Zinc Toxicity in Soybean Grown at High Iron Concentration in Nutrient Solution. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, **21**(8): 1723-1730. doi:10.1080/01904169809365517
- Fotis, A.T., & Curtis, P.S. (2017). Effects of Structural Complexity on Within-Canopy Light Environments and Leaf Traits in A Northern Mixed Deciduous Forest. *Tree Physiology*, **37**(10): 1426-1435. doi:10.1093/treephys/tpw124
- Fowler, D., Cape, J.N., & Unsworth, M.H. (1989). Deposition of Atmospheric Pollutants on Forests. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. B, Biological Sciences*, **324**(1223): 247-265. doi:10.1098/rstb.1989. 0047
- Free-Smith, P.H., El-Khatib, A.A., & Taylor, G. (2004). Capture of Particulate Pollution by Trees: A Comparison of Species Typical of Semi-Arid Areas (*Ficus Nitida* And *Eucalyptus Globules*) with European and North American Species. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 15(1-4): 173-187.
- Gawronski, S.W., Gawronska, H., Lomnicki, S., Saebo, A., & Vangronsveld, J. (2017). Plants in Air Phytoremediation. In Advances in Botanical Research (Vol. 83, pp. 319-346). Academic Press.

- Geeta, C., & Namrata, C. (2014). Effect of Air Pollution on the Photosynthetic Pig-Ments of Selected Plant Species along Roadsides in Jamshedpur, Jharkhand. *Res Plant Biol.*, 4(5): 65-68.
- Georgii, E., Jin, M., Zhao, J., Kanawati, B., Schmitt-Kopplin, P., Albert, A., Winkler, J.B., & Schäffner, A.R. (2017). Relationships Between Drought, Heat and Air Humidity Responses Revealed by Transcriptome-Metabolome Co-Analysis. *BMC Plant Biol.*, **17**: 120.
- Gholami, A., Mojiri, A., & Amini, H. (2016). Investigation of the Air Pollution Tolerance Index (APTI) Using Some Plant Species in Ahvaz Region. *Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences*, 26(2): 475-480.
- Ghorbanli, M., Khaniki, B.G., & Bakand, Z. (2009). Air Pollution Effects on Fresh and Dry Weight, Amount of Proline, Number of Stomata, Trichome and Epidermal Cells in *Nerium oleander* and *Robinia pseudoacacia* in Tehran City. *Pajouhesh and Sazandegi*, **77**: 28-34.
- Giri, S., Shrivastava, D., Deshmukh, K., & Dubey, P. (2013). Effect of Air Pollution on Chlorophyll Content of Leaves. *Current Agriculture Research Journal*, 1(2): 93-98. doi:10.12944/CARJ.1.2.04.
- Goldbold, D.J., & Hutterman, A. (1986). The Uptake and Toxicity of Mercury and Lead to Spruce (*Picea abies*) Seedlings. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution*, **31:** 509-515.
- Gostin, I.N. (2009). Air Pollution Effects on the Leaf Structure of Some Fabaceae Species. *Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca*, **37** (2): 57-63.
- Govindaraju, M., Ganeshkumar, R.S., Muthukumaran, V.R., & Visvanathan, P. (2012). Identification and Evaluation of Air-Pollution-Tolerant Plants Around Lignite-Based Thermal Power Station For Greenbelt Development. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, **19**(4): 1210-1223. doi:10.1007/s11356-011-0637-7
- Gratani, L., Crescente, M.F., & Varone, L. (2008). Long-Term Monitoring of Metal Pollution By Urban Trees. Atmospheric Environment, 42(35): 82738277. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv. 2008. 07.032

- Grime, J.P. (2006). *Plant Strategies, Vegetation Processes, and Ecosystem Properties* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed). New York: Wiley.
- Gromov, S., & Emelina, E. (1994). Lead Emission Evaluation Over the European Part of the Former Soviet Union. *Science of the Total Environment*, **158**(1-3): 135-137. doi:10.1016/0048-9697(94) 90053-1
- Grote, R., Samson, R., Alonso, R., Amorim, J.H., Cariñanos, P., & Churkina, G. (2016). Functional Traits of Urban Trees: Air Pollution Mitigation Potential. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 14(10): 543-550. doi:10.1002/fee.1426
- Gurjar, B.R., Jain, A., Sharma, A., Agarwal, A., Gupta, P., Nagpure, A.S., & Lelieveld, J. (2010). Human Health Risks in Megacities Due to Air Pollution. *Atmospheric Environment*, 44(36): 4606-4613. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv. 2010.08.011
- Gurung, A., Son, J.Y., & Bell, M.L. (2017). Particulate Matter and Risk of Hospital Admission in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal: A Case-Crossover Study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, **186**(5): 573-580. doi:10.1093/aje/kwx135
- Gzyl, J., Przymusiński, R., & Woźny, A. (1997). Organo Specific Reactions of Yellow Lupin Seedlings to Lead. Acta Societatis Botanicorum Poloniae, 66(1): 61-66. doi:10.5586/asbp.1997.009
- Hall, J.L. (2002). Cellular Mechanisms for Heavy Metal Detoxification and Tolerance. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **53**(366): 1-11. doi:10.1093/jexbot/53.366.1.
- Hartmann, H., Ziegler, W., Kolle, O., & Trumbore, S. (2013). Thirst Beats Hunger Declining Hydration During Drought Prevents Carbon Starvation in Norway Spruce Saplings. *New Phytologist*, **200**(2): 340-349.
- Health Effects Institute (HEI). (2010). *Outdoor Air Pollution and Health in the Developing Countries of Asia: A Comprehensive Review*. Boston: Health Effects Institute.
- Hegedüs, A., Erdei, S., Janda, T., Tóth, E., Horváth, G., & Dudits, D. (2004). Transgenic Tobacco Plants over Producing Alfafa Aldose/Aldehyde Reductase Show Higher Tolerance to Low Temperature and Cadmium Stress. *Plant Science*, **166**(5): 1329-1333. doi:10.1016/j.plantsci.2004.01.013

- Henry, J.R. (2000). An Overview of Phytoremediation of Lead and Mercury (NNEMS report).
- He, L., La, Y., Yan, Y., Wang, Y., Cao, X., Cai, Y. & Feng, Q. (2022). The Prevalence and Burden of Four Major Chronic Diseases in The Shanxi Province of Northern China. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 10, 985192.
- Hermle, S., Vollenweider, P., Günthardt-Goerg, M.S., McQuattie, C.J., & Matyssek,
  R. (2007). Leaf Responsiveness *Populus tremula* and *Salix viminalisto* Soil
  Contaminated with Heavy Metals and Acidic Rainwater. *Tree Physiology*, 27(11): 1517-1531.
- Hollinger, D.Y. (1989). Canopy Organization and Foliage Photosynthetic Capacity in A Broad-Leaved Evergreen Mon-Tane Forest. *Functional Ecology*, 3(1): 53-62. doi:10.2307/2389675.
- Honour, S.L., Bell, J.N.B., Ashenden, T.W., Cape, J.N., & Power, S.A. (2009).
  Responses of Herbaceous Plants to Urban Air Pollution: Effects On Growth,
  Phenology and Leaf Surface Characteristics. *Environmental Pollution*, 157(4):12791286.doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2008.11.049.
- Horaginamani, S.M., & Ravichandran, M. (2010). Ambient Air Quality in An Urban Area and Its Effects on Plants and Human Beings: A Case Study of Tiruchirappalli, India. *Journal of Engineering Science and Technology*, 6(2): 13-19.
- Hossain, M.A., Piyatida, P., da Silva, J.A.T., & Fujita, M. (2012). Molecular Mechanism of Heavy Metal Toxicity and Tolerance in Plants: Central Role of Glutathione in Detoxification of Reactive Oxygen Species and Methyl Glyoxal and in Heavy Metal Chelation. *Journal of Botany*, 1-37. doi:10.1155/2012/872875.
- Hu, Y., Wang, D., Wei, L., Zhang, X., & Song, B. (2014). Bioaccumulation of Heavy Metals in Plant Leaves from Yanan City of the Loess Plateau, China. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, **110**: 82-88. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv. 2014.08.021.
- Hyslop, N.P., & White, W.H. (2008). An Evaluation of Interagency Monitoring of Protected Visual Environments (IMPROVE) Collocated Precision and Uncertainty Estimates. *Atmospheric Environment*, **42** (11): 2691-2705. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.10.033.
- Innes, J.L., & Haron, A.H. (2000). Air Pollution and The Forests of Developing and Rapidly Industrializing Regions. Cab. I. Wallingford, UK.
- Irerhievwie, G.O., Akpoghelie, J.O., & Esiefarienrhe, E. (2014). Evaluation of Some Plantspecies for Soluble Sugar and Air Pollution Tolerance Index in Oleh Metropolis, Isoko South L.G.A., Delta State, Nigeria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Engineering and Applied Sciences*, 5(5): 323-328.
- Jain, A., & Kutty, C.S. (2014). Biomonitoring of Dust Pollution of Road Side of Harda Using Air Pollution Tolerance Index. *International Journal of Pure and Applied Bioscience*, 2(5): 233-238.
- James, D.W. (1988). Soil Testing Soil Lead: Testing, Interpretation, and Recommendations. Soil Science, 146(5): 386. doi:10.1097/00010694-198811000-00013
- Jayakody, H., Liu, S., Whitty, M., & Petrie, P. (2017). Microscope Image Based Fully Automated Stomata Detection and Pore Measurement Method for Grapevines. *Plant Methods*, **13**(1): 94. doi:10.1186/s13007-017-0244-9
- Jerrett, M., Burnett, R.T., Pope, C.A., Ito, K., Thurston, G., & Krewski, D. (2009). Long-Term Ozone Exposure and Mortality. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 360(11): 1085-1095. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0803894
- Joshi, N., & Bora, M. (2011). Impact of Air Quality on Physiological Attributes of Certain Plants. *Report and Opinion*, 3(2): 42-47.
- Joshi, N., Joshi, A., & Bist, B. (2016). Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Some Trees Species From the Industrial Area of Tarapur. *International Journal of Life Sciences*, 2(2): 173-182.
- Joshi, P.C., & Swami, A. (2009). Air Pollution Induced Changes in the Photosynthetic Pigments of Selected Plant Species. *Journal of Environmental Biology*, **30**(2): 295-298.

- Jouraeva, V.A., Johnson, D.L., Hassett, J.P., & Nowak, D.J. (2002). Differences in Accumulation of Pahs and Metals on the Leaves of *Tilia euchlora* and *Pyrus* calleryana. Environmental Pollution, **120**(2): 331-338. doi:10.1016/s0269-7491(02) 00121-5.
- Jullien, A., Allirand, J.M., Mathieu, A., Andrieu, B., & Ney, B. (2009). Variations in Leaf Mass Per Area according to N Nutrition, Plant Age, and Leaf Position Reflect Ontogenetic Plasticity in Winter Oilseed Rape *Brassica napus* L. *Field Crops Research*, **114**(2): 188-197. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2009.07.015.
- Juwarkar, A.S., & Shende, G.B. (1986). Interaction of Cd-Pb Effect on Growth Yield and Content of Cd, Pb in Barley. *Indian Journal of Environmental Health*, 28: 235-243.
- Jyothi, S.J. & Jaya, D.S. (2010). Evaluation of Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Selected Plant Species along Roadsides in Thiruvanthapuram, Kerala. *Journal* of Environmental Biology, **31**(3): 379-386-38649.
- Kabata-Pendias, A. (2010) Trace Elements in Soils and Plants. 4th Edition, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 548. https://doi.org/10.1201/b10158
- Kaji, T., Suzuki, M., Yamamoto, C., Mishima, A., Sakamoto, M., & Kozuka, H. (1995). Severe Damage of Cultured Vascular Endothelial Cell Monolayer after Simultaneous Exposure to Cadmium and Lead. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 28(2): 168-172. doi:10.1007/BF00217612.
- Kanwar, K., Dhamala, M.K., & Maskey-Byanju, R. (2016). Air Pollution Tolerance Index: An Approach towards the Effective Green Belt around Kathmandu Metropolitan City, Nepal. *Nepal Journal of Environmental Science*, 4: 23-29. doi:10.3126/njes.v4i0.22721.
- Kapoor, C.S. (2014). Ficus benghalensis L. Tree as an Efficient Option for Controlling Air Pollution. Research in Health and Nutrition, 2: 1-11.
- Kardel, F., Wuyts, K., Babanezhad, M., Vitharana, U.W., Wuytack, T., Potters, G., & Samson, R. (2010). Assessing Urban Habitat Quality Based on Specific Leaf Area and Stomatal.

- Karki, K.B., Dhakal, P., & Shrestha, S.L. (2015). Situation Analysis of Ambient Air Pollution and Respiratory Effects in Kathmandu Valley (Nepal). Kathmandu: Health Research Council.
- Karmakar, D., Malik, N., & Padhy, P.K. (2016). Effects of Industrial Air Pollution on Biochemical Parameters of *Shorea robusta* and *Acacia auriculiformis*. *Research Journal of Recent Sciences*, 2277-2502.
- Kastori, R., Petrović, M., & Petrović, N. (1992). Effect of Excess Lead, Cadmium, Copper, and Zinc on Water Relations in Sunflower. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 15(11): 2427-2439. doi:10.1080/01904169209364485.
- Katare, J., Pichhode, M., & Kumar, N. (2015). Growths of *Terminalia bellirica* [ (gaertn.) roxb.] on the Malanjkhand Copper Mine Overburden Dump Spoil Material. *International Journal of Research GRANTHAALAYAH*, 3(8):1424.doi:10.29121/granthaalayah.v3.i8.2015.2957.
- Katiyar, V., & Dubey, P.S. (2001). Sulphur Dioxide Sensitivity on Two Stage of Leaf Development in a Few Tropical Tree Species. *Indian Journal of Environmental Toxicology*, 11(2): 78-81.
- Kaupp, H., Blumenstock, M., & Mclachlan, M.S. (2000). Retention and Mobility of Atmospheric Particle Associated Organic Pollutant PCDD/Fs and Pahs in Maize Leaves. *New Phytologist*, 148(3): 473-480. doi:10.1046/j.1469-8137.2000.00770 .x.
- Kaur, M., & Nagpal, A.K. (2017). Evaluation of Air Pollution Tolerance Index and Anticipated Performance Index of Plants and Their Application in Development of Green Space along the Urban Areas. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, 24(23): 18881-18895. doi:10.1007/s11356-017-9500-9.
- Kayode, J., & Otoide, J.E. (2007). Environmental Pollution and Leaf Cuticular Variations in *Newbouldia laevis* Seem. ex Bureau. *Asian Journal of Plant Sciences*, 6(6): 1024-1026. doi:10.3923/ajps.2007.1024.1026.
- Kc, A., Wrammert, J., Nelin, V., Ewald, U., Clark, R., & Målqvist, M. (2015). Level of Mortality Risk for Babies Born Preterm or With a Small Weight for Gestation in a Tertiary Hospital of Nepal. *BMC Public Health*, **15**(1): 1-9.

- Keller, T., & Schwager, H. (1977) Air Pollution and Ascorbic Acid. *Forest Pathology*, 7(6): 338-350. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0329.1977.tb00603.x.
- Kellomäki, S., & Oker-Blom, P. (1981). Specific Needle Area of Scots Pine and Its Dependence on Light Conditions inside the Canopy. *Silva Fennica*, **15**(2): 190-198. doi:10.14214/sf.a15057
- Khanna, K., Kohli, S.K., Bali, S., Kaur, P., Saini, P., Bakshi, P., & Bhardwaj, R. (2018). Role of Micro-Organisms in Modulating Antioxidant Defence in Plants Exposed to Metal Toxicity. In *Plants Under Metal and Metalloid Stress* (pp. 303-335). Singapore: Springer.
- Khanoranga, S.K. (2019). Phytomonitoring of Air Pollution around Brick Kilns in Balochistan Province Pakistan through Air Pollution Index and Metal Accumulation Index. *TIDEE: TERI Information Digest on Energy and Environment*, 18(3): 316-317.
- Kibria, G. (2014). Trace Metals/heavy Metals and Its Impact on Environment, Biodiversity and Human Health - A Short Review. doi:10.13140/RG.2.1.3102. 2568.
- Kiekens, L. (1995). Zinc. In B.J. Alloway (Ed.), *Heavy Metals in Soils* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed) (pp. 284-305). London: Blackie Academic & Professional.
- Kim, B.M., Park, J.S., Kim, S.W., Kim, H., Jeon, H., Cho, C., & Yoon, S.C. (2015). Source Apportionment of PM10 Mass and Particulate Carbon in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal. *Atmospheric Environment*, **123**: 190-199. doi:10.1016/ j.atmosenv.2015.10.082.
- Kleckerová, A., & Dočekalová, H. (2014). Dandelion Plants as a Biomonitor of Urban Area Contamination by Heavy Metals. *International Journal of Environment* and Resource, 8(1): 157-164.
- Kord, B., & Kord, B. (2011). Heavy Metal Levels in Pine (*Pinus eldarica* Medw.)
  Tree Barks as Indicators of Atmospheric Pollution. *Biological Research*, 6(2): 927-935).
- Kovacic, S., & Nokolic, T. (2005). Relations between *Betula Pendula* (Betulaceae) Leaf Morphology and Environmental Factors in Five Region of Croatia. *Acta Biologica Cracoviensia s. Botanica*, **47**(2): 7-13.

- Krishnaveni, M., Usha, S., & Kowsalya, R. (2012). Evaluation of Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Selected Herbal Tree and Plant Species (Leaves) With in the Periyar University Campus. *Journal of Pharmacy Research*, 5(6): 3219-3222.
- Kucera, V., & Fitz, S. (1995). Direct and Indirect Air Pollution Effects on Materials Including Cultural Monuments. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution*, 85:153-165. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00483697.
- Kuddus, M., Kumari, R., & Ramteke, P.W. (2011). Studies on Air Pollution Tolerance of Selected Plants in Allahabad City, India E3. *Journal of Environmental Research and Management*, 2(3): Retrieved from http://www.e3journals.org/ JERM ISSN 2141-7466, 042-046.
- Kulkarni, S.D., & Ingawale, A. (2014). Biomonitoring of Air Pollution in by Correlating the Pollution Tolerance of Some Commonly Grown Trees in Waluj Industrial Area Near Aurangabad, India. *Int. J. Res. Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 4(4):102-106.
- Kulshreshtha, K., Srivastava, K., & Ahmad, K.J. (1994). Effect of Automobile Exhaust Pollution on Leaf Surface Structures of *Calotropis procera* L. and *Nerium indicum* L. *Feddes Repertorium*, **105**(3-4): 185-189. doi:10.1002/fedr. 19941050309.
- Kumar, A. & Aery, N.C. (2016). Impact, Metabolism, and Toxicity of Heavy Metals in Plants. In Plant Responses to Xenobiot-ics (pp. 141-176). Springer, Singapore.
- Kumar, G., Singh, R.P., & Sushila. (1993). Nitrate Assimilation and Biomass Production in *Sesamum indicuml*. Seedlings in a Lead Enriched Environment. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 66: 163-171.
- Kumar, M., & Nandini, N. (2013). Identification and Evaluation of Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Selected Avenue Tree Species of Urban Bangalore India. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Computational and Applied Sciences*, 4(5): 388-390.
- Kumar, V., Singh, J., & Kumar, P. (2019). Heavy Metals Accumulation in Crop Plants: Sources, Response Mechanisms, Stress Tolerance and Their Effects.

*Contaminants in Agriculture and Environmental Health Risks and RSemediation*, **1:** 38-57. doi:10.26832/aesa-2019-cae-0161-04.

- Lakshmi, P.S., Sarawanti, K.L., & Srinivas, S. (2009). Air Pollution Index of Various Plant Species Growing in Industrial Area. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 2(2): 203-206.
- Lambers, H.A.N.S., & Poorter, H. (1992). Inherent Variation in Growth Rate between Higher Plants: A Search for Physiological Causes and Ecological Consequences. Advances in Ecological Research, 23: 187-261. doi:10.1016/S0065-2504 (08) 60148-8.
- Lamoreaux, R.J., & Chaney, W.R. (1977). Growth and Water Movement in Silver Maple Seedlings Affected by Cadmium. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 6(2): 201-205. doi:10.2134/jeq1977.00472425000600020021x.
- Lawson, T., & Blatt, M.R. (2014). Stomatal Size, Speed, and Responsiveness Impact on 301 Photosynthesis and Water Use Efficiency. *Plant Physiology*, **164**(4): 1556-1570. doi:10.1104/pp.114.237107.
- Lee, C.W., Choi, J.M., & Pak, C.H. (1996). Micronutrient Toxicity in Seed Geranium (Pelargonium×hortorumBaley). Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science, 121(1): 77-82. doi:10.21273/JASHS.121.1.77.
- Lelieveld, J. (2020). Reducing Air Pollution: Avoidable Health Burden. In W. Al-Delaimy, V. Ramanathan, & M. Sánchez Sorondo, M. (Eds.), *Health of People, Health of Planet and Our Responsibility*. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-31125-49.
- Lelieveld, J., Evans, J.S., Fnais, M., Giannadaki, D., & Pozzer, A. (2015). The Contribution of Outdoor Air Pollution Sources to Premature Mortality on A Global Scale. *Nature*, **525**(7569): 367-371.
- Lequeux, H., Hermans, C., Lutts, S., & Verbruggen, N. (2010). Response to Copper Excess in Arabidopsis thaliana: Impact on the Root System Architecture, Hormone Distribution, Lignin Accumulation and Mineral Profile. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*,**48**(8):673-682. doi:10.1016/j.plaphy.2010.05.005.

- Li, B., Suzuki, J.I., & Hara, T. (1999). Competitive Ability of Two Brassica Varieties in Relation to Biomass Allocation and Morphological Plasticity under Varying Nutrient Availability. *Ecological Research*, **14**(3): 255-266.
- Liang, D., Ma, C., Wang, Y.Q., Wang, Y.J., & Chen-xi, Z. (2016). Quantifying PM2.5 Capture Capability of Greening Trees Based on Leaf Factors Analyzing. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, 23(21): 21176-21186. doi:10.1007/s11356-016-7687-9.
- Lima, A.S., Alegre, R.M., & Meirelles, A.J. (2002). Partitioning of Pectinolytic Enzymes in Polyethylene Glycol/Potassium Phosphate Aqueous Two-Phase Systems. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, **50**(1): 63-68.
- Liu, G., Wang, L., Jiang, L., Pan, X., Huang, Z., Dong, M., & Cornelissen, J.H. (2018). Specific Leaf Area Predicts Dryland Litter Decomposition Via Two Mechanisms. *Journal of Ecology*, **106**(1): 218-229.
- Liu, J., Li, Y., Zhang, B., Cao, J., Cao, Z., & Domagalski, J. (2009). Ecological Risk of Heavy Metals in Sediments of the Luan River Source Water. *Ecotoxicology*, 18: 748-758.
- Liu, Y.J., & Ding, H.U.I. (2008). Variation in Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Plants Near a Steel Factory: Implication for Landscape-Plant Species Selection for Industrial Areas. WSEAS Transactions on Environment and development, 4(1): 24-32.
- Liu, Y.J., Zhu, Y.G., & Ding, H. (2007). Lead and Cadmium in Leaves of Deciduous Trees in Beijing, China: Development of a Metal Accumulation Index (MAI). *Environmental Pollution*, 145(2): 387-390. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2006.05.010.
- Lohe, R.N., Tyagi, B., Singh, V., Tyagi, P.K., Khanna, D.R., & Bhutiani, R. (2015). A Comparative Study for Pollution Tolerance Index of Some Terrestrial Plant Species. *Global Journal of Environmental Science and Management*, 1(4): 315-324.
- Lombi, E., Zhao, F.J., Wieshammer, G., Zhang, G., & McGrath, S.P. (2002). In situ Fixation of Metals in Soil Using Baux-Ite Residue: Biological Effects. Environmental Pollution, 118(3): 445-452. doi:10.1016/s0269-7491(01)00295-0.
- Lovett, G.M., Tear, T.H., Evers, D.C., Findlay, S.E., Cosby, B.J., Dunscomb, J.K., & Weathers, K.C. (2009). Effects of Air Pollution on Ecosystems and Biological

Diversity in the Eastern United States. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, **1162**(1): 99-135. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04153.x.

- Lu, S., Yang, X., Li, S., Chen, B., Jiang, Y., Wang, D., & Xu, L. (2018). Effects of Plant Leaf Surface and Different Pollution Levels on PM2.5 Adsorption Capacity. Urban Forestry and Urban Greening, 34: 64-70.
- Luo, T., Luo, J., & Pan, Y. (2005). Leaf Traits and Associated Ecosystem Characteristics across Subtropical and Timberline Forests in the Gongga Mountains, Eastern Tibetan Plateau. *Oecologia*, **142**(2): 261-273. doi:10.1007/s00442-004-1729-6.
- Madan, S., & Chauhan, S. (2015). Air Pollution Tolerance Index and Anticipated Performance Index of Selected Plant Species in Haridwar City, India. *Report* and Opinion, 7(6): 32-37.
- Mahecha, G.S., B.R., Nair, N., & Saini, D. (2013). Air Pollution Tolerance Index of certain Plant Species: A Study of Madri Industrial Area, Udaipur (Rajasthan), India. *International Journal of Innovative Research in Science, Engineering and Technology*, 2(12): 7927-7929.
- Malkin, T.L., Heard, D.E., Hood, C., Stocker, J., Carruthers, D., MacKenzie, I.A., & Whalley, L.K. (2016). Assessing Chemistry Schemes and Constraints in Air Quality Models Used to Predict Ozone in London Against the Detailed Master Chemical Mechanism. *Faraday Discussions*, **189**: 589-616.
- Mandal, M. (2006). Physiological Changes in Certain Test Plants Under Automobile Exhaust Pollution. *Journal of Environmental Biology*, **27**(1): 43-47.
- Mani, M., & Pillai, R. (2010). Impact of Dust on Solar Photovoltaic (PV) Performance: Research Status, Challenges and Recommendations. *Renewable* and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 14(9): 3124-3131.
- Manning, U.D., & Feder, U.A. (1985). *Biomonitoring of Air Pollution Using Plants*. Sanktp-Peterburg, Russia: Gidrometeoizdat.
- Markert, B. (1992). Establishing of "Reference Plant" for Inorganic Characterization of Different Plant Species by Chemical Finger-Printing. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 64(3-4): 533-538. doi:10.1007/BF00483363.
- Marschner, H., & Cakmak, I. (1986). Mechanism of Phosphorus-Induced Zinc Deficiency in Cotton. II. Evidence for Impaired Shoot Control of Phosphorus

Uptake and Translocation Under Zinc Deficiency. *Physiologia Plantarum*, **68**(3): 491-496. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054.1986.tb03387.x.

- Martínez-López, S., Martínez-Sánchez, M.J., Pérez-Sirvent, C., Bech, J., Gómez Martínez, M., & García-Fernandez, A.J. (2014). Screening of Wild Plants for Use in the Phytoremediation of Mining-Influenced Soils Containing Arsenic in Semiarid Environments. *Journal Soils and Sediments*, 14: 794-809.
- Masindi, V., & Muedi, K.L. (2018). Environmental Contamination by Heavy Metals. *Heavy Metals*, **10**: 115-132.
- Masuch, G., Franz, J.T., Kicinski, H.G., & Kettrup, A. (1992). Histological and Biochemical Differences of Lightly and Severely Injured Spruce Needles of Two Stands in Northrhine Westphalia. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, **32**(2): 163-182. doi:10.1016/0098-8472(92) 90041-Y.
- Meerabai, G., Venkata Ramana, C., & Rasheed, M. (2012). Effect of Air Pollutants on Leaves of Pigeon Pea, a Pulse Crop of Fabaceae Growing in The Vicinity of a Silicon Industry. *World Rural Observations*, 4(2): 19-21.
- Milla, R., Reich, P.B., Niinemets, & Castro-Dez, P. (2008). Environmental and Developmental Controls on Specific Leaf Area are Little Modified by Leaf Allometry. *Functional Ecology*, **22**(4): 565-576. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2435.2008.01406.x.
- Mingorance, M.D., & Oliva, S.R. (2006). *Heavy Metals Content in N. oleander Leaves as Urban* Pollution Assessment. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, **119:** 57-68.
- Miria, A., & Khan, A.B. (2013). Air Pollution Tolerance Index and Carbon Storage of Select Urban Trees: A Comparative Study. *International Journal of Applied Research and Studies*, 2(5): 1-7.
- Mishra, S., & Pandey R.P. (2011). Effects of Air Pollution on Plants in Urban Area: A Case Study of Ghaziabad (UP), India. VSRD Tech. *Non-Tech. J.*, 2(5): 262-266.
- Mitu, K.J., Islam, M.A., Biswas, P., Marzia, S., & Ali, M.A. (2019). Effects of Different Environmental Pollutants on the Anatomical Features of Roadside Plants. *Progressive Agriculture*, **30**(4): 344-351. doi:10.3329/pa.v30i4.46890.
- Mok, H.F., Majumder, R., Laidlaw, W.S., Gregory, D., Baker, A.J., & Arndt, S.K. (2013). Native Australian Species are Effective in Extracting Multiple Heavy

Metals from Biosolids. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, **15**(7):615632.doi:10.1080/152265 14.2012.723063.

- Molashahi, M., & Feizi, V. (2014). The Impact of Environmental Pollution on the Morphologhy of Leaf Tree in Urban Green Space. In Second National Conference of Environmental and Technical Studies. Hamedan. (in Persian).
   Hagmatana Association for Environmental Assessment.
- MoPIT/JICA. (2012) (Final report). *Data Collection Survey on Traffic Improvement in Kathmandu Valley*. Kathmandu: Ministry of Physical Infrastructure and Transport.
- Moreno, E., Sagnotti, L., Dinarès-Turell, J., Winkler, A., & Cascella, A. (2003).
  Biomonitoring of Traffic Air Pollution in Rome Using Magnetic Properties of Tree Leaves. *Atmospheric Environment*, 37(21): 2967-2977. doi:10.1016/S1352-2310(03) 00244-9.
- Morzeck, Jr. E, & Funicelli, N.A. (1982). Effect of Zinc and Lead on Germination of Spartina Alterni Flora Loisel Seeds at Various Salinities. Environmental and Experimental Botany, 22(1): 23-32.
- Nadgórska-Socha, A., Kandziora-Ciupa, M., Trzęsicki, M., & Barczyk, G. (2017). Air Pollution Tolerance Index and Heavy Metal Bioaccumulation in Selected Plant Species from Urban Biotopes. *Chemosphere*, **183**: 471-482. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.05.128.
- Nagajyoti, P.C., Lee, K.D., & Sreekanth, T.V.M. (2010). Heavy Metals Occurrence and Toxicity for Plants: A Review. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, **8**(3): 199-216. doi:10.1007/s10311-010-0297-8.
- National Population and Housing Census (NPHC). (20121). https://census nepal.cbs. gov.np/results/downloads/national.
- Neverova, O.A., Legoshchina, O.M., & Bykov, A.A. (2013). Anatomy of Leaves of Betula Pendula (Roth.) Affected by Air Emissions in Industrial Area of Kemerovo City. Middle East Journal of Scientific Research, 17(3): 354-358.
- Niazi, N.K., & Burton, E.D. (2016). Arsenic Sorption to Nano Particulate Mackinawite (Fes): An Examination of Phosphate Competition. *Environmental Pollution*, 218: 111-117. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2016.08.031

- Nord, A.G., Tronner, K., & Boyce, A.J. (2001). Atmospheric Bronze and Copper Corrosion as An Environmental Indicator. A Study Based on Chemical and Sulphur Isotope Data. *Water, Air and Soil Pollution*, **127**: 193-204.
- Norouzi, S., Khademi, H., Faz Cano, A.F., & Acosta, J.A. (2015). Using Plane Tree Leaves for Biomonitoring of Dust Borne Heavy Metals: A Case Study from Isfahan, Central Iran. *Ecological Indicators*, **57**: 64-73. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind. 2015.04.011
- Nwadinigwe, A.O. (2014). Air Pollution Tolerance Indices of Some Plants around Ama Industrial Complex in Enugu State, Nigeria. African Journal of Biotechnology, 13(11): 1231-1236. doi:10.5897/AJB2014.13616.
- Ogunkunle, C.O., Abdulrahaman, A.A., & Fatoba, P.O. (2013). Influence of Cement Dust Pollution on Leaf Epidermal Features of *Pennisetum purpureum* and *Sida acuta*. *Environmental and Experimental Biology*, **11**(1): 73-79.
- Ogunkunle, C.O., Suleiman, L.B., Oyedeji, S., Awotoye, O.O., & Fatoba, P.O. (2015). Assessing the Air Pollution Tolerance Index and Anticipated Performance Index of Some Tree Species for Biomonitoring Environmental Health. *Agroforestry Systems*, **89**(3): 447-454. doi:10.1007/s10457-014-9781-7.
- Ojha, A (2022). Public Transport in full of Hassels in Kathmandu. The Kathmandu Post, 26<sup>th</sup> December 2022. <u>http://kathmandupost.com</u>
- Oleinikova, T.V. (1969). The Effect of Drought on Protoplasm Permeability in Cells of Spring Wheat Leaves. *Byull. Vses. Inst. Rastenievod*, **14:** 25-30.
- Olowoyo, J.O., Van Heerden, E., & Fischer, J.L. (2010). Investigating Jacaranda mimosifolia Tree as Biomonitor of Atmospheric Trace Metals. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 164(1-4), 435-443. doi:10.1007/s10661-009-0904y.
- Onder, S., & Dursun, S. (2006). Air Borne Heavy Metal Pollution of *Cedrus Libani* (A. Rich.) In the City Centre of Konya (Turkey). *Atmospheric Environment*, 40(6):1122-1133. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2005.11.006.
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2012). *Environmental Outlook to 2050: The Consequences of Inaction*. The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, p. 1. Available

at:http://www.oecd.org/environment/ oecd environmental out look to 2050 the consequences of inaction.htm

- Padmavathi, P., Cherukuri, J., & Reddy, M.A. (2013). Impact of Air Pollution on Crops in the Vicinity of a Power Plant: A Case Study. *International Journal of Engineering Research and Technology*, **12**(2): 3641-3651.
- Padmavathiamma, P.K., & Li, L.Y. (2007). Phytoremediation Technology: Hyper-Accumulation Metals in Plants. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, **184**(1-4): 105-126. doi:10.1007/s11270-007-9401-5
- Påhlsson, A.M.B. (1989). Toxicity of Heavy Metals (Zn, Cu, Cd, Pb) to Vascular Plants: A Literature Review. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, **47:** 287-319.
- Pal, A., Kulshreshtha, K., Ahmad, K.J. & Behl, H.M. (2002). Do Leaf Surface Characters Play a Role in Plant Resistance to Auto-Exhaust Pollution? *Flora*, 197(1):47-55.
- Pandey, N., Pathak, G.C., Pandey, D.K., & Pandey, R. (2009). Heavy Metals, Co, Ni, Cu, Zn And Cd, Produce Oxidative Damage and Evoke Differential Antioxidant Responses in Spinach. *Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology*, **21**(2): 103-111. doi:10.1590/S1677-04202009000200003.
- Pathak, V., Tripathi, B.D., & Mishra, V.K. (2011). Evaluation of Anticipated Performance Index of Some Tree Species for Green Belt Development to Mitigate Traffic Generated Noise. Urban Forestry and Urban Greening, 10(1): 61-66. doi:10.1016/j.ufug.2010.06.008.
- Paulsamy, S., Sivakumar, R., & Latha, N. (2000). Evaluation of Air Pollution Tolerant Tree Species in Coimbatore City. *Ecological Research Biocon*, 1(2): 20-23.
- Pichhode, M., & Nikhil, K. (2015). Effect of Copper Dust on Photosynthesis Pigments Concentrations in Plants Species. International Journal of Engineering Research and Management (IJERM), 02: 63-66.
- Piczak, K., Leśniewicz, A., & Żyrnicki, W. (2003). Metal Concentrations in Deciduous Tree Leaves from Urban Areas in Poland. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 86(3): 273-287. doi:10.1023/a:1024076504099.

- Pierce, L.L., Running, S.W., & Walker, J. (1994). Regional-scale Relationships of Leaf-area Index to Specific Leaf-area and Leaf Nitrogencontent. *Ecological Applications*, 4(2): 313-321. doi:10.2307/1941936.
- Pinto, A.P., Mota, A.M., de Varennes, A., & Pinto, F.C. (2004). Influence of Organic Matter on the Uptake of Cadmium, Zinc, Copper and Iron by Sorghum Plants. *Science of the Total Environment*, **326**(1-3): 239-247. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2004.01.004.
- Poljsak, B., & Rok, F. (2014). The Protective Role of Antioxidants in the Defence Against ROS/RNS-Mediated Environmental Pollution. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, pp. 1-22, article ID 671539.
- Poorter, H. (1993). Interspecific Variation in the Growth Response of Plants to An Elevated Ambient CO<sub>2</sub> Concentration. *Vegetation*, **104-105**(1): 77-97. doi:10.1007/BF00048146
- Poorter, H., & Van der Werf, A. (1998). Is Inherent Variation in RGR Determined by LAR at Low Irradiance and by NAR at High Irradiance. A Review of Herbaceous Species. *Inherent Variation in Plant Growth*, pp. 309-336.
- Poorter, H., Niinemets, Ü., Poorter, L., Wright, I.J., & Villar, R. (2009). Transley Review:Causes and Consequences of Variation in Leaf Mass Area (LMA) : A Meta-Analysis. *New Phytologist*, 182(3): 565-588. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.02830.x.
- Pourkhabbaz, A., Rastin, N., Olbrich, A., Langenfeld-Heyser, R., & Polle, A. (2010). Influence of Environmental Pollution on Leaf Properties of Urban Plane Trees, *Platanus orientalis* L. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, **85**(3): 251-255. doi:10.1007/s00128-010-0047-4.
- Pourrut, B., Shahid, M., Dumat, C., Winterton, P., & Pinelli, E. (2011). Lead Uptake, Toxicity and Detoxification in Plants. *Reviews of Environmental Contamination* and Toxicology, **213**: 113-136. doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-9860-64.
- Pradhan, A.A., Pattanayak, S.K., Bhadra, A.K., & Ekka, K. (2016). Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Three Tree Species along National Highway-6 Between Ainthapalli to Remed, Sambalpur District, Western Odisha. *India Biolife*, 4(1):111-120.

- Pradhan, B.B., Dangol, P.M., Bhaunju, R.M., & Pradhan, S. (2012). *Rapid Urban* Assessment of Air Quality for Kathmandu, Nepal: Summary. Kathamandu: ICIMOD.
- Prajapati, S.K., & Tripathi, B.D. (2008). Seasonal Variation of Leaf Dust Accumulation and Pigment Content in Plant Species Exposed to Urban Particulates Pollution. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, **37**(3): 865-870. doi:10.2134/jeq2006.0511.
- Prasad, M.N.V. (2008). Trace Elements as Contaminants and Nutrients: Consequences in Ecosystem Sand Human Health. New York: Wiley.
- Préndez, M., Araya, M., Criollo, C., Egas, C., Farías, I., Fuentealba, R., & González,
  E. (2019). Urban Trees and Their Relationship with Air Pollution by Particulate
  Matter and Ozone in Santiago, Chile. Urban Climates in Latin America, pp. 167-206.
- Przymusiński, R., & Woźny, A. (1985). The Reactions of Lupin Roots on the Presence of Lead in the Medium. *Biochemie und Physiologie Der Pflanzen*, 180(4): 309-318. doi:10.1016/S0015-3796(85) 80007-X
- Rafiq, R. U, & Kumawat, D.M. (2016). Impact of Cement Industry Pollution on Physio-Morphological Attributes of Apricot Tree (*Prunus Armeniaca*) around Industrial Belt Khrew, Kashmir. International Archive of Applied. Science and Technology, 7(1): 1-4.
- Rahul, J., & Jain, M.K. (2014). An Investigation in to the Impact of Particulate Matter on Vegetation along the National Highway: A review. *Research Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 8(7): 356-372. doi:10.3923/rjes.2014.356.372.
- Rai, P.K. (2016). Biodiversity of Roadside Plants and Their Response to Air Pollution in An Indo-Burma Hotspot Region: Implications for Urban Ecosystem Restoration. *Journal of Asia-Pacific Biodiversity*, 9(1): 47-55.
- Rai, P.K., & Panda, L.L.S. (2014). Dust Capturing Potential and Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Some Road Side Tree Vegetation in Aizawl, Mizoram, India: An Indo-Burma Hot Spot Region. *Air Quality, Atmosphere and Health*, 7(1): 93-101. doi:10.1007/s11869-013-0217-8.

- Rai, P.K., Panda, L.L.S., Chutia, B.M., & Singh, M.M. (2013). Comparative Assessment of Air Pollution Tolerance Index in the Industrial (Rourkela) and Nonindustrial Area (Aizawl): An Eco-Management Approach. *African Journal* of Environmental Science and Technology, 7(10): 944-948.
- Raina, A.K., & Sharma, A. (2006). Assessment of Air Pollution and Its Impact on the Leaves of Some Plant Species. *Pollution Research*, 25(3): 543-547.
- Rajbanshi, G., & Pradhanagar, S. (2017). Assessment of Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Tree Species (A Case Study of Kathmandu Ringroad Trees). *Golden Gate Journal of Science and Technology*, **3:** 27-29.
- Randhi, U.D., & Reddy, M.A. (2012). Evaluation of Tolerant Plant Species in Urban Environment: A Case Study from Hyderabad, India. Universal Journal of Environmental Research & Technology, 2(4):
- Rangkuti, M.N. (2003). Kemampuan Menjerap Timbel (Pb) Pada Daun Beberapa Jenis Tanaman Penghijauan Jalan Toljagorawi: Análisis Struktur Anatomi Dan Histokimia (Thesis) Bogor, Indonesia: Bogor Agricultural University.
- Rao, M.V., & Dubey, P.S. (1991). Detoxifying Mechanism: Probable Role in Determining the Plant Response to SO<sub>2</sub> Under Different Light Intensities. *Indian Journal of Environment and Toxicology*, 1(1): 39-45.
- Rascio, N. (1977). Metal Accumulation by Some Plants Growing on Zinc-Mine Deposits. *Oikos*, **29**(2): 250-253. doi:10.2307/3543610.
- Raven, J.A., Evans, M.C.W. & Korb, R.E. (1999). The Role of Trace Metals in Photosynthetic Electron Transport in O<sub>2</sub>-Evolving Organisms. *Photosynthesis Research*, 60: 111-150.
- Rawal, D.S., Sijapati, J.S., Rana, N., & Pradhananga, T.M. (2001). Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Some Tree Species of Kathmandu Valley. *Nepal Journal of Science and Technology*, 3(1): 119-122.
- Raza, S.H., & Murthy, M.S.R. (1988). Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Certain Plants of Nacharam Industrial Area, Hyderabad. *Indian J. Bot.*, **11**(1): 91-95.
- Reich, P.B., Walters, M.B., & Ellsworth, D.S. (1991). Leaf Age and Season Influence the Relationships Between Leaf Nitrogen, Leaf Mass Per Area and Photosynthesis in Maple and Oak Trees. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, 14(3): 251-259. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.1991.tb01499.x.

- Renninger, H.J., Wadhwa, S., Gallagher, F.J., Vanderklein, D., & Schäfer, K.V.R. (2013). Allometry and Photosynthetic Capacity of Poplar (*Populus deltoides*) along a Metal Contamination Gradient in An Urban Brownfield. Urban Ecosystems, 16(2): 247-263. doi:10.1007/s11252-012-0259-y.
- Ro, S., Chea, L., Ngoun, S., Stewart, Z.P., Roeurn, S., Theam, P., & Prasad, P.V. (2021). Response of Tomato Genotypes Under Different High Temperatures in Field and Green house Conditions. *Plants*, **10**(3): 449. doi: 10. 3390/plants 10030449.
- Robinson, M.F., Heath, J., & Mansfield, T.A. (1998). Disturbances in Stomatal Behaviour Caused by Air Pollutants. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **49**: 461-469. doi:10.1093/jxb/49.Special\_Issue.461.
- Rodríguez-Santamaría, K., Zafra-Mejía, C.A., & Rondón-Quintana, H.A. (2022). Macro-Morphological Traits of Leaves for Urban Tree Selection for Air Pollution Biomonitoring: A review. *Biosensors*, **12**(10): 812.
- Rossini Oliva, S., Valdés Castrillón, B., & Mingorance, M.D. (2007). Nerium oleander As A Means to Monitor and Minimize the Effects of Pollution the Ornamental Flora of Western Sicily. Boconnea, 21: 379-384.
- Rucińska-Sobkowiak, R. (2016). Water Relations in Plants Subjected to Heavy Metal Stresses. Acta Physiologiae Plantarum, 38: 1-13. doi.org/10.1007/s11738-016-2277-5.
- Saadabi, A.M.A. (2011). Effects of Auto-Exhaust Pollution on the Micro morphology nd Leaf Epidermal Features of Ornamental Plants in Khartoum, Sudan. *Journal* of Applied Sciences Research, 7(3), 270-273.
- Saadullah, K.L., & Mudassir, A.Z. (2013). Effect of Air Pollution on the Leaf Morphology of Common Plant Species of Quetta City. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*, 45(Suppl. 1): 447-454.
- Salt, D.E., Prince, R.C., Baker, A.J., Raskin, I., & Pickering, I.J. (1999). Zinc Ligands in the Metal Hyper Accumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens* as Determined Using Xray Absorption Spectroscopy, *Environmental Science & Technology*, **33**(5): 713-717.

- Sánchez-Chardi, A. (2016). Biomonitoring Potential of Five Sympatric *Tillandsia* Species For Evaluating Urban Metal Pollution (Cd, Hg And Pb). *Atmospheric Environment*, **131**: 352-359. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2016.02.013.
- Sandelius, A.S., Näslund, K., Carlsson, A.S., Pleijel, H., & Selldén, G. (1995).
  Exposure of Spring Wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) to Ozone in Open Top Chambers. Effects on Acyl Lipid Composition and Chlorophyll Content of Flag Leaves. New Phytologist, 131(2): 231-239. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.1995.tb05724.x.
- Sanjel, S.N., Khanal, S.N., Thygerson, S.M., Khanal, K., Pun, Z., Tamang, S., & Joshi, S.K. (2016). Airborne Particulate Matter and Health Condition in Brick Kiln Workers in Kathmandu Valley, Nepal. *Kathmandu University Medical Journal*, 14(54): 159-166.
- Santos-Jallath, J., Castro-Rodríguez, A., Huezo-Casillas, J., & Torres-Bustillos, L. (2012). Arsenic and Heavy Metals in Native Plants at Tailings Impoundments in Queretaro, Mexico. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C*, **37:** 10-17. doi:10.1016/j.pce.2011.12.002.
- Sapkota, S., & Devkota, A. (2021). Comparative Assessment of Biochemical Characteristics Plants from Polluted and Non-Polluted Regions of Urban. *Environmental Research*, 9(1): 001-012. http://www.sciencebeingjournal.com.
- Sawidis, T., Breuste, J., Mitrovic, M., Pavlovic, P., & Tsigaridas, K. (2011). Trees as Bioindicator of Heavy Metal Pollution in Three European Cities. *Environmental Pollution*, **159**(12): 3560-3570.
- Sawidis, T., Chettri, M.K., Papaioannou, A., Zachariadis, G., & Stratis, J. (2001). A Study of Metal Distribution from Lignite Fuels Using Trees as Biological Monitors. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 48(1): 27-35.
- Sawidis, T., Krystallidis, P., Veros, D., & Chettri, M. (2012). A Study of Air Pollution With Heavy Metals in Athens City and Attica Basin Using Evergreen Trees as Biological Indicators. *Biological Trace Element Research*, **148**(3): 396-408. doi:10.1007/s12011-012-9378.
- Sawidis, T., Marnasidis, A., Zachariadis, G., & Stratis, J. (1995). A Study of Air Pollution with Heavy Metals in Thessaloniki City (Greece) Using Trees as

Biological Indicators. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, **28**(1): 118-124. doi:10.1007/BF00213976.

- Saxena, P., & Ghosh, C. (2013). Ornamental Plants as Sinks and Bioindicators. *Environmental Technology*, **34**(23): 3059-3067. doi:10.1080/09593330.2013. 800590.
- Schoefs, B., & Bertrand, M. (1997). Chlorophyll Biosynthesis. In M. Pessarakli (Ed.), Handbook of Photosynthesis (pp. 49-71). New York: Marcel Dekker.
- Scholz, F., & Reck, S. (1977). Effects of Acids on Forest Trees as Measured by Titration *in vitro*, Inheritance of Buffering Capacity in *Picea abies*. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 8(1): 41-45. doi:10.1007/BF00156723.
- Seinfeld, J.H., & Pandias, S.N. (2006). *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics: From Air Pollution to Climate Change*. New York: Wiley, 1225 p.
- Serbula, S.M., Miljkovic, D. Dj., Kovacevic, R.M., & Ilic, A.A. (2012). Assessment of Airborne Heavy Metal Pollution Using Plant Parts and Topsoil. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, **76**(2):209-21 doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv. 2011.10.009.
- Seregin, I.V., & Ivanov, V.B. (2001). Physiological Aspects of Cadmium and Lead Toxic Effects on Higher Plants. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology*, 48: 523-544.
- Setia, P., Childs, N., Wailes, E., & Livezey, J. (1994). The U.S. Rice Industry. Agricultural Economic Report No. 700, U.S. Department of Agriculture. Washington, DC: Economic Research Service.
- Seyyednejad, S.M., & Koochak, H. (2011). A Study on Air Pollution Effects on Eucalyptus camaldulensis. International Conference on Environmental, Biomedical and Biotechnology, 16: 98-101.
- Shah, A.S.V., Langrish, J.P., Nair, H., McAllister, D.A., Hunter, A.L., & Donaldson, K. (2013). Global Association of Air Pollution and Heart Failure: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Lancet*, **382**(9897): 1039-1048. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13) 60898-3.

- Shakya, K., Chettri, M.K. & Sawidis, T. (2008). Impact of Heavy Metals (Copper, Zinc, And Lead) on the Chlorophyll Content of Some Mosses. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 54(3): 412-421.
- Shakya, K., Chettri, M.K., & Sawidis, T. (2012). Use of Mosses for the Survey of Heavy Metal Deposition in Ambient Air of the Kathmandu Valley Applying Active Monitoring Technique. *Ecoprint: An International Journal of Ecology*, 19: 17-29. doi:10.3126/eco.v19i0.9850.
- Shannigrahi, A.S., Fukushima, T., & Sharma, R.C. (2004). Anticipated Air Pollution Tolerance of Some Plant Species Considered for Green Belt Development in and around an Industrial/Urban Area in India: An overview. *International Journal of Environmental Studies*, **61**(2): 125-137 doi: 10.1080/00 20 72 3032000163137.
- Sharma, A. (2014). Evaluation of Air Pollution Tolerant Trees Growing in Solan City of Himachal Pradesh. Medicine Science (Thesis). Department of Environmental Science. Dr. Y.S Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry Solan, India.
- Sharma, B., Sharma, S., & Bhardwaj, S.K. (2017). Effect of Pollution on Relative Water Content in Temperate Species Growing along National Highway 5 in Himachal Pradesh. In *Proceedings of the IEEEFORUM International Conference*, August 20, New Delhi, India.
- Sharma, Baby, & Chettri, M.K. (2012). Remedial Measures for Immobolization of Heavy Metals from Contaminated Soil. *Ecoprint: An International Journal of Ecology*, 19: 49-56.
- Sharma, P., & Dubey, R.S. (2005). Lead Toxicity in Plants. *Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology*, **17**(1): 35-52. doi:10.1590/S1677-04202005000100004.
- Sharma, P., Jha, A.B., Dubey, R.S., & Pessarakli, M. (2012). Reactive Oxygen Species, Oxidative Damage, and Antioxidative Defense Mechanism in Plants Under Stressful Conditions. *Journal of Botany*, pp. 1-26, article ID 217037. doi:10.1155/2012/217037.
- Sharma, S.C., & Roy, R.K. (1999). Bioremediation of Urban Environmental Pollution by Ornamentals. *Journal of Environmental Science and Engineering*, **47:** 131-134.

- Shindell, D., Kuylenstierna, J.C.I., Vignati, E., van Dingenen, R., Amann, M., & Klimont, Z. (2012). Simultaneously Mitigating Near-Term Climate Change and Improving Human Health and Food Security. *Science*, **335**(6065): 183-189. doi:10.1126/science.1210026.
- Shrestha, B. (2001). Air Pollution Status Kathmandu, Nepal. *Air Pollution in Mega Cities of Asia*, 3-5 September, 4.
- Shrestha, H.S., Nepal, O., Khanal, K., & Kapoor, B.K. (2015). A Crosssectional Study of Lung Functions in Traffic Police Personnel at Work in Kathmandu Valley, Nepal. Annals of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine, 1(1): 42-48. doi:10.3126/acclm.v1i1.12315.
- Shrestha, S., Baral, B., Dhital, N.B., & Yang, H.H. (2021). Assessing Air Pollution Tolerance of Plant Species Invegetation Traffic Barriers in Kathmandu Valley, Nepal. Sustainable Environment Research, 31(1): 3-11. doi:10.1186/s42834-020-00076-2.
- Shrestha, S.L. (2018). Assessment of Ambient Particulate Air Pollution and Its Attribution to Environmental Burden of Disease in Kathmandu Valley, Nepal: A Review, **4**(4):
- Shrestha, S., Baral, B., Dhital, N. B., & Yang, H. H. (2021). Assessing Air Pollution Tolerance of Plant Species in Vegetation Traffic Barriers in Kathmandu Valley, Nepal. Sustainable Environment Research, 31, 1-9.
- Singh, S.K., & Rao, D.N. (1983). Evaluation of Plants for Their Tolerance to Air Pollution. In *Proceedings of the Symposium on Air Pollution Control* (pp. 218-224). New Delhi: Indian Association for Air Pollution Control.
- Singh, S.K., Rao, D.N., Agrawal, M., Pandey, J., & Naryan, D. (1991). Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Plants. *Journal of Environmental Management*, **32**(1): 45-55. doi:10.1016/S0301-4797(05) 80080-5.
- Singh, S.N., & Verma, R.D. (2007). Phytoremediation of Air Pollutants: A Review in Environmental Bioremediation Technology. In S.N. Singh & R.D. Tripathi (Eds.), 1, Springer, Berlin Heidelberg (pp. 293-314).
- Singh, S.N., Srivastava, K., Yunus, M., Ahmad, K.J., Sharma, S.C., & Sharga, A.N. (1990).Relative Sensitivity and Tolerance of Some Gladiolus Cultivars to

Sulphurdioxide. *Annals of Botany*, **65**(1): 41-44. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.aob. a087906.

- Skórzyńska-Polit, E., & Baszynski, T. (1997). Difference in Sensitivity of the Photosynthetic Apparatus in Cd-Stressed Runner Bean Plants in Relation to Their Age. *Plant Science*, **128**:11-21.
- Smith, I.K., Vierheller, T.L., & Thorne, C.A. (1989). Properties and Functions of *Glutathione Reductase* in Plants. *Physiologia Plantarum*, **77**(3): 449-456. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054.1989.tb05666.x.
- Socha, N., & Kandziora-Ciupa, A. (2017). Air Pollution Tolerance Index and Heavy Metal Bioaccumulation in Selected Plant Species from Urban Biotopes. Trzęsicki, Barczyk, G. Chemosphere, 183: 471-482.
- Song, G.M., Wang, J., Han, T.T., Wang, Q., Ren, H., & Zhu, H.X. (2019). Changes in Plant Functional Traits and their Relationships with Environmental Factors along An Urban-Rural Gradient in Guangzhou in China. *Ecological Indicators*, 106: 105558. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2019.105558.
- Song, Y., Maher, B.A., Li, F., Wang, X., Sun, X., & Zhang, H. (2015). Particulate Matter Deposited on Leaf of Five Evergreen Species in Beijing, China: Source Identification and Size Distribution. *Atmospheric Environment*, **105**: 53-60. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2015.01.032.
- Squires, V. (2016). Dust Particles and Aerosols: Impact on Biota "A Review" SnejanaB. Variation in Kudzu (*Pueraria lobata* Willd.). *Annals of Botany*, 45(1): 77-80.
- Srivastava, H.S. (1999). Biochemical Defense Mechanism of Plants to Increased Levels of Ozone and Other Atmospheric Pollutants. *Current Science*, **76**: 525.
- Stohs, S.J., & Bagchi, D. (1995). Oxidative Mechanisms in the Toxicity of Metalions. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, **18**(2): 321-336. doi:10.1016/0891-5849(94) 00159-h.
- Subba, H.K., & Subba, R. (2015). Knowledge on Self Care among COPD Patients Attending at Chitwan Medical College Teaching Hospital, Bharatpur. *Journal of Chitwan Medical College*, 4(3): 34-37. doi:10.3126/jcmc.v4i3.11938.
- Subedi, K. (2021). Once again, Kathmandu Breathes World's most Polluted air, AQI hits 303.89µg/m3. Retrieved from https://myrepublica.nagariknetwork.com/

news/onceagain-kathmandu-breathes-world-s-most-polluted-air-aqi-hits-303-89 -mg-m<sup>3</sup>.

- Subramani, S., & Devaanandan, S. (2015). Application of Air Pollution Tolerance Index in Assessing the Air Quality. *International Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 7(7): 216-221.
- Šuškalo, N., Hasanagić, D., Topalić-Trivunović, L., Kukrić, Z., Samelak, I., Savić, A., & Kukavica, B. (2018). Antioxidative and Antifungal Response of Woody Species to Environmental Conditions in the Urban Area. *Ecotoxicology*, 27:1095-1106.
- Suzuki, J.Y., & Bauer, C.E. (1992). Light-Independent Chlorophyll Biosynthesis: Involvement of the Chloroplast Gene Chll (Frxc). *Plant Cell*, 4(8): 929-940. doi:10.1105/tpc.4.8.929.
- Swami, A., & Chauhan, D. (2015). Impact of Air Pollution Induced by Automobile Exhaust Pollution on Air Pollution Tolerance Index (APTI) on Few Species of Plants. Science, 4(3): 342-343.
- Swami, A., Bhatt, D. & Joshi, P.C. (2004). Effect of Automobile Pollution on Sal (Shorea robusta) and Rohini (Mallotus phillipinesis) at Asarori, Dehradun. Himalayan Journal of Environment and Zoology, 18(1): 57-61.
- Tak, A.A., & Kakde, U.B. (2017). Assessment of Air Pollution Tolerance Index of plants: A comparative study. *International Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 9(7): 83. doi:10.22159/ijpps.2017v9i7.18447.
- Tambussi, E.A., Bartoli, C.G., Beltrano, J., Guiamet, J.J., & Araus, J.L. (2000).
  Oxidative Damage to Thylakoid Proteins in Water Stressed Leaves of Wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). *Physiologia Plantarum*, **108**(4): 398-404. doi:10.1034/j.1399-3054.2000.108004398.x.
- Tanee, F.B.G., & Albert, E. (2013). Air Pollution Tolerance Indices of Plants Growing around Umuebulu Gas Flare Station in Rivers State, Nigeria. African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology, 7(1): 1-8.
- Tañgan, F.T. (2007). Lead and Cadmium Content of Selected Plant Species in Baguio City.

- Tankha, K., & Gupta, R.K. (1992). Effect of Water Deficit and SO<sub>2</sub> on Total Soluble Protein, Nitrate Reductase Activity and Free Proline Content in Sunflower Leaf. *Biology Plantarum*, **119:** 15-30.
- Ter, S., Chettri, M.K., & Shakya, K. (2020). Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Some Tree Species of Pashupati and Budhanilkantha Area, Kathmandu. Amrit Research Journal, 1(1): 20-28. doi:10.3126/arj.v1i1.32449.
- Thakar, B.K., & Mishra, P.C. (2010). Dust Collection Potential and Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Tree Vegetation Around Vedanta Aluminium Limited, Jharsuguda, 3 (pp. 603-612). Washington, DC: BioScan.
- Thambavani, D.S., & Kamala, C. (2010). Air Pollution Tolerance Index (APTI) of Some Tree Species Growing Near Rail Roads of Madurai, Tamil Nadu (India). *Journal of Environmental Science & Engineering*, **52**(4): 285-290.
- Thawale, P.R., Satheesh Babu, S., Wakode, R.R., Singh, S.K., Kumar, S., & Juwarkar, A.A. (2011). Biochemical Changes in Plant Leaves As a Biomarker of Pollution Due to Anthropogenic Activity. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 177:527-535.
- The Lancet. (2016). Air Pollution Crossing Borders, 388(10040), 103. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16) 31019-4.
- The World Bank. (2017). Retrieved from http://www.Reducing pollution. Retrieved fromhttp://worldbank.org/en/topic/environment/brief/pollution.
- Tian, Y., Zhao, F., Wang, T., Jim, C.Y., Xu, T., & Jin, J. (2019). Evaluating the Ecological Services of Roof Greening Plants in Beijing Based on Functional Traits. *Sustainability*, **11**(19): 5310. doi:10.3390/su11195310.
- Timilsina, S., Shakya, S., Chaudhary, S., Thapa Magar, G., & Narayan Munankarmi, N. (2022). Evaluation of Air Pollution Tolerance Index (APTI) of Plants Growing alongside Inner Ring Road of Kathmandu, Nepal. *International Journal of Environmental Studies*,**79**(4):698-713. doi: 10. 1080/ 00 20 72 33. 2021.1946346.
- Tiwari, P., & Pandey, S. (2017). Impact of Cement Dust Pollution on Leaf Anatomical Features of *Lantana camara* and *Calotropis procera*. *Curr. Sci. Int.*, 6: 34-40.

- Tiwari, S., & Tiwari, M. (2006). Air Pollution Tolerance Indices of Few Plants Growing Near Raigarh (India). Journal of Environmental Research and Development, 1(2): 129-135.
- Tiwari, S., Agrawal, M., & Marshall, F.M. (2006). Evaluation of Ambient Air Pollution Impact on Carrot Plants at A Sub Urban Site Using Open Top Chambers. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, **119**(1-3): 15-30. doi:10.1007/s10661-005-9001-z.
- Todeschini, V., Lingua, G., D'agostino, G., Carniato, F., Roccotiello, E., & Berta, G. (2011). Effects of High Zinc Concentration on Poplar Leaves: A Morphological and Biochemical Study. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, **71**(1): 50-56. doi:10.1016/j.envexpbot.2010.10.018.
- Tomašević, M., Rajšić, S., Đorđević, D., Tasić, M., Krstić, J., & Novaković, V. (2004). Heavy Metals Accumulation in Tree Leaves from Urban Areas. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, 2(3): 151-154. doi:10.1007/s10311-004-0081-8.
- Tong, Y.P., Kneer, R., & Zhu, Y.G. (2004). Vacuolar Compartmentalization: A Second-Generation Approach to Engineering Plants for Phytoremediation. *Trends in Plant Science*, 9(1): 7-9. doi:10.1016/j.tplants.2003.11.009.
- Tőzsér, D., Horváth, R., & Simon, E., Magura, T. (2023). Heavy Metal Uptake by Plant Parts of *Populus* Species: A meta-analysis. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, **30**(26), 69416-69430.
- Treshow, M. (1984). Diagnosis of Air Pollution Effects and Mimicking Symptoms. In L.M. Treshow (Ed.), Air Pollution and Plant. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Tripathi, A., Tiwari, P.B., Mahima, M., & Singh, D. (2009). Assessment of Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Some Trees in Moradabad City, India. *Journal of Environmental Biology*, **30**(4): 545-550.
- Tripathi, A.K., & Gautam, M. (2007). Biochemical Parameters of Plants as Indicators of Air Pollution. *Journal of Environmental Biology*, **28**(1): 127-132.
- Tsega, Y.C., & Deviprasad, A.G. (2014). Variation in Air Pollution Tolerance Index and Anticipated Performance Index of Roadside Plants in Mysore, India. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 35: 185-190.

- U.S. EPA. (1996). *Method 3050B: Acid Digestion of Sediments, Sludges, and Soils*, Revision 2. Washington, DC.
- Ugolini, F., Tognetti, R., Raschi, A., & Bacci, L. (2013). Quercus ilex L. as Bioaccumulator for Heavy Metals in Urban Areas: Effectiveness of Leaf Washing with Distilled Water and Considerations On the Trees Distance from Traffic. Urban Forestry and Urban Greening, 12(4):576-584. doi: 10. 1016/j. ufug. 2013. 05.007.
- Ugulu, I., Dogan, Y., Baslar, S., & Varol, O. (2012). Biomonitoring of Trace Element Accumulation in Plants Growing at Murat Mountain. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, **9**(3): 527-534. doi:10.1007/s13762-012-0056-4.
- Ugulu, I., Durkan, N., & Dogan, Y. (2015). Heavy Metal Contents of *Malva sylvestris* sold as Edible Greens in the Local Markets of Izmir. *Ekoloji*, **24**(96): 13-25.
- Van Assche, F., Cardinaels, C., & Clijsters, H. (1988). Induction of Enzyme Capacity in Plants as A Result of Heavy Metal Toxicity: Dose-Response Relations in *Phaseolus Vulgaris* L., Treated with Zinc and Cadmium. *Environmental Pollution*, 52(2): 103-115. doi:10.1016/0269-7491(88) 90084-x.
- Van Dingenen, R., Dentener, F.J., Raes, F., Krol, M.C., Emberson, L., & Cofala, J. (2009). The Global Impact of Ozone on Agricultural Crop Yields Under Current and Future Air Quality Legislation. *Atmospheric Environment*, **43**(3): 604-618.
- Vedrenne, M., Borge, R., Lumbreras, J., Conlan, B., Rodríguez, M.E., de Andrés, J.M., & Narros, A. (2015). An Integrated Assessment of Two Decades of Air Pollution.
- Verma, A. (2003). Attenuation of Automobile Generated Air Pollution by Higher Plants (Dissertation). Lucknow: University of Lucknow.
- Verma, R.B., Siddiqi, T.O., & Iqbal, M. (2006). Foliar Response of *Ipomea pes tigridis* L. to Coal-Smoke Pollution. *Turkish Journal of Botany*, **30**(5): 413-417.
- Viard, B., Pihan, F., Promeyrat, S., & Pihan, J.C. (2004). Integrated Assessment of Heavy Metal (Pb, Zn, Cd) Highway Pollution: Bioaccumulation in soil, Graminaceae and land Snails. *Chemosphere*, **55**(10): 1349-1359. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2004.01.003.

- Wagh, N.D., Shukla P.V, Tambe S.B. & Ingle S.T. (2006). Biological Monitoring of Roadside Plants Exposed to Vehicular Pollution in Jalgaon city. *Journal of Environmental Biology*, 27(2): 419-421.
- Wang, Z., Liu, X., & Qin, H. (2019). Bioconcentration and Translocation of Heavy Metals in the soil-plants System in Machangqing Copper mine, Yunnan Province, China. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, **200**: 159-166. doi:10.1016/j.gexplo.2019.02.005.
- Watson, J.G. (2002). Visibility: Science and Regulation. *Journal of the Air and Waste Management Association*, **52**(6): 628-713. doi:10.1080/10473289.2002. 10470813.
- Weis, D. (2016). Lead isotopes. In W. White (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Geochemistry. Encyclopedia of Earth Sciences Series, 1-5. Cham, Germany: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-39193-9-293-1.
- Welz, B. (1985). Atomic Absorption Spectrometry. 2nd. Completely Rev. ed.Weinheim ; New York: VCH
- Wendling, Z.A., Emerson, J.W., De Sherbinin, A. & Esty, D.C. (2020). *Environmental Performance Index 2020* (New Haven, CT: Yale Center For Environmental Law & Policy).
- White, J.D., & Scott, N.A. (2006). Specific Leaf Area and Nitrogen Distribution in New Zealand Forests Species Independently Respond to Intercepted Light. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **226**(1-3):319-329. doi: 10. 1016/j.foreco. 2006. 02. 001.
- Wierzbicka, M., & Antosiewicz, D. (1993). How Lead Can Easily Enter the Food Chain-A Study of Plant Roots. *Science of the Total Environment Suppl.*, 1: 423-429. doi:10.1016/s0048-9697(05) 80043-9. Suppl. 1.
- Willekens, H., Van Camp, W., Van Montagu, M., Inze, D., Langebartels, C., & Sandermann, H. (1994). Ozone, Sulfur Dioxide and Ultraviolet B have Similar Effects on m-rna Accumulation of Antioxidant Genes in *Nicotiana plumbaginifolia* L. *Plant Physiology*, **106**(3): 1007-1014. doi:10.1104/pp. 106.3.1007.

- Wilson, P.J., Thompson, K., & Hodgson, J.G. (1999). Specific Leaf Area and Leaf Dry Matter Content as Alternative Predictors of Plant Strategies. *New Phytologist*, **143**(1): 155-162. doi:10.1046/j.1469-8137.1999.00427.x.
- Wong, C.S.C., & Li, X.D. (2004). Pb Contamination and Isotopic Composition of Urban Soils in Hong Kong. Science of the Total environment, 319(1-3): 185-195.
- Woo, S.Y., Lee, D.K., & Lee, Y.K. (2007). Net Photosynthetic Rate, Ascorbate Peroxidase and Glutathione Reductase Activities of *Erythrina orientalis* in Polluted and No polluted areas.*Photosynthetica*,45(2):293-295. doi: 10. 1007/s 11 099-007 -0047-8.
- Woolhouse, H.W. (1983). Toxicity and Tolerance in the Responses of Plants to Metals. In *Physiological Plant Ecology III: Responses to the Chemical and Biological Environment* (pp. 245-300). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2016). World Health Statistics 2016: Monitoring Health for the SDGs, Sustainable Development Goals. *Geneva*
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2017). Ambient Air Pollution: A Global Assessment of Exposure and Burden of Disease. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ 10665/ 250141/1/9789241511353-eng.
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2017). Media Center. An Estimated 12.6 Million Deaths Each Year are Attributable to Unhealthy Environments. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/newreleases/2016/deaths-attributable-tounhealthy-environments/en/.
- Wright, I.J., Reich, P.B., Westoby, M., Ackerly, D.D., Baruch, Z., & Bongers, F. (2004). The worldwide Leaf Economics Spectrum. *Nature*, **428**(6985): 821-827. doi:10.1038/nature02403.
- Wuytack, T., Wuyts, K., Van Dongen, S., Baeten, L., Kardel, F., Verheyen, K., & Samson, R. (2011). The Effect of Air Pollution and Other Environmental Stressors on Leaf Fluctuating.
- Xu, F., Guo, W., Xu, W., Wei, Y., & Wang, R. (2009). Leaf Morphology Correlates with Water and Light Availability: What Consequences for Simple and

Compound Leaves? *Progress in Natural Science*, **19**(12): 1789-1798. doi:10.1016/j.pnsc. 2009.10.001.

- Yang, J., McBride, J., Zhou, J., & Sun, Z. (2005). The urban Forest in Beijing and its Role in Air Pollution Reduction. Urban Forestry and Urban Greening, 3(2): 65-78. doi:10.1016/j.ufug.2004.09.001.
- Yang, W.D., Wang, Y.Y., Zhao, F.L., Ding, Z.L., Zhang, X.C., Zhu, Z.Q., & Yang, X.E. (2014). Variation in Copper and Zinc Tolerance and Accumulation in 12
  Willow Clones: Implications For Phytoextraction. *Journal of Zhejiang University. Science. B*, 15(9): 788-800. doi:10.1631/jzus.B1400029.
- Yan-ju, L. & Hui, D. (2008). Variation in Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Plant Near A Steel Factory: Implications for Landscape Plant Species Selection for Industrial Areas. *Environment, Development*, 1: 24-30.
- Yannawar, V.B., & Bhosle, A.B. (2013). Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Various Plant Species Around Nanded City, Maharashtra, India. *Journal of Applied Phytotechnology in Environmental Sanitation*, 3(1): 23-28.
- Yılmaz, S., & Zengin, M. (2004). Monitoring Environmental Pollution in Erzurum by Chemical Analysis of Scot Pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) needles. *Environment International*, **29**(8): 1041-1047. doi:10.1016/S0160-4120(03) 00097-7.
- Yulin, L.I., Johnson, D.A., Yongzhong, S.U., Jianyuan, C.U.I., & Zhang, T. (2005). Specific Leaf Area and Leaf Dry Matter Content of Plants Growing in Sand Dunes. *Botanical Bulletin of Academia Sinica*, 46: 127-134.
- Zeb, S., Muhammad, Z.I., Muhammad, S., & Muhammad, A. (2017). The Effect of Particulate Matter on Stomatal Clogging in Certain Roadside Plants of Karachi: Pakistan. *Scientia Agricola*, **17**(3): 98-104.
- Zha, Y., Shi, Y., Tang, J., Liu, X., Feng, C., & Zhang, Y. (2018). Spatial-Temporal Variability and Dust-Capture Capability of 8 Plants in Urban China. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*, 28(1): 453-462. doi:10.15244/pjoes/81679.
- Zhang, H., Zhong, H., Wang, J., Sui, X., & Xu, N. (2016). Adaptive Changes in Chlorophyll Content and Photosynthetic Features to Low Light in *Physocarpus*

*amurensis* Maxim and *Physocarpus opulifolius* "Diabolo". *PeerJ*, **4:** -2125. doi:10.7717/peerj.2125.

- Zhang, W., Wang, B., & Niu, X. (2017). Relationship Between Leaf Surface Characteristics and Particle Capturing Capacities of Different Tree Species in Beijing. *Forests*, 8(3): doi:10.3390/f8030092.
- Zhu, J., Xu, J., Cao, Y., Fu, J., Li, B., Sun, G., & Xu, C. (2021). Leaf Reflectance and Functional Traits as Environmental Indicators of Urban Dust Deposition. *BMC Plant Biology*, **21**(1): 533. doi:10.1186/s12870-021-03308-8.
- Zhuang, P., McBride, M. B., Xia, H., Li, N., & Li, Z. (2009). Health Risk from Heavy Metals via Consumption of Food Crops in the Vicinity of Dabaoshan Mine, South China. *Science of the Total Environment*, **407**(5): 1551-1561. doi:10.1016/j. scitotenv.2008.10.061.

# **APPENDICES**

Appendix 1: Images for measurments of SLA and Leaf area





d



b. Callistemon lanceolatus c. Populus euroamericana d. Ficus a. Cinnamomum camphora religiosa e. Grevillea robusta

2) Images for measurement of micro morphological characters of leaf



a. *Cinnamomum camphora* (Polluted site) b. *Cinnamomum camphora* (Less polluted site) c. *Callistemon lanceolatus* d. *Grevillea robusta* (Less polluted site)e. *Grevillea robusta* (Polluted site) f. *Ficus elastica* (Polluted site)

3) Image for measurment of stomatal length, breadth and density





a. Cinnamomum camphora b. Callistemon lanceolaouts c. Populus euramericana

4) Photos of sample collection, lab work and conference







a.Sample collected at less polluted site b. Mesuring chlorophyll and ascorbic acid at Amrit Campus, Botany Lab c. Attended International Conference

## Appendix 2: List of publications

- Air pollution tolerance index of some selected gymnosperm species along the road side of Kathmandu valley, Nepal. *ECOPRINT*, 24: 13-19, 2017. www.nepjol.info/index.php/eco; www.ecosnepal.com
- 2. Screening of some road side trees for plantation in polluted urban areas of Kathmandu, Nepal. *Pollution Research, 40* (May Suppl. Issue): S45-S53, 2021
- Impact of heavy metals and biochemical parameters on specific leaf area of roadside trees in Kathmandu, *Ecology Environment and Conservation*. 28 (3):1108-1118, 2022. DOI No.: http://doi.org/10.53550/EEC.2022.v28i03.005

ISSN 1024-8668

ECOPRINT **24:** 13-19, 2017 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3126/eco.v24i0.20642 Ecological Society (ECOS), Nepal www.nepjol.info/index.php/eco; www.ecosnepal.com

## AIR POLLUTION TOLERANCE INDEX OF SOME SELECTED GYMNOSPERM SPECIES ALONG THE ROAD SIDE OF KATHMANDU VALLEY, NEPAL

#### Jaya Prakash Hamal\* and Mukesh Kumar Chettri

Department of Botany, Amrit Science Campus Tribhuvan University, Kathmandu, Nepal \*Email: jayahamal@gmail.com

#### ABSTRACT

Response of plants towards air pollution is assessed by air pollution tolerance index (APTI). Four species of Gymnosperms (*Thuja orientiales, Cedrus deodara, Pinus roxburghii* and *Araucaria bidwillii*) were evaluated for APTI. Leaves were collected during winter season from polluted sites (Airport, Dhumbarahi, Jawalakhel, Ratnapark, and Sankhapark) and less polluted site (Narayanthan) of Kathmandu valley. Of four gymnosperm species collected from road side, all species (*Cedrus deodara, Araucaria bidwillii, Thuja orientiales* and *Pinus roxburghii*) showed high value of APTI (i.e., more than 8), indicating their resistance to air pollution.

Key words: Total chlorophyll content, Relative water content, Total ascorbic acid, Leaf extract, and pH.

### INTRODUCTION

Kathmandu has a pollution load in the air containing various pollutants like sulphur oxide, oxide of nitrogen, hydrocarbon, and particulates (Shrestha 2001). Rapid urbanization, industrialization, poor maintenance of road, poorly maintained vehicle deteriorate the air quality in Kathmandu valley (MaYa 2014). Bowl-shaped topography of Kathmandu valley restricts air movement and traps pollutants, and accelerates air pollution.

There are approximately 755,546 vehicles registered in the Bagmati Zone (DOTM 2014). The number of registered vehicles is rapidly increasing in Kathmandu, particularly, in the last five years

accompanied with the rapid increase of urban population and economic development. The motorcycle has increased at an alarming rate of more than 20% in the past five years (JICA 2012).

According to the Pollution Index Rate 2016 published by numbeo.com, a user-generated costof-living statistics website, Kathmandu was ranked at the 3<sup>rd</sup> position with 96.60 pollution index (The Kathmandu Post, March 19, 2016). From the above it is clear that air of Kathmandu contains high amount of dust particles and causes adverse impacts on human health. Impacts of air pollution and dust on plants have largely been neglected. Therefore, in this study an attempt has been made to understand the impacts of pollution on different physiological parameters of some road side gymnosperms and their air pollution tolerance index.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

Kathmandu valley is located between  $27^{\circ}37'30"$  N and  $27^{\circ}45'0"$  N latitude, and  $85^{\circ}15'0"$  E and  $85^{\circ}22'30"$  E longitude with 340 sq km area. The valley is bowl-like structure surrounded by high hills and the altitude of valley floor varies between 1300 m and 1400 m. The prominent boundary features of the valley are Phulchowki Hill (2782 m) in South east, Shivapuri (2713 m) in North, Champa Devi (2400 m) in South West and Nagarjun (2100 m) in West.

A sub-tropical type of climate prevails in Kathmandu valley. The mean annual temperature in the Kathmandu valley is 18°C. The coldest month is January with a mean temperature of 10°C. The warmest months are July and August, with an average temperature of 24°C. The valley has an annual rainfall of 1343 mm. The wettest month is July with an average rainfall of about 378 mm. December is the driest month, the average rainfall is less than 2 mm (www.nepal.climatemps.com/precipitation.php).

Polluted and less polluted sites were selected on the basis of frequency of movement of traffic vehicles. Experimental sites with high traffic areas like Airport, Dhumbarahi, and Sankhapark are along the ring road whereas experimental sites like Ratnapark and Jawalakhel are located inside ring road. Narayanthan was selected as a control site because of less traffic and less air pollution.

Leaf samples of *Thuja orientiales*, *Cedrus deodara*, *Pinus roxburghii* and *Araucaria bidwillii* were collected from different polluted and less polluted sites in winter (December-January). Fully matured leaves were collected in the morning around 9 to 10 am and brought to laboratory for physiological analysis.



Fig. 1.Map of Study site: Kathmandu valley<br/>1) Airport2) Dhumbarahi,<br/>3) Jawalakhel3) Jawalakhel4) Ratnapark,<br/>6) Narayanthan

#### Estimation of relative water content (RWC)

RWC was determined according to Barrs and Weatherly (1962). RWC is a ratio of the amount of water in the leaf tissue at sampling to that present when fully turgid. A composite sample of leaf discs was taken and the fresh weight was taken and then leaf was floated on water for up to 24 h. The turgid weight was then recorded, and the leaf tissue was subsequently oven-dried to a constant weight at about 85°C for 24 h. RWC is calculated by using the following formula:

$$RWC(\%) = \frac{(Fresh weight - dry weight)}{(Turgid weight - dry weight)} \times 100$$

#### Chlorophyll

Chlorophyll estimation was conducted according to Barnes et al. (1992). 0.05 g of leaves were cut in smaller pieces and placed in test tubes containing 5 ml DMSO. Test tubes were incubated in a water bath at 60-65°C for an hour. From preliminary studies this time was judged satisfactory for the full decolorisation of tissues. Cooling at room temperature was followed for 30 min, filtration and absorption measured at 665 nm and 648 nm being the final stages. Blank determination was carried out with DMSO. Absorption measurement was carried out with a Spectrophotometer.
Chlorophyll concentration (a, b and total) was expressed as mg/g fresh weight and determined by the following formulae<sup>16</sup> (Barnes *et al.* 1992).

Chlorophyll a (mg/g F.W) =  $(14.85 A_{665} - 5.14 A_{648})$  (1)

Chlorophyll b (mg/g F.W) =  $(25.48 A_{665} - 7.36 A_{648})$  (2)

Total chlorophyll (mg/g F.W) =  $(7.49 A_{665} + 20.34 A_{648})$  (3)

Where:  $A_{665}$  = absorption value at 665 nm  $A_{648}$ = absorption value at 648 nm

#### Least extract pH

Leaf-extract pH was determined with pH meter. Five g of a leaf sample was crushed, and 50 ml deionized water was added, the obtained suspension was measured with a pH meter (Apriyantono *et al.* 1989).

#### Ascorbic acid (AA)

Ascorbic acid content (expressed in mg/g) was measured using spectrophotometric method (Bajaj and Kaur 1981). One g of the fresh foliage was taken, 4 ml oxalic acid EDTA extracting solution was added to it, then one ml of Orthophospheric acid to it. 1 ml 5% tetraoxosulphate acid was added to this mixture, and then 2 ml of ammonium molybdate and 3 ml of water was added. The solution is then allowed to stand for 15 min after which the absorbance at 760 nm is measured with a spectrophotometer. The concentrations of ascorbic acid in the sample then extrapolated from a standard ascorbic acid curve.

#### Air Pollution Tolerance Index (APTI)

APTI was calculated according to Singh and Rao (1983).

APTI = [A(T+P)+R]/10

Where A = Ascorbic acid content (mg/g), T = total chlorophyll (mg/g), P = pH of leaf extract and R = relative water content of leaf.

#### ECOPRINT VOL 24, 2017

#### Statistical analysis

The data obtained from the above experiments were statistically analyzed using SPSS version 16. ANOVA followed by Duncan's Multiple range test was conducted to understand significant differences (at P = 0.05) among different sites.

#### RESULTS

**Total Chlorophyll** in all four species (*Pinus roxburghii*, *Thuja orientialis*, *Cedrus deodara* and *Araucaria bidwillii*) showed reduction at one or two sites. Total chlorophyll content reduced significantly in *Pinus* at Ratnapark and Shankhapark. Similarly in total chlorophyll (TCH) was reduced in *Thuja* significantly at Shankhpark and Airport. In case of *Cedurus* TCH was reduced significantly (P = 0.05) at Jawalakhel and Ratnapark area. total chlorophyll in *Araucaria* reduced in all sites than in Narayanthan, a control site.

**Relative water content** was significantly higher (P = 0.05) at all polluted sites than in Narayanthan (Table 1). Almost similar pattern for RWC were observed in all species. In *Pinus* and *Thuja* highest RWC was observed at Dhumbarahi and Airport, respectively. But highest RWC was recorded at Ratnapark for both *Cedrus* and *Araucaria*.

**pH** of leaf extract was found to be increased significantly (P = 0.05) in *Pinus roxburghii* at all studied polluted sites. In *Thuja* pH reduced significantly at Dhumbarahi. Inconsistent result was seen in *Cedrus* leaf pH, in some sites (Ratnapark and Jawalakhel). At Airport, Dhumbarahi and Shankhapark significant decrease was observed in pH than in Narayanthan. In *Araucaria*, significant decrease in pH of leaf extract was observed at Jawalakhel.

Ascorbic Acid concentration in all species increased at most of the polluted sites than in less polluted site Narayanthan. Concentration of Ascorbic acid in *Thuja orientialis* increased significantly at all sites than in Narayanthan (control site). In *Pinus*, significant increase in Ascorbic Acid was recorded at Jawalakhal, Ratnapark and Shankhapark.

**APTI** values at all polluted sites were found to be higher than in less polluted site, Narayanthan. Among the studied gymnosperms, APTI value was recorded more than 8 in all gymnosperms, indicating their ability to withstand pollution.

Table 1. Mean value ± standard deviation of total chlorophyll (TCH in mg/g), Relative water content (RWC in %), pH, Ascorbic acid (AA in mg/g) and Air pollution tolerance index (APTI) of (A) *Pinus roxburghii*, (B) *Thuja orientialis*, (C) *Cedrus deodara* and (D) *Araucaria bidwillii* at different sampling sites of Kathmandu valley.

(A) Pinus roxburghii

Sites	TCH±SD	RWC	pH	AA	APTI
Airport	3.530±0.216 B	83.470±8.909 CD	6.210±0.197 C	0.464±0.053 A	8.801±0.943 B
Dhumbarahi	3.736±0.617 B	85.717±5.950 D	4.632±0.120 B	0.445±0.057 A	8.941±0.571 B
Jawalakhel	3.645±0.111 B	72.71±4.743 B	6.160±0.089 C	0.843±0.088 B	6.891±0.320 A
Ratnapark	0.629±0.283 A	77.161±4.831 BC	6.160±0.089 C	0.725±0.015 B	7.505±0.804 A
Shankhapark	0.684±0.47 A	77.57±5.518 BC	6.160±0.089 C	0.832±0.065 B	7.827±0.940 A
Narayanthan	3.555±0.586 B	61.36±5.428 A	4.294±0.164 A	0.485±0.160 A	7.537±0.376 A

(B) Thuja orientialis

Sites	TCH±SD	RWC	рН	AA	APTI
Airport	2.364±0.1234AB	81.799±5.510C	6.320±0.17889B	0.465±0.053B	8.447±0.637 C
Dhumbarahi	3.551±0.579C	76.814±4.152BC	5.300±0.27386A	0.424±0.848B	8.093±0.459BC
Jawalakhel	3.665±0.181BC	72.393±5.189B	6.464± 025938B	0.716±0.1406C	8.138±0.577BC
Ratnapark	3.378±0.177C	72.393±5.28B	6.564±0.03578B	0.695±0.067C	7.597±0.641ABC
Shankhapark	0.599±0.236A	73.824±6.45B	6.516±0.00894B	0.843±0.0516D	6.939±2.109AB
Narayanthan	3.295±0.585BC	60.205±1.960A	6.520±0.05814B	0.305±0.098A	6.347±0.542A

#### (C) Cedrus deodara

Sites	TCH±SD	RWC	pH	AA	APTI
Airport	3.128±0.461C	72.136±3.361AB	4.104±0.058A	0.383±0.041A	6.677±1.079A
Dhumbarahi	3.232±0413C	79.168±6.984CD	4.128±0.071A	0.882±0.041C	7.856±1.291AB
Jawalakhel	1.085±0.132A	84.827±4.976CD	5.664±0.371C	$0.803 \pm 0.067 B$	$8.907 \pm 0.800 B$
Ratnapark	0.672±0.0598A	85.435±4.128D	5.764±0.147C	$0.814 \pm 0.049 B$	$8.705 \pm 0.414 B$
Shankha park	3.474±0.242C	78.168±6.984BC	4.128±0.071A	0.882±0.041C	7.876±1.283AB
Narayanthan	2.169±0.960B	66.403±2.002A	4.480±0.268B	0.384±0.042A	7.096±0.556A

ECOPRINT VOL 24, 2017

(D) Araucaria bidwillii

Sites	TCH±SD	RWC	pН	AA	APTI
Airport	0.812±0.138 A	86.292±4.233C	6.356±0.149B	0.644±0.130B	8.861±0.694C
Dhumbarahi	2.759±0.352 B	85.492±5.461C	$6.260 \pm .000 B$	0.644±0.130B	7.026±1.417B
Jawalakhel	0.8011±0.043A	72.709±7.337B	5.776±0.251A	0.302±0.064A	5.404±0.581A
Ratnapark	0.599±0.207 A	88.292±4.233C	6.248±0.026B	0.711±0.052B	8.648±0.805C
Shankha park	0.650±0.196 A	86.892±2.993C	6.248±0026B	0.644±0.130B	8.963±0.777C
Narayanthan	3.596±0.611 C	52.898±2.389A	6.336±0.187B	0.245±0.509A	5.576±0.514A

Identical letters following the mean value  $\pm$  SD in the vertical column (for each plant species) denote no significance difference among sites at P=0.05 by Duncan's multiple range test followed after ANOVA.

#### DISCUSSION

Air pollution tolerant index (APTI) is an index that shows capability of a plant to tolerate air pollution. Plants which have higher index value are tolerant to air pollution and can be used to with stand pollution, while plants having low index value show less tolerance and can be used to indicate levels of air pollution (Singh and Rao 1983). All gymnosperm plants under present study showed high APTI value at polluted sites indicating their ability to combat air pollution. To understand APTI value, different physiological parameters like chlorophyll content, ascorbic acid, relative water content and pH were considered. To understand the physiological phenomena related with air pollution tolerance in plant, the above mentioned parameters are discussed below.

Chlorophyll content of plants determines its photosynthetic activity as well as the growth and development of biomass. The chlorophyll content of plant differs from species to species with the age of leaf and also with the pollution level (Katiyar and Dubey 2001). Present study showed that chlorophyll content in all the plants varies with the pollution status of the area. It also varies with the tolerance as well as sensitivity of the plant species, i.e., higher the sensitive nature of the plant species lower the chlorophyll content. High total chlorophyll content was observed in *Pinus roxburghii* even in polluted site and these may be due to its tolerance nature (Beg *et al.* 1990, Jyothi and Jaya 2010).

ECOPRINT VOL 24, 2017

Ascorbic acid is regarded as an antioxidant found in plants, and influences resistance to a adverse environmental condition including air pollution (Keller and Schwager 1977, Lima et al. 2000). Ascorbic acid (AA) is a strong reducing agent and it activates many physiological and defence mechanism. Its reducing power is directly proportional to its concentration (Raza and Murthy 1988, Lewis 1976). Being a very important reducing agent, ascorbic acid also plays a vital role in cell wall synthesis, defense and cell division (Conklin 2001). Present study showed increase in the concentration of ascorbic acid in polluted with respect to the control site in all studied gymnosperms-Araucaria bidwillii, Thuja orientialis, Cedrus deodar and Pinus roxburghii. Increase in ascorbic acid may be due to the increased rate of production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) during photo-oxidation of SO<sub>2</sub> to SO<sub>3</sub> (Chaudhary and Rao 1977) or other pollutants. These acids may bind toxic metals in large quantity and help in defence mechanism. Thus higher ascorbic acid content of the plant can be considered as a sign of its tolerance against the pollutants.

Leaf extract pH increased at different sites in the present study. High pH may increase the efficiency of conversion from hexose sugar to Ascorbic acid, while low leaf extract pH showed good correlation with sensitivity to air pollution (Escobedo *et al.* 2008, Pasqualini *et al.* 2001). Scholz and Reck (1977) have reported that in presence of an acidic pollutant, the leaf pH is lowered and the decline is greater in sensitive species. A shift in cell sap pH towards the acid side in presence of an acidic pollutant might decrease the efficiency of conversion of hexose sugar to ascorbic acid. However, the reducing activity of ascorbic acid is pH dependent being more at higher and lesser at lower pH. Hence increase in the leaf extract pH gives tolerance to plants against pollution.

Only *Pinus roxburghii* showed significant increase in leaf extract pH level as compare to less polluted site Narayanthan. Other studied plants showed insignificant difference or decrease in pH indicating possibility of presence of acidic pollutants in the atmosphere. There are so many factors controlling tolerance in plants. Plants with lower pH are more susceptible, while those with pH around 7 are more tolerant (Bakiyaraj and Ayyappan 2014). From this statement *Cedrus deodara* is more susceptible and others are comparatively more tolerant species.

Relative water content in Pinus roxburghii, Thuja orientiales, Cedrus deodara, and Araucaria *bidwillii* increased significantly (P = 0.05) in all polluted sites than in less polluted site, Narayanthan. Water is crucial prerequisite for plant life. High RWC favours drought resistance in plants (Swami et al. 2004). High water content within plant body possibly helps to maintain its physiological balance under stress condition such as exposure to air pollution when the transpiration rates are usually high. It also serves as an indicator of drought resistance in plants. Relative water content (RWC) of a leaf is the water present in it relative to its full turgidity. Relative water content is associated with protoplasmic permeability in cells causeing loss of water and dissolved nutrients, resulting in early senescence of leaves (Agrawal and Tiwari 1997). High relative water content in plants under polluted condition might be an strategy of tolerant species of plants to withstand pollutants.

From the study it can be concluded that *Pinus roxburghii*, *Thuja orientiales*, *Cedrus deodara* and *Araucaria bidwillii* have high APTI and hence they can withstand air pollution along the roads in Kathmandu. These plants mostly adjusted their physiology by increasing total chlorophyll content, ascorbic acids content, pH and relative water content.

#### REFERENCES

- Abida, B. and S. Harikrishna. 2010. Evaluation of some tree species to absorb air pollutants in three industrial locations of South Bengaluru, India. *E-Journal of Chemistry* 7(S1):51-56.
- Agrawal, S. and S.L. Tiwari. 1997. Susceptibility level of few plants on the basis of air pollution tolerance index. *Indian Forester* **1(2)**:319-322.
- Apriyantono, A., D. Fardiaz, N.L. Puspitasari and B.S. Sedarnawati.1989. *Analysis Pangan*. Bogor: IPB Pr.
- Bajaj, K.L. and G. Kaur. 1981. Spectrophoto metric determination of Ascorbic Acid in vegetation and fruits. *Analyst* 106:117-120.
- Bakiyaraj, R. and D. Ayyappan. 2014. Air pollution tolerance index of some terrestrial plants around an industrial area. *International Journal of Modern Research and Reviews* 2:1-7.
- Barnes, J.D., L. Balaguer, E. Manrique, S. Elvira and A.W. Davison. 1992. A reappraisal of the use of DMSO for the extraction and determination of chlorophylls a and b in lichens and higher plants. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 32:85-100.
- Barr, H.D. and P.E. Weatherley. 1962. A reexamination of the relative turgidity technique for estimating water deficit in leaves. *Aust. J. Biol. Sci.* 15:413-428.
- Beg, M.U., M.H. Farooq, S.K. Bhargava, M.M. Kidwai and M.M. Lal. 1990. Performance of trees around a thermal power station. *Environ. Ecol.* 8:791-797.

- Chaudhary, C.S. and D.N. Rao. 1977. Study of some factors in plants controlling their susceptibility to sulphur dioxide pollution. *Proc. Ind. Natl. Sci. Acad.* Part B., 46:236-241.
- Conklin, P.L. 2001. Recent advances in the role and biosynthesis of ascorbic acid in plants. *Plant Cell Environ.* **24:**383-394.
- DOTM, Government Nepal. 2014. https://www.dotm.gov.np/aploads/files/details\_ of\_Registration\_of\_Transport\_Type.
- Escobedo, F. J., D.J. Wagner, C.L. Nowak, D.L. Maza, M. Rodrigyez and D.E. Crane. 2008. Analysing the cost effectiveness of Santiago, Chiles policy of urban forests to improve air quality. *J. Environ. Biol.* **29**:377-379.
- JICA (Japan International Cooperation Agency). 2012. Data Collection Survey on Traffic Improvement in Kathmandu Valley. Final report submitted to Ministry of Physical Planing works and transport Management, Development of Roads, Government of Nepal. 92 pp.
- Jyothi S.J. and D.S. Jaya. 2010. Evaluation of air pollution tolerance index of selected plant species along roadside in Thiruvananthpuram, Kerala. J. Environ. Bio. **31:**379-386.
- Katiyar, V. and P.S. Dubey. 2001. Sulphur dioxide sensitivity on two stage of leaf development in a few tropical tree species. *Ind. J. Environ. Toxicol.* 11:78-81.
- Keller, Th. and H. Schwager. 1977. Air pollution and ascorbic acid. *European J. Forest Pathology* 7:338-350.
- Lewis, S. 1976. Vitamin C: Its Molecular Biology and Medical Potential. Academic Press, London.
- Lima, A.S., R.M. Alegre and A.J.A. Meirelles. 2000. Partitioning of pectinolyticenzymes in polyethylene glycol/potassium phosphate aqueous two-phase systems. *Carbohydrate Polymers* **50**:63-68.
- MaYa (Manav-Kendrit Yatayat Abhiyan). 2014. A Factsheet # 5. air quality status and

#### ECOPRINT VOL 24, 2017

Management in Kathmandu valley. Clean Energy Nepal and UN Habitat. pp. 8.

- Pasqualini, S., P. Batini, L. Ederli, A. Porceddu, C. Piccioni, F. DE Marchis and M. Antonielli. 2001. Effects of short-term ozone fumigation on tobacco plants: Response of the scavenging system and expression of the glutathione reductase. *Plant Cell Environ.* 24:245-252.
- Raza, S.H. and M.S.R. Murthy. 1988. Air pollution tolerance index of certain plants of Nacharam Industrial Area, Hyderabad. *Indian J. Bot.* 11(1):91-95.
- Scholz, F. and S. Reck. 1977. Effects of acids on forest trees as measured by titration *in vitro* inheritance of buffering capacity in *Picea-Abies. Water, Air and Soil Pollut.* 8:41-45.
- Shakya, K., M.K. Chettri and Thomas Sawidis. 2012. Use of mosses for the survey of heavy metal deposition in ambient air of the Kathmandu valley applying active monitoring technique. *Ecoprint* 19:17-29.
- Shrestha, B. 2001. *Air Pollution Status Kathmandu, Nepal.* Air pollution in the mega cities of Asia, 3-5 September 2001, Seoul, Korea.
- Shrestha, R.M. and A.K. Raut. 2002. Air quality in Kathmandu. Air quality in Asian and Pacific cities (BAQ, 2002) 16<sup>th</sup> December 2002—18 December 2002. Honkong Conversion and Exhibition Centre (HK CEC).
- Singh, S.K. and D.N. Rao. 1983. Evaluation of plants for their tolerance to air pollution. In: *Proc. Symp. on Air Pollution Control* held at IIT, Delhi. pp. 218-224.
- Swami, A., D. Bhatt and P.C. Joshi. 2004. Effects of automobile pollution on sal (Shorea robusta) and rohini (Mallotus phillipinensis) at Asarori, Dehradun. Himalayan Journal of Environment and Zoology 18(1):57-61.
- The Kathmandu Post. 2016. Kathmandu: The third most polluted city in the world. *The Kathmandu Post*, March 19, 2016, Kantipur Publication.

# SCREENING OF SOME ROAD SIDE TREES FOR PLANTATION IN POLLUTED URBAN AREAS OF KATHMANDU, NEPAL

#### \*JAYA PRAKASH HAMAL<sup>1</sup> AND MUKESH K CHETTRI<sup>2</sup>

Department of Botany, Amrit Campus, Tribhuvan University, Kathmandu, Nepal

(Received 1 December, 2020; accepted 24 December, 2020)

#### ABSTRACT

Kathmandu valley is facing air pollution problem because of rapid increase in vehicular emissions. Some common road side trees like *Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus religiosa, Grevillea robusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia* and *Populus euroamericana* were evaluated for their air pollution tolerance index (APTI) and metal accumulation index (MAI). These two indices were measured during winter season at different polluted sites (Airport, Balaju, Banasthali, Basundhara Dhumbarahi and Gongbu) and less polluted site (Narayanthan) in Kathmandu. Air pollution tolerance Index (APTI) ranged from 12.51±0.74 to 15.67±0.75. Highest APTI value was observed in *Populus euroamericana* (15.67±0.75) at Dhumbarahi. The mean value of metal accumulation index (MAI) values ranged from 7.34 to 20.44 and highest MAI value was observed in *Populuseuroa mericana* (20.44). Correlation of APTI and heavy metal (Cu, Pb and Zn) accumulation in most of the studied tree leaves were negative showing their inverse relationship, which indicated the heavy metal avoidance mechanism among them for their survival. *Populus euroamericana, Jacaranda mimosifolia and Callistemon lanceolatus* with high MAI and intermediate APTI range are recommended for plantation on road side of Kathmandu.

KEY WORDS : Metal Accumulation Index (MAI), Urban area, Avoidance mechanism, APTI

#### INTRODUCTION

Kathmandu valley, ranging from 1200 to 1400 m above sea level in subtropical zone, has bowl shaped topography, which makes it more prone to air pollution (Pradhanet et al., 2012; Shrestha, 2001). Rapid urbanization, industrialization, poor maintenance of road, poorly maintained vehicle deteriorate the air quality in Kathmandu valley (MaYa, 2014) and particulate matter are being one of the major pollutants (Shrestha, 2001). Vehicle numbers in Kathmandu Valley has rapidly increased in the last 15 years. Data have shown that in the fiscal year 2000/2001, number of registered vehicles was 24,003 and by 2015/2016 it has increased to 7,79,822. This shows an increment by more than 32 times in the last one and a half decade (Saud and Paudel, 2018).

Biochemical parameters like leaf pH, relative water content, chlorophyll content, and ascorbic acid content collectively suggested as the best index of the susceptibility levels of plants known as air pollution tolerance index (APTI) (Kuddus et al., 2011; Rai et al., 2013). The sensitivity or tolerance of a plant depends upon these parameters (Liu nad Ding, 2008; Singh and Verma, 2007). Trees with high air pollution tolerance index (APTI) values can tolerate as well as withstand to air pollution to a greater extent than those with less APTI value. Resistance of heavy metals in a plant is performed either by avoidance or tolerance mechanism. Avoiders group of plants can protect themselves by stopping metal ions through entering their cellular cytoplasm while tolerant plants can detoxify metal ions through crossed organelle biomembranes or internal the plasma membrane (Millaleo et al., 2010). It is not clear if the plants with high APTI value also have high bio-accumulation ability or APTI are inversely related with metal accumulation. Hence to ascertain this, APTI and metal accumulation in six common roadside tree species growing in high vehicle traffic (polluted) and less vehicle traffic (less

polluted) areas were studied in Kathmandu.In the present study, based on the high APTI and MAI value the common road side tree species will be screened for plantation, as the screened plants will be able to accumulate more heavy metals and also will have high tolerance to withstand pollution.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

Leaf samples of six common road side trees like *Callistemon lanceolatus, Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus religiosa, Grevillea robusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia and Populus euroamericana* were collected from high traffic areas (Airport, Balaju, Banasthali, Basndhara, Gongobu Dhumbarahi) and less traffic area (Narayanthan, a control site) (Fig. 1) on the same day around 9.00 to 10:00 AM for (A) APTI and (B) metal analysis.



Fig. 1. Map of Study site: Kathmandu showing sampling sites -1. Airport 2. Balaju 3. Banasthali 4. Basundhara 5. Dhumbarahi 6. Gongbu and 7. Narayanthan

(A) **APTI** : All the collected leaves were cleaned thoroughly in dry condition using brush and cotton before the processing for APTI. APTI was obtained by using the parameters like ascorbic cacid content, leaf extract pH, total chlorophyll content and relative water content according to Singh and Rao (1983).

APTI = [A (T + P) + R] / 10

(Where A is the ascorbic acid content (mg  $g^{-1}$ ) of fresh weight; T is the total chlorophyll (mg  $g^{-1}$ ) of fresh weight; P is the pH of leaf extract and R is the relative content of water (%.).

Ascorbic acid (AA) and total chlorophyll (TC) content of leaf samples was determined using spectrophotometer according to Bajaj and Kaur (1981) and Barnes *et al.* (1992) respectively. Relative water content (RWC) and leaf extract pH was measured according to Barrs *et al.* (1962) and Apriyantono *et al.* (1989) respectively.

(B) Metal Analysis: For metal analysis, the leaves were washed with running tap water, rinsed with double deionized water and then dried at room temperature (20 °C) about 24-48 hours. Again dried at 60 °C for 48 hours. The dried leaf samples were grinded using mortar and pestle to prepare representative samples.1 g DW of the representative sample was dipped in 8 ml concentrated HNO<sub>2</sub> (Merck). These were left overnight at room temperature. On the next day, the mixture was warmed for 2 h at 50 °C and subsequently heated at 160 °C for 4 h. The cooled extracts were filtered through Ashless filter paper (Whatman 589<sup>3</sup>) and were diluted to prepare 25 ml with double deionized water (Sawidis et al., 1995c). The filtrates were then analyzed for Cu, Pb and Zn by using Perkin Elmer (2380) Atomic Absorption Spectrometer (AAS) at wavelength 324.7 nm for Cu, 283.3nm for Pb and 213.9nm for Zn (Welz, 1985). Two plant materials of National Bureau of Standard (USA) each with Nos. 1537 (Tomato leaves) and 1575 (Pine needles) were analyzed following the same procedure and the metal recoveries obtained were 95.5%, 94.2% and 97.5% for Cu, Pb and Zn respectively. The relative standard deviation of the measurements was 2.7% for Cu. 7.5% for Pb and 3.9% for Zn. Ultimately metal accumulation index (MAI) was calculated by the formula given by Liu et al. (2007).

(C) Statistical Analysis: All the data analysis was conducted using SPSS program version 17.0. To evaluate the significant differences of various biochemical parameters (for the APTI) and heavy metals (Zn, Cu, Pb, Cr and Ni) concentrations among the study sites in the same species, the data obtained were analyzed statistically using one-way ANOVA followed by Duncan's multiple range test. Data of APTI parameters and heavy metals (Zn, Cu and Pb) were further subjected to Pearson's correlations test to assess the relationship between them.

#### RESULTS

Ascorbic acid, total chlorophyll, relative water content, potentiality of hydrogen pH and Air Pollution Tolerance Index of different plants at different sites of Kathmandu are given in Table 1. Ascorbic acid (AA) content in the studied plants ranged from  $2.96\pm0.11$  to  $8.86\pm0.38$  mg g<sup>-1</sup>. Out of six tree species two species (*Cinmomnaum camphora* and *Grevellia robusta*) had highest AA content in Airport site and the rest four species (*Callistemon lanceolatus, Ficus religiosa, Jacaranda mimosifolia* and *Populus euroamericana*) had highest ascorbic acid content in Narayanthan, a less polluted site. All other polluted sites (Balaju, Banasthali, Basndhara, Gongobu and Dhumbarahi) mostly had less amount of AA content than in control site.

In all the studied tree species, except *Ficus religiosa*, total chlorophyll (TC) was found to bemostly significantly increased in polluted sites than at control site. TC in all the studied plants, except *Grevillea robusta*, were lowest in Airport. Highest TC in *Cinnamomum camphora*, *Grevillea robusta* and *Populus euroamericana* was recorded in Basundhara, a polluted site. Similarly, highest TC content in *Callistemon lanceolatus* and *Jacaranda mimosifolia* was also recorded in polluted sites, Gongobu and Balaju, respectively.

Relative water content (RWC) in the studied plants ranged from 36.93±10.47to 96.33±2.13%. Almost all studied plants, except *Grevillea robusta*, recorded more than 80% RWC in some polluted sites (Table 1). In *Jacaranda mimosifolia*, RWC was significantly higher in all polluted sites than in control site, but in other species this trend was not observed.

The leaf extract pH of Cinnamomum camphora, Ficus reliogisa, Grevillea robusta and Populus euroamericana reduced significantly (p=0.05) in most of the polluted sites than at Narayanthan (Control site). In Callistemon lanceolatus the highest leaf extract pH was found in Dhumbarahi (6.45±0.21) and lowest in Airport (3.53±0.03). In Jacaranda mimosifolia the highest leaf extract pH was recorded in Basundhara (6.48±0.05) and lowest in Airport (3.53±0.03). pH range in Callistemon lanceolatus and Jacaranda mimisifolia at polluted and control sites were wide ranging from 3.53 to 6.48 in leaf extract, but in Cinnamomum camphora it was comparatively moderate and ranged from 4.66 to 6.82. pH range in Ficus reliogisa, Grevillea robusta and Populus euroamericana were comparatively narrow and ranged from 5.04 to 6.82 among polluted and less polluted sites (Table 1). From this it is evident that the species like Ficus religiosa, Grevillea robusta and Populus euroamericana are more tolerant to air pollutants.

APTI values obtained by different species at

different sites ranged from 7.09 (in *Grevillea*) to 15.67 (in *Populus*). Based on the maximum APTI value scored, the plant species from lowest to highest were in the order *Cinnamomum camphora* > *Callistemon lanceolatus* > *Grevillea robusta* > *Ficus religiosa* > *Jacaranda mimosifolia* > *Populus euroamericana* and their respective APTI values were  $12.51\pm0.74$ > $12.55\pm0.78$ > $13.08\pm0.$  >  $13.97\pm0.54$  >  $14.61\pm0.30$ >  $15.67\pm0.75$  (Table 1).

#### Heavy metal content and Metal Accumulation Index (MAI) in the leaves

Metal (Zn, Cu and Pb) concentrations in different leaf samples at different sites are given in Table 2. All metals accumulation in the polluted sites were mostly significantly (p= 0.05) higher than the control site (Narayanthan). Zinc accumulation was highest in *Populus euroamericana* in most of the sites, Cu accumulation was highest in *Jacaranda mimosifolia* at most sites and Pb accumulation was recorded highest in *Callistemon lanceolatus* at the Airport. Accumulation of metals in different plants collected from the same area differed (Table 2).

Among six tree species MAI values (40.69) was highest recorded in the leaves of *Populus euroamericana* collected from Airport site. The mean MAI value obtained from low to high were in the order 7.34>9.59>9.65>15.61>15.69>20.44 for *Cinnamomum camphora> Grevillearobusta > Ficus religiosa > Callistemon lanceolatus> Jacaranda mimosifolia > Populus euroamericana* (Table 2)

# Correlations of metals with the physiological parameters of APTI

The correlation of different metal (Zn, Cu and Pb) content and different biochemical parameters (RWC, AA, pH, TC) and APTI) of the studied six tree species are given in Table 3. RWC and zinc content mostly showed negative correlation in all studied tree species and was significant (p=0.05) in Callistemon lanceolatus. Similarly Cu was found to be positively significantly (p=0.05) correlated with RWC of Grevelliea robusta and negatively significant (p<0.01) with Callistemon lanceolatus and Jacaranda mimosifolia. Significant negative correlation was observed between Pb content in leaves and RWC in Grevelliea. Cumulative effect of Pb+Cu+Zn accumulation was found to be negatively correlated with RWC in all plants and was significant (p<0.05) in Grevelliea robusta and Jacaranda mimosifolia.

Mostly negative correlation was observed between AA content and Zn accumulation in the

<b>Table 1.</b> The p Tolera	hysiological parameters- (A ince Index of different plant:	) Ascorbic Acid, ( s at different sites	B) Total chloroph of Kathmandu	ıyll, (C)Relative w	ater content (D)	potentiality of hy	drogen pH and (	E)Air Pollution
Physiological	Plants			Sites				
parameters		Airport	Balaju	Banasthali	Basundhara	Dhumbarahi	Gongbu	Narayanthan
Ascorbic Acid (mg/g)	Callistemon lanceolatus Cinnamonum camphora Ficusreliogisa Grevillearobusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia Populuseuroa mericana	7.54±0.79C 8.6±0.53 D 8.38±0.34 C 7.28±0.73 C 6.28±2.06 BC 8.35±0.51 B	5.42±2.12 AB 3.04±0.32 A 3.06±0.23 A 4.2±1.60 AB 6.52±1.68 BC 8.32±0.3 B	4.38±2.25 AB 5.28±0.63 C 3.32±0.35 A 5.34±2.21 B 4.95±1.74 AB 8.6±0.60 B	3.78±0.37 A 3.78±0.96 AB 3.96±0.65 A 8.52±00.40 C 7.86±0.20 CDE 6.74±2.01 A	4.58±1.19 AB 4.56±1.04 BC 3.7±0.80 A 5.04±0.74 B 8.36±0.58 DE 8.86±0.38 B	4.28±0.27 AB 2.96±0.11 A 5.22±0.74 B 4.94±0.34 AB 3.78±0.38 A 8.35±0.67 B	7.62±1.69 C 4.56±0.84 BC 8.38±0.65 C 5.54±0.32 B 8.64±0.35 E 8.15±0.76 B
Total chlorophyll (mg/g)	Callistemon lanceolatus Cinnamonum camphora Ficusreliogisa Grevillearobusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia Populuseuroa mericana	0.14±0.02 A 0.11±0.04 A 0.2±0.09 A 1.12±0.01 E 0.31±0.08 A 0.58±0.07A	0.48±0.05 B 0.54±0.06 B 0.79±0.37 B 0.42±0.01 A 1.65±0.00 E 0.71±0.02 AB	0.61±0.107 C 0.66±0.02 CD 0.4±0.09 A 1.13±0.02 E 0.93±0.35 BC 0.71±0.02 AB	0.61±0.10 C 0.72±0.11 D 0.81±0.32B 1.14±0.02 E 1.25±0.21 D 1.4±0.08 D	0.61±0.08 C 0.57±0.14 BC 0.71±0.02 B 0.6±0.05 B 0.93±0.11 BC 0.92±0.04 C	0.74±0.04 D 0.2±0.05 A 0.8±0.01 B 0.79±0.03 C 1.12±0.059 B 0.69±0.30 AB	0.68±0.041 CD 0.67±0.07 CD 1.17±0.11 C 1.03±0.05 D 0.79±0.07 A 0.7±0.11 AB
Relative Water content (%)	Callistemon lanceolatus Cinnamomum camphora Ficusreliogisa Grevillearobusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia Populuseuroa mericana	70.83±10.89 BC 60.77±4.64 A 56.21±6.70 A 69.21±7.08C 57.25±2.72 B 73.9±5.46 BC	57.63±8.52 A 80.85±6.6 B 96.33±2.13 D 43.95±2.53 AB 58.59±14.11 B 74.03±3.05 BC	62.92±11.07 AB 70.45±4.59A 62.92±23.7 AB 69.21±7.08 CD 86.09±1.52C 71.6±17.43ABC	62.17±10.18 AB 83.15±13.60BC 75.8±18.13 B 47.78±3.17 B 58.96±13.09 B 66.32±6.25 AB	93.33±4.01E 92.37±2.65 C 94.35±0.77 C D 75.19±4.06 D 85.76±5.50 C 89.65±7.04 D	86.65±3.82 DE 66±4.66 A 69.13±9.53 AB 36.93±10.47 A 85.843±3.45C 60.03±9.81A	75.4±8.31 C 86.08±9.32 BC 73.08±6.47 BC 72.71±13.26 CD 40.44±2.77 A 73.39±11.68 BC
Potentiality of hydrogen pH	Callistemon lanceolatus Cinnamomum camphora Ficusreliogisa Grevillearobusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia Populuseuroa mericana	3.58±0.02 A 5.71±0.02 B 5.94±0.01 D 6.24±0.03 C 3.53±0.03 A 6.24±0.03 B	5.79±0.01 C 5.98±0.03 CD 6.82±0.02 F 6.02±0.03 B 5.34±0.13 D 6.32±0.18 BC	4.57±0.50 B 5.9±0.02 C 5.04±0.03 B 6.56±0.04 D 4.9±0.25B 6.42±0.05 BC	6.25±0.03 D 6.62±0.08E 6.37±0.05 B 5.78±0.05 A 6.48±0.05 F 6.59±0.38B C	6.45±0.21D 6.62±0.08 E 6.63±0.03 E 6.08±0.02 B 6.15±0.03 E 6.64±0.15 C	6.14±0.03 D 4.66±0.03 A 5.63±0.06 C 6.08±0.01 B 4.76±0.03 B 5.18±0.63 A	5.57±0.34 C 6.82±0.13 F 6.78±0.09 F 6.76±0.12 E 5.14±0.01 C 6.68±0.10 C
Air pollution Tolerance Index (APTI)	Callistemon lanceolatus Cinnamomumcamphora Ficusreliogisa Grevillea robusta, Jacaranda mimosifolia Populuseuro americana	9.89±1.15 B 11.09±0.60 BC 10.77±0.65 BC 13.08±0.61 C 8.21±0.82 A 13.09±0.77 BC	9.17±1.19 AB 10.07±0.83 B 11.96±0.35 C 7.1±1.15 A 12.32±1.74 BC 13.26±0.56 BC	8.66±2.40 AB 10.51±0.84 B 8.1±2.35 A 11.03±2.07281 B 8.65±2.57 A 13.54±0.61 C	12.08±0.19 C 10.87±1.35 BC 10.43±1.35 A 10.67±0.33 B 12.01±1.20 BC 11.97±1.49 AB	12.55±0.78 C 12.51±0.74 D 12.15±0.62 C 10.88±0.73 B 14.61±0.30 D 15.67±0.75 D	11.61±0.50 C 8.03±0.41 A 10.27±1.26 B 7.09±1.02 A 10.79±0.52 B 10.94±1.09 A	12.26±0.66 C 12.03±1.20 CD 13.97±0.54 D 11.59±1.23 BC 9.02±00.24 A 13.36±0.97 BC
Different capita	ul letter along the row after n	nean ± sd indicate	s significant diffe	erence at p=0.05ob	stained from Dun	ican's multiple rai	nge test after one	way ANOVA

S48 5

# HAMAL AND CHETTRI

Plants	Sites	Zn mg/kg	Cu mg/kg	Pb mg/kg	MAI
Callistemon lanceolatus				Mean	15.61
	Airport	15.54±0.42 C	5.41±0.62 EF	40.33±1.84 E	20.09
	Balaju	38.46±0.91 F	5.87±0.30 F	32.41±0.93 C	32.09
	Banasthali	43.76±3.23 G	7.56±0.38 G	0.83±0.67 A	11.65
	Bsundhara	12.15±0.68 B	3.63±0.25 CD	0.73±0.49 A	11.25
	Dhumbarahi	20.83±1.13 DE	2.39±0.53 B	17.10±1.04 B	13.09
	Gongbu	21.53±0.84 E	0.93±0.42 A	37.56±1.49 D	17.61
	Narayanthan	4.22±1.51 A	4.81±0.78 E	0.61±0.37 A	3.54
Cinnamomum camphora	5			Mean	7.34
1	Airport	23.23±2.85 D	8.79±0.90 CD	13.53±1.60 B	8.78
	Balaiu	15.69±1.38 B	5.23±1.04 AB	32.06±2.16 D	10.42
	Banasthali	1.40±0.59 A	7.99±0.88 CD	0.83±0.58 A	4.29
	Basundhara	$18.07 \pm 2.25$ BC	3.39±2.25 A	24.99±4.28 C	5.11
	Dhumbarahi	20.11+ 2.13 C	9.29+1.54 D	2.86+1.62 A	5.74
	Gonghu	20.03+0.99 C	6.51+0.91 BC	21.87+1.85 C	13.05
	Naravanthan	1 27+ 0 64 A	13 93+1 79 F	$0.84 \pm 0.38$ A	3 99
Ficus religiosa	ivarayantinan	$1.27 \pm 0.0171$	10.70±1.77 E	Mean	9.65
1 1043 101121034	Airport	16 02+1 71 D	9 13+0 78 D	21 42 + 1 47 C	11 90
	Balaiu	$10.02 \pm 1.71$ D 22 20+2 42 E	$7.13\pm0.70 D$ 7.41+1.40 C	39.61+2.39  F	10.33
	Bansthali	22.20±2.42 E	$11.00 \pm 1.67$ F	36 65+2 73 D	9.08
	Basundhara	$22.07 \pm 2.27 \pm 2.27 \pm 2.06 \pm$	$0.00\pm0.00$ Å	$0.052\pm0.01$ A	7.06
	Dhumbarahi	$12.79 \pm 1.00 \text{ D}$	7.91±0.96 CD	$3.82\pm0.01$ A	8.17
	Conchu	$12.71\pm1.12$ C $12.12\pm1.62$ C	2.02+0.22 B	$3.02\pm0.70$ D 25.82±2.06 D	1/ 10
	Norayanthan	$15.15 \pm 1.02$ C	15 28+1 40 E	$0.50\pm 2.00$ D	5.05
Currillas naturats	INalayallulall	1.54±0.51 A	13.20±1.49 Г	0.50±0.10 A	0.50
Greoillea robusta	A investory	22002 + 286C	0.20 + 1.01 D		9.09
	Airport	$22.095\pm2.00$ C	$9.29 \pm 1.01 D$	$19.05 \pm 1.51 D$	10.05
	Dalaju Dara atla ali	13.00±3.42 AD	$0.20\pm0.72$ DC	37.8±1.30 F	12.40
	Danastnall	13.49±0.90 AD	7.58±1.59 CD	$10.92 \pm 1.41$ C	10.80
	Basundhara	14.03±0.91 AB	$2.96 \pm 0.50$ A	$12.84 \pm 2.12$ B	9.11
	Dhumbarahi	15.2±2.43 AB	5.14±0.69 B	24.34±2.99 E	7.28
	Gongbu	12.01±2.59 A	2.97±0.89 A	36.67±1.15 F	13.23
	Narayanthan	12.45±2.21 A	8.16±1.61 CD	4.97± 2.25 A	4.31
Jacaranda mimosifolia				Mean	15.69
	Airport	34.98±1,56 E	19.93±1.68 E	25.06±1.38 E	17.47
	Balaju	31.18±1.28 D	20.27±0.64 E	3.70±1.37 A	19.52
	Banasthali	22.68±1.33 B	5.72± 0.43 B	29.37±1.67 F	15.97
	Basundhara	23.34±2.00 BC	13.83±1.35 D	19.42±0.64 D	17.37
	Dhumbarahi	25.54±0,84 C	11.72±0.71 C	11.58±1.21 B	18.78
	Gongbu	22.54±0.84 B	11.61±1.12 C	15.52±1.04 C	17.44
	Narayanthan	$0.96 \pm 0.45 \mathrm{A}$	$2.45 \pm 0.47 \mathrm{A}$	1.40±0.56 A	3.28
Populus euroamericana				Mean	20.44
	Airport	104.27±1.02 E	11.31±0.63 D	0.93±0.59 A	40.69
	Balaju	69.06±3.32 D	8.38±0.53 C	27.51±1.74B	17.37
	Banasthali	132.38±3.71 F	11.93±0.60 D	0.83±0.58 A	18.96
	Basundhara	57.89±1.01 BC	0.89±0.10 A	1.66±1.52 A	25.71
	Dhumbarahi	57.09±2.71 BC	1.86±1.06 AB	1.54±0.99 A	8.14
	Gongbu	65.61±1.30 CD	1.26±1.07 AB	2.32±0.84 A	18.12
	Naravanthan	14.46±0.47 A	2.41± O.86 B	0.59±0.06A	14.13

Table 2. Metal content in the leaves and the Metal Accumulation Index (MAI) in different plants at different sites

Different capital letter after mean $\pm$ sd along the column indicates significant difference at p=0.05 obtained from Duncan's multiple range test after one way ANOVA

studied tree leaves and was significant (p<0.05) in *Jacaranda mimosifolia*. Significant positive correlation was observed between Cu accumulation and AA in

*Ficus religiosa*. Pb accumulation mostly negative correlation with AA and was significantin *Cinnamomum camphora* but in in *Jacaranda mimosifolia* 

it was positively significant (p<0.01). Cumulative effect of Pb+Cu+Zn accumulation was found to be significantly (p<0.05) negatively correlated with AA in *Grevelliea robusta*.

Mostly negative correlation was observed between leaf extract pH and Zn content, and was significant (\*p<0.05) in *Cinnamomum camphora* and (p<0.01) Jacaranda mimoisifolia. Cu content in leaf was mostly found to be positive correlation with pH in most of the tree species and was significant (p<0.01) in Cinnamomum camphora but in Callistemon lanceolatus and Jacaranda mmoisifolia it was found to be significantly (p<0.01) negatively correlated. Pb content in leaf showed negative correlation with pH in most trees and was significant (p<0.01) in Grevillea robusta, Cinnamomum camphora and Jacaranda mmoisifolia. Cumulative effect of Pb + Cu + Zn accumulation was found to be mostly negatively correlated with pH in most trees and was significant (p<0.05) in *Grevelliea robusta* and Cinnamomum camphora.

Zinc accumulation in leaves showed negative correlation with total chlorophyll in most of the trees and was significant (p<0.01) in *Ficus religiosa*, *Jacaranda mimoisifolia* and *Populus euroamericana*. Cu content in leaves was significantly (p<0.01) negatively correlated with TC in *Jacaranda*  *mimoisifolia* whereas Pb content in leaf showed significant (p<0.05) negatively correlated with TC in *Ficus reliogisa*. Cumulative effect of Pb+Cu+Zn content in leaves were negatively correlation in most of the studied plants and was significant in *Ficus reliogisa* and *Jacaranda mimoisifolia*.

APTI was found to be negatively correlated with Zinc accumulation in most trees and was significant (p<0.01) in Callistemon lanceolatus and Jacaranda mimoisifolia. Cu content in leaves showed negative correlation with APTI in some studied tree species and was significant (p<0.05) in Ficus reliogisa, Callistemon lanceolatus and Jacaranda mimoisifolia but in Cinnamomum camphora it was significantly (p<0.01) positive. Pb content showed negative correlation with APTI in most studied tree species and was significant (p<0.01) in *Ficus religiosa*, Populus euroamericana, Cinnamomum camphora and Grevillea robusta. Cumulative effect of Pb+Cu+Zn accumulation was found to be mostly significant negatively correlated in all studied plants and was significant (p<0.05) in Grevillea robusta, Cinnamomum camphora, Callistemon lanceolatus and Jacaranda mimoisifoli.

#### DISCUSSION

Depending on the APTI value, Padmavathi et al.

 Table 3. Correlations of metals with RWC, AA, pH, TC AND APTI

Parameters	Ficus religiosa	Gravelliea robusta	Cinnamomum- camphora	Callistemon lanceolatus	Jacaranda mimosifolia	Populus euroamericana
	(n=35)	(n=50)	(n=35)	(n=50)	(n=40)	(n=45)
RWC-Zn	-0.309	110	-0.180	-0.404**	-0.159	-0.065
RWC-CU	-0.232	$0.344^{*}$	0.166	-0.643**	0552**	0.126
RWC-Pb	-0.200	-0.389**	-0.125	0.089	-0.158	-0.087
RWC-Zn+Cu+Pb	-0.293	-0.305*	-0.158	-0.208	-0.387*	-0.064
AA-Zn	-0.307	-0.243	0.111	-0.160	-0.369*	0.204
AA-Cu	0.508**	-0.034	0.276	0.199	-0.118	0.046
AA-Pb	0.245	-0.261	-0.376*	-0.023	$0.472^{**}$	-0.219
AA-Zn+Cu+Pb	0.303	-0.338*	-0.162	-0.083	0.219	0.137
pH-Zn	-0.152	0.049	<b>-</b> 0.411*	-0.172	-0.667**	-0.145
pH-Cu	0.732	0.095	0.530**	-0.513**	-0.580**	0.184
pH-Pb	0.427	-0.409**	-0.497**	-0.010	-0.457**	0.071
pH-Zn+Cu+Pb	0.304	-0.330*	-0.486**	-0.140	-0.089	-0.090
Tchl-Zn	-0.754**	0.047	-0.240	0.070	-0.780**	-0.337*
Tchl-Cu	0.097	0.173	0.008	-0.155	-0.827**	-0.030
Tchl-Pb	-0.346*	-0.137	-0.011	0.001	0.031	0.264
Tchl-Zn+Cu+Pb	-0.346*	-0.060	-0.137	0.025	-0.529**	-0.245
APTI-Zn	0.329	-0.212	-0.144	-0.436**	-0.530**	0.078
APTI-Cu	-0.953*	0.243	0.438**	-0.514**	-0.665**	-0.127
APTI-Pb	-0.983**	-0.475**	-0.469**	-0.018	0.061	-0.775**
APTI-Zn+Cu+Pb	-0.482	-0.451**	-0.338*	-0.286*	-0.368*	-0.135

Significance \*p<0.05 \*\* p<0.01

\*\*\*p<0.00 significant (p=0.05)

(2013) grouped the plants as sensitive (with APTI value <11), intermediate (with APTI value 12 to16) and tolerant (with APTI value e" 17). In the present study all the studied tree species scored APTI value between 12 and 16, hence they were in the intermediate categories of APTI.

Metal Accumulation Index (MAI) depends on various factors like, local atmospheric chemistry, meteorology, sampling height (tree), time of sampling and plant characteristics (Hu *et al.*, 2014). Plants with higher MAI values have good accumulation capacities and also regarded as tolerant species. Hu *et al.*, (2014). From the present study plants like *Populus euroamericana*, *Jacaranda and Callistemon* with high MAI value are suitable tree species that can be suggested to be planted for greenbelt area along the road side.

The significant correlation between RWC and all metal accumulation was mostly negative, except Cu accumulation and RWC in Grevillea robusta. The excess concentrations of the heavy metals significantly affected plant water status, causing water deficit and subsequent changes in the plants. The most intensive effect on the plants was observed with Cd, less intensive by Cu and Zn and the least intensive by Pb in sunflower (Kastori et al. 1992). This might be the region for showing insignificant relation of Pb accumulation in most of the trees except Grevillea robusta. Lead accumulation in root of Lupinus has been reported to increase the degree of vacuolization in the meristem cells (Przymusin'ski and Woz'ny 1985) and cortex parenchyma (Gzyl et al., 1997), which may suggest that the water status of these cells was not affected by the metal. Thus, Pb-induced vacuolization in Lupinusluteus was correlated with high values of RWC, suggesting that water might be stored in the vacuoles in response to metal stress (Rucin'ska-Sobkowiak et al., 2013). The response of RWC in *Grevillea robusta* to Pb accumulation in the present study was significantly negative, which indicates that the Pb toxicity prevailed in the leaves. From this it can be suggested that the Pb localization in the cell and its toxicity might not be same in all plants. The correlation of RWC and Cu accumulation was found to be positively significant in Grevelliea robusta. This might be due to low concentration of Cu (below 10 mg/kg), which is an essential element and mostly not toxic below 15-20 mg/kg (Pahlsson, 1989).

Correlation between AA and Zn accumulation in *Jacaranda mimoisifolia* was significantly negative.

Smith et al. (1989) reported the decrease in ascorbic acid in roots and shoots of pigeon pea with increasing concentrations of Zn. Correlation of AA content with Cu accumulation in Ficus religiosa and Pb accumulation in Jacaranda mimoisifolia were significantly positive. Copper is an essential element and its maximum accumulation in Ficus was 15.28 mg/kg in control site, indicating nontoxic level of Cu accumulation in most of the sites, which might have resulted in positive correlation. Though Pb is not an essential element, but plant absorb Pb and mostly accumulate in the cell wall as granules (Peterson, 1978; Kabata-Pandias and Pandis, 1985; Chettri et al., 2000). In the present study Pb accumulation in Jacaranda mimoisifolia leaves reached up to 29.79 mg/kg, and showed positive correlation with Ascorbic acid, which might be due to accumulation of Pb on cell wall and not interfering with the metabolic functions. But in Camphor Pb accumulation and AA showed negative correlation. Variation in Ascorbic acid content is one of the factors, which may be held responsible for differential tolerance capacity of plants against various air pollutants at different sites (Agular-Silva et al., 2016; Aghajanzadeh et al., 2016). In the present study Ascorbic acid content mostly increased with increase in heavy metal content and also in accordance with other findings of Rai and Panda (2014) and Govindaraju et al. (2012).

Correlations of pH with most of the metal content in leaf were negatively significant, except Cu content in *Cinnamomum camphora*. This must be due to reduction of leaf pH value in the presence of heavy metals and an acidic pollutant (Scholz and Reck, 1977), and also suggested that the leaf pH is reduced and the reducing rate is more in sensitive plants compared to that in tolerant plant species. The positive correlation of pH with Cu content in Camphor is mainly due to the fact that both Cu content and leaf pH in Narayanthan is significantly high in this site than in other studied sites. Besides, the Cu is an essential elements and its content in *Cinnamomum camphora* is below the toxic level as suggested by Pahlsson, (1989).

Correlations between total chlorophyll and heavy metal content were negatively significantly in most cases. Heavy metals such as (Hg, Cu, Cr, Cd, and Zn) have been reported to decrease the chlorophyll content in various plants in most cases (Aggarwal *et al.*, 2012). This decline in photosynthetic pigments is most probably due to the inhibition of the reductive steps in the biosynthetic pathways of photosynthetic pigments due to the high redox potential of many heavy metals. Among the studied plants, Grevillea, Camphor and Callistemon showed insignificant correlation of total chlorophyll with all metals. In the case of Grevillea robusta and Cinnamomum camphora this might be due to less metal accumulation as indicated by mean metal accumulation index (MAI) in these species. In the case of Callistemon lanceolatus though the MAI value is 15.61, the accumulation of Zn and Cu is within the threshold limit and below the toxic level. Besides this Pb accumulation in leaves are up to 40 mg/kg but negative correlation with total chlorophyll was not observed, indicating no effect of Pb on chlorophyll content. The possible reasons for this may be their localization in the cell.

Ultrastructural studies have revealed that Pb are deposeited mainly in the intercellular space, cell wall and vacuoles (Wierzbicka and Antosiewicz, 1993; Chettri *et al.*, (2000). A small deposits of Pb have also been reported to be seen in the ER, dictyosomes and dictyosome derived vesicles (Wierzbicka and Antosiewicz, 1993). (*Callistemon lanceolatus, Ficus religiosa, Populus euroamericana, Cinnamomum camphora, Grevillea robusta, Jacaranda mimoisifolia*)

Significant Correlation of APTI with all metal content are mostly negative in all cases except with Cu content in Cinnamomum camphora. APTI is predicted on the basis of four major biochemical properties of leaves that are ascorbic acid, relative water content, total chlorophyll and leaf pH (Sing and and Rao,1983). APT varies with these parameters because all these parameters are influenced by the increase or decrease in metal content. From MAI it is evident that *Populus* euroamericana, Jacaranda mimosifolia and callistemonlanceolatus scored high MAI value including that the heavy metals accumulation might have affected the physiological parameters and this might have resulted in to negative correlation. Though Cinnamomu mcamphora Grevillea robusta and Ficus reliogisa scored less MAI values, out of these avoidance mechanism in Cinnamomum camphora might be high and resulted in to positive response to APTI with Cu accumulation.

#### CONCLUSION

The APTI values of all studied tree species were within intermediate range. Because of high MAI value, *Populus euroamericana*, *Jacaranda mimosifolia*  and Callistemon lanceolatus have been identified as the suitable species for the plantation near the road side. Though Cinnamomum camphora, Grevillea robusta and Ficus religiosa, growing in the same polluted environment with others scoredless MAI value, indicating the metal avoidance mechanism in them. From above findings it can be concluded that Air pollution tolerance index (APTI) value of plants could not only be sufficient for selection of plants to mitigate air pollution. For selection of more suitable plants, Metal Accumulation Index (MAI) value of plants should also be considered. Hence Populus euroamericana, Jacaranda mimoisifolia and Callistemon lanceolatus with high MAI and intermediate APTI range are recommended for plantation on road side of Kathmandu.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Authors graciously acknowledge University Grant Commission, Nepal for providing the fund through the project (FRG-73/74-S&T-02), and also would like to acknowledge thanks to Department of Botany, Amrit Campus, Tribhuvan University for providing laboratory facilities.

#### REFERENCES

- Aggarwal, A., Sharma, I., Tripati, B.N., Munjal, A.K., Baunthiyal, M. and Sharma, V. 2012. Metal toxicity and photosynthesis. In: *Photosynthesis: Overviews on Recent Progress & Future Perspectives.* 1st ed. New Delhi: I K International Publishing House Pvt. Ltd; p. 229236.
- Aghajanzadeh, T., Hawkesford, M.J. and De Kok, L.J. 2016. Atmospheric H<sub>2</sub>S and SO<sub>2</sub> as sulfur sources for *Brassica juncea* and Brassicarapa: regulation of sulfur uptake and assimilation. *Environ Exp Bot.* 124: 1-10.
- Agular-silva, C., Brando, S.E. Domingos and M. Bubovas, P. 2016. Antioxident responses of Atlantic Forest native tree species as indicators of increasing tolerance of oxidative stress when they are exposed to air pollutants and seasonal tropical climate. *Ecol. Indic.* 63 : 154-164.
- Apriyantono, A., D. Fardiaz, N.L. Puspitasari and B.S. Sedarnawati, 1989. *Analysis Pangan.* Bogor: IPB Pr.
- Bajaj, K.L. and Kaur, G. 1981. Spectrophotometric Determination of L. Ascorbic Acid in Vegetables and Fruits. *Analyst.* 106 : 117-120.
- Barnes, J.D., Balaguer, L., Manrique, E., Elvira, S. and Davison, A.W. 1992. A reappraisal of the use of DMSO for the extraction and determination of chlorophylls a and b in lichens and higher plants. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 32 : 85-100.

SCREENING OF SOME ROAD SIDE TREES FOR PLANTATION IN POLLUTED URBAN AREAS 553

- Barrs, H.D. and Weatherley, P.E. 1962. A re-examination of the relative turgidity technique for estimating water deficits in leaves. *Aust. J. Biol Sci.* 15 : 413-428.
- Chettri, M. K., Sawidis, T. and Chmielewska, E. W. 2000. Localization of heavy metals in lichen thalli: an ultrastuuctural approach. *Bios* (Macedonia, Greece) 5: 61-75.
- Govindaraju, M., Ganeshkumar, R.S., Muthukumaran, V.R. and Visvanathan, P. 2012. Identication and evaluation of air-pollution-tolerant plants around lignite- based thermal power station for greenbelt development. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Control Ser.* 19 (4) : 1210-1223. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-011-0637-7.
- Gzyl, J., Przymusinski, R. and WoŸny., A. 1997. Organospecific reactions of yellow lupin seedlings to lead. *Acta. Soc Bot Pol.* 66 : 61-66. doi:10.5586/ asbp.1997.009
- Hu, Y., Wang, D., Wei, L., Zhang, X. and Song, B. 2014. Bioaccumulation of heavy metals in plant leaves from Yan'an city of the Loess Plateau, China. *Ecotox Environ Safe.* 110 : 82-88.
- Kabata and Pendias, 1985. *Trace Elements in Soils and Plants*, CRC press, Inc. U.S.A
- Kastori, R., Petroviæ, M. and Petroviæ, N. 1992. Effect of excess lead, cadmium, copper, and zinc on water relations in sunflower. *J Plant Nutr.* 15 : 2427-2439. doi:10.1080/01904169209364485.
- Kuddus, M., Kumari, R., Ramteke and P.W. 2011. Studies on air pollution tolerance of selected plants in Allahabad city, India. *J. Environ. Res. Manag.* 2 (3): 042-046.
- Liu, Y.J., Zhu, Y.G. and Ding, H. 2007. Lead and cadmium in leaves of deciduous trees in Beijing, China.
- Liu, Y. J. and Ding, H. 2008. Variation in air pollution tolerance index of plants near a steel factory: Implications for landscape plant species selection for industrial areas. WSEAS Transactions on Environment and Development. 1(4) : 24-32.
- MaYa (Manav-Kendrit Yatayat Abhiyan)., 2014. A Factsheet # 5. Air quality status and development of a metal accumulation index (MAI). *Environ. Pollut.* 145 (2) : 387-390.
- Management in Kathmandu valley. Clean Energy Nepal and UN Habitat. pp. 8.
- Millaleo, R., Reyes-Díaz, M., Ivanov, A.G., Mora, M.L. and Alberdi, M. 2010. Manganese as essential and toxic element for plants: transport, accumulation and resistance mechanisms. *Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition.* 10(4) : 470-481.
- Padmavathi, P., Cherukuri, J. and Reddy, M.A. 2013. Impact of air pollution on crops in the vicinity of a power plant: a case study. *Int J Eng Res Technol* 12(2): 3641-3651.
- Pahlsson, A.B. 1989. Toxicity of heavy metal (Zn, Cu, Cd, Pb) to vascular plants. Water. *Air and Soil Pollution* 47 : 287-319.

- Peterson, P. J. 1978. In: Nriagu, J. O. (ed.), *The Biochemistry of Lead in the Environment*. Part. B. Biological Effects, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, The Netherlands, p. 355.
- Pradhan, B. B., Dangol, P. M., Bhaunju, R. M. and Pradhan, S. 2012. Rapid Urban Assessment of Air Quality for Kathmandu, Nepal: Summary. Kathamandu: ICIMOD
- Przymusin'ski, R. and Woz'ny, A. 1985. The reactions of lupin roots on the presence of lead in the medium. *Biochem Physiol Panz*.180 : 309-318.
- Rai, P. and Panda, L. 2014. Dust capturing potential and air pollution tolerance index (APTI) of some road side tree vegetation in Aizawl, Mizoram, India: an Indo-Burma hot spot region. *Air Qual Atmos Health*. 7: 93-101. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11869-013-0217-8
- Rai, P.K., Panda, L.L.S., Chutia, B. M. and Singh, M. M. 2013. Comparative assessment of air pollution tolerance index (APTI) in the industrial (Rourkela) and non industrial area (Aizawl) of India: An ecomanagement approach. *African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*. 7(10): 944-948.
- Rucinska-Sobkowiak, R., Nowaczyk, G., Krzeszowska, M., Ramêda, I. and Jurga, S. 2013. Water status and water diffusion transport in lupine roots exposed to lead. *Environ Exp Bot.* 87 : 100-109.doi:10.1016/j.envexpbot.2012.09.012257Page 12 of 13 Acta Physiol Plant (2016) 38:257123
- Saud, B. and Paudel, G. 2018. The Threat of Ambient Air Pollution in Kathmandu. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health.* Article ID 1504591 https:// doi.org/10.1155/2018/1504591
- Sawidis, T., Marnasidis, A., Zachariadis, G.A. and Stratis, J.A. 1995c. A study o fair pollution with heavy metals in Thessaloniki city (Greece) using trees as biological indicators. *Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 28 : 118-124
- Scholz, F. and Reck, S. 1977. Effects of acids on forest trees as measured by titration *in vitro*, inheritance of buffering capacity in *Piceaabies. Water, Air and Soil Pollu.* 8 : 41-45.
- Shrestha, B. 2001. Air Pollution Status, Kathmandu, Nepal Institute of Medicine, Tribhuvan University.
- Singh, S. K. Rao and D. N. 1983. Evaluation of plants for their tolerance to air pollution. In Paper presented at the *Proceedings Symposium on Air Pollution Control.* New Delhi, India
- Singh, S. N. and Verma, A. 2007. Phytoremediation of Air Pollutants: A Review. In: *Environmental Bioremediation Technology.*
- Welz, B. 1985. Atomic Absorption Spectrometry. 2nd. Completely Rev. ed. Weinheim; New York: VCH
- Wierzbicka, M. and Antosiewicz, D. 1993. How lead can easily enter the food chain - a study of plant roots. Science of the Total Environment. *Suppl.* 1 : 423-429.

*Eco. Env. & Cons. 28 (3) : 2022; pp. (22-32) Copyright@ EM International ISSN 0971–765X* 

# Impact of heavy metals and biochemical parameters on specific leaf area of roadside trees in Kathmandu, Nepal

\*Jaya Prakash Hamal<sup>1</sup> and Mukesh Kumar Chettri<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Botany, Amrit Campus, Tribhuvan University, Kathmandu, Nepal

(Received 20 November, 2021; Accepted 15 December, 2021)

#### ABSTRACT

Kathmandu is seriously facing the air pollution problem because of the rapid increase in vehicular emissions. Most commonly grown roadside trees like Populuseuro americana, Ficusreligiosa, Jacaranda mimosifolia, Grevillearobusta, Callistemon lanceolatus and Cinnamomumcamphora from different sites of Kathmandu were collectedduring the winter season to measure specific leaf area (SLA), biochemical parameters and heavy metals (Cu, Pb and Zn) content. The relations among them (SLA, biochemical parameters, heavy metals) were also studied. Specific leaf area (SLA) ranged from 24.48± 0.87cm2 g-1 to 188.08±35 cm2 g-1and the highest SLA was observed in Jacaranda mimosifolia (188.08±35cm2 g-1). The mean value of biochemical parameters such as total chlorophyll (TCh) ranged from 0.64mg/g in Cinnamomumcamphorato 1.243 mg/ g in Ficusreliogiosa whereas pH ranged from 5.28 in Callistemon lanceolatus to 6.75 in Grevillearobusta. Similarly Ascorbic acid rangedfrom 4.54 mg/g in Cinnamomumcamphora to 8.61mg/g in Populuseuro americana and relative water content (RWC) from 40.02 % in Jacaranda mimosifolia to 86 % in Cinnamomumcamphora. Mean value of Zn accumulation ranged from 14.83 mg/kg in Ficusreligiosa to 71.92 mg/kg in Populuseuro americana, Cu accumulation from 4.14 mg/kg in Populouseuro americana to 14.56 mg/kg in Jacaranda mimosifolia and Pb accumulation from 0.05 mg/kg in Populuseuro americana to 22.47 mg/kg in Callistemon lanceolatus. Pb and Cu accumulation at phytotoxic concentrations in leaves showednegative impact on SLA.

Key words : Tree leaves, Total chlorophyll, Ascorbic acid, Relative water content, pH, Heavy metals

### Introduction

Carbon dioxide is the most important greenhouse gas which is now 50% higher than before the industrial revolution. Increase in CO<sub>2</sub> is mainly due to the burning of fossil fuels (WMO, 2021). Leaves play an important role to sequester carbon dioxide through photosynthesis from the atmosphere. Leaf surface area is one of the key factors which determines the potential of photosynthesis in leaves. Specific leaf area (SLA) is a ratio of leaf area per unit leaf dry mass which describes the distribution of leaf biomass in relation to leaf area (Pierce *et al.*, 1994). Specific leaf area is highly correlated with light level and decreases with increasing light intensity (Kellomäki and Oker-Blom, 1981; Evans and Poorter, 2001), hence SLA is related to a leaf's position in the crown. Trees generally have a lower SLA at the top of the canopy because they receive direct solar radiation whereas at the lower parts of the crown may be shaded and have a higher SLA. (Nagel and O'Hara, 2001; Goudie *et al.*, 2016). SLA

#### HAMAL AND CHETTRI

has been considered as one of the most important characteristics of leaf which is used to measure plant growth (Wright et al., 2004; Lambers and Poorter, 1992; Falster et al., 2018). SLA is an important indicator of plant strategies for adaptation (Grime, 2006; Westoby et al., 2002) and used widely in plant ecology, agronomy, and forestry (Poorter et al., 2009). The level of influence on growth depends on plant species, pollutant type and concentration along with number of environmental factors (Wuytack et al., 2011; Chaturvedi et al., 2013). Kapoor et al., (2013) investigated tree species Dalbergiasissoo and found reduction in photosynthetic pigments, pH and RWC in the polluted environment. Certain heavy metals like copper and zinc are essential micronutrients for plants because they are involved in numerous metabolic processes as constituents of enzymes and other proteins. However, toxic levels of heavy metals cause several toxic symptoms in plants such as the inhibition of photosynthesis and enzyme activity, growth retardation, disturbed mineral nutrition, water imbalance and the alteration of membrane permeability (Sharma and Dubey, 2005; Pandey et al., 2009).

Kathmandu, the capital of Nepal is highly affected by air pollution due to the increase number of automobiles, densely populated and its unique bowl-shaped topography (Dhamala et al., 2018) which prevents particulate matter freely escaping in to the atmosphere and it makes vulnerable situation in Kathmandu. Air quality of Nepal was ranked at 145th position out of 180 countries in Environmental Performance Index in 2020 (Shrestha et al., 2021 and Wendling et al., 2020), and Kathmandu is listed as one of the most polluted cities in the world (Subedi, 2021). Most of the previous studies related with plants and air pollution were mainly focused in Air Pollution tolerance Index (APTI) and heavy metal accumulation. But it is not cleared if the toxic effect of heavy metal are reflected on SLA or not. It is also not clear if SLA is dependent on different physiological parameters like RWC, pH, total chlorophyll and ascorbic acid. Therefore, the relation of heavy metal accumulation and the biochemical parameters (like total chlorophyll, ascorbic acid, pH and relative water content) with specific leaf area have been investigated in the present study. The result of this study will identify suitable roadside trees that can accumulate heavy metals and help to mitigate air pollution problems.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### The study area

Kathmandu is a valley and located at  $27^{\circ}42'0''$  N and  $85^{\circ}18'0''$  E. It ranges from 1200 to 1400 m above sea level in subtropical zone. Bowl shaped topography makes it more prone to air pollution (Pradhan *et al.*, 2012; Shrestha, 2001) and characterized by a typical monsoon climate with rainy summer and dry winter. An average summer temperature lies between 19 °C-35 °C and winter temperature between 2 °C-12 °C with an annual mean temperature 24 °C and an average rainfall of 1343 mm.

#### Study Method

#### Sample collection

Leaves of most commonly grown trees along the road side like *Populuseuroamericana*, *Ficusreligiosa*, *Jacaranda mimosifolia*, *Grevillearobusta*, *Callistemon lanceolatus* and *Cinnamomumcamphora* were collected from lower surface (above 3 m from the ground). The polluted sampling sites were Tinkune, Airport, Chabhil, Samakhusi, Basundhara, Dhumbarahi, Lainchaur, Swayambhu and Balaju, and a comparatively clean site Narayanthan was considered as a control site (Fig. 1). The leaf samples were collected in winter season (December-January) and used for the measurements of specific leaf area (SLA), heavy metals and biochemical parameters (total chlorophyll, pH, ascorbic acid relative water content).

#### **Metal Analysis**

For metal analysis, the leaves were washed with



Fig. 1. Study site 1-Tinkune 2-Airport 3- Chabhil 4-Dhumbarahi 5-Basundhara 6-Samakhusi, 7-Balaju 8- Swayambhu 9-Lainchaur 10-Narayanthan

running tap water; rinsed with double deionized water and then dried at room temperature (20 °C) about 24-48 hours. Again dried at 60 °C for 48 hours. The dried leaf samples were grinded using mortar and pestle to prepare representative samples. 1g DW of the representative sample was dipped in 8 ml concentrated HNO<sub>3</sub> (Merck). These were left over night at room temperature. On the next day, the mixture was warmed for 2 h at 50 °C and subsequently heated at 160 °C for 4 h. The cooled extracts were filtered through Ash less filter paper (What man 589) and were diluted to prepare 25 ml with double deionized water (Sawidis et al., 1995c). The filtrates were then analyzed for Cu, Pb and Zn by using Perkin Elmer (2380) Atomic Absorption Spectrometer (AAS) at wavelength 324.7 nm for Cu, 283.3nm for Pb and 213.9 nm for Zn (Welz, 1985). Two plant materials of National Bureau of Standard (USA) each with Nos. 1537 (Tomato leaves) and 1575 (Pine needles) were analyzed following the same procedure and the metal recoveries obtained were 95.5%, 94.2% and 97.5% for Cu, Pb and Zn respectively. The relative standard deviation of the measurements was 2.7% for Cu. 7.5% for Pb and 3.9%).

## **Biochemical parameters**

# Total Chlorophyll

Total Chlorophyll was obtained according to Barnes *et al.*, 1992). 0.05 g of leaves were cut in to smaller pieces and placed in test tubes containing 5 ml DMSO. Then test tubes were incubated in a water bath at 60-65 °C for an hour. From preliminary studies this time was judged satisfactory for the full decolonization of tissues and kept for cooling at room temperature about 30 min. Further these were filtered and their absorptions were measured at 665 nm and 648 nm being the final stages. Measurment of absorption of blank DMSO was carried out with the help of Spectrophotometer. Finally total chlorophyll (TCh) concentration (a, b and total) was expressed as mg/g fresh weight and determined by the following formulae (Barnes *et al.*, 1992).

Chlorophyll a (mg/g F.W) = (14.85 A665 -5 .14 A648) (1)

Chlorophyll b (mg/g F.W) = (25.48 A665 – 7.36 A648) (2)

Total chlorophyll (mg/g F.W) = (7.49 A665 + 20.34 A648) (3)

Where: A665 = absorption value at 665 nm

A648= absorption value at 648 nm

## Leaf extract pH

5 g of a leaf sample was crushed with the help of motor and pestle. 50 ml deionized water was added in to it and then obtained suspension was measured with a digital pH meter (Apriyantono *et al.,* 1989)

## Ascorbic acid (AA)

Ascorbic acid content (expressed in mg/g) was measured according Bajaj and Kaur (1981) method.1g of the fresh leaf was taken and then 4 ml oxalic acid EDTA extracting solution was added to it. Again one ml of Orthophospheric acid and 1 ml 5% tetraoxosulphate acid was added to this mixture, and finally 2 ml of ammonium molybdate and 3 ml of water added. The solution thus obtained allowed to stand for 15 min after which the absorbance at 760 nm is measured with a spectrophotometer. The concentrations of ascorbic acid in the sample then extrapolated from a standard ascorbic acid curve.

# Estimation of relative water content (RWC)

RWC was determined according to Barrs and Weatherly (1962). RWC is a ratio of the amount of water in the leaf tissue at sampling to that present when fully turgid. A composite sample of leaf discs was taken and the fresh weight was taken and then leaf was floated on water for up to 24 h. The turgid weight was then recorded, and the leaf tissue was subsequently oven-dried to a constant weight at about 85°C for 24 h and reweighted. RWC is calculated by using the following formula:

Relative water content (%) = {(F-D) / (T-D)} ×100

F = Fresh weight of leaves (g)

D = Dry weight of leaves (g) T = Turgid weight of leaves (g)

# Specific leaf area (SLA)

Seven matured leaves from lower surface of different directions around the canopy of each tree species were collected. Leaf samples were rinsed with distilled water and then photos were taken along with scales. The collected leaf samples were then dried in hot air oven at 60 °C for 24 hours. Weigh of the completely dried leaves were recorded using three digital electronic balance. The area of the photographed leaves were measured by using Image J program (Abràmoff *et al.*, 2004). Finally, SLA (cm<sup>2</sup> g<sup>-1</sup>) of each leaf was calculated by dividing leaf area by corresponding leaf dry weight.

#### HAMAL AND CHETTRI

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All the data analysis was conducted using IBM SPSS statistics program version 25. To evaluate the significant differences in SLA between polluted and control sites one sample t-test was conducted. Pearson correlation was calculated between the % decreased in SLA and biochemical parameters, and also between the % decrease in SLA and metal content in leaves.

#### Results

#### Metal accumulation

Mean concentrations of Zinc (Zn) was found to be higher at polluted sites than at control sites in all studied plants. Highest Zn was recorded in *Populuseuro americana* (71.92 mg/kg) and lowest in *Ficusreligiosa* (14.83 mg/kg) at different polluted sites of Kathmandu (Fig. 2). Highest mean value for Zn accumulation (71.92 mg/kg) was recorded in *Populuseuro americana* and it ranged from 14.46 mg/ kg to 130.57 mg/kg at different polluted sites. Lowest mean value for Zn accumulation was recorded in *Ficusreligiosa* (14.83 mg/kg) and it ranged from 8.13 to 20.87 mg/kg at different polluted sites in Kathmandu.



**Fig. 2.** Zinc concentrations (mean value) in the leaves of different tree species collected from various polluted and control sites

Mean concentrations of copper (Cu) was mostly higher at control sites than at polluted sites in all studied plants. Highest Cu was recorded in *Jacaranda mimosifolia* (14.56 mg/kg) and lowest in *Populuseuro americana* (4.14 mg/Kg)) at polluted sites (Fig.3). Highest mean value (14.56 mg/kg) for Cu accumulation was recorded in *Jacaranda mimosifolia* and it ranged from 5.72 mg/kg to 20.60 mg/kg at different polluted sites. Lowest mean value for Cu accumulation was recorded in *Populuseuro americana* (4.14 mg/kg) and it ranged from 0.05 mg/kg to 11.93 mg/kg at different polluted sites in Kathmandu.



Fig. 3. Copper concentrations (mean value) in the leaves of different tree species collected from various polluted and control sites

Mean concentrations of lead (Pb) was mostly higher at polluted sites than at control sites in all studied plants. Highest Pb was recorded in *Callistemon lanceolatus* (22.47 mg/kg) and lowest in *Populuseuro americana* (0.05 mg/kg) at polluted sites (Fig.4). Highest mean value (22.47 mg/kg) for Pb was recorded in *Callistemon lanceolatus* and it ranged from 5.21 to 25.20 mg/kg at different polluted sites in Kathmandu.



**Fig. 4.** Lead concentrations (mean value) in the leaves of different tree species collected from various polluted and control sites

#### **Biochemical parameters**

Mean value of total chlorophyll (TCh) was found to be higher at control sites than at polluted sites in all studied plants except in Jacaranda mimosifolia. Highest TCh mean value at control site was recorded in Ficusreliogiosa (1.243mg/g) and lowest recorded in Cinnamomumcamphora (0.64 mg/g). But at polluted sites highest TCh mean value was recorded in Jacaranda mimosifolia and lowest in Cinnamoum camphora (Fig. 5). Mean value of pH was mostly found to be higher at control sites than at polluted sites in all studied plants except in Populuseuro americana and Jacaranda mimosifolia. Highest pH mean value at control site was recorded in Grevillearobusta (6.75) and lowest recorded in Jacaranda mimosifolia (5.43). But at polluted sites highest pH mean value was recorded in Ficusreligiosa (6.33) and lowest in Callistemon lanceolatus (5.28)(Fig. 6). Mean value of Ascorbic acid(AA) was generally found to be higher at control sites than at polluted sites in all studied plants except in Grevillearobusta and Cinnamomumcamphora. Highest Ascorbic acid mean value at control site was recorded in Populuseuroamericana (8.61mg/g) and lowest recorded in Cinnamomumcamphora (4.54 mg/ g). But at polluted sites highest Ascorbic acid mean value was recorded in Populuseuroamericana (8.10 mg/g) and lowest in *Ficusreligiosa* (4.80 mg/g) (Fig 7). Mean value of Relative water content (RWC) was generally found to be higher at control sites than at polluted sites in all studied plants except in Ficusreligiosa and Jacaranda mimosifolia. Highest Relative water content (RWC) mean value was recorded



**Fig. 5.** Total chlorophyll content (mean value) in the leaves of different tree species collected from various polluted and control sites



Fig. 6. pH (mean value ) in the leaves of different tree species collected from various polluted and control sites



Fig. 7. Ascorbic acid (mean value) in the leaves of different tree species collected from various polluted and control sites

in *Cinnamomumcamphora* (86 %) and lowest recorded in *Jacaranda mimosifolia* (40.02 %) at control site. But at polluted sites highest Relative water content (RWC) mean value was recorded in *Ficusreligiosa* (80.78 %) and lowest in *Grevillearobusta* (60.51%) (Fig. 8).

#### Specific leaf area (SLA)

Specific leaf area (SLA) in all the studied tree leaves decreased at polluted sites than at control sites. Specific leaf area (SLA) of different species and the SLA percentage decreased at polluted sites are given in Table 1. In this study SLA among the studied tree leaves ranged from  $188.08\pm35.12$  to  $24.48\pm0.87$ cm<sup>2</sup>g<sup>-1</sup>. Decrease in SLA in polluted sites ranged from  $78.18\pm4.47$  to  $9.32\pm4.80$  %. Though all the tree species showed decrease in SLA at polluted sites but was significant (at P=0.05) in *Populuseuroamericana* (at Tinkune, Airport, Dhumbarahi), *Ficusreligiosa* (at



**Fig. 8.** Relative water content (meanvalue) in the leaves of different tree species collected from various polluted and control sites

Dhumbarahi, Basundhara, Balaju, Airport), Jacaranda mimosifolia (at Lainchaur, Basundhara, Swayambhu), Grevillearobusta (at Lainchaur, Basundhara) and in Callistemon lanceolatus (at Dhumbarahi, Balaju, Airport, Swayambhu).

#### Correlation between SLA and Bio chemicals

Results of Pearson correlations between SLA and biochemical parameters like total chlorophyll (TCh), pH, ascorbic acid (AA) and relative water content (RWC) is given in Table 2. Among all studied plants, % decrease in SLA of *Ficusreligiosa* showed positive

**Table 1.** SLA (cm<sup>2</sup> g<sup>-1</sup>) and percentage decreased in SLA of different tree species growing along the road side in various polluted (P) and control sites (C) in Kathmandu.

Plants	Experimental (P) and control (C) site	SLA Mean ± Sd	%Decreased in SLA Mean ± Sd	t-value*
Populuseuroamericana	Tinkune (P)	8.48±19.66	38.99±13.47	5.015*
1	Airport(P)	112.73±20.60	20.69±7.68	4.668*
	Chabhil(P)	93.50±31.32	27.93±16.78	2.883
	Samakhusi (P)	89.92±37.40	34.80±21.99	2.740
	Basundhara (P)	$114.90 \pm 34.87$	$9.32 \pm 4.80$	3.363
	Dhumbarahi (P)	61.03±12.33	$50.67 \pm 10.11$	8.685*
	Narayanthan (C)	131.07±32.21		
Ficusreligiosa	Dhumbarahi (P)	99.13±17.38	25.21±2.90	15.069**
0	Basundhara (P)	81.85±6.35	$34.02 \pm 14.07$	4.189*
	Balaju (P)	69.31±9.00	47.31±1.79	45.790**
	Airport (P)	61.12±6.81	53.87±7.59	12.289**
	Narayanthan (C)	$132.70 \pm 23.55$		
Jacaranda mimosifolia	Lainchaur (P)	$164.08 \pm 36.56$	$13.00 \pm 5.66$	3.974*
,	Dhumbarahi (P)	112.47±86.85	$40.94 \pm 44.98$	1.576
	Basundhara (P)	74.22±17.06	$41.83 \pm 14.73$	4.917*
	Airport (P)	$128.52 \pm 4.74$	23.77±14.07	2.925
	Swayambhu(P)	41.77±8.67	73.57±1.26	101.335**
	Narayanthan (C)	$188.08 \pm 35.12$		
Grevillearobusta	Lainchaur (P)	84.12±17.64	$25.69 \pm 10.48$	4.245*
	Dhumbarahi(P)	72.12±6.03	27.48±13.71	3.471
	Basundhara(P)	$101.28 \pm 6.94$	$13.38 \pm 1.70$	13.638**
	Airport(P)	80.08±25.83	28.98±19.05	2.634
	Balaju(P)	61.55±31.94	48.20±26.83	3.111
	Narayanthan(C)	$114.58 \pm 29.75$		
Callistemon lanceolatus	Dhumbarahi(P)	$24.48 \pm 0.87$	$78.18 \pm 4.47$	48.605**
	Balaju(P)	35.60±13.45	31.73±7.47	4.584*
	Airport(P)	61.79±22.33	$40.84 \pm 30.55$	4.793*
	Swayambhu(P)	69.31±5.66	21.05±9.11	21.211**
	Narayanthan(C)	$116.15 \pm 28.74$		
Cinnamomumcamphora	Dhumbarahi(P)	91.11±14.18	$10.90 \pm 10.83$	1.743
	Basundhara(P)	88.74±9.58	32.72±22.63	2.504
	Balaju(P)	99.74±0.08	$16.90 \pm 7.52$	3.891
	Airport(P)	$104.54 \pm 25.05$	32.94±22.68	2.514
	Narayanthan(C)	139.44±37.04		

\*P=0.05 and \*\* P=0.001 obtained from one sample t-test of % decreased SLA for each tree species with N value ranging from 15 to 21.

significance correlation with total chlorophyll (TCh) and pH. In *Jacaranda mimosifolia* and *Callistemon lanceolatus* positive significance relation was observed between % decrease in SLA and Ascorbic acid.

#### Correlation between SLA and metal content

Results of Pearson correlations between % decrease in SLA and heavy metal contents (Zn, Cu, Pb) in leaves is given in Table 3. Percentage decrease in SLA of *Populuseuro americana* showed significant (P=0.05) negative correlation with Zn but significant (P=0.05) positive with Pb. In *Ficusreligiosa* % decrease in SLA showed positive significance correlation with Cu and Pb but in *Jacaranda mimosifolia*% decrease in SLA showed negative correlation with Zn and Cu. In *Grevillearobusta*% decrease in SLA showed negative significance correlation with Pb and in *Callistemon lanceolatus* it showed negative significance correlation with Zn. In *Cinnamomum camphora*, % decrease in SLA showed negative significane correlation with Zn but positive with Cu.

#### Discussion

#### Metal accumulation

Zn is one of the essential element in many biochemical process such as auxin, chlorophyll, carbohydrate and protein synthesis (Broadley, 2007). Onderand Dursun (2006) reported that the highest Zn concentrations were found in Cedarneedles at an industrial site. Zinc accumulation in Populus differed from 26.1 to 139 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, in unpolluted and polluted sites in Greece (Sawidis et al., 1995). In this study it was found that plants grown in urban localities accumulated more Zn than other metals. The range of Zn concentration between 10 to 150 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (Padmavathiamma and Li, 2007; Hu et al., 2014) is conventional for plants and toxic concentrations range from 300 to 400 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> depending on plant species (Broadley et al., 2007). In the present study the highest Zn accumulations was detected in Populus. The amount of Zn accumulation in leaves are not at a toxic level. Copper is an essential trace element for plants. Both of its deficiency and excess affect many enzymes which catalyze oxidation and reduction reactions (Ouzounidou, 1994; Celik et al., 2005; Doganlar and Atmaca, 2011). The conventional range of Cu concentrations in the plants is 3 to 30 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (Kabata and Pendias, 2001) but its phytotoxic concentrations range is 20 to100 mg kg-<sup>1</sup>(Padmavathiamma and Li, 2007). In the present study, the highest increase in Cu content was found in Jacaranda mimosifolia. Though the mean value (14.15 mg/kg) of Cu content in it is within the normal range but at some sites its concentrations were

Plants	% decrease SLA-TCh	% decrease SLA-pH	% decrease SLA-AA	% decrease SLA-RWC
Populuseuroamericana	0.021	-0.107	-0.217	-0.101
Ficusreligiosa	0.807**	0.572*	0.356	0.0376
Jacaranda mimosifolia	0.381	0.312	0.801**	0.078
Grevillearobusta	0.169	0.227	0.212	0.266
Callistemon lanceolatus	0.175	-0.220	0.694**	-0.100
Cinnamomumcamphora	0.274	0.362	-0.134	0.154

\* Significant at P= 0.05 level and \*\* at P = 0.01 level

Table 3. Correlations of percentage decreased SLA with leaf metal content (Zn, Cu, Pb)

Plants	% decrease SLA-Zn	% decrease SLA-Cu	% decrease SLA-Pb
Populuseuroamericana	-0.460*	0.091	0.737**
Ficusreligiosa	-0.316	0.535*	0.599*
Jacaranda mimosifolia	-0.656**	-0.767**	0.117234
Grevillearobusta	-0.38	0.198	0.669**
Callistemon lanceolatus	-0.721**	0.285	-0.507
Cinnamomumcamphora	-0.769**	0.618*	-0.35314

\*Correlation is significant at P= 0.05 and \*\*Correlation is significant at P = 0.01 level.

#### HAMAL AND CHETTRI

at phytotoxic range i.e. above 20 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>. The sufficient or normal Pb concentration in the plants can be in the range of 5 to10 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (Kabata-Pendias and Pendias, 2001) and its toxic concentrations is from 30 to 300 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>. While Markert (1994) reported the toxic Pb range for plants to be between 3 and 20 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>. In this study, Pb amounts in all plants and sampling points were within normal limits and were found higher than the control site.

#### **Biochemical parameters**

In all studied tree species, biochemical parameters showed different variations in polluted and control sites. Total chlorophyll were reduced in polluted sites which were in agreement with the observations of Prusty et al., 2005), and Sharma and Tripathi, 2009). The reduction in pigment concentration might be due to deposition of dust particles on leaf surfaces which reduced the light available for photosynthesis and resulted in the inhibition of chlorophyll biosynthesis (Prusty et al., 2005), and the other one was due to dissolution of metals and polycyclic hydrocarbons cell sap as a result blocked the stomatal pores from exchange of air, thus developing the stress on plant metabolism and resulting in chlorophyll degradation (Kapoor et al., 2013). pH is a biochemical parameter that serves as a sensitivity indicator of air pollution (Joshi et al., 2011), and plants with a pH of around 7 are more pollution-tolerant. The leaf extract pH of plant species collected from polluted sites was lower than that of control sites which agreed with Rai and Panda, 2013). The decrease in leaf extract pH could be due to the effect of atmospheric SO<sub>2</sub> and NO<sub>x</sub>. Ascorbic acid in plant leaves plays multiple functions to perform through cell wall synthesis, cell division, photosynthetic carbon fixation and also acts as a strong reducer protecting the plants against reactive oxygen species (ROS), thereby improving the tolerance ability of the trees against air pollution. With the increase in ascorbic acid content (Lima et al., 2000), the tolerance level in plants also increases The present study revealed that most of tree species at control sites had higher ascorbic acid content than at polluted site but Cinnamomum and Grevillea had more average Ascorbic acid content at polluted sites. This indicates that the trees like Cinnamomum and Grevillea have developed better tolerance ability than others. The average value of RWC at polluted sites were slightly decreased in Grevillea and Cinnanomum, but was slightly increased in Ficusand Jacaranda. Chaturvedi

*et al.*, 2013 reported that RWC was considerably reduced in polluted sites, and significantly negatively correlated with dust (Rai and Panda, 2013). Higher RWC in plants will help maintain their physiological balance when exposed to air pollution and favors drought resistance. In the present study, *Ficusreligiosa* and *Jacaranda mimosifolia* showed increase in mean RWC value at polluted sites, indicating their better tolerance than others.

#### Specific leaf area (SLA)

In all studied tree species specific leaf area (SLA) decreased at polluted sites than control sites and similar results were also reported by Abbasi *et al.*, 2018) in Tehran Metropolitan City, Iran. Reduction in SLA reduces water loss and transpiration. This is possibly a strategy of plants to improve stress tolerance (Xu *et al.*, 2009). Plants that are resistant to tension have higher relative water content (Mahecha *et al.*, 2013), which is evident in *Ficusreligiosa* and *Jacaranda mimosifolia* in the present study. Insignificant relation was mostly observed between the % decrease in SLA and biochemical parameters, which might be due to various strategies and physiological adjustments in plants to survive in adverse conditions.

Significant negative correlation was observed between % decreased in SLA and Zn accumulation in Populus, Jacaranda, Callistemone and Cinnamomum growing at polluted sites. In the present study the Zn accumulation in these plants are below the phytotoxic level as suggested by Chaney, (1993) but even then reduction % in SLA ranged from 9 to 50% in Populus, 13 to 73% in Jacaranda, 21 to 78% in Callistemon and 10 to 32% in Cinnamomum. This reduction in SLA might be due to deficiency of some other essential elements when there is stress in plant due to increased concentrations of one toxic metal (Sharma and Chettri, 2005). Significant positive relation was observed between the % decreased in SLA and Cu accumulation in Ficus and Cinnamomum and found in low concentrations of Cu in both these species. Cu is essential for various physiological processes such as a structural element in regulatory proteins, electron transport, mitochondrial respiration and oxidative stress responses (Marschner, 1999; Raven et al., 1999) in low concentrations. The % decrease in SLA ranged from 25-53% in Ficus and 10-32% in Cinnamomum. The positive relation between them might be due to some other factors, which regulates SLA, but not the toxicity of Cu. Significant negative correlation was observed between Cu accumulation and % reduction of SLA in Jacaranda. In the present study, the highest accumulation of Cu was found in Jacaranda mimosifolia and similar results were also reported by Zeynep et al., (2012). The negative relation between them might be due to the concentration of Cu which reached up to 20.60 mg/kg at polluted sites and are at the phytotoxic range (Padmavathiamma and Li, 2007). The significant positive relation between % reduction of SLA and Pb content might be due to Pb toxicity. Markert (1994) reported the phytotoxic range of Pb for plants to be between 3 and 20 mg/kg. As the Pb concentrations at the polluted sites reached up to 27.51 mg/kg in Populus, 39.61 mg/kg in Ficus, 37.8 mg/kg in Grevillea in the present study, and these concentrations are at phytotoxic range in plants as described by Markert (1994).

#### Conclusion

From the above it can be concluded that though the studied biochemical parameters have their physiological role in leaves but their relation with SLA is mostly insignificant which might be due to various strategies for physiological adjustment in stressed conditions in plants. The impact of heavy metals in small concentrations on SLA are not evident, but when present in high concentrations i.e at phytotoxic range, their impacts on SLA is conspicuous. Based on heavy metal accumulation and SLA, all the studied roadside trees (like Populuseuroamericana, Ficusreligiosa, Jacaranda mimosifolia, Grevillearobusta, Callistemon lanceolatus and Cinnamomumcamphora) which could accumulate Pb and/or Zn at high concentrations at polluted sites and could withstand adverse environment by reducing their SLA are recommended for future plantation to mitigate roadside air pollution problem.

#### Acknowledgements

Authors would like to acknowledge Department of Botany, Amrit Campus, Tribhuvan University for providing laboratory facilities and University Grant Commission, Nepalfor providing the fund through the project (FRG-73/74-S&T-02).

#### References

Abbasi, S., Hosseini, S.M., Khorasani and Karbassi. 2018.

A Responses of the morphological traits of elm (Ulmus minor 'Umbraculifera') leaves to air pollution in urban areas (a case study of Tehran Metropolitan City, Iran). *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research.* 16(4) : 4955-4968

- Apriyantono, A., Fardiaz, D., Puspitasari, N.L. and B.S. Sedarnawati. 1989. Analysis Pangan. Bogor: IPB Pr
- Bajaj, K.L. and Kaur, G. 1981. Spectrophotometric Determination of L. Ascorbic Acid in Vegetables and Fruits. *Analyst.* 106 : 117-120.
- Barnes, J.D., Balaguer, L., Manrique, E., Elvira, S. and Davison, A.W. 1992. A reappraisal of the use of DMSO for the extraction and determination of chlorophylls a and b in lichens and higher plants. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 32 : 85-100.
- Barrs, H.D. and Weatherley, P.E. 1962. A re-examination of the relative turgidity technique for estimating water deficits in leaves. *Aust. J. Biol Sci.* 15: 413-428
- Broadley, M. R. White, P. J. Hammond, J. P. Zelkoand, I. and Lux, A. 2007. New Phytol. 173: 677–702
- Celik, A. Kartal, A.A. Akdogan, A. and Kaska, Y. 2005. Environ. Int. 31: 105–112
- Chaney R. L. 1993. Zinc Phytotoxicity Zinc in Soils and Plants. Volume 55 ISBN : 978-94-010-4380-9
- Chaturvedi, R.K., Prasad, S., Rana, S., Obaidullah, S.M., Pandey, V. and Singh, H. 2013. Effect of dust load on the leaf attributes of the tree species growing along the roadside. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* 185(1): 383-391.
- Dhamala, M., Kunwar, K. and Byanju, R. 2018. Air pollution tolerance index: An approach towards the effective green belt around Kathmandu Metropolitan City, Nepal. Nepal Journal of Environmental Science. 4: 23-29. doi:10.3126/njes.v4i0.22721
- Doganlar, Z.B. and Atmaca, M. 2011. Water Air Soil Poll. 214: 509-523
- Evans, J.R. and Poorter, H. 2001. Photosynthetic acclimation of plants to growth irradiance: The relative importance of specific leaf area and nitrogen partitioning in maximizing carbon gain. *Plant Cell Environ.* 24: 755–767.
- Falster, D.S., Duursma, R.A. and Fitz John, R.G. 2018. How functional traits influence plant growth and shade tolerance across the life cycle. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 115: E6789.
- Goudie, J.W., Parish, R. and Antos, J.A. 2016. Foliage biomass and specific leaf area equations at the branch, annual shoot and whole-tree levels for lodge pole pine and white spruce in British Columbia. *For. Ecol. Manag.* 361 : 286–297.
- Grime, J.P. 2006. *Plant Strategies, Vegetation Processes, and Ecosystem Properties,* 2nd ed.; Wiley: New York, NY, USA,
- Hu, Y., Wang, D., Wei, L., Zhang, X. and Song, B. 2014. Bioaccumulation of heavy metals in plant leaves from Yan' an city of the Loess Plateau, China. *Ecotox Environ Safe*. 110 : 82–88.

#### HAMAL AND CHETTRI

- Joshi, N., Bora, M. and Haridwar, U. 2011. Impact of air quality on physiological attributes of certain plants. *Rep Opin.* 3(2) : 42-47.
- Kabata-Pendias, A. and Pendias, H. 2001. *Trace Elements in Soils and Plants*. 3rd Edition, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 403 p.
- Kabata-Pendias, A. and Piotrowska, M. 1984. Zanieczyszczenie gleb i Roslin Uprawnych Pierwiastkami Sladowymi. Warshawa: CBR-Opracowanie Problemowe.
- Kapoor, C.S., Bamniya, B.R. and Kapoor, K. 2013. Efficient control of air pollution through plants, a cost-effective alternative: studies on *Dalbergia sissoo* Roxb. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* 185(9) : 7565-7580.
- Kellomäki, S. and Oker-Blom, P. 1981. Specific needle area of Scots pine and its dependence on light conditions inside the canopy. *Silva Fenn*. 15 : 190–198.
- Lambers, H. and Poorter, H. 1992. Inherent variation in growth rate between higher plants: A search for physiological causes and ecological consequences. *Adv. Ecol. Res.* 23 : 187–261.
- Lima, J. S., Fernandes, E. B. and Fawcett, W. N. 2000. Mangifera indica and Phaseolus vulgaris in the bioindication of air pollution in Bahia, Brazil. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. 46 : 275-278.
- Mahecha, G. S., Bamniya, B. R., pNair, N. and Saini, D. 2013. Air Pollution Tolerance Index of Certain Plant Species - A Study of Madri Industrial Area Udaipur (Raj.), India. International Journal for Innovative Research in Science and Technology. 2(12) : 7927-7929.
- Marchner, H. 1999. *Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants*. Academic Press, London.
- Markert, B. 1994. Element Concentration Cadasters in Ecosystems. Progress Report on the Element Concentration Cadaster Project ECCE of INTECOL/IUBS. 25<sup>th</sup> General Assembly of IUBS, Paris
- Nagel, L.M. and O'Hara, K.L. 2001. The influence of stand structure on ecophysiological leaf characteristics of Pinus ponderosa in western Montana. *Can. J. For. Res.* 31: 2173–2182.
- Onder, S. and Dursun, S. 2006. *Atmos. Environ*. 40 : 1122–1133.
- Ouzounidou, G. 1994. Environ. Exp. Bot. 34: 165-172.
- Ouzounidou, G. 1994. Environ. *Exp. Bot.* 34 : 165–172. Pais, I. and Benton Jones, J. Jr. 1998. *The Handbook of Trace Elements*, St Lucie Press, Boca Raton.
- Padmavathiamma, P.K. and Li, L.Y. 2007. Phytoremediation Technology: Hyper-Accumulation Metals in Plants. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 184: 105-126. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11270-007-9401-5.
- Pandey, N., Patkak, G.C., Pandey, D.K. and Pandey, R. 2009. Heavy metals, Co, Ni, Cu, Zn and Cd, produce oxidative damage and evoke differential antioxidant responses in spinach. *Braz. J. Plant Physiol*.
- Pierce, L.L., Running, S.W. and Walker, J. 1994. Regional-

scale relationships of leaf area index to specific leaf area and leaf nitrogen content. *Ecol. Appl.* 4:313–321.

- Poorter, H., Niinemets, Ü., Poorter, L., Wright, I.J. and Villar, R. 2009. Causes and consequences of variation in leaf mass per area (LMA): Ameta-analysis. *New Phytol.* 182 : 565–588.
- Poorter, H., Niklas, K.J., Reich, P.B., Oleksyn, J., Poot, P. and Mommer, L. 2012. Biomass allocation to leaves stems and roots: Meta-analyses of interspecific variation and environmental control. New Phytol. 193, 30–50
- Pradhan, B. B., Dangol, P. M., Bhaunju, R. M. and Pradhan, S. 2012. Rapid Urban Assessment of Air Quality for Kathmandu, Nepal: Summary. Kathamandu: ICIMOD.
- Prusty, B.A.K., Mishra, P.C. and Azeez, P.A. 2005. Dust accumulation and leaf pigment content in vegetation near the national highway at Sambalpur, Orissa, India. *Ecotox. Environ. Safety*. 60(2): 228-235
- Rai, P.K. and Panda, L.L. 2013. Dust capturing potential and air pollution tolerance index (APTI) of some roadside tree vegetation in Aizawl, Mizoram, India: an Indo-Burma hot spot region. *Air Qual. Atmos. Hlth.* 7(1): 1-9.
- Raven, J. A., Evans, M.C.W. and Korb, R.E. 1999. The role of trace metals in photosynthetic electron transport in O<sub>2</sub> evolving organisms. *Photosynth. Res.* 60: 111-149.
- Sawidis, T. Marnasidis, A. Zachariadis, G. and Stratis, J. 1995. Arch. Environ. Cont. Toxicol. 28 : 118–124.
- Sawidis, T., Marnasidis, A., Zachariadis, G.A. and Stratis, J.A. 1995c. A study of air pollution with heavy metals in Thessaloniki city (Greece) using trees as biological indicators. *Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 28: 118-124.
- Sharma, B. and Chettri, M.K. 2005. Monitoring of heavy metals in vegetables and soil of agricultural fields of Kathmandu Valley. *Ecoprint.* 12 : 1-9.
- Sharma, P. and Dubey, 2005. R.S. Lead Toxicity in Plants. Braz. J. Plant Physiol. 17: 1–19.
- Shrestha, B. 2001. Air Pollution Status Kathmandu, Nepal. Air pollution in the mega cities of Asia, 3-5 September 2001, Seoul, Korea.
- Shrestha, S., Baral, B., Dhital, N.B. and Yang, H.H. 2021. Assessing air pollution tolerance of plant species in vegetation traffic barriers in Kathmandu Valley, Nepal. Sustainable Environment Research. 31(1): 3–11. doi:10.1186/s42834-020-00076-2.
- Subedi, K. 2021. Once again, Kathmandu breathes world is most polluted air, AQI hits 303.89µg/m<sup>3</sup>.Availableonlineat:https:// myrepublica.nagariknetwork.com/news/ onceagain-kathmandu-breathes-world-s-most-polluted-air-aqi-hits-303-89-mg-m3/ (accessed 8 June 2021).
- Welz, B. 1985. Atomic Absorption Spectrometry. 2nd. Com-

pletely Rev. ed. Weinheim; New York: VCH

- Wendling, Z.A., Emerson, J.W., De Sherbinin, A. and Esty, D.C. 2020. Environmental Performance Index 2020 (New Haven, CT: Yale Center For Environmental Law & Policy).
- Westoby, M., Falster, D.S., Moles, A.T., Vesk, P.A. and Wright, I.J. 2002. Plant ecological strategies: Some leading dimensions of variation between species. *Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst.* 33 : 125–159.
- WMO Provisional Report, State of Climate in 2021. Extreme events and major impacts (Published 31 October 2021)
- Wright, I.J., Reich, P.B., Westoby, M., Ackerly, D.D., Baruch, Z., Bongers, F., Cavender-Bares, J., Chapin, T., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Diemer, J., Flexas, J., Garnier, E.,Groom, P.K., Gulias, J., Hikosaka, K., Lamont, B.B., Lee, T., Lee, W., Lusk, C., Midgley, J.J., Navas, M.L., Niinemets, U., Oleksyn, J., Osada, N., Poorter, H., Poot, P., Prior, L., Pyankov, V.I., Roumet, C., Thomas, S.C., Tjoelker, M.G., Veneklaas and E.J.

Villar, R. 2004. The worldwide leaf economics spectrum. *Nature*. 428 : 821-827.

- Wuytack, T., Wuyts, K., Van Dongen, S., Baeten, L., Kardel, F., Verheyen, K. and Samson, R. 2011. The effect of air pollution and other environmental stressors on leaf fluctuating asymmetry and specific leaf area of *Salix alba* L. *Environ. Pollut.* 159 (10): 2405-2411.
- Xu, F., Guo, W., Xu, W., Wei, Y. and Wang, R. 2009. Leaf morphology correlates with water and light availability: What consequences for simple and compound leaves? *Progress in Natural Science: Materials International*. 19(12) : 1789-1798.
- Zeynep Banu Doganlar, OguzhanDoganlar, Selim Erdogan and Yunus Onal, 2012. Heavy metal pollution and physiological changes in the leaves of some shrub, palm and tree species in urban areas of Adana, Turkey. *Chemical Speciation & Bioavailability*. 24 (2): 65-78. DOI: 10.3184/ 095422912X13338055043100.

Appendix 3: Certificate of international and national conference attended and paper presented

- INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE BIODIVERSITY, LIVELIHOOD AND CLIMATE CHANGE IN THE HIMALAYAS (December 12-14, 2010), Kathmandu, Nepal.
- 7<sup>th</sup> NATIONAL CONFERENCE ON SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY (March 29-31, 2016, Kathmandu, Nepal) and Paper presented at conference.
- INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON BIODIVERSITY, CLIMATE CHANGE ASSESSMENT AND IMPACTS ON LIVELIHOOD (January 10-12, 2017) and paper presented at conference.
- 4. INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON INTEGRATING BIOLOGICAL RESOURCE FOR PROSPERITY (February 6-7, 2020) Biratnagar Nepal.
- Poster presented- Ph. D. FESTIVAL 2023, 9-10 October, University Campus. Kirtipur, Kathmandu, Nepal.







# Certificate of Participation

This is to certify that Prof./Dr./Mr./Ms.

Jay Prakash Hamal

has presented paper/poster/attended

the International Conference on Biodiversity, Climate Change Assessment and Impacts on Livelihood

at Kathmandu on January 10-12, 2017.

Dr. Bishwa Nath Oli

Gecretary, Ministry of Co-Cha Population and Organiz Environment PI: USAID-IPM

I M Multauen Dr. Nir Krakauer Co-Chair, Conference Organizing Committee PI: USAID-IPM-IL-Biodiversity Project

Prof. Naba R Devkota Director of Research

Agriculture and Forestry University MyKan Sur An Prof. Mohan Siwakoti Secretary, Conference Organizing Committee Head, Central Dept. of Botany, TU

Prof. Pramod K Jha Chair, Conference Organizing Committee Nepal Coordinator & Co-PI USAID-IPM-IL-Biodiversity Project

